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select comfort

CREATOR OF THE SLEEP NUMBER BED

Dear Shareholders

The past two years have been difficult across many industries and for many

companies and Select Comfort was no exception But when you examine the

challenges and how we approached each one with dedication determination and focus

story emerges about who we are where were going and how we plan to get there

Select Comfort is product company at its core We offer the Sleep Number bed to

consumers across the United States and in few markets outside the country We believe

that everyone is unique We believe that everyone should love their bed So our product

offers real benefits addressing important relevant customer needs and interests the

Sleep Number bed and bedding accessories provide better nights sleep for individuals

and for couples and relieves aches and pains associated with other one-size-fits-all sleep

surfaces No other leading bed manufacturer offers adjustable firmness of the mattress

surface whether for individuals or for couples sharing the same bed Simply put we are

becoming the new standard in sleep

We restructured our company around these beliefs as well as our consumers appreciation

of these real benefits and their demand for the Sleep Number bed even in the midst of the

countrys financial crisis Recognizing the importance of our product weve continued

to invest in product quality and new product development Last year the only department

not impacted by restructuring was product quality we made significant improvements for

long-term product reliability advantage We also made important advances in product

quality and re-organized our product lines to help customers better understand the value

of our offering

Select Comfort also features unique business model well suited for revolutionary

technical dynamic and modern product We sell directly to our customers allowing us

to truly understand their needs and motivations No other major mattress manufacturer

controls point-of-sale to delivery No other manufacturer can offer the total customer

experience found with the Sleep Number brand Consumers generally dont look forward

to mattress shopping frustrated by many choices little objective information or

differentiation and little personal service or follow-up We offer better solution for

customers from unique and easy-to-understand product assortment to personalized

and informative sales interaction all designed to allow customers to choose the solution

and value that best meets their needs



In order to concentrate on our unique points of differentiation in 2009 we refocused our

distribution on our core company-controlled retail stores call center and digital channels

exiting most non-company owned or controlled points of distribution Market by
market we reduced the density of stores and our fixed costs across the country and we
are now well positioned for productive growth

Our unique business model also enables us to operate lean just-in-time product supply

chain with significant cash-generating capability Our stores operate as showrooms with

very little inventory and plants make-to-order to minimize inventory and maximize

working capital Our limited inventory levels and controlled distribution made it possible

to weather the economic difficulties of recent years

While we restructured and improved processes we were also able to strengthen our

infrastructure and maintain capacity for the future The strong gross margin earned
while emphasizing value and unit sales growth is testament to the fine work of our

sales and supply chain teams As growth returns we expect to maintain gross-margin

rate and expand operating margin by leveraging marketing sales and GA Cash

leverage also is expected to increase with growth

Unique products and great customer experiences dont matter if customers dont know
the product the benefits or where and how to find us Were young brand Sleep

Number was first introduced in 2001 Over time and particularly this past year weve
learned and re-learned the importance of message and media effectiveness

Individualized and adjustable comfort for individuals and couples for better sleep and

pain relief are our core advantages and they are unique to us Owner testimonials and

clinical proof invite customers to visit our now-exclusive store locations or call or click to

learn more Finding your Sleep Number is low hurdle and our great product sales

teams and owner referrals do the rest Alternative media particularly digital marketing

represent significant potential for advancing referral and targeting customers Solid and
effective core messaging and improved marketing efficiency on top of efficiencies

demonstrated companywide give us confidence that in time we will surpass our historic

profit margins growing profitably and increasing share as we improve more peoples
lives by individualizing their sleep experiences

The culture and the people make Select Comfort so special to me We are motivated and
driven by our mission to improve peoples lives by individualizing sleep experiences
Each one of us has experienced the power of this mission and can tell stories about how
the Sleep Number bed has helped us or our family members or special customers This

passion for our mission is an important source of energy and motivation particularly
when times are tough When times were particularly uncertain our teams chose not to

give in to our challenging debt situation and instead rallied to cut costs preserve cash
and adjust to the new consumer reality and need for value Though we had to reduce our
overhead and say goodbye to many friends it was special and motivating to hear their

words of understanding and encouragement to advance our mission We have an

experienced and long-tenured team from the front-line to management to the board of



directors In these ranks having learned from our successes and failures we have

important understanding as well as mutual trust and respect This is solid foundation

upon which to build bright future

Id also like to recognize the support and wisdom of long-term suppliers and investors

They too were instrumental in our survival in helping us work through our credit issues

and more Whether due to regard for our unique product and business model or the

passion and commitment of the team the true believers within our suppliers and

investors helped ensure positive ending to this chapter in our companys history We

are grateful and pleased to be able to reward their confidence and are looking forward

to continuing our long-term relationships

Looking back 2009 was remarkable year Not only did we survive the most difficult

year in our industrys history but we also strengthened our position Over time believe

the most important achievements and learning that will shape our future include

Protecting and advancing investments in product quality and value

Re-establishing the Sleep Number brand and marketing disciplines

Establishing new emphasis on total customer experience and concentrating on

our most productive core sales locations

Achieving new capital structure for our unique business model and the new

credit environment and

Engaging our people and culture with clear priorities

Looking forward with our restructuring behind us we are well positioned to advance our

core business improve margins and profit and re-establish predictable and profitable

growth If and when the economy improves we are in place to take full advantage for

accelerated growth and leverage Also we will continue developing employee

engagement our culture and the capability of the team to realize the long-term potential

of this great product and business model

While 2009 was remarkable year .2010 will be transformational year as we pursue

our dream of establishing new standard in sleep and individualized customer

experiences

Sleep well
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
MAY 19 2010

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION

Select Comfort Corporation will hold its Annual Meeting of Shareholders at 130 p.m Central

Time on Wednesday May 19 2010 at the Radisson Plaza Hotel Minneapolis located at 35 South

7th Street Minneapolis Minnesota 55402 The purposes of the meeting are to

Elect two persons to serve as directors for three-year terms

Approve the Select Comfort Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Approve an amendment to our Third Restated Articles of Incorporation to adopt plurality

vote standard in contested elections of directors and

Approve the selection of Deloitte Touche LLP as our independent registered public

accounting firm for the fiscal year ending January 2011

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 26 2010 will be entitled to vote at the

meeting and any adjournments thereof Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials will be

mailed to certain shareholders on or about April 2010 The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy

Materials contains instructions on how to access our Proxy Statement and Annual Report and how to

vote your shares All other shareholders will receive the proxy materials by mail Please be sure to vote

your shares in time for our May 19 2010 meeting date

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR each of the agenda items listed above

By Order of the Board of Directors

X4fd
Mark Kimball

Senior Vice President

General Counsel Secretary

April
2010

Plymouth Minnesota
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PROXY STATEMENT
FOR

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

May 19 2010

INTRODUCTION

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of

Directors of Select Comfort Corporation for use at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders The meeting

will be held on Wednesday May 19 2010 at 130 p.m Central Time at the Radisson Plaza Hotel

Minneapolis located at 35 South 7th Street Minneapolis Minnesota 55402 for the purposes set forth

in the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Instead of mailing full set of printed proxy materials to each shareholder we are now mailing to

certain of our shareholders Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials the Shareholder

Notice which includes instructions on how to access our Proxy Statement and Annual Report on

the Internet ii how to request that printed copy of these proxy materials be forwarded to you and

iii how to vote your shares via the Internet The Shareholder Notice will be mailed to shareholders on

or about April
2010 If you receive the Shareholder Notice you will not receive printed copy of the

proxy materials unless you request printed copy by following the instructions in the Shareholder

Notice All other shareholders will be sent the proxy materials by mail on or about April 2010

Your vote is important Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting we urge you to vote your

shares in time for our May 19 2010 meeting date

Our Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote

FOR the election of the nominees for Director named herein Proposal

FOR approval of the Select Comfort Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan Proposal

FOR approval of the amendment to our Third Restated Articles of Incorporation to adopt

plurality vote standard in contested elections Proposal and

FOR approval of Deloitte Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting

firm for the fiscal year ending January 2011 Proposal

Shareholders Entitled to Vote

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 26 2010 will be entitled to vote at the

meeting As of that date there were 54622741 outstanding shares of common stock Each share is

entitled to one vote on each matter to be voted on at the Annual Meeting Shareholders are not

entitled to cumulative voting rights



Revocation of Proxies

Any shareholder giving proxy may revoke it at any time prior to its use at the Annual Meeting
by

Delivering written notice of revocation to the Corporate Secretary prior to 500 p.m Central

Time on May 18 2010

Submitting to the Corporate Secretary duly executed proxy bearing later date prior to

500 p.m Central Time on May 18 2010

Voting again by telephone or via the Internet prior to 1159 p.m Eastern Time on May 18
2010 or

Appearing at the Annual Meeting and filing written notice of revocation with the Corporate
Secretary or voting your shares in person prior to use of your proxy

Attendance at the Annual Meeting will not by itself revoke your proxy For shares you hold in

brokerage account you may revoke your proxy by contacting your broker or nominee and following
their instructions for revoking your proxy

Quorum Requirements

The presence at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy of the holders of majority of the

outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting i.e at least 27311371
shares will constitute quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting In general
shares of common stock represented by properly signed and returned proxy card or properly voted by
telephone or via the Internet will be counted as shares represented and entitled to vote at the Annual

Meeting for purposes of determining quorum without regard to whether the card reflects abstentions

or is left blank or reflects broker non-vote on matter

Street name holders are beneficial owners of shares held in stock brokerage account or by
bank trust or other nominee Street name holders

generally cannot vote their shares directly and must
instead instruct the broker bank trust or other nominee how to vote their shares using the voting
instruction form provided by the broker bank trust or other nominee If street name holder does not

provide timely instructions the broker or other nominee may have the
authority to vote on some

proposals but not others If the broker or other nominee votes on one proposal but does not vote on
another proposal because the nominee does not have

discretionary voting power and has not received

instructions from the beneficial owner this results in broker non-vote Broker non-votes on
matter are counted as present for purposes of establishing quorum for the meeting but are not

considered entitled to vote on that particular matter Consequently broker non-votes generally will

have no effect on the outcome of the matter However if and to the extent that broker non-votes are

required to establish the presence of quorum at the Annual Meeting then any broker non-votes will

have the same effect as vote AGAINST for determining whether the matters to be voted on at the
Annual Meeting receive majority of the minimum number of shares entitled to vote in person or by
proxy that would constitute quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting

Street name holders of shares held in stock brokerage account or by bank trust or other

nominee should be aware of change in voting rules effective January 2010 that will affect whether
their shares will be voted in the election of directors Under New York Stock Exchange Rule 452

relating to the discretionary voting of proxies by brokers brokers will no longer be permitted to vote
shares with respect to the election of directors without instructions from the beneficial owner Similarly
brokers are not permitted to vote shares on Proposal to approve the Select Comfort Corporation
2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan or Proposal to approve an amendment to our Third Restated Articles
of Incorporation to adopt plurality vote standard in contested elections without instructions



However brokers will still be able to vote shares held in brokerage accounts with respect to the

approval of the independent registered public accounting firm even if they do not receive instructions

from the beneficial owner Therefore street name holders of shares held in stock brokerage account

or by bank trust or other nominee are advised that if they do not timely provide instructions to their

broker or other nominee their shares will not be voted in connection with Proposals and

Vote Required

Assuming quorum is represented at the Annual Meeting either in person or by proxy each of

the matters to be voted upon by shareholders including the election of directors will require the

affirmative vote of holders of the greater of majority of the shares represented and entitled to

vote in person or by proxy on such matter or ii majority of the minimum number of shares entitled

to vote in person or by proxy that would constitute quorum for the transaction of business at the

Annual Meeting

Any broker non-votes on matter will be treated as shares not entitled to vote on that matter and

thus will not be counted in determining whether that matter has been approved However if and to the

extent that broker non-votes are required to establish the presence of quorum at the Annual

Meeting then any broker non-votes will have the same effect as vote AGAINST for determining

whether the matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting receive majority of the minimum number

of shares entitled to vote in person or by proxy that would constitute quorum for the transaction of

business at the Annual Meeting Shares represented by proxy voted as withholding authority to

vote for any nominee for director will be treated as shares present
and entitled to vote that were voted

AGAINST the nominee Abstentions will be treated as unvoted for purposes of determining the

approval of the matters and as result will have the same effect as vote AGAINST for

determining whether the matters receive sufficient number of votes to be approved

Signed proxies that lack any specification will be voted

FOR the election of the nominees for Director named herein Proposal

FOR approval of the Select Comfort Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan Proposal

FOR approval of the amendment to our Third Restated Articles of Incorporation to adopt

plurality vote standard in contested elections Proposal and

FOR approval of Deloitte Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting

firm for the fiscal year ending January 2011 Proposal

Proxy Solicitation Costs

The cost of soliciting proxies including the furnishing of proxy materials on the Internet and

mailing of proxy materials to shareholders who request them will be borne by Select Comfort We have

retained Georgeson Inc for solicitation and advisory services in connection with this Proxy Statement

and related proxy and authorization solicitations It is estimated that Georgeson Inc will be paid

approximately $8500 for its services as solicitation agent and will be reimbursed for its reasonable

out-of-pocket expenses We have also agreed to indemnify Georgeson Inc against certain liabilities and

expenses which result from Georgeson Inc.s performance of the proxy solicitation services Our

directors officers and regular employees may without compensation other than their regular

compensation solicit proxies by telephone or personal conversation We may reimburse brokerage firms

and others for expenses in forwarding proxy materials to the beneficial owners of our common stock



STOCK OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN BENEFICLL OWNERS

The following table shows the beneficial ownership of Select Comfort common stock as of

March 2010 unless another date is indicated by each director and each executive officer named
in the Summary Compensation Table on page 32 of this Proxy Statement all directors and executive

officers as group and each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of

Select Comfort common stock

Shares of Common Stock

Beneficially Owned2

Percent of

Amount Class

Thomas Albani 280392
Stephen Gulis Jr 41375
Shelly Ibach3

118122
Mark Kimball4 339337
Christopher Kirchen 469335
David Kollat 212892
Brenda Lauderback 78127
William McLaughlin5 1920574 3.4%

Michael Peel 81500
James Raabe6

403941

Kathryn Roedel7 229778
Ervin Shames8

303751
Jean-Michel Valette 216714
All directors and executive officers as group 16 persons9 5047512 8.8%

Adage Capital Partners GP L.L.C.10 6865000 12.6%

Sterling SC Investors LLC1 4841254 8.9%

Disciplined Growth Investors Inc.12 3174274 5.8%

Less than 1% of the outstanding shares

Includes shares held by the following persons in securities brokerage accounts which in certain circumstances under the terms of the standard

brokerage account form may involve pledge of such shares as collateral Mr Albani 225142 shares Mr Gulis 1125 shares Ms Ibach 2000
shares Mr Kimball 47929 shares Mr Kirchen 353809 shares Mr Kollat 56392 shares Ms Lauderback 15377 shares Mr McLaughlin
207602 shares Mr Raabe 73683 shares Ms Roedel 13528 shares Mr Shames 36435 shares and Mr Valette 150214 shares

The shares shown include the following shares that directors and executive officers have the
right to acquire within 60 days through the

exercise of stock
options or warrants Thomas Aibani 55250 shares Stephen Gulls Jr 40250 shares Shelly Ibach 79094 shares Mark

Kimball 179676 shares Christopher Kirchen 73000 shares David Kollat 111500 shares Brenda Lauderback 62750 shares william

McLaughlin 1448065 shares Michael Peel 81500 shares James Raabe 246760 shares Kathiyn Roedel 179094 shares Ervin

Shames 96500 shares and Jean-Michel Valette 66500 shares

Includes 36906 shares held under restricted or performance stock grants that have not vested

Includes 46219 shares held under restricted or performance stock grants that have not vested

Does not include 382582 shares held by BWSJ Corporation for which Mr McLaughlin serves as director and is shareholder
Mr McLaughlin disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares

except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein Includes 133000 shares held
under restricted or performance stock grants that have not vested and 13000 shares held by Family Thust

Includes 52156 shares held under restricted or performance stock grants that have not vested

Includes 37156 shares held under restricted or performance stock grants that have not vested

Includes 56250 shares held by Mr Shames Family Trust and 114566 shares held in GRAT

Includes an aggregate of 2919420 shares that directors and executive officers as group have the right to acquire within 60 days through the

exercise of stock options or warrants Includes an aggregate of 418337 shares held under restricted or performance stock
grants

that have not
vested

10 Adage Capital Partners L.P ACP Adage Capital Partners GP L.L.C ACPGP Adage Capital Advisors L.L.C ACA Robert
Atchinson Atchinson and Phillip Gross Gross reported in Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on



December 10 2009 that as of December 2009 ACP ACPGP ACA Atchinson and Gross beneficially owned an aggregate of 6865000 shares

The filing indicated that ACA is the direct holder of the shares of Common Stock and that by virtue of their positions each of ACPGP ACA and

each of Atchinson and Gross as Managing Members of ACA has the power to vote and dispose of the shares of Common Stock held by ACE

Neither Atchinson nor Gross directly own any shares however each may be deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned by ACE The

business address of ACP ACPGP ACA Atchinson and Gross is 200 Clarendon Street 52 Floor Boston Massachusetts 02116

11 Sterling SC Investor LLC Sterling
Fund Management LLC Rudolph Christopher Hoehn-Saric Douglas Becker Steven Taslitz Eric

Becker Merrick Elfman and Michael Bronfein reported in Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

Februaiy 12 2010 that as of the date of the Schedule 13G
filing Sterling SC Investor LLC is deemed to beneficially own 4841254 shares of

Common Stock All of the other reporting persons on the Schedule 13G are affiliates of Sterling SC Investor LLC and each has shared
voting

and

dispositive power of the 4841254 shares of Common Stock The
principal

business address for Sterling SC Investor LLC is 1033 Skokie Boulevard

Suite 600 Northbrook Illinois 60062

12 Disciplined
Growth Investors Inc reported in Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30 2009 that as

of March 31 2009 it beneficially owned 3174274 shares of Common Stock of Select Comfort Corporation and had sole power to vote or to direct

the vote on 2792119 shares and sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of 3174274 shares The business address of
Disciplined

Growth

Investors Inc is 100 South Fifth Street Suite 2100 Minneapolis Minnesota 55402



ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Proposal

Nomination

Article XIV of our Articles of Incorporation provides that the number of directors must be at least

one but not more than 12 and must be divided into three classes as nearly equal in number as possible
The exact number of directors is determined from time-tO-time by the Board of Directors The term of

each class is three years and the term of one class expires each
year in rotation

The Board has determined to reduce the size of the Board from nine members to eight members
effective immediately after the 2010 Annual Meeting The Board has further determined to nominate
David Kollat and William McLaughlin each currently member of our Board of Directors to

serve for additional terms of three years expiring at the 2013 Annual Meeting or until their successors

are elected and qualified Thomas Albani who was elected to our Board of Directors for

three-year term at the 2007 Annual Meeting will not stand for re-election at the 2010 Annual Meeting

Vote Required

Assuming quorum is represented at the Annual Meeting either in person or by proxy the

election of each nominee for director requires the affirmative vote of holders of the greater of

majority of the shares represented and entitled to vote in person or by proxy on the election or ii
majority of the minimum number of shares entitled to vote in person or by proxy that would constitute

quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting Any broker non-votes on the election

of each nominee for director will be treated as shares not entitled to vote on that matter and thus will

not be counted in determining whether that matter has been approved If and to the extent that broker

non-votes are required to establish the presence of quorum at the Annual Meeting then any broker

non-votes will have the same effect as vote AGAINST for determining whether the election of each
nominee for director receives majority of the minimum number of shares entitled to vote in person
or by proxy that would constitute quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting
Shares represented by proxy voted as withholding authority to vote for any nominee for director

will be treated as shares present and entitled to vote that were voted AGAINST the nominee

Board Recommendation

The Board recommends vote FOR the election of Mr Kollat and Mr McLaughlin In the

absence of other instructions properly signed and delivered proxies will be voted FOR the election of

each of these nominees

If prior to the Annual Meeting the Board should learn that any nominee will be unable to serve

for any reason the proxies that otherwise would have been voted for such nominee will be voted for

such substitute nominee as selected by the Board Alternatively the proxies at the Boards discretion

may be voted for such fewer number of nominees as results from the inability of any such nominee to

serve The Board has no reason to believe that any of the nominees will be unable to serve



Information about Nominees and Other Directors

The following table sets forth certain information as of March 18 2010 that has been furnished to

us by each director and each person who has been nominated by the Board to serve as director of

our company

Director

Name of Nominee Age Principal Occupation Since

Nominees for election this year to three-year terms expiring in 2013

David Kollat23 71 President of 22 Inc Former Executive Vice President of 1994

Marketing for The Limited and former President of

Victorias Secret Catalogue Also director of Big

Lots Inc Limited Brands Inc and Wolverine World

Wide Inc

William McLaughlin 53 President and Chief Executive Officer of Select Comfort 2000

Corporation

Directors not standing for election this year whose terms expire in 2011

Christopher Kirchen1 67 Managing General Partner and co-founder of BEV 1991

Capital venture capital firm

Michael Peel23 60 Vice President for Human Resources and Administration 2003

of Yale University Former Executive Vice President

Human Resources and Global Business Services General

Mills Inc

Jean-Michel Valette1 49 Chairman of the Board of Directors Peets Coffee and 1994

Tea Inc Also director of The Boston Beer Company

Directors not standing for election this
year whose terms expire in 2012

Stephen Gulis Jr.1 52 Former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 2005

Officer Wolverine World Wide Inc Also director of

Independent Bank Corporation

Brenda Lauderback3 59 Former President of the Retail and Wholesale Group for 2004

Nine West Group Inc Also director of Big Lots Inc
Dennys Corporation and Wolverine World Wide Inc

Ervin Shames 69 Chairman of the Board non-executive of Select Comfort 1996

Corporation Former Chief Executive Officer of

Borden Inc and Stride Rite Corporation Also director

of Choice Hotels International Inc and Online Resources

Corporation

Director not standing for re-election this year whose term expires in 2010

Thomas Albani1 67 Former President and Chief Executive Officer of 1994

Electrolux Corporation Also director of Barnes

Group Inc

Member of the Audit Committee

Member of the Management Development and Compensation Committee

Member of the Corporate Govemance and Nominating Committee

In his
capacity as non-executive Chairman of the Board Mr Shames may attend and vote at any Committee meeting



Additional Information about Nominees and Other Directors

David Kollat has served as member of our Board of Directors since February 1994 Dr Kollat

has served as President and Chairman of 22 Inc research and consulting company for retailers and

consumer goods manufacturers since 1987 From 1976 until 1987 he served in various management
capacities for Limited Brands womens apparel retailer including Executive Vice President of

Marketing and President of Victorias Secret Catalogue Dr Kollat also serves as director of Big
Lots Inc Limited Brands Inc and Wolverine World Wide Inc

We believe Mr Kollat is qualified to serve on our Board because he provides our Board with

many years of experience in management and board service with branded consumer goods
manufacturers and retailers Mr Kollat also brings insight into best practices in corporate governance
and board

processes from his extensive experience in board and board committee service with other

publicly traded companies

William McLaughlin joined our company in March 2000 as President and Chief Executive

Officer and as member of our Board of Directors From May 2004 through February 2008
Mr McLaughlin also served as Chairman of our Board of Directors From December 1988 to March
2000 Mr McLaughlin served as an executive of PepsiCo Foods International Inc snack food

company and subsidiary of PepsiCo Inc in various management capacities including from September
1996 to March 2000 as President of Frito-Lay Europe Middle East and Africa and from June 1993 to

June 1996 as President of Grupo Gamesa S.A de C.V cookie and flour company based in Mexico

We believe Mr McLaughlin is qualified to serve on our Board because he has extensive executive

management experience with leading consumer packaged good company Mr McLaughlin also brings
to our Board intimate knowledge of our companys operations gained during his ten years of leadership

as our Chief Executive Officer

Christopher Kirchen has served as member of our Board of Directors since December 1991

Mr Kirchen is currently Managing General Partner of BEV Capital venture capital firm that he
co-founded in March 1997 From 1986 to December 2002 he was General Partner of Consumer
Venture Partners venture capital firm that was an investor in our company Mr Kirchen also serves

as director of several privately held companies

We believe Mr Kirchen is qualified to serve on our Board because through his long career in the

venture capital industry he brings to our Board substantial experience with numerous branded

consumer companies in various stages of growth and an entrepreneurial orientation Mr Kirchen also

possesses substantial experience in financial markets and financial reporting processes

Michael Peel has served as member of our Board of Directors since February 2003 In October

2008 Mr Peel was appointed Vice President for Human Resources and Administration of Yale

University From 1991 to 2008 Mr Peel served in various management capacities for General

Mills Inc manufacturer and marketer of packaged consumer foods including most recently as

Executive Vice President Human Resources and Global Business Services From 1977 to 1991
Mr Peel served in various management capacities for PepsiCo Inc including as Senior Vice President
Human Resources for PepsiCo Worldwide Foods from 1987 to 1991

We believe Mr Peel is qualified to serve on our Board because he brings to our Board extensive

experience in senior executive management with large consumer-oriented publicly traded company
including in particular deep expertise in human resources management and executive compensation
matters

Jean-Michel Valette has served as member of our Board of Directors since October 1994

Mr Valette has been an independent adviser to branded consumer companies since May 2000 Since

January 2004 he has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Peets Coffee and Tea Inc



Mr Valette also served as non-executive Chairman of the Robert Mondavi Winery from April 2005 to

October 2006 and was its President and Managing Director from October 2004 to April 2005 From

August 1998 to May 2000 Mr Valette was President and Chief Executive Officer of Franciscan

Estates Inc premium wine company He was Managing Director of Hambrecht Quist LLC an
investment banking firm from October 1994 to August 1998 and served as Senior Analyst at

Hambrecht Quist LLC from November 1992 to October 1994 Mr Valette also serves as director

of The Boston Beer Company

We believe Mr Valette is qualified to serve on our Board because he has extensive experience in

executive management and in board service and leadership with several branded consumer companies
Mr Valette also brings significant financial industry experience and knowledge of and experience in

financial reporting and related processes and
corporate governance

Stephen Gulis Jr was first appointed to our Board of Directors in July 2005 From April 1996

to October 2007 Mr Gulis was the Executive Vice President CFO and Treasurer of Wolverine World

Wide Inc global marketer of branded footwear apparel and accessories WWW From October

2007 until his retirement in July of 2008 he served as Executive Vice President and President of Global

Operations for WWW From 1988 to 1996 Mr Gulis served in various other management capacities
with WWW including CFO Vice President of Finance and Vice President Finance and Administration

of the Hush Puppies Company Prior to joining WWW he served six years on the audit staff of

Deloitte Touche Mr Gulis also serves as director of Independent Bank Corporation

We believe Mr Gulis is qualified to serve on our Board because he brings to our Board extensive

senior executive experience with publicly traded consumer products company including in particular

experience as chief financial officer in financial auditing and reporting and internal controls

Mr Gulis also has experience in management of human resources and product quality

Brenda Lauderback was first appointed to our Board of Directors in February 2004
Ms Lauderback served as President of the Retail and Wholesale Group for the Nine West Group Inc

designer and marketer of womens footwear and accessories from May 1995 until January 1998
Ms Lauderback also serves as director of Big Lots Inc Dennys Corporation and Wolverine World

Wide Inc Within the last five years Ms Lauderback also served as director of Louisiana-Pacific

Corporation until May 2005 and Irwin Financial Corporation until September 2009

We believe Ms Lauderback is qualified to serve on our Board because she has extensive executive

management experience with prominent national retailers Ms Lauderbacks experience on other

boards of directors and board committees also provides our Board with insight into best practices in

corporate governance and board processes

Ervin Shames has served as member of our Board of Directors since April 1996 and was
elected Chairman of the Board in February 2008 Mr Shames previously served as Chairman of our
Board of Directors from April 1996 to April 1999 From May 2004 until February 2008 Mr Shames
assumed the role of Lead Director under our Corporate Governance Principles Since January 1995
Mr Shames has served as an independent management consultant to consumer goods and services

companies advising on management and marketing strategy From 1996 until 2008 he was Lecturer

at the University of Virginias Darden Graduate School of Business From December 1993 to January
1995 he served as the Chief Executive Officer of Borden Inc and was President and Chief Operating
Officer of Borden Inc from July 1993 until December 1993 From June 1990 to June 1992 he was the

Chief Executive Officer of Stride Rite Corporation and from June 1992 to July 1993 he was Stride

Rites Chairman and Chief Executive Officer From 1967 to 1989 Mr Shames was employed by
General Foods/Altria Companies in varying capacities including the presidencies of General Foods

International General Foods USA and Kraft USA Mr Shames also serves as director of Choice

Hotels International Inc Online Resources Corporation and several privately held companies



We believe Mr Shames is qualified to serve on our Board because he brings to our Board

extensive experience as senior executive of several national or multi-national branded consumer

companies as well as experience on other publicly traded boards and board committees Mr Shames

provides our Board with extensive knowledge and experience in general management and consumer

marketing as well as insightful leadership as Chairman of our Board

Thomas Albani has served as member of our Board of Directors since February 1994

Mr Albani served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Electrolux Corporation manufacturer

of premium floor care machines from June 1991 to May 1998 From September 1984 to April 1989 he

was employed by Allegheny International Inc home appliance manufacturing company in number
of positions most recently as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer Mr Albani also

serves as director of Barnes Group Inc Mr Albanis current term on our Board will expire at this

years Annual Meeting and he will not stand for re-election

Corporate Governance

Information about the Board of Directors and its Committees

The Board of Directors has determined that each of the following directors is an independent
director as defined by applicable rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market and the rules and regulations of

the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC
Thomas Albani David Kollat Ervin Shames

Stephen Gulis Jr Brenda Lauderback Jean-Michel Valette

Christopher Kirchen Michael Peel

In addition Christine Day whose term of service with our Board expired on December 14
2009 was also an independent director under the definition referenced above

The Board maintains three
standing committees including an Audit Committee Management

Development and Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
Until February 2010 the Board also maintained standing Finance Committee Each of the

committees of the Board has charter and each of these charters is included in the investor relations

section of the companys Web site at
http//wwwselectcomfort.com/eng/aboutus/corporategovernance.cjjn

The information contained in or connected to our Web site is not incorporated by reference into or

considered part of this Proxy Statement

The current members of each of the Board committees are identified in the table below In his

capacity as non-executive Chairman of the Board Mr Shames may attend and vote at any committee

meeting

Management Corporate
Development and Governance and

Audit Compensation Nominating Finance
Director Committee Committee Committee Committee

Thomas Albani

Stephen Gulis Jr Chair

Christopher Kirchen

David Kollat

Brenda Lauderback Chair

Michael Peel Chair

Ervin Shames

Jean-Michel Valette Chair

The Finance Committee was eliminated in February 2010
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The Board has determined that each member of the Board committees meets the independence

requirements applicable to those committees prescribed by applicable rules and regulations of the

NASDAQ Stock Market the SEC and the Internal Revenue Service

The Board of Directors has further determined that two members of the Audit Committee

Stephen Gulis Jr and Jean-Michel Valette meet the definition of audit committee financial

expert under rules and regulations of the SEC and meet the qualifications of financial sophistication

under the Marketplace Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market These designations related to our Audit

Committee members experience and understanding with
respect to certain accounting and auditing

matters are disclosure requirements of the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market and do not impose

upon any of them any duties obligations or liabilities that are greater than those generally imposed on

member of our Audit Committee or of our Board of Directors

The Board of Directors met in person or by telephone conference 46 times and took action by

written consent on three occasions during 2009 The Audit Committee met in person or by telephone

conference nine times during 2009 The Management Development and Compensation Committee met

in person or by telephone conference six times during 2009 The Finance Committee met in person or

by telephone conference 24 times and took action by written consent on two occasions during 2009

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee met in person or by telephone conference two

times during 2009 All of the current members of our Board of Directors attended 75% or more of the

meetings of the Board and all committees on which they served during fiscal 2009

Audit Committee The Audit Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors currently

including Stephen Gulis Jr Chair Thomas Albani Christopher Kirchen and Jean-Michel

Valette The Audit Committee provides assistance to the Board in satisfying its fiduciary responsibilities

relating to accounting auditing operating and reporting practices of our company The Audit

Committee is responsible for providing independent objective oversight with respect to our companys

accounting and financial reporting functions internal and external audit functions and systems of

internal controls regarding financial matters and legal ethical and regulatory compliance The

responsibilities and functions of the Audit Committee are further described in the Audit Committee

Report beginning on page 64 of this Proxy Statement

Management Development and Compensation Committee The Management Development and

Compensation Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors currently including

Michael Peel Chair David Kollat and Ervin Shames The principal function of the

Management Development and Compensation Committee is to discharge the responsibilities of the

Board relating to compensation of the companys executive officers The responsibilities and functions

of the Management Development and Compensation Committee are further described in the

Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 19 of this Proxy Statement

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee The Corporate Governance and Nominating

Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors currently including Brenda Lauderback

Chair David Kollat and Michael Peel The primary functions of the Corporate Governance and

Nominating Committee are to develop and recommend to the Board corporate governance principles

to govern the Board its committees and our executive officers and employees in the conduct of the

business and affairs of our company to identify and recommend to the Board individuals qualified to

become members of the Board and its committees and to develop and oversee the annual Board and

Board committee evaluation process

Finance Committee The Finance Committee which was eliminated in February 2010 was

comprised entirely of independent directors including Jean-Michel Valette Chair Thomas Albani
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Stephen Gulis Jr and Christopher Kirchen The primary functions of the Finance Committee
were to

Review and consult with senior management regarding financial matters including the

companys financial condition plans and
strategies investor relations strategies cash

management strategies risk management strategies and legal and tax structure

Review and consult with senior management regarding and make recommendations to the

Board regarding the issuance or retirement of debt or equity dividend policies and dividend

declarations stock splits and similar changes in capitalization and acquisitions divestitures and

joint ventures and the related financial strategies or arrangements and

Review and consult with senior management regarding and approve on behalf of the Board the

companys cash investment policies unbudgeted capital commitments and operating leases up to

$5 million and stock repurchase authority subject to limitations established by the Board from

time-to-time

Board Leadership Structure

Our Board is
currently comprised of eight independent directors and one employee director

Mr McLaughlin who has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since joining the

company in 2000 Mr McLaughlin also served as Chairman of the Board from May 2004 through

February 2008 At that time with Mr McLaughlins support the Board determined to separate the

positions of Chairman of Board and Chief Executive Officer and Ervin Shames was appointed
Chairman of the Board The Board decided to separate these roles based on its ongoing review of best

practices in corporate governance and to enable Mr McLaughlin to focus all of his time and energy in

leadership of the day-to-day operations of the company and its growth and profitability initiatives as it

faced the challenges of the recent economic downturn

The Board continues to believe for the reasons noted above that separation of these roles is the

most appropriate leadership structure for the Board and the company at this time Consistent with the

companys Corporate Governance Principles the Board retains the right to review this determination
and to either continue to maintain these positions as separated positions or to combine the positions
as the Board determines to be in the best interests of the company at the time During any period in

which the positions of Chairman of the Board and CEO are combined the Board would appoint
Lead Director from among the independent members of the Board who would have certain Board

leadership responsibilities specified in our Corporate Governance
Principles

Board Role in Risk Oversight

Our Board is generally responsible for overseeing the companys policies and practices with respect
to risk assessment and risk management and has delegated to the Audit Committee the

responsibility
of assisting the Board in fulfilling this role Among its duties and processes the Audit Committee

reviews and discusses with management the companys policies and practices with respect to risk

assessment and risk management oversees the companys internal audit function and processes
establishes and oversees procedures for receiving and addressing complaints regarding accounting

internal controls or auditing matters reviews with the companys counsel legal compliance and
other legal matters and reports to the full Board with respect to matters within its area of

responsibility

The Audit Committee oversees the companys internal audit function which is responsible for

undertaking an annual risk assessment process and reporting to the Audit Committee with
respect to

this assessment and related risk management strategies The Audit Committee reviews and approves at

least annually the companys internal audit plan and receives quarterly reports with respect to the

results of internal audits The leader of the companys internal audit function reports directly to the
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Audit Committee with respect to internal audit matters and the Audit Committee has authority to

review and approve the appointment replacement or dismissal of the leader of this function The

leader of the internal audit function meets regularly in executive session with the Audit Committee

without any members of the companys management team present

In addition to the Audit Committees role each of the other committees considers risks within its

respective areas of responsibility We believe our current Board leadership structure helps ensure

proper risk oversight based on the allocation of duties among committees and the role of our

independent directors in risk oversight

Director Nominations Process

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee the CGNC administers the process
for

nominating candidates to serve on our Board of Directors The CGNC recommends candidates for

consideration by the Board as whole which is responsible for appointing candidates to fill any

vacancy that may be created between meetings of the shareholders and for nominating candidates to be

considered for election by shareholders at our Annual Meeting

Consistent with the companys Corporate Governance Principles the CGNC periodically reviews

with the Board the appropriate skills and characteristics required of Board members in the context of

the current membership of the Board This assessment specifically includes consideration of diversity

such as diversity of age gender race and national origin education professional experience and

differences in viewpoints and functional skills in relation to the perceived needs of the Board at that

time The CGNC does not have formal policy with respect to diversity however the Board and the

CGNC believe that it is essential that the Board members represent diverse viewpoints

The Board has established selection criteria to be applied by the CGNC and by the full Board in

evaluating candidates for election to the Board These criteria include

Independence

Integrity

Experience and sound judgment in areas relevant to our business

proven record of accomplishment

Willingness to speak ones mind

The ability to commit sufficient time to Board responsibilities

The ability to challenge and stimulate management and

Belief in and passion for our mission and vision

The CGNC reviews these selection criteria and the overall director nomination process
at least

annually in connection with the nomination of directors for election at the companys annual meeting

for consistency with best practices in corporate governance and effectiveness in meeting the needs of

the Board from time-to-time

The CGNC may use variety of methods for identifying potential nominees for election to the

Board including consideration of candidates recommended by directors officers or shareholders of the

company The CGNC also has the authority under its charter to engage professional
search firms or

other advisors to assist the CGNC in identifying candidates for election to the Board or to otherwise

assist the CGNC in fulfilling its responsibilities

Shareholder nominations of candidates for membership on the Board submitted in accordance with

the terms of our Bylaws will be reviewed and evaluated by the CGNC in the same manner as for any

other nominations Any shareholder who wishes the CGNC to consider candidate should submit

written request and related information to our Corporate Secretary Under our Bylaws if shareholder
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intends to nominate person for election to the Board of Directors at shareholder meeting the

shareholder is required to give written notice of the proposed nomination to the Corporate Secretary at

least 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date that the company first released or mailed its

proxy materials to shareholders in connection with the preceding years regular or annual meeting The
shareholders notice must include for each nominee whom the shareholder proposes to nominate for

election as director the name age business address and residence address of the nominee
ii the principal occupation or employment of the nominee iii the class and number of shares of

capital stock of the company that are beneficially owned by the nominee and iv any other

information concerning the nominee that would be required under the rules of the Securities and

Exchange Commission in proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of such nominee The
shareholders notice must also include the name and address of the nominating shareholder as they
appear on the companys books and ii the class and number of shares of the company that are

owned beneficially and of record by the shareholder The shareholders notice must also be

accompanied by the proposed nominees signed consent to serve as director of the company

Shareholder Communications with the Board

Shareholders may communicate with the Board of Directors its Committees or any individual

member of the Board of Directors by sending written communication to our Corporate Secretary at

9800 59th Avenue North Plymouth MN 55442 The Corporate Secretary will promptly forward any
communication so received to the Board any Committee of the Board or any individual Board member
specifically addressed in the communication In addition if any shareholder or other person has
concern regarding any accounting internal control or auditing matter the matter may be brought to

the attention of the Audit Committee confidentially and anonymously by calling 1-800-835-5870
inserting the I.D Code of AUDIT 28348 and following the prompts from the recorded message The
company reserves the right to revise this policy in the event that the process is abused becomes
unworkable or otherwise does not efficiently serve the purposes of the policy

Policy Regarding Director Attendance at Annual Meeting

Our policy is to require attendance of all of our directors at our Annual Meeting of Shareholders
except for absences due to causes beyond the reasonable control of the director All of the directors
then serving on our Board were in attendance at our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders other than
Christine Day whose term on our Board expired at the 2009 Annual Meeting

Corporate Governance Principles

Our Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance
Principles that were originally

developed and recommended by the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee These

Corporate Governance
Principles are available in the investor relations section of the companys Web

site at http//wwwselectcomfort com/eng/abo utus/corporategovernance cJin The information contained in or
connected to our Web site is not incorporated by reference into or considered part of this Proxy
Statement Among these Corporate Governance Principles are the following

Independence substantial
majority of the members of the Board should be independent

non-employee directors It is the
responsibility of the Board to establish the standards for independence

and the Board has followed the independence standards for companies listed on The NASDAQ Stock
Market LLCNASDAQ Global Select Market NASDAQ All of our directors are independent
except for William McLaughlin our Chief Executive Officer All Committees of the Board are

composed entirely of independent directors

The Audit Committee charter requires that the Audit Committee must review and approve any
proposed or actual related

party transaction that would be required to be disclosed by the company
pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K of the Federal securities laws
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In
reaching its determination that all of the non-executive members of the Board of Directors are

independent under the listing standards of the NASDAQ the Board reviewed and discussed

relationships involving one of our directors Christopher Kirchen serves on the board of company
that has provided public relations services to the company and the amount of these services was de

minimus in both 2006 and 2007 The venture capital firm that Mr Kirchen is affiliated with has

minority investment in market research company that has completed one project for the company in

2008 for which the company paid $44600 The decisions related to the use of these services were made

through normal company sourcing procedures and were not in any way influenced by these directors

For these reasons and due to the minimal amounts involved the Board determined that these

transactions did not prevent Mr Kirchen from meeting the applicable independence standard

Chairman and CEO Positions At the present time the Board believes that it is in the best

interests of the company and its stakeholders for the positions of Chairman of the Board and CEO to

be separated and for the position of Chairman of the Board to be held by non-executive

independent member of the Board The Board retains the right to review this determination and to

either continue to maintain these positions as separated positions or to combine the positions as the

Board determines to be in the best interests of the company at the time During any period in which

the positions of Chairman of the Board and CEO are combined the Board will appoint Lead
Director from among the independent members of the Board

Classified Board Structure Our Articles of Incorporation provide for classified Board serving

staggered terms of three years each The Board will periodically review its classified Board structure in

the context of other provisions and measures applicable to unsolicited takeover proposals with the

objective of
positioning the Board and the company to maximize the long-term value of our company

for all shareholders

Requirement of Incumbent Directors who do not Receive Majority Vote in an Uncontested

Election to Tender Resignation If nominee for Director who is an incumbent Director is not

elected at meeting of shareholders and no successor to the incumbent Director is elected at the

meeting of shareholders the incumbent Director shall promptly offer to tender his or her resignation

to the Board The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall make recommendation to

the Board on whether to accept or reject the offer or whether other action should be taken The
Board shall act on whether to accept the Directors offer taking into account the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committees recommendation and publicly disclose by press release

filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission or other
broadly disseminated means of

communication its decision and the rationale behind it within 90 days after the date of the certification

of the election results The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee in making its

recommendation and the Board in making its decision may each consider any factors or other

recommendations that it considers relevant and appropriate The incumbent Director who offers to

tender his or her resignation shall not participate in the Boards decision If such incumbent Directors

offer to tender his or her resignation is not accepted by the Board such Director shall continue to

serve until the next meeting of shareholders at which Directors are elected and until his or her

successor is duly elected or his or her earlier death resignation retirement disqualification or

removal

Approach to Term and Age Limits The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee has

determined to not adopt specific term or age limits in order to not arbitrarily lose important
contributors to the Board In order to ensure an appropriate balance between new perspectives and

experienced Directors if the median tenure of the Board exceeds 8.5
years or if the majority of the

Directors are 60 years of age or older then one or more Directors will either not be re-nominated or

asked to resign from the Board Such Directors will be selected based on an evaluation of the Boards
needs at the time and individual Directors contributions to the Board
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Change in Responsibilities
The Board does not believe that Directors who retire or who have

change in their principal employment or affiliation after joining
the Board should necessarily leave the

Board There should however be an opportunity for the Board through the Corporate Governance

and Nominating Committee to review the qualifications of the director for continued Board

membership Any Director who undergoes material change in principal employment or affiliation is

required to promptly notify the Chair of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of the

change

Other Board or Audit Committee Service The Board recognizes that service on other boards can

in some circumstances limit the time that Directors may have to devote to fulfilling their

responsibilities to the company It is the Boards guideline that no Director serve on more than total

of six public company boards including the Select Comfort Board and that no membcr of the

companys Audit Committee shall serve on more than total of three public company audit committees

including the Select Comfort Audit Committee If any Director exceeds or proposes to exceed these

guidelines the Director is required to promptly notify the Chair of the Corporate Governance and

Nominating Committee and the committee will review the facts and circumstances and determine

whether such service would interfere with the Directors ability to devote sufficient time to fulfilling the

Directors responsibilities to the company

CEO Service on Other Boards The CEO shall not serve on more than two public company

boards other than the Board of Directors of the company

Board and Committee Evaluations The Board believes that the companys governance and the

Boards effectiveness can be continually improved through evaluation of both the Board as whole and

its committees The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for annually

evaluating effectiveness in these areas and reviewing the results and recommendations for improvement

with the full Board

Board Executive Sessions Executive sessions or meetings of independent directors without

management present
will be held at least twice each year At least one session will be to review the

performance criteria applicable to the CEO and other senior managers the performance of the CEO

against such criteria and the compensation of the CEO and other senior managers Additional

executive sessions or meetings of outside directors may be held from time-to-time as required The

Boards practice has been to meet in executive session for portion of each regularly scheduled

meeting of the Board Any member of the Board may request at any time an executive session without

the presence of management

Paid Consulting Arrangements The Board believes that the company should not enter into paid

consulting arrangements with independent directors

Board Compensation Board compensation should encourage alignment with shareholders

interests and should be at level equitable to comparable companies The Management Development

and Compensation Committee is responsible for periodic assessments to assure these standards are

being met

Share Ownership Guidelines for Executive Officers and Directors The Board has established the

stock ownership guidelines described below for executive officers and directors For purposes of these

guidelines stock ownership includes the fair market value of all shares of common stock owned

without regard to restrictions on transfer and including shares allocated to directors accounts under

the companys non-employee director equity plan and vested stock options after taxes at an

assumed individual effective tax rate of 40% The fair market value of stock options
shall mean the

then-current market price less the exercise price
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Executive Officer Ownership Guidelines Within five years of joining the company the Chief

Executive Officer is expected to achieve and maintain stock ownership equal to five times the

CEOs base salary and each of the other executive officers is expected to achieve and maintain

stock ownership equal to three times the executive officers base salary

Board Ownership Guidelines Within five years of joining the companys Board of Directors each

director is expected to achieve and maintain stock ownership equal to five times the directors

annual cash retainer

Restrictions on Sale Pending Achievement of Ownership Objectives Any director or executive

officer who has not achieved the foregoing ownership objective by the required time period will

not be permitted to sell any shares except to the extent required to pay transaction costs and

taxes applicable to exercise of stock options or the vesting of restricted shares Exceptions to

these restrictions on sale of shares may be granted by the Board in its sole discretion for good

cause shown by any director or executive officer

Conflicts of Interest Directors are expected to avoid any action position or interest that conflicts

with an interest of the company or that gives the appearance of conflict If any member of the Board

becomes aware of any such conflicting or potentially conflicting interest involving any member of the

Board the director should immediately bring such information to the attention of the Chairman of the

Board the Chief Executive Officer and the General Counsel of the company

Performance Goals and Evaluation The Management Development and Compensation

Committee is responsible for establishing the procedures for setting annual and long-term performance

goals for the Chief Executive Officer and for the evaluation by the full Board of his or her

performance against
such goals The Committee meets at least annually with the Chief Executive

Officer to receive his or her recommendations concerning such goals Both the annual goals and the

annual performance evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer are reviewed and discussed by the

outside directors at meeting or executive session of that group The Committee is also responsible for

setting annual and long-term performance goals and compensation for the direct reports to the CEO
These decisions are approved by the outside directors at meeting or executive session of that group

Compensation Philosophy The Board supports and through the Management Development and

Compensation Committee oversees employee compensation programs that are closely linked to

business performance and emphasize equity ownership

Senior Management Depth and Development The CEO reports to the Board at least annually

on senior management depth and development including discussion of assessments leadership

development plans and other relevant factors

Provisions Applicable to Unsolicited Takeover Attempts or Proposals The Board will periodically

review not less often than every three years the companys Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and

various provisions
that are designed to maximize shareholder value in the event of an unsolicited

takeover attempt or proposal Such review includes consideration of matters such as the companys

state of incorporation whether the company should opt in or out of applicable control share acquisition

or business combination statutes and provisions such as the companys classified Board structure The

objective of this review is to maintain proper balance of provisions that will not deter bona fide

proposals from coming before the Board and that will position the Board and the company to

maximize the long-term value of our company for all shareholders

Shareholder Approval of Equity-Based Compensation Plans Shareholder approval will be sought

for all equity-based compensation plans
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Code of Conduct

We have developed and circulated to all of our employees Code of Business Conduct addressing

legal and ethical issues that may be encountered by our employees in the conduct of our business

Among other things the Code of Business Conduct requires that our employees comply with applicable

laws engage in ethical and safe conduct in our work environment avoid conflicts of interests conduct

our business with integrity and high ethical standards and safeguard our companys assets copy of

the Code of Business Conduct is included in the investor relations section of our Web site at

http/Iwww.selectcomfort.com/eng/aboutus/corporategovernance.cfm We intend to disclose any amendments
to and any waivers from provision of our Code of Business Conduct on our Web site The
information contained in or connected to our Web site is not incorporated by reference into or

considered part of this Proxy Statement

Employees are required to report any conduct that they believe in good faith violates our Code of

Business Conduct The Code of Business Conduct also sets forth procedures under which employees or

others may report through our management team and ultimately directly to our Audit Committee

confidentially and anonymously if so desired any questions or concerns regarding accounting internal

accounting controls or auditing matters

All of our employees are required to periodically certify their commitment to abide by our Code
of Business Conduct We also provide training in key areas covered by the Code of Business Conduct
to help our employees to comply with their obligations
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Introduction

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the key principles and approaches used to

determine the compensation of the named executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation

Table All compensation paid to the named executive officers is determined by the Management

Development Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors the Committee which is

composed solely of independent non-employee Directors who meet regularly each fiscal year The

Committee has retained Towers Watson as its outside compensation consultant More information on

Towers Watsons role in advising the Committee on executive compensation matters is provided later in

this report

Select Comforts long-term goal is to consistently grow sales and earnings faster than its industry

peers and to out-perform broader peer group of specialty retailers Select Comforts compensation

programs are generally more performance oriented and typically have greater proportion of total

compensation at risk than those of comparable companies Only base salary and certain benefit

programs do not vary upward or downward with annual financial performance As result total

compensation for named executive officers and other senior leaders varies from the bottom quartile of

the market when performance is below expectations to the top quartile of the market when

performance exceeds that of peer group companies

Select Comforts performance in 2009 exceeded both internal and external expectations after two

challenging years in 2007 and 2008 Compensation for our named executive officers over this period

reflects this turn-around in business performance and the strong pay for performance design of the

companys executive compensation programs

Base Salaries were generally frozen and annual merit increases foregone as result of

disappointing 2007 and 2008 company results Our CEO voluntarily agreed to forego his base

salary for most of 2008 as part of our efforts to improve our cost structure Increases during this

time for two of our named executive officers were approved solely in recognition of increased

responsibilities and to obtain better alignment with the market All base salaries in the Summary

Compensation Table for 2008 reflect an additional week in the fiscal year Since the end of 2009

modest merit increases have been approved in recognition of the improvement in business

performance achieved in 2009

Annual Cash Incentive Compensation which is entirely performance-based and targeted to

represent significant percentage of total compensation for named executive officers was

achieved and paid with respect to 2009 at targeted levels whereas no bonuses were earned for

2007 or 2008

Long-Term Equity-Based Incentive Compensation is also strongly tied to annual company

performance and typically designed to account for approximately 40% of total compensation for

our named executive officers Stock-based awards granted in 2007 and 2008 were substantially

reduced based on the failure to achieve performance goals Following challenging year
in 2008

and the resulting uncertainty regarding the companys financial condition annual stock and stock

option awards were deferred for 2009 until later in the year when there was greater clarity as to

the companys business performance and financial condition Based on the grant date fair value

awards in 2009 were generally
modest in comparison with prior periods except for special

restricted stock awards granted to two named executive officers in recognition of their

extraordinary efforts in connection with the recapitalization of the company in 2009
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The restoration of annual cash incentive payouts and our cautious approach to stock and stock

option awards resulted in total compensation consistent with the middle of our peer group for the

named executive officers and other company management for 2009 year in which positive momentum
in business performance was achieved

The Board of Directors and management of Select Comfort are highly committed to building on
the positive momentum established in 2009 and returning to the outstanding growth and financial

performance that characterized the company from 2001 through 2006 Aggressive actions have been
taken to improve the companys cost structure and profitability and to prepare the company to fully

realize its future potential as we weather the current challenging macroeconomic environment

The following discussion provides an overview of the Management Development and

Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors discussion of the philosophy and objectives
of our compensation programs for senior management and discussion of each material element
of these compensation programs and the process used to determine the amounts of these elements

Overview of the Management Development and Compensation Committee

The Management Development and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors the
Committee is comprised entirely of independent non-employee directors The primary purpose of

the Committee is to discharge the responsibilities of our Board relating to executive compensation and

development of current and future leadership resources The responsibilities of the Committee include

Establishment of compensation strategies processes and programs for the Chief Executive

Officer and other executive officers designed to motivate and reward superior company
performance

Leadership of the Board of Directors annual
process to evaluate the performance of the Chief

Executive Officer

Review and approval of all compensation elements for the Chief Executive Officer and other

executive officers including base salaries annual cash incentive awards equity-based awards
benefits and perquisites

Oversight of the annual cash incentive plan long-term equity-based incentive plans and major

employee benefit programs

Review of management development progress organizational strategy succession planning for

key leadership positions and overall talent depth to assure that talent formation processes are

consistent with the companys aggressive growth goals

Establishment of the structure and amount of non-employee director compensation

The Committee has the authority under its charter to retain and consult with independent advisors

to assist the Committee in fulfilling these responsibilities and duties To maintain the independence of

these advisors the charter also provides that the use by the company of any of these advisors for work
other than that

expressly commissioned by the Committee must be approved in advance by the

Committee For each of the last several years the Committee has engaged Towers Watson previously
known as Towers Perrin global human resources consulting firm as its independent compensation
consultant

The Committee usually meets four to six times per year in person or by telephone conference as
needed The Chairman of the Committee works with members of our senior management team and
with the Committees independent compensation consultant to determine the agenda for each meeting
Following the development of the agenda members of senior management and our human capital

department sometimes with the assistance of the Committees independent compensation consultant
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prepare materials for each meeting of the Committee These materials are reviewed with the Chair of

the Committee in advance of distribution to the entire Committee

Our Chief Executive Officer other members of our management team involved in the

development and administration of our compensation programs and the Committees independent

compensation consultant may be invited to attend all or portion of Committee meeting depending

on the nature of the agenda The Committee also typically meets in executive session without any

members of management present

Neither our Chief Executive Officer nor any other member of management votes on any matters

before the Committee The Committee however solicits the views of our Chief Executive Officer on

compensation matters generally and particularly with respect to the compensation of members of the

senior management team reporting to the Chief Executive Officer The Committee also solicits the

views of other members of senior management and our human capital department with respect to key

compensation elements and broad-based employee benefit plans

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

Our compensation philosophy and objectives may be summarized as follows

Competitive Compensation As growth-oriented company we need to attract retain and

motivate executives and key employees with the capability to enable us to achieve significantly

greater scale

Performance-Based Compensation We favor variable compensation tied to company results over

fixed compensation We target base salary compensation at the market median with the

opportunity to earn total compensation above the market median when company performance is

competitively superior

Reward both Company-Wide and Individual Achievement In determining short-term and

long-term incentive awards emphasis is placed on company performance However significant

differentiation can occur with respect to merit increases in base salaries annual cash incentive

compensation and in long-term equity awards based on individual performance and potential

Emphasize Stock Ownership We believe that employee stock ownership is valuable tool to

align the interests of employees with those of shareholders The company has established specific

stock ownership objectives for company officers as well as for members of the Board of

Directors The company has historically provided variety of means for broader stock ownership

by employees at all levels including through our long-term incentive plans and our 401k
savings plan

Compensation Program Elements

Our compensation program for senior management currently consists of base salary annual

cash incentive compensation long-term equity-based incentive compensation severance

compensation upon termination of employment without cause broad-based benefits plans available

to other employees generally and limited perquisites In addition we have stock ownership

requirements for senior management described further below We do not have employment agreements

that provide for continued employment for any period of time

The Committee annually reviews the companys total compensation program for the Chief

Executive Officer and for each of the companys Senior Vice Presidents The independent

compensation consultant provides the Committee with relevant market data and trends to consider as

the Committee makes compensation decisions relative to the companys executive officers
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In making compensation decisions relative to the entire senior management team the Committee

reviews data from multiple broad-based survey sources provided by the independent compensation

consultant including Towers Perrins general and retail industry data Watson Wyatts general industry

data and Mercers general industry data The Committee compares each element of total compensation

against these
survey data These survey data are adjusted by regression analysis to account for company

size as well as against tabular data from these
surveys arranged by company size

The Committee also compares each element of compensation for the CEO and CFO to peer

group of publicly traded companies This peer group the composition of which is reviewed annually
consists of comparable retail manufacturing and consumer branded companies with which we compete
for talent and for shareholder investments At the end of 2009 based on considerable changes in the

market following the economic downturn our peer group was reassessed and revised to include the

following 21 companies

Bare Escentuals Inc J.Crew Group Inc

Bassett Furniture Industries Incorporated Kenneth Cole Productions Inc

Blue Nile Inc Kirklands Inc

Callaway Golf Company La-Z-Boy Incorporated

Christopher Banks Corporation Nautilus Inc

Coidwater Creek Inc Pier Imports Inc

Crocs Inc Sealy Corporation

Ethan Allen Interiors Inc Tempur-Pedic International Inc

Furniture Brands International Inc The Timberland Company
Golfsmith International Holdings Inc Under Armour Inc

Haverty Furniture Companies Inc

Because of the wide range in size among the companies in the peer group and because our annual

revenues are at approximately the 25th percentile of the peer group regression analysis is used to

adjust the compensation data for differences in company revenues The adjusted data is used as the

basis of comparison of CEO and CFO compensation between our company and the companies in the

peer group

With the assistance of the independent compensation consultant the Committee values the total

compensation of the executive officers in two ways including the targeted compensation opportunity
and the current actual pay The targeted compensation opportunity includes current base salary

targeted annual incentive compensation and targeted annual stock equity award values The current

actual pay includes current base salary the most recent actual bonus payout and most recent equity

awards valued on the basis of the average stock price over the preceding six months The competitive

position of the compensation for the executive officers is considered from both of these perspectives

Base Salaiy Base salaries for our executive officers are reviewed annually shortly after the end of

each fiscal year When making decisions on base salaries the Committee considers both the external

market data mentioned above as well as variety of internal criteria These criteria include each

executive officers scope of responsibilities each executive officers qualifications skills and

experience internal pay equity among senior executives and individual job performance

including both impact on current financial results and contributions to building longer-term competitive

advantage and shareholder value Annual increases in base salary are primarily driven by the

Committees evaluation of individual performance

The Summary Compensation Table included on page 32 of this Proxy Statement reflects

William McLaughlins offer in early 2008 to forego base salary for the remainder of the year

unless consistent comparable store sales growth was restored ii an increase of 12% for Shelly

Ibach approved in 2008 to reflect an increase in her responsibilities iii an increase of 8.8% for

Kathryn Roedel in 2008 driven by her promotion to Executive Vice President and external market
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considerations and iv an increase of 5.6% for Ms Roedel in 2009 to reflect her additional

responsibilities and internal equity considerations All base salaries also reflect an additional week in

fiscal year 2008

Based on the continuing challenges in stabilizing sales and profitability levels reflected in the

companys performance in 2008 and in recognition of the companys efforts to control costs and

preserve cash the Committee accepted managements proposal to defer all merit increases to base

salaries for executive officers in early 2009 until such time as performance momentum was restored

Following the improvement in performance in 2009 the Committee revisited base salaries for senior

executives in early 2010 for consistency with the companys overall compensation objectives and

approved merit increases and market adjustments for named executive officers

Annual Cash Incentive Compensation Annual cash incentive compensation for executive officers

and other employees is provided under our Executive and Key Employee Incentive Plan the Annual

Incentive Plan The Annual Incentive Plan is designed to drive company-wide performance for the

relevant fiscal
year at or above the companys stated long-term growth and profitability objectives

Consistent with the companys performance-based compensation philosophy the Board seeks to set its

company-wide financial performance objectives so as to achieve above-median performance relative to

the companys peer group The Committee then seeks to set annual cash incentive targets so that

achievement of above-median performance will result in above-median total cash compensation

At the beginning of each fiscal year the Committee determines the three principal elements of the

Annual Incentive Plan for the coming fiscal year the performance goals the target bonus levels

and the split between company-wide performance goals and individual performance goals if any
Actual bonus payments are typically increased above the target bonus levels for results that exceed the

performance goals and are decreased below the target bonus levels and may be reduced to zero for

results that do not fully meet the goals with the amount of the increase or decrease based on

schedule determined by the Committee

Performance Goals The Committee determines both the type and the specific targets of the

performance goals for each fiscal year The Annual Incentive Plan limits the types of

performance goals to sales growth or volume net operating profit before tax cash flow earnings

per share return on capital employed and/or return on assets Since the adoption of the current

Annual Incentive Plan in 2001 the Committee has selected annual Net Operating Profit

NOP as the primary company performance measure based on its belief that this single goal

provides balanced focus on both revenue growth and improved profitability In some years the

Committee has added secondary performance goal aligned with key strategy or initiative for

the year including revenue growth in 2007 and operating free cash flow in 2009

Target Bonus Levels The target bonus level for the CEO has been set at 75% of base salary

for each year since 2002 The target bonus level for Senior Vice Presidents has been set at 55%
of base salary for each year since 2003 In 2008 two executives were promoted to Executive Vice

President and the Committee established bonus target of 60% of base salary for this level

These target bonus levels are compared to the broad-based survey data identified above and the

companys peer group of publicly traded companies and these target bonus levels are reviewed

annually As noted above these target bonus levels when combined with the performance goals

established by the Committee are designed to deliver compensation consistent with our

compensation philosophy

Split between Company-Wide Goals and Individual Goals The Annual Incentive Plan specifies

that for senior executive officers at least 75% of the target award must be based on objective

company-wide performance goals and not more than 25% of the target award may be based on

individual performance goals From the inception of the Annual Incentive Plan in 2001 through

2007 the Committee had based target awards payable to senior executives entirely on
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company-wide performance goals For 2008 the Committee determined to base 25% of the

target award for senior management on individual performance objectives in order to better

recognize and reward outstanding individual performance Payment of the individual portion was

also dependent on achievement of minimum company-wide NOP target For 2009 and 2010

the Committee returned to the practice of basing the target bonus award for executive officers

entirely on objective company-wide performance goals in order to focus all employees on the

urgency of company-wide objectives

The actual incentive payouts for the past several fiscal years 2007 through 2009 as well as the

design of the incentive program for 2010 demonstrate how these incentive mechanics actually function

and the strong relationship between company performance and incentive payments

For 2007 the Committee established an NOP performance goal of $90.1 million 20% vs

comparable 2006 performance for payment of bonuses at target level The incentive plan also had

15% kicker if net sales hit stretch objective of $1 billion and NOP was at least 10% of net sales

As the companys NOP performance was significantly below plan in accordance with the incentive

schedule established at the beginning of the year the Committee determined that no incentive payout

was appropriate for 2007

For 2008 because of the economic uncertainty that prevailed as we entered the year particularly

for specialty retailers the Committee thought it important to modify the incentive program design To

assure motivation and incentive for top performers the Committee determined that 2008 annual

incentives would be based 75% on company NOP performance and 25% on individual performance

versus goals The Committee established NOP performance goal of $34.7 million 20% vs

comparable 2007 performance for payment of bonuses at target level and determined that no payout

would occur on the company performance portion if this NOP threshold target was not met The slope

of any incentive payouts above the NOP target for the year was relatively flat 0.39% to 2.5% per each

1% of NOP growth unless NOP exceeded prior year by 10% when the incentive leverage would

increase to 5% per each incremental 1% of NOP growth The individual performance portion was

payable only in the event of achievement of positive NOP after payment of any bonus and in all cases

any incentive earned would have been fully funded by the NOP results upon which the incentive was

based

To further assure 2008 pay and performance were properly aligned the Committee reserved the

discretion to increase or decrease the 75% company performance portion of the incentive by up to

20% This incentive provision was added due to the difficulty in assessing how conservative or

aggressive 2008 NOP goals were given the continuing deterioration of the economy Use of this

discretionary authority was to be based on the companys relative performance versus industry

competitors and on sales and profit growth trends generated during the year

As the company did not achieve positive NOP performance in 2008 in accordance with the

incentive plan terms established at the beginning of the year the Committee determined that no

incentive payout was appropriate for 2008

For 2009 as the macroeconomic environment remained volatile and uncertain and the company

was further challenged by near-term liquidity requirements the Committee again refined key elements

of the annual incentive plan design To focus all employees on the companys core operating strategies

annual incentive plan payments were based entirely on company-wide performance goals The

Committee again chose NOP after bonus and interest payments as the primary performance goal

with bonus payments being earned only for exceeding the companys planned NOP goals As liquidity

and cash flow are key objectives for the company in the current economic environment the Committee

also added operating free cash flow as secondary performance goal
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Following an operating loss of $69.5 million in 2008 and based on the companys planned NOP

objectives for 2009 the Committee initially established threshold NOP goal of loss of $3 million for

payment of bonuses at 25% of target levels NOP goal of $13.2 million for payment of bonuses at

100% of target levels and NOP goal of $17.1 million for payment of bonuses at 125% of target

levels In each case NOP goals are after payment of any bonuses earned The secondary performance

goal of positive operating free cash flow after payment of bonuses and excluding tax refunds would

increase the bonus payment by 10% In recognition
of the cash needs of the business bonus payments

were initially capped at 125% of target levels and payment was to be made only at such time as the

Committee determined that we would have adequate liquidity and capital resources to meet the

operating needs of the business

In order to focus all employees on near-term critical business objectives incentive payments were

based on quarterly performance targets derived from the annual NOP goals set forth above Due to

continuing difficulty in assessing how conservative or aggressive the annual NOP goals may be given the

economic uncertainty the Committee reserved the discretion to review the targets on quarterly basis

to assure that pay and performance were properly aligned In order to provide strong continuing

incentive if quarterly target was missed the opportunity
remained to earn the full year

bonus if the

full year target was achieved

Following the first quarter the Committee determined to adjust the annual target to reflect

NOP after interest expense in order to focus the leadership team on cash generation and debt

reduction with goal of $6.0 million in NOP after interest and after bonus payments to earn bonuses

at 100% of target levels The Committee also determined to reduce the cap on bonus payments to

100% of target levels in light of the cash and liquidity needs of the company As the company achieved

NOP of $14.7 million for the full year after interest expense and bonus payments the Committee

determined to pay bonuses at 100% of target levels consistent with the foregoing terms

For 2010 the Committee has determined to base annual incentive compensation payments

exclusively on company-wide NOP goals with bonus payments earned only for exceeding the companys

planned NOP goals In order to maintain focus on near-term critical business objectives bonus

payments will again be based on quarterly performance versus targets derived from the annual

operating plan For achievement of the quarterly objectives up to 50% of the prorated target bonus

payment may be earned each quarter To maintain strong continuing incentive if quarterly target
is

not achieved the opportunity remains to earn the full year
bonus if the full year target

is achieved The

threshold bonus level for exceeding planned results is at 50% of target levels and employees may earn

up to 250% of target levels for significantly exceeding NOP goals

Long-Term Equity-Based Incentive Compensation The company makes long-term incentive

compensation grants to its executive officers and other employees to align their interests with those of

shareholders as well as to provide total compensation which is competitive in the marketplaces in

which the company competes for top talent As the company offers no pension plan this pay

component is an important enabler of retirement security for executives and other employees who have

dedicated significant portion of their working career to our business

Executive officers and other key employees are eligible for equity-based grants upon joining
the

company and thereafter on an annual basis The annual long-term equity-based awards are typically

granted in late February or early March of each year following the completion of our annual audit and

release of our earnings for the prior fiscal year and coinciding with our annual performance review

process

We have historically provided four different types of equity awards to our executive officers

Stock Option Awards provide the right to purchase specific number of shares at fixed price

equal to the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant with these rights typically
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vesting in annual increments of 25% of the number of options granted on each of the first four

anniversaries of the date of grant subject to earlier vesting upon change in control provided
the employee continues in service with the company

Performance Stock Option Awards are stock option grants in which the number of shares is

subject to upward or downward adjustment based on performance versus company objectives for

the year of the grant

Restricted Stock Awards are full share grants that become fully vested and owned by the

employee free of restrictions at the end of number of years typically four years from the date

of grant subject to earlier vesting upon change in control provided the employee continues

in service with the company and

Performance Restricted Stock Awards are restricted stock awards in which the number of shares

granted is subject to upward or downward adjustment based on performance versus company
objectives for the

year of the grant

Up until 2005 Stock Option Awards and Restricted Stock Awards were the only forms of

long-term equity-based compensation utilized by the company Executives and other stock program
participants would annually receive Stock Option Awards In addition certain executives and other key
employees were selected to receive special Restricted Stock Awards for recognition and retention

reasons Starting in 2005 the company began to grant Performance Restricted Stock Awards in addition

to Stock Option Awards with the mix of annual awards for executive officers targeted at 75% Stock

Option Awards and 25% Performance Restricted Stock Awards Since 2007 our annual equity awards
to executive officers have generally been in the form of performance-based awards with the mix for

executive officers targeted at 75% Performance Stock Option Awards and 25% Performance Restricted

Stock Awards In 2008 some participant choice was introduced whereby executive officers could
choose between either 50%/50% or 75%125% mix by value of Performance Stock Option Awards to
Performance Restricted Stock Awards

In determining the economic value of long term equity-based incentive compensation to be granted
to each stock plan participant the following four criteria are considered

Organizational Performance including historical total shareholder returns both one- and

five-year perspectives net sales and earnings growth relative to internal targets and external

peer comparisons and
strategic accomplishments

Individual Performance including levels of
responsibility and impact on both our current results

and our long-term competitive position Our equity-based incentive grants have generally been
the vehicle to provide differentiation in rewards for individual performance These long-term
incentive grants are also designed to support the long-term retention of plan participants

Market Survey Information including current market position both individually and in the

aggregate intended market competitive position and market trends

Prior Awards including both the number of stock options and restricted shares awarded and the

accumulated holding power of unvested equity to motivate employee retention

Performance Stock Awards granted in 2007 could increase by up to 50% of the number of shares

subject to the grant based on achieving 125% or more of the companys NOP objective for 2007 and
could decrease by up to 75% based on achieving 65% or less of the companys NOP objective for 2007
Based on the companys performance in 2007 all Performance Stock Awards granted in 2007 were
reduced by 75%
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For 2008 due to the volatility and uncertainty in prevailing economic conditions and the resulting

challenges in assessing the degree of difficulty in achieving 2008 NOP goals the Committee narrowed

the range of upward or downward adjustment to 25% Based on the companys performance in 2008

the Performance Stock Option Awards and Performance Restricted Stock Awards granted to plan

participants in the beginning of 2008 were all reduced by 25%

Following challenging year in 2008 annual stock and stock option awards for 2009 were deferred

until June when there would be greater clarity as to the companys business performance and financial

condition Again due to the continuing challenges in assessing the degree of difficulty in achieving 2009

NOP goals the Committee determined not to allow for any upward adjustment of the awards for

over-achievement versus NOP goals whereas the awards could be reduced by up to 50% for under

achievement versus NOP goals The named executive officers were granted performance-based equity

awards in the following amounts in June of 2009

William McLaughlin 55500 Performance Restricted Stock shares

James Raabe 50000 Performance Stock Options and 25000 Performance Restricted Stock

shares

Shelly Ibach 55000 Performance Stock Options and 27500 Performance Restricted Stock

shares

Mark Kimball 37500 Performance Stock Options and 18750 Performance Restricted Stock

shares and

Kathryn Roedel 55000 Performance Stock Options and 27500 Performance Restricted Stock

shares

As the companys NOP goal for 2009 was fully achieved the foregoing awards were not

subsequently reduced below the grant date amounts These Performance Stock Options vest at the rate

of 25% per year over period of four years from the date of grant and the Performance Restricted

Stock shares vest at the end of four years from the date of grant in each case subject to continuing

employment with the company Earlier vesting of these stock grants could occur upon change in

control of the company pursuant to the terms of the companys stock option plans

Our Chief Executive Officer William McLaughlin has been eligible for limited equity-based

awards in recent years as result of the multi-year Stock Option Award he received in March 2006 in

return for his commitment to continue in his position as CEO for at least five more years This special

one time grant of 562500 shares represented five times Mr McLaughlins normal annual Stock Option

Award The Board made this special grant
in recognition of Mr McLaughlins exceptional performance

in the years preceding the award and to assure continuity at the top of the company so as to

perpetuate the distinctive growth the company was achieving As originally granted these options would

have vested 100% on cliff basis in March of 2011 In April 2008 in conjunction with other

restructuring actions taken to improve future company performance Mr McLaughlin proposed to

change the cliff-vesting date of these options to December of 2015 requiring Mr McLaughlin to work

longer to earn the same economic value from this stock grant and lowering the companys annual

compensation costs and this proposal was accepted by the Committee

In February 2010 the Committee approved special restricted stock award in the amount of

40000 shares for William McLaughlin in recognition of his leadership efforts in the companys

dramatic improvement in performance in 2009 and in order to place his total compensation at level

of competitiveness consistent with our compensation philosophy In December 2009 the Committee

approved special restricted stock awards of 20000 shares each for James Raabe and Mark

Kimball in recognition of their extraordinary efforts in connection with the recapitalization of the

company in 2009
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For 2010 the Committee has determined to defer long-term equity-based incentive awards until

after the Annual Meeting at which shareholders are being asked to approve the 2010 Omnibus
Incentive Plan described in

greater detail beginning on page 43 of this Proxy Statement

Severance Compensation In February of 2007 the Committee adopted the Select Comfort

Corporation Executive Severance Pay Plan the Severance Plan The Severance Plan establishes

severance benefits payable to the CEO and other executive officers upon termination of their

employment by the company without cause Under the Severance Plan upon termination of

employment by the company without cause the CEO would be entitled to base amount of severance

pay equal to two times the sum of annual base salary and ii annual target bonus plus pro
rata target bonus for the

year of termination Each of the other named executive officers upon
termination of employment by the company without cause would be entitled to base amount of

severance pay equal to one times the sum of annual base salary and ii annual target bonus

plus pro rata target bonus for the year of termination

In addition to the base severance compensation described above the Severance Plan provides for

reimbursement of the cost of COBRA medical and dental continuation coverage less the amount

paid by an active full-time employee for the same level of coverage until the earlier of the end of

the period of time reflected in the base severance compensation i.e two years for CEO and one year

for the other named executive officers ii the end of the participants eligibility for COBRA
continuation coverage or iii the date the participant becomes eligible to participate in another group
medical plan or dental plan as the case may be

Though not specified in the Severance Plan and not an obligation of the company the companys
practice is to support terminated executives efforts to obtain future employment by contracting with

professional outplacement firm at competitive rates to provide individual consultation services during

the severance period

Severance benefits are only payable following the eligible employees termination of employment

by the company without cause No severance payment would be triggered solely by change-in-control

of the company The Severance Plan does provide however that during 24-month period following

change-in-control of the company the company may not terminate the Severance Plan and may not

reduce the severance benefits payable to participants who are employed by the company immediately

prior to the change-in-control

The Severance Plan was adopted in order to establish consistent severance benefits for senior

executives and to establish plan that would comply with anticipated new regulations under Internal

Revenue Code Section 409A applicable to deferred compensation Prior to the adoption of the

Severance Plan some but not all of our senior executives were entitled to severance benefits pursuant
to their employment offer letters The Severance Plan provides more uniform benefits across the senior

management team and benefits that are generally similar to the benefits payable under individual offer

letters No participant would receive less under the Severance Plan than he or she would be entitled to

under his or her individual offer letter and any such payment under an individual offer letter would be

deducted from the amount payable under the Severance Plan

In developing the Severance Plan and determining the benefits payable under the Severance Plan
the Committee considered broad-based data received from the independent compensation consultant

relative to typical severance benefits and concluded that the benefits payable under the Severance Plan

are generally at or below the broad-based data

Our existing stock option plans provide for acceleration of vesting of equity awards upon
change-in-control of the company as defined in the plans This provision enables executives to protect
their equity position in the event change-in-control results in significant change in direction of the

company Our proposed 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan being submitted for shareholder approval at the
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Annual Meeting contains double-trigger change in control provision whereby acceleration of equity

awards will occur only upon the termination of the employees service material reduction in an

employees base salary discontinuation of participation in certain long-term cash or equity benefits

provided to comparable employees significant change in job responsibilities or the need to relocate

provided these events occur within years of change in control With this double trigger change in

control provision tying accelerated vesting to change in control and subsequent event we believe

we are striking an appropriate balance between the interests of our stockholders and the interests of

our employees

Benefits and Perquisites Our executive officers generally receive the same menu of benefits as are

available to other full-time employees including but not limited to the following

401k Plan All of our full-time employees age 21 and older are eligible to participate in our

401k savings plan The 401k plan includes company stock as an investment option providing

another opportunity for our senior executives and other employees to build stock ownership in

our company The company has historically provided guaranteed match of 100% of the first

2% contributed by employees and 50% of the next 4% contributed by employees The company

match portion is subject to vesting at the rate of 25% per year over the first four years of the

participants employment In the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2008 in order to reduce costs and

preserve cash the company match feature of the 401k plan was suspended indefinitely At the

beginning of 2010 the match feature was re-introduced at the rate of 50% of the first 4%

contributed by employees

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan Our director-level and above employees may defer

portion of their compensation under non-qualified deferred compensation plan that offers

range of investment options similar to those available under our 401k plan The company does

not contribute any compensation to this plan

As the company provides no pension plan we believe the 40 1k plan and the non-qualified

deferred compensation plan are important elements in retirement planning for executives and other

employees

We generally avoid special executive perquisites We do offer two executive benefits to senior

management that are designed to address specific corporate purposes

Annual Physical Exam Members of our senior management team are required to annually

undergo comprehensive physical examination The company offers several options to complete

this requirement which generally range in cost from $1400 to $2500 These costs after

insurance coverage are paid by the company and constitute taxable wages to the executive that

are not grossed up for tax purposes This benefit is designed to promote preventive care

enhance the health and wellness of senior management and to catch potential health issues at an

early stage

Tax and Financial Planning Members of our senior management team are eligible for

reimbursement of expenses for tax and financial planning services up to $7500 per year for the

CEO and up to $4000 per year
for senior vice presidents Amounts reimbursed under this

benefit represent taxable wages that are not grossed up for tax purposes This benefit is

designed to enhance financial planning to avoid distraction of members of the senior

management team and to promote tax compliance

Chief Executive Officer Compensation and Performance

The compensation for William McLaughlin our President and Chief Executive Officer consists

of an annual base salary annual cash incentive compensation and long-term equity-based incentive

compensation The Committee determines the level for each of these compensation elements using
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methods consistent with those used for the companys other senior executives including the assessment
of Mr McLaughlins performance and review of competitive data The Committee evaluates
Mr McLaughlins performance by soliciting input from all members of the Board as well as members
of the senior management team The Board also assesses Mr McLaughlins performance against
objectives incorporating key operational and strategic factors including growth profitability product
innovation advancement of strategic initiatives organizational development and investor relations The
CEO performance feedback from all independent Board members is consolidated into detailed

written performance review which is the basis of full Board discussion in Executive Session led by the
Chair of the Committee The Boards assessment of Mr McLaughlins performance is major
consideration in determining any compensation adjustments which are appropriate for the coming year

In February 2008 the Committee accepted Mr McLaughlins proposal to forego his base salary
through the remainder of 2008 to personally share in the significant cost reduction actions being taken
throughout the organization As result Mr McLaughlin received no base salary for most of fiscal

year 2008

While Mr McLaughlins current total compensation is below the peer group median and has
decreased considerably during the past several years the Committee believes it to be consistent with
the overall company performance in what has been an extremely challenging time for the company and
entire mattress industry

Stock Ownership Guidelines

Under stock ownership guidelines established by the Board within five
years of joining the

company the CEO is expected to achieve and maintain stock ownership equal to five times base
salary

and all other executive officers are expected to achieve and maintain stock ownership equal to three
times their base salaries For purposes of these guidelines stock ownership includes the fair market
value of all shares of common stock owned without regard to restrictions on transfer and

vested stock options after taxes at an estimated effective tax rate of 40% The fair market value of
stock options shall mean the then-current market price less the exercise price

Any executive officer who has not achieved the foregoing ownership objective by the required time
period will not be permitted to sell any shares except to the extent required to pay transaction costs
and taxes applicable to the exercise of stock options or the vesting of restricted shares Exceptions to
these restrictions on sale of shares may be granted by the Board in its sole discretion for good cause
shown by any director or executive officer

Tax and Accounting Implications

Deductibility of Executive Compensation Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code requires
that we meet specific criteria including stockholder approval of certain stock and incentive plans in

order to deduct for federal income tax purposes compensation over $1 million per individual paid to
our Chief Executive Officer and each of our four other most highly compensated executives Our
equity-based incentive plans and our annual cash bonus plan are designed to permit the grant and

payment of equity or cash incentive awards that are fully deductible as performance-based
compensation under the Internal Revenue Code In reviewing and adopting other executive

compensation programs the Committee plans to continue to consider the impact of Section 162m
limitations in light of the

materiality of the deductibility of potential benefits and the impact of such
limitations on other compensation objectives Because the Committee seeks to maintain flexibility in

accomplishing the companys compensation goals however it has not adopted policy that all

compensation must be fully deductible
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Management Development and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has

reviewed and discussed the preceding Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402b
of Regulation S-K with management and based on such review and discussions the Committee

recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy

Statement

The Management Development and Compensation Committee

Michael Peel Chair

David Kollat

Ervin Shames

The foregoing Compensation Committee Report shall not be deemed to be filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

as amended Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our previous filings under the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended that might

incorporate future filings in whole or in part the foregoing Compensation Committee Report shall not be

incorporated by reference into any such filings
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the total compensation paid or earned by each of the named
executive officers for the 2009 fiscal year ended January 2010 and for the 2007 and 2008 fiscal

years The details of our named executive officers compensation are discussed in detail in the

Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 19

Change in

Pension Value

Non- and

Equity Nonqualified

Incentive Deferred

Stock Option Plan Compensation All Other

Salary Bonus Awards AwardsW Compensation2 Earnings Compensation4 Total

Name And Principal Position ar

william McLaughlin3 2009 $690000 52159s $507548 $1249707
President and CEO 2008 $106154 $101250 $15977 223381

2007 $687692 $187219 $17820 892731

James Raabe 2009 $295000 $148095 32690 $162250 2750 640785

SVP and CFO 2008 $300673 21267 62453 $11213 395605

2007 $298269 29955 78056 9025 415305

Shelly Ibach 2009 $350000 23598 32833 $210000 4558 620989

EVP Sales and 2008 $318654 $25000 21267 $122478 $18632 506030

Merchandising 2007 $195000 $75000 68325 $276175 $104000 2557 721057

Mark Kimball 2009 $275000 $142221 24518 $151250 60 593049

SVP Legal General 2008 $280288 23383 68663 7454 379789

Counsel and Secretary 2007 $275913 24963 65046 $10040 375962

Kathryn Roedel 2009 $320000 23598 32833 $192000 $1314 569745

EVP Product Development 2008 $303077 42417 $124559 7377 477430

and Operations 2007 $278462 27459 72852 $37977 416749

Reflects the aggregste grant date fair value of stock and option awards granted during fiscal
years 2009 2008 and 2007 computed in accordance

with FASB ASC Topic 718 See Note Shareholders Equiiy to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2010 for discussion of the relevant assumptions used in calculating these amounts

Represents annual incentive compensation eamed in 2009 under the Select Comfort Corporation Executive and Key Employee Incentive Plan

Effective February 21 2008 Mr McLaughlin offered to forego his annual base salary for the balance of 2008 until the company achieved

growth in same store sales of at least 1% for not less than four consecutive weeks

In 2009 all other compensation includes the costs of reimbursement for personal financial planning and tax advice and ii company

sponsored physical exam

Does not include the special restricted stock award in the amount of 40000 shares granted to Mr McLaughlin in February 2010
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Grant of Plan-Based Awards

The following table summarizes grants of equity and non-equity plan-based awards to each of the

named executive officers during the 2009 fiscal
year

ended January 2010

All All

Other Other Grant

Estimated Future Estimated Future Estimated Future
Stock Option

Date

Payouts Under Payouts Under Payouts Under
Awards Awards Exercise Fair

Non-Equity Incentive Equity Incentive Equity Incentive
Number of Number of or Base Value of

Plan Awardst Plan Awardst2 Plan Option Grantsm
Shares of Secunties Pnce of Stock and

__________________________ _________________________
Stock or Underlying Option Option

Grant Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target
Maximum Units Options Awards Awards

Name Date
$/Sh 515

William

McLaughlin $253774 $507548 $507548

6/1/09 27750 55500 55500 52159

James Raabe 81125 $162250 $162250

6/1/09 12500 25000 25000 23495

6/1/09
25000 50000 50000 $0.94 32690

12/14/09
20000 $124600

Shelly Ibach $105000 $210000 $210000

6/1/09 6250 12500 12500 11748

6/1/09
12500 25000 25000 $0.94 16345

6/18/09 7500 15000 15000 11850

6/18/09
15000 30000 30000 $0.79 $16488

Mark Kimball 75625 $151250 $151250

6/1/09 9375 18750 18750 17621

6/1/09
18750 37500 37500 $0.94 24518

12/14/09
20000 $124600

Kathryn Roedel 96000 $192000 $192000

6/1/09 6250 12500 12500 $11748

6/1/09
12500 25000 25000 $0.94 $16345

6/18/09 7500 15000 15000
$11850

6/18/09
15000 30000 30000 $0.79 $16488

This represents
the annual cash incentive opportunity for 2009 under the Select Comfort Corporation Executive and Key Employee Incentive Plan The actual amounts

paid out under this plan for 2009 are reported
in column of the Summary Compensation Table The threshold reflects the amount that would be payable

under the plan

if the minimum performance
level is achieved for both company-wide and individual performance goals If the minimum performance level for payment

of the threshold

amount is not achieved then no bonus would be payable
under the plan For 2009 the target

and maximum amount payable
under the plan was 100%

These awards represent performance stock awards described in greater detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis under the heading Long-Term Equity-Based

Incentive Compensation The
target

number of shares is adjusted
between the threshold and the target/maximum based on company performance in the year

of grant For

2009 there was no potential
increase in the number of shares awarded and therefore the target

and maximum are the same The adjusted amount of the award then fully

vests after four years from the
grant

date In the event of change in control more than twelve 12 months following the date of grant the adjusted amount of the award

would become immediately fully
vested If any dividends are paid on our common stock the holders of the performance stock awards would receive dividends at the same

rate as paid to other shareholders if and when the performance stock award becomes fully vested

These awards represent performance
stock options described in

greater
detail in the Compensation

Discussion and Analysis under the heading Long-Term Equity-

Based Incentive Compensation The target
humber of shares is adjusted

between the threshold and the target/maximum based on company performance in the year
of

grant For 2009 there was no potential
increase in the number of options

and therefore the target and maximum are the same These stock
options

have an exercise price

equal to the closing trading prices
of the companys common stock on the grant date The options

become exercisable at the rate of 25% each year beginning on the first

anniversary of the grant date These options
remain exercisable for up to tO

years
from the grant date subject

to earlier termination upon certain events related to

termination of employment In the event of change in control of the company more than twelve 12 months following the date of grant
the adjusted amount of the

options would become immediately exercisable in full

These awards represent stock awards described in greater detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis under the heading Long.Term Equity-Based Incentive

Compensation The amount of the award fully vests after three years from the grant date In the event of change in control the award would become immediately fully

vested If
any

dividends are paid on our common stock the holders of the stock awards would receive dividends at the same rate as paid to other shareholders if and when

the stock award becomes fully vested

Reflects the
grant

date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 See Note Shareholders Equity to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2010 for discussion of the relevant assumptions used in calculating these amounts
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table summarizes the total outstanding equity awards for each of the named executive

officers as of January 2010

Option Awards Stock Awards

Equity Equity Equity

Incentive Incentive Plan Incentive Plan
Plan Awards Awards

Awards Market Number of Market or

Number of Number of Value of Unearned Payout Value of

Number of Number of Securities Shares or Shares or Shares Units Unearned
Securities Securities Underlying Units of Units of or Other Shares Units or

Underlying Underlying Unexercised Option Stock That Stock That Rights That Other Rights
Unexercised Unexercised Unearned Exercise Option Have Not Have Not Have Not That Have Not
Options Options Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Date

William McLaughlin 773100 3.94 3/22/2010

30000 0.67 6/8/2011

361538 1.82 1/30/2012

58427 6.03 2/24/2013

112500 $16.57 2/12/2014

112500 $13.49 2/24/2015

5625001 $24.65 3/2/2016

375002 $244500

93755 61125

281256 $183375

55500s $361860

James Raabe 3501 2.92 2/2/2010

18750 3.21 2/9/2010

12000 0.67 4/17/2011

48830 0.67 6/8/2011

27084 1.82 1/30/2012

37501 6.03 2/24/2013

30001 $16.57 2/12/2014

37500 $13.49 2/24/2015

22500 7500s $24.65 3/2/2016

60002 39120

3750 3750 $19.97 2/22/2017

1500s 9780
9109 24829y 3.76 3/7/2018

56568 36877

50000 0.94 6/1/2019

25000 $163000

200001 $130400

Shelly Ibach 7250 725012 $18.22 4/2/2017

375013 24450

12500 1250014 $10.63 11/27/2017

9109 24829 3.76 3/7/2018

56568 36877

37500 12500 2.81 6/2/2018

25000 0.94 6/1/2019

12500o 81500

30000 0.79 6/18/2019

1500017 97800

Mark Kimball 24000 2.92 2/2/2010

30001 3.21 2/9/2010

35831 1.82 1/30/2012

33751 6.03 2/24/2013

30001 $16.57 2/12/2014

30000 $13.49 2/24/2015

19125 6375 $24.65 3/2/2016

52502 34230

3125 3125a $19.97 2/22/2017

1250 8150
9953 27360 3.76 3/7/2018

62198 40548

37500 0.94 6/1/2019

18750o $122250

200001 $130400
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End continued

Option Awards Stock Awards

Equity
Equity Equity

Incentive
Incentive Plan Incentive Plan

Plan Awards Awards

Awards Market Number of Market or

Number of Number of Value of Unearned Payout Value of

Number of Number of Securities Shares or Shares or Shares Units Unearned

Securities Securities Underlying Units of Units of or Other Shares Units or

Underlying Underlying Unexercised Option Stock That Stock That Rights That Other Rights

Unexercised Unexercised Unearned Exercise Option Have Not Have Not Rave Not That Have Not

Options Options Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Date

Kathryn Roedel 112500 $13.54 4/4/2015

16875 5625 $24.65 3/2/2016

45002 29340

3500 3500 $19.97 2/22/2017

1375 8965

19422 48266 3.76 3/7/2018

112818 73552

2500010 0.94 6/1/2019

12500 81500

3000016 0.79 6/18/2019

1500017 97800

This stock option award was granted on March 2006 and vests 100% on December 2015 subject to continuing employment

These performance stock awards were granted on March 2006 and vest 100% on March 2010 subject to continuing employment

These stock
options

were granted on March 2006 and vest 25% each year on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant subject

to continuing employment

These performance stock options were granted on February 22 2007 and vest 25% each year on each of the first four anniversaries of the date

of grant subject
to continuing employment

These performance stock awards were granted on February 22 2007 and vest 100% on February 22 2011 subject to continuing employment

This performance stock award was granted on March 31 2008 and vests 100% on March 31 2012 subject to continuing employment

These stock options were granted on March 2008 portion was subject
to performance goals

that were achieved That portion vests 25%

each year on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant subject to continuing employment The remaining portion not subject
to

performance vests 33% each year on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant subject to continuing employment

These restricted stock awards were granted on March 2008 portion of the award was subject to performance goals that were achieved

That portion vests 100% on March 2012 subject to continuing employment The remaining portion not subject
to performance vests 100% on

March 2011 subject to continuing employment

These performance stock awards were granted on June 2009 and vest 100% on June 2013 subject to continuing employment

10 These performance stock options
were granted on June 2009 and vest 25% each year on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of

grant subject
to continuing employment

11 These stock awards were granted on December 14 2009 and vest 100% on December 14 2012 subject to continuing employment

12 This stock option was granted on April
2007 and vests 25% each year on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant subject to

continuing employment

13 These restricted stock awards were granted on April 2007 portion of the award was subject
to performance and vests 100% on April

2011 subject
to continuing employment The remaining portion not subject to performance vests 100% on April 2011 subject

to continuing

employment

14 This stock option was granted on November 27 2007 and vests 25% each year on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant

subject to continuing employment

15 This stock option was granted on June 2008 and will fully vest on the second anniversary
of the date of grant subject to continuing

employment

16 These performance stock options were granted on June 18 2009 and vest 25% each year on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of

grant subject to continuing employment

17 These performance stock awards were granted on June 18 2009 and vest 100% on June 18 2013 subject to continuing employment
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The
following table summarizes the stock options exercised and restricted stock awards vested for

each of the named executive officers during the fiscal year ended January 2010

Option Awards

Number of

Shares Value

Acquired Realized

on Exercise on Exercise

$1

___________ ___________

Stock Awards

Number of

Shares Value

Acquired Realized

on Vesting on Vesting

__________ __________
$2

56250 $16406

4586 $10522 15000 4350

The value realized on the exercise of stock options for purposes of this table is based on the difference between the fair market value
of our common stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the stock option

The value realized on the vesting of stock awards for purposes of this table is based on the fair market value of our common stock on
the date of

vesting
of the award

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of January
2010

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders

Total

Number of securities to be

issued upon exercise of

outstanding options
warrants and rightst

4811000

None

4811000

Weighted average

exercise price of

outstanding options
warrants and rights

$9.57

Not applicable

$9.57

Number of securities

remaining available for

future issuance under equity

compensation plans

excluding securities

reflected in the first column

852000

None

852000

Includes the Select Comfort Corporation 1990 Omnibus Stock Option Plan the Select Comfort Corporation 1997 Stock Incentive Plan and the

Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan

Name

William McLaughlin

James Raabe

Shelly Ibach

Mark Kimball

Kathryn Roedel
7500 2137

7500 5775
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Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

The following table summarizes the aggregate earnings and balances for each of the named

executive officers under the Select Comfort Executive Investment Plan the companys non-qualified

deferred compensation plan described in greater detail below for the 2009 fiscal year ended

January 2010

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate

Contributions Contributions Earnings Aggregate Balance

in Last Fiscal in Last Fiscal in Last Fiscal Withdrawals at Last Fiscal

Year Year Year Distributions Year-End

William McLaughlin $141535 $4201752

James Raabe

Shelly Ibach

Mark Kimball

Kathryn Roedel 2858 85196

Among the named executive officers only
Mr McLaughlin and Ms Roedel had account balances under the plan as of January 2010 Neither

Mr McLaughlin nor Ms Roedel elected to make additional contributions salary or bonus deferrals to the plan in fiscal year 2009

Amount reported represents Mr McLaughlins account balance under the plan The balance was incurred prior to fiscal year 2006 and is not

included in the Summary Compensation Table

Amount reported represents Ms Roedels deferral of portion of her 2006 bonus that was paid in 2007 under the plan and is not included in

the Summary Compensation Table as it was earned in 2006

Director level and above employees are eligible to participate in the Select Comfort Executive

Investment Plan which allows eligible employees to defer up to 50% of base salary and up to 100% of

bonus compensation on pre-tax basis The employee contributions may be made to savings

account or fixed period account In addition to contributions made by eligible employees the

company may elect to make discretionary employer contributions under this plan to retirement

account The company has not elected to make any discretionary company contributions to this plan

participants account balance under the plan is credited with earnings credits which are based on

deemed investment in variety of funds made available by the plan administrator and which are

currently similar to the investment fund options available under the companys 40 1k plan The

participant selects the funds into which the account balance is deemed to be invested and these

allocations may be changed by the participant at any time

Savings and retirement account balances under the Select Comfort Executive Investment Plan are

paid out no earlier than the beginning of the
year following the year of the participants retirement or

termination of employment Payment of the fixed period account balance depends on the date or

dates of distribution elected by the participant at the time he or she made the election to defer salary

or bonus to fixed period account Prior to termination of employment or the fixed payment date

participant may be allowed to access funds in his or her account in the event of certain unforeseeable

hardships Distributions to the participant may be made in lump sum payment or in annual

installment payments The participants account balance if any upon his or her date of death is paid

in lump sum to the participants beneficiary or beneficiaries under the plan
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Employment Letter Agreements and Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

William McLaughlin We have entered into an employment letter agreement with William

McLaughlin pursuant to which he serves as our Chief Executive Officer Under the terms of this letter

agreement upon involuntary termination of Mr McLaughlins employment by the Board or

constructive dismissal he is entitled to one years salary as severance compensation Also under the

terms of this letter agreement upon an involuntary termination or constructive dismissal of

Mr McLaughlins employment following change in control he would be entitled to two years salary
as severance compensation Any severance compensation payable under this letter agreement would be

subject to standard release of claims and would also reduce by the same amount any amount payable
under the companys severance plan

Shelly Ibach We have entered into an employment letter agreement with Shelly Ibach

pursuant to which she serves as Executive Vice President Sales and Merchandising Under this letter

agreement upon termination of Ms Ibachs employment without cause she is entitled to receive six

months base salary as severance compensation and if such termination occurs more than half-way

through fiscal
year

of the company she is entitled to receive pro rata portion of any bonus payment
that is ultimately earned for such fiscal year payable at the time such bonus payments are paid to

other eligible employees Any severance compensation payable under this letter agreement would be

subject to standard release of claims and would also reduce by the same amount any amount payable
under the companys severance plan

Mark Kimball We have entered into an employment letter agreement with Mark Kimball

pursuant to which he serves as Senior Vice President General Counsel and Secretary Under this letter

agreement upon termination of Mr Kimballs employment without cause he is entitled to one years

salary as severance compensation Any payment of severance compensation under this letter agreement
would reduce by the same amount any amount payable under the companys severance plan

Kathiyn Roedel We have entered into an employment letter agreement with Kathryn Roedel

pursuant to which she serves as Executive Vice President Product Development and Operations Under
this letter agreement upon the involuntary termination of Ms Roedels employment following change
in control or upon termination without cause she is entitled to one years salary as severance

compensation and if such termination occurs more than half-way through fiscal year of the company
she is entitled to receive pro rata portion of any bonus payment that is ultimately earned for such

fiscal year payable at the time such bonus payments are paid to other eligible employees Any
severance compensation payable under this letter agreement would be subject to standard release of

claims and would also reduce by the same amount any amount payable under the companys severance

plan

Effective as of February 22 2007 our Board of Directors adopted the Select Comfort Corporation
Executive Severance Pay Plan the Severance Plan establishing severance benefits payable to the

CEO and other executive officers upon termination of their employment by the company without

cause Prior to the adoption of the Severance Plan some but not all of the senior executives were
entitled to severance benefits pursuant to employment offer letters negotiated at the time of hire The
Severance Plan was adopted in order to provide consistent severance benefits for the companys
senior executives and ii establish plan that would comply with anticipated new regulations under

Internal Revenue Code Section 409A applicable to deferred compensation

Compensation would only be payable under the Severance Plan upon termination of employment
without cause as defined in the plan and in the event of constructive dismissal under certain

specifically defined circumstances No compensation would be payable under the Severance Plan upon
termination of employment for cause ii termination of employment due to the resignation

retirement or death of the employee or iii change in control of the company
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Benefits under the Severance Plan are conditioned upon execution and deliveiy to the company of

general release of claims and return of any company property In addition any severance

compensation remaining to be paid would be terminated in the event the release described above is

declared invalid or is revoked or attempted to be revoked or in the event of violation by the

employee of non-compete or confidentiality agreement with the company Each of the named
executive officers has signed non-compete agreement extending for one year following termination of

employment and confidentiality agreement of indefinite duration

For the CEO the base severance compensation is equal to two times the sum of annual

base salary and ii annual target bonus plus pro rata target bonus for the year of termination

For each of the other named executive officers the base severance compensation is equal to one

times the sum of annual base salary and ii annual target bonus plus pro rata target bonus

for the year of termination The base severance compensation would be paid in lump sum within

reasonable time following the employees termination of employment and in no event later than

March of the year following the
year during which the termination of employment occurs

In addition to the base severance compensation the Severance Plan provides for reimbursement of

the cost of COBRA medical and dental continuation coverage less the amount paid by an active

full-time employee for the same level of coverage until the earlier of the end of the period of time

reflected in the base severance compensation i.e two years for CEO one year
for Senior Vice

Presidents ii the end of the participants eligibility for COBRA continuation coverage or iii the

date the participant becomes eligible to participate in another group medical plan or dental plan as the

case may be

As result assuming termination of employment as of the last day of our most recently completed
fiscal year January 2010 the following amounts would have been payable in the event of the

termination of the applicable employee without cause or upon constructive dismissal

Total COBRA
Base Severance Continuation

Executive Officer Compensation Payments

William McLaughlin $2932500 $15716
James Raabe 619500 $10159

Shelly Ibach 770000 7839
Mark Kimball 577500 9224
Kathryn Roedel 704000 9628

Under our companys 1990 Omnibus Stock Option Plan the 1990 Plan 1997 Stock Incentive

Plan the 1997 Plan and 2004 Stock Incentive Plan the 2004 Plan if change in control of

our company occurs then unless the Compensation Committee decides otherwise either at the time of

grant of an incentive award or at any time thereafter all outstanding stock options will become

immediately exercisable in full and will remain exercisable for the remainder of their terms regardless
of whether the participant to whom such options have been granted remains in the employ or service

of our company or any subsidiary

In addition under the 1997 Plan and the 2004 Plan if change in control of our company
occurs then unless the Compensation Committee decides otherwise either at the time of grant of an

incentive award or at any time thereafter

All outstanding stock appreciation rights will become immediately exercisable in full and will

remain exercisable for the remainder of their terms regardless of whether the participant to

whom such stock appreciation rights have been granted remains in the employ or service of our

company or any subsidiary
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All outstanding restricted stock awards will become immediately fully vested and non-forfeitable

and

All outstanding performance units stock bonuses and performance stock awards will vest and/or

continue to vest in the manner determined by the Compensation Committee and set forth in the

agreement evidencing such performance units or stock bonuses

There are presently no outstanding stock appreciation rights performance units or stock bonuses

In the event of change in control the Compensation Committee may pay cash for all or

portion of the outstanding options The amount of cash the participants would receive will equal

the fair market value of such shares immediately prior to the change in control minus the

exercise price per share and any required tax withholding The acceleration of the exercisability of

options under the 1990 and 1997 Plans may be limited however if the acceleration would be subject to

an excise tax imposed upon excess parachute payments

Under the 1990 Plan the 1997 Plan and the 2004 Plan change in control will include any of

the following

The sale lease exchange or other transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of our company

to corporation not controlled by our company

The approval by our shareholders of plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of our

company

Any change in control that is required by the Securities and Exchange Commission to be

reported

Any person who was not shareholder of our company on the effective date of the Plan

becomes the beneficial owner of 50% or more of the voting power of our companys outstanding

common stock or

The continuity directors directors as of the effective date of the Plan and their future

nominees ceasing to constitute majority of the Board of Directors

The foregoing provisions applicable to changes in control under our equity-based stock incentive

plans apply equally to all employees holding incentive awards under these plans
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Director Compensation

The following table summarizes the total compensation paid or earned by each of the

non-employee members of our Board of Directors for the 2009 fiscal year ended January 2010

Change in

Pension

Value and

Fees Nonqualified

Earned or Non-Equity Deferred

Paid in Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other

Cash Awards Awardst1 Compensation Earnings Compensation Total

Thomas Albani 71000 $42353 $113353

Christine Day2 58000 58000

Stephen Gulis Jr 78500 $42353 $120853

Christopher Kirchen 76000 $42353 $118353

David Kollat 63250 $42353 $105603

Brenda Lauderback 64500 $42353 $106853

Michael Peel 64750 $42353 $107103

Ervin Shames $145000 $42353 $187353

Jean-Michel Valette 99500 $42353 $141853

Reflects the aggregate grant
date fair value of stock option awards granted during fiscal year 2009 computed in accordance with FASI3 ASC

Topic 718 See Note Shareholders Equity to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended January 2010 for discussion of the relevant assumptions used in calculating these amounts As of January 2010 each director had

the following number of stock
options outstanding Thomas Albani 65250 Christine Day 40250 Stephen Gulis Jr 50250 Christopher

KJrchen 83000 David Kollat 121500 Brenda Lauderback 72750 Michael Peel 91500 Ervin Shames 106500 and Jean-Michel

Valette 76500

Ms Day determined not to stand for re-election to the Board of Directors at the 2009 Annual Meeting and her term on the Board expired

effective December 14 2009 Ms Day did not receive an option award in 2009

Annual Retainer All of our non-employee directors receive an annual cash retainer of $25000

each committee chair receives additional compensation of $5000 per year and each member of the

Audit Committee receives additional compensation of $5000 per year The non-executive Chairman of

the Board receives an additional retainer of $100000 per year

At the end of 2009 the Committee approved the payment of $20000 to each of the non-employee

directors other than the Chairman of the Board and $40000 to Jean-Michel Valette in order to bring

the non-employee director compensation more in line with intended compensation philosophy and to

recognize Jean-Michels efforts and leadership in the recapitalization of the company The Committee

did not have flexibility to use equity-based compensation to provide this additional compensation as the

terms of the companys existing stock plans limit equity grants to non-employee directors to capped

automatic stock option grants described below

Under the Select Comfort Corporation Non-Employee Director Equity Plan adopted by the Board

of Directors in November 2005 and approved by our shareholders at the 2006 Annual Meeting

non-employee directors were entitled to elect to receive all or portion of their annual cash retainer in

the form of shares of the companys common stock and to defer receipt of such shares To the extent

directors elected to participate in this plan the shares to be issued were valued at fair market value as

of the date the cash retainer otherwise would have been paid and the directors received no discount

This plan was terminated as of the end of fiscal year 2008

Meeting Fees In March of 2009 the Committee approved the payment of meeting fees for Board

and Committee meetings beyond the normal number of regular or typical meetings for the Board and

each Committee in fiscal year Pursuant to this approval non-employee directors other than the
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Chairman of the Board are entitled to Board meeting fees of $1000 per in-person meeting and

$500 per telephonic meeting after minimum of four Board meetings for the fiscal year and

ii Committee meeting fees of $750 per in-person Committee meeting and $500 per telephonic

Committee meeting after minimum of eight Audit Committee meetings and after minimum of four

meetings of each other Committee for the fiscal year

Stock Options Each non-employee director is eligible to receive as of the date that the director

first begins to serve on the Board an initial grant of options to purchase up to 10000 shares of our

common stock or such lesser number of shares as may be determined by the Management

Development and Compensation Committee from time to time These initial options become

exercisable one year
after the date of grant so long as the director remains director of our company

In addition each of our non-employee directors is eligible for an annual grant coincident with the

annual meeting of shareholders of options to purchase up to 10000 shares of our common stock or
such lesser number of shares as may be determined by the Management Development and

Compensation Committee from time to time These annual options become exercisable one year after

the date of grant so long as the director remains director of our company All options granted to

directors have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of

grant and remain exercisable for period of up to 10 years subject to continuous service on our Board

of Directors

Reimbursement of Expenses All of our directors are reimbursed for travel expenses for attending

meetings of our Board or any Board committee and for attending director continuing education

programs

No Director Compensation for Employee Directors Any director who is also an employee of our

company does not receive additional compensation for service as director
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APPROVAL OF THE
SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION 2010 OMNIBUS INCENTiVE PLAN

Proposal

On March 12 2010 upon recommendation of the Management Development and Compensation

Committee our Board of Directors adopted the Select Comfort Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive

Plan or 2010 Incentive Plan subject to approval by our shareholders The purpose of the 2010

Incentive Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and its shareholders by enabling the

Company and its subsidiaries to attract and retain qualified individuals to perform services

ii provide incentive compensation for such individuals that is linked to the growth and profitability of

the Company and enhancement of shareholder value and iii provide opportunities for equity

participation that align the interests of key employees and board members with those of our

shareholders

If our shareholders approve the 2010 Incentive Plan it will replace the Select Comfort

Corporation 1990 Omnibus Stock Option Plan As Amended and Restated the Select Comfort

Corporation 1997 Stock Incentive Plan As Amended and Restated the Select Comfort Corporation

2004 Stock Incentive Plan As Amended and Restated as of January 2007 and the Select Comfort

Corporation Executive and Key Employee Incentive Plan referred to collectively as the Prior Plans

If our shareholders approve the 2010 Incentive Plan no new awards will be granted under the Prior

Plans and any shares of our common stock available for issuance under the Prior Plans that are not

subject to outstanding awards will no longer be available for issuance under the Prior Plans or the 2010

Incentive Plan The terms of the Prior Plans as applicable will continue to govern the outstanding

awards until exercised expired paid or otherwise terminated or canceled

The 2010 Incentive Plan permits the Management Development and Compensation Committee or

subcommittee thereof to grant to eligible employees directors and consultants of Select Comfort

non-statutory and incentive stock options stock appreciation rights also known as SARs restricted

stock awards restricted stock units performance awards annual performance cash awards

non-employee director awards other cash-based awards and other stock based awards Subject to

adjustment the maximum number of shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under the

2010 Incentive Plan is 3000000 shares plus the number of shares subject to awards outstanding under

the Prior Plans as of the date of shareholder approval of the 2010 Incentive Plan but only to the

extent that such outstanding awards are forfeited expire or otherwise terminate without the issuance of

such shares

The Board of Directors is asking our shareholders to approve the 2010 Incentive Plan in order to

qualify certain awards under the 2010 Incentive Plan as performance-based compensation for purposes

of Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code the IRC and to qualify stock options for

treatment as incentive stock options for purposes of Section 422 of the IRC In addition since our

common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market the NASDAQ listing rules require stockholder

approval of the 2010 Incentive Plan If our shareholders do not approve the 2010 Incentive Plan the

Prior Plans will remain in effect until they terminate in accordance with their respective terms

Reasons Why You Should Vote in Favor of Approval of the 2010 Incentive Plan

Our Board of Directors recommends vote for approval of the 2010 Incentive Plan as the Board

believes the proposed plan is in the best interests of our Company and our shareholders for the

following reasons

The proposed plan will advance company and shareholder interests by allowing us to attract and

retain key talent Talented motivated and effective employees non-employee directors and
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consultants are essential to executing our business strategies Stock-based and annual cash incentive

compensation has been an important component of total compensation for our key employees for many
years because such compensation enables us to effectively recruit and retain qualified individuals while

encouraging them to think and act like owners of the Company If our shareholders approve the 2010

Incentive Plan we believe we will maintain our ability to offer competitive compensation packages to

both attract new talent and retain our best performers

The proposed plan is consistent with our pay-for-performance compensation philosophy to increase

shareholder value We believe that stock-based compensation by its very nature is performance-based

compensation Over time the most significant component of total compensation for our executives is

incentive compensation in the form of both stock-based and cash-based incentives that are tied to the

achievement of business results We use incentive compensation both to reinforce desired business

results for our key employees and to motivate them to achieve those results

The proposed plan will better enable us to align the interests of our directors and key employees
with those of our shareholders We currently provide long-term incentives primarily in the form of

stock option grants to our non-employee directors and stock option grants performance stock option

awards restricted stock awards and performance restricted stock awards which are paid out in shares

of our common stock as well as annual cash incentives to certain key employees We believe that our

stock-based compensation programs along with our stock ownership guidelines for our non-employee

directors and executives and our annual cash incentive programs for employees help align the interests

of our non-employee directors and employees with those of our shareholders We believe that our

long-term stock-based incentives help promote long-term retention of our employees and encourage

significant ownership of our common stock We believe our annual cash incentives reinforce

achievement of our business performance goals by linking significant portion of participants

compensation to the achievement of these performance goals If the 2010 Incentive Plan is approved

we will be able to maintain these important means of aligning the interests of our non-employee

directors and employees with those of our shareholders

The proposed plan protects shareholder interests and embraces sound stock-based compensation

practices As described in more detail below under the heading Summary of Sound Governance

Features of the 2010 Incentive Plan the 2010 Incentive Plan includes number of features that are

consistent with protecting the interests of our shareholders and sound corporate governance practices

Summary of Sound Governance Features of the 2010 Incentive Plan

The Board and Management Development and Compensation Committee believe that the 2010

Incentive Plan contains several features that are consistent with protecting the interests of our

shareholders and sound corporate governance practices including the following

No evergreen provision The number of shares of our common stock available for issuance

under the 2010 Incentive Plan is fixed and will not adjust based upon the number of outstanding shares

of our common stock We currently expect the number of shares authorized for issuance under the

2010 Incentive Plan will last approximately three to four years at which time we expect to ask our

shareholders to approve an additional share authorization

Will not be excessively dilutive to our shareholders Subject to adjustment the maximum number
of shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan is 3000000
shares plus the number of shares subject to awards outstanding under the Prior Plans as of the date of

shareholder approval of the 2010 Incentive Plan but only to the extent that such outstanding awards

are forfeited expire or otherwise terminate without the issuance of such shares If our shareholders

approve the 2010 Incentive Plan we will not grant new awards under the Prior Plans and any shares of

our common stock available for issuance under the Prior Plans that are not subject to outstanding

awards will no longer be available for issuance under the Prior Plans or the 2010 Incentive Plan We do
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not expect that any new awards will be granted under the Prior Plans between March 26 2010 and the

2010 Annual Meeting

Accounting for full value awards The total number of shares of our common stock available for

issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan will be reduced by 1.15 shares for each share issued pursuant to

full value award or potentially issuable pursuant to full value award which are awards other

than stock options or SARs that are settled by the issuance of shares of our common stock

No recycling of shares from exercised stock options or SARs Unlike under the Prior Plans

shares withheld to satisfy tax-withholding obligations on awards or to pay the exercise price of awards

and any shares not issued or delivered because of net exercise of stock option or settlement of

SAR in shares of common stock will not become available for issuance as future award grants under

the 2010 Incentive Plan

No reload stock options or SARs The 2010 Incentive Plan does not authorize reload stock

options or SARs

Stock option exercise prices and SAR grant prices will not be lower than the fair market value on

the grant
date The 2010 Incentive Plan prohibits granting stock options with exercise prices and

SARs with grant prices lower than the fair market value of share of our common stock on the grant

date The proposed plan does allow for the subsequent adjustment of the exercise prices of outstanding

awards in connection with certain corporate transactions such as recapitalization or stock split as

may be necessary
in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of participants

No re-pricing or exchange of underwater options or SARs without shareholder approval The

2010 Incentive Plan prohibits the re-pricing of outstanding stock options or SARs without shareholder

approval except
in connection with certain corporate transactions such as recapitalization or stock

split as may be necessary
in order to prevent

dilution or enlargement of the rights of participants The

2010 Incentive Plan defines re-pricing broadly to include amendments or modifications to the terms

of outstanding stock options or SARs to lower the exercise or grant price canceling underwater stock

options or SARs in exchange for cash replacement awards having lower exercise price or other

awards or repurchasing underwater stock options or SARs and granting new awards

Stock options SARs and unvested performance awards are not entitled to dividend equivalent

rights Stock option SAR and unvested performance award holders have no rights as shareholders

with respect to the shares underlying their awards until such awards are exercised or vested and shares

are issued As result stock options SARs and unvested performance awards under the 2010 Incentive

Plan have no dividend equivalent rights associated with them

Shareholder approval is required
for material revisions to the plan Consistent with NASDAQ

listing rules the 2010 Incentive Plan requires shareholder approval of material revisions to the plan

The proposed plan
also requires shareholder approval of certain additional revisions to the plan that

would not otherwise require shareholder approval under the NASDAQ listing rules

Members of the committee administering the plan are non-employee independent and outside

directors The 2010 Incentive Plan will be administered by the Management Development and

Compensation Committee or by subcommittee thereof or any other committee designated by the

Board in accordance with the 2010 Incentive Plan All members of committee administering the 2010

Incentive Plan will be non-employee directors within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange

Act independent under the NASDAQ listing rules the rules and regulations of the SEC and other

applicable laws and outside directors within the meaning of Section 162m of the IRC

Clawback provisions
The 2010 Incentive Plan contains clawback provisions If the committee

determines that participant has taken any action that would constitute cause or an adverse

action as the 2010 Incentive Plan defines such terms while providing services to the Company or
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after termination of such services all rights of the participant under the 2010 Incentive Plan and any
agreements evidencing an incentive award the participant then holds will terminate and be forfeited In

addition the committee may require the participant to return to the Company any shares received any
profits or any other economic value realized by the

participant in connection with any awards or any
shares issued upon the exercise or vesting of any awards In addition the proposed plan incorporates
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 automatic forfeiture standard for certain

participants in connection
with material noncompliance as result of misconduct resulting in an accounting restatement

Double-Trigger vesting in change in control If the surviving or acquiring company assumes our

outstanding incentive awards or provides for their equivalent substitutes our 2010 Incentive Plan

provides for accelerated vesting of incentive awards following change in control only upon the

termination of the employees service material reduction in an employees base salary
discontinuation of participation in certain long-term cash or equity benefits provided to comparable
employees significant change in job responsibilities or the need to relocate provided these events

occur within years of change in control By using so-called double trigger change in control
and thereby tying accelerated

vesting to change in control and subsequent event rather than the

mere consummation of change in control transaction the Company believes that it is better able to

balance the employees need for certainty with the interests of our stockholders

Comparison of 2010 Incentive Plan to Prior Plans

As mentioned above if our shareholders approve the 2010 Incentive Plan it will replace our

existing equity compensation plans under which stock-based awards are currently granted and the

executive and key employee incentive plan under which annual cash incentives are currently

administered namely the Prior Plans The following are some of the material differences between the

2010 Incentive Plan and the Prior Plans

One Plan The 2010 Incentive Plan is intended to replace all of our existing equity compensation
plans under which stock-based awards are currently granted Historically we have also used separate

plan to administer cash-based awards The 2010 Incentive Plan will streamline our stock-based

compensation and annual cash incentives into one plan and with respect to stock-based compensation
provide one single pool of authorized shares for the

grant of incentive awards

Types of Awards The 2010 Incentive Plan permits the grant of several incentive awards including

non-statutory and incentive stock options stock appreciation rights also known as SARs restricted

stock awards restricted stock units performance awards annual performance cash awards automatic
and discretionary non-employee director awards other cash-based awards and other stock based
awards The Prior Plans only permit the grant of

non-statutory and incentive stock options SARs
restricted stock performance stock automatic non-employee director awards and annual performance
cash awards

Limits on Full Value Awards Whereas our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan placed numerical limit

on the number of full value awards which are awards other than stock options or SARs that are
settled by the issuance of shares of our common stock our 2010 Stock Incentive Plan contains share

counting mechanism that values the use of full value awards at higher rate than other types of

awards Under our 2010 Incentive Plan the total number of shares of our common stock available for

issuance will be reduced by 1.15 shares for each share issued pursuant to full value award or

potentially issuable pursuant to full value award

Sarbanes-Oxley Forfeiture Standard Unlike the Prior Plans the 2010 Incentive Plan expressly

incorporates the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 automatic forfeiture standard for certain participants in

connection with material noncompliance as result of misconduct resulting in an accounting
restatement
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No recycling of shares from exercised stock options or SARs Unlike the Prior Plans shares

withheld to satisfy tax-withholding obligations on awards or to pay the exercise price of awards and any

shares not issued or delivered because of net exercise of stock option or settlement of SAR in

shares of common stock will not become available for issuance as future award grants under the 2010

Incentive Plan

No re-pricing or exchange of underwater options or SARs without shareholder

approval Consistent with our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan the 2010 Incentive Plan prohibits

re-pricing broadly defined of underwater options or SARS without shareholder approval

Although we have not engaged in any form of re-pricing of outstanding incentive awards in the past

and have no intent to do so in the future our Prior Plans other than the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan

did not expressly proscribe re-pricing of outstanding incentive awards

Shareholder approval is required for material revisions to the plan In comparison with our Prior

Plans the 2010 Incentive Plan expands the list of amendments to the plan that require shareholder

approval to include an amendment to increase any limitation on the number of shares which may be

issued or the aggregate value of incentive awards which may be granted in respect of any particular

type of award or to any single participant during any specified period or to reduce the minimum

exercise price requirements

Double-Trigger vesting in change in control Unlike our Prior Plans if the surviving or

acquiring company assumes our outstanding incentive awards or provides for their equivalent

substitutes our 2010 Incentive Plan provides for accelerated vesting of incentive awards following

change in control only upon the termination of the employees service material reduction in an

employees base salary discontinuation of participation in certain long-term cash or equity benefits

provided to comparable employees significant change in job responsibilities or the need to relocate

provided these events occur within years of change in control

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of March 26 2010 and Burn Rate Information

Under the heading Equity Compensation Plan Information on page 36 as required by SEC

rules we provide information about shares of our common stock that may be issued under our equity

compensation plans as of January 2010 our most recent fiscal year-end date To facilitate the

approval of the 2010 Incentive Plan set forth below is certain additional information as of March 26

2010

As of March 26 2010 there were 54622741 shares of our common stock outstanding

The market value of one share of our common stock on March 26 2010 as determined by

reference to the closing price of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ was $7.14

The number of shares of our common stock to be issued upon exercise of outstanding stock

options as of March 26 2010 under each of our equity compensation plans that provides for the

issuance of stock options which includes the Prior Plans was 3949938

The weighted average exercise price of all outstanding stock options as of March 26 2010 was

$10.79

The weighted average remaining term for all outstanding stock options as of March 26 2010

was 5.58 years

The total number of unvested full value awards outstanding as of March 26 2010 was 738292

No incentive awards of any kind will be granted under any of the Prior Plans from March 26 2010

through the date of the Annual Meeting
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Additionally the following table sets forth information regarding awards granted and earned the

run rate for each of the last three fiscal
years and the average run rate over the last three years

2009 2008 2007

Stock options granted 10000 339050 148375

Performance-based options awarded 484750 282398 76969
Restricted stock awarded 104975 135966 140155

Performance-based Restricted Stock awarded 297875 129808 27327

Non-employee director stock options awarded 80000 76500 76500

Non-employee director stock units awarded in lieu of director

cash compensation 92970 4824

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding during the

fiscal year 45681623 44185724 46535888
Run rate 2.14% 2.21% 2.10%

Performance award amounts reflect adjustments to 100% 75% and 25% of original award for Fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Summary of the 2010 Incentive Plan Features

Below is summary of the major features of the 2010 Incentive Plan The summary is qualified in

its entirety by reference to the full text of the 2010 Incentive Plan copy of which may be obtained

upon request to Investor Relations at 9800 59th Avenue North Minneapolis Minnesota 55422 or by

telephone at 763-551-7498 We have also filed copy of the 2010 Incentive Plan electronically with the

SEC as an appendix to this proxy statement available through the SECs website at wwwsec.gov

Purpose The purpose of the 2010 Incentive Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and

its shareholders by enabling the Company and its subsidiaries to attract and retain qualified individuals

to perform services provide incentive compensation for such individuals in form that is linked to the

growth and profitability of the Company and increases in shareholder value and provide opportunities

for equity participation that align the interests of recipients with those of our shareholders

Plan Administration The Management Development and Compensation Committee or

subcommittee thereof will administer the 2010 Incentive Plan All members of such committee will be

non-employee directors within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act independent
under the NASDAQ listing rules the rules and regulations of the SEC and other applicable laws and

outside directors within the meaning of Section 162m of the IRC

Under the terms of the 2010 Incentive Plan subject to certain limitations the committee will have

the authority to among other things

Select eligible participants to whom awards are granted

Determine the types and amounts of awards to be granted and when

Determine the provisions of such awards including the applicable performance measures if any
and the duration restrictions and conditions of such incentive awards

Subject to shareholder approval requirements for some amendments determine whether and

under what circumstances and terms to amend the 2010 Incentive Plan or any outstanding

incentive award agreement

Interpret the 2010 Incentive Plan and any instrument evidencing an incentive award under the

2010 Incentive Plan and establish rules and regulations pertaining to its administration

Determine fair market value in accordance with the 2010 Incentive Plan
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Adopt subplans or special provisions applicable to incentive awards regulated by the laws of

jurisdictions
other than the United States

Authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company an incentive award agreement or

other instrument required to effect grant

Determine whether incentive awards will be settled in shares of common stock cash or in any

combination thereof

Determine whether an incentive award will be adjusted for dividend equivalents

Impose restrictions conditions or limitations on resales and subsequent transfers and

Make any other determination and take any other action that the committee deems necessary or

desirable for administration of the 2010 Incentive Plan

Delegation The committee may delegate to one or more of its members or to one or more

officers of the Company such administrative duties or powers as it may deem advisable The committee

may authorize one or more directors or officers of the Company to designate employees other than

officers directors or 10% shareholders of the Company to receive awards under the plan and

determine the size of any such awards subject to certain limitations

No Re-pricing or Exchange The committee may not except as described below under the

heading Adjustments without prior approval of our shareholders seek to effect any re-pricing of any

previously granted underwater option or SAR by amending or modifying the terms of the option

or SAR to lower the exercise price ii canceling the underwater option or SAR in exchange for

cash replacement options or SARs having lower exercise price or other incentive

awards or iii repurchasing the underwater options or SARs and granting new incentive awards under

the 2010 Incentive Plan An option or SAR will be deemed to be underwater at any time when the

fair market value of the common stock is less than the exercise price of the option or SAR

Shares Authorized Subject to adjustment as described below the maximum number of shares

of our common stock authorized for issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan is 3000000 shares plus

the number of shares subject to awards outstanding under the Prior Plans as of the date of shareholder

approval of the 2010 Incentive Plan but only to the extent that such outstanding awards are forfeited

expire or otherwise terminate without the issuance of such shares No more than 3000000 shares may

be granted as incentive stock options and the total number of shares of our common stock available for

issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan will be reduced by 1.15 shares for each share issued pursuant to

full value award or potentially issuable pursuant to full value award

Shares of our common stock that are issued under the 2010 Incentive Plan or that are subject to

outstanding
incentive awards will be applied to reduce the maximum number of shares of our common

stock remaining available for issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan only to the extent they are

actually used However the full number of shares of our common stock subject to SARs granted under

the 2010 Incentive Plan that are settled by the issuance of shares of our common stock will be counted

against the shares authorized for issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan regardless of the number of

shares actually issued upon settlement of such SARs Furthermore any shares of our common stock

withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations on incentive awards issued under the 2010 Incentive

Plan any shares of our common stock withheld to pay the exercise price
of incentive awards under the

2010 Incentive Plan and any shares of our common stock not issued or delivered as result of the net

exercise of an outstanding option will be counted against
the shares of our common stock authorized

for issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan Any shares of our common stock repurchased by us on the

open market using the proceeds from the exercise of an incentive award will not increase the number

of shares available for future grant of incentive awards Any shares of our common stock related to

incentive awards under the 2010 Incentive Plan or under Prior Plans that terminate by expiration
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forfeiture cancellation or otherwise without the issuance of the shares or are settled in cash in lieu of

shares or are exchanged with the committees permission prior to the issuance of shares for incentive

awards not involving shares will be available again for grant under the 2010 Incentive Plan with such

increase in connection with full value awards based on the ratio of 1.15 shares for each terminated

share

Annual Award Limits The annual limits listed below apply to grants that are intended to qualif

as of awards of performance-based compensation under Section 162m of the IRC These limits are

per participant per year as the 2010 Incentive Plan defines such terms

1000000 shares subject to stock options and SARs

1000000 shares subject to restricted stock awards and restricted stock units

$5000000 or 1000000 shares of common stock in performance awards

$5000000 in annual performance cash awards

$5000000 in other cash-based awards and

1000000 shares granted under other stock-based awards

Adjustments In the event of any reorganization merger consolidation recapitalization

liquidation reclassification stock dividend stock split combination of shares rights offering divestiture

or extraordinary dividend including spin off or other similar change in the corporate structure or

shares of the Company the committee will make the appropriate adjustment These adjustments may

be to the number and kind of securities and property that may be available for issuance under the 2010

Incentive Plan In order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of participants the committee

may also adjust the number kind and exercise price of securities or other property subject to

outstanding awards

Participation Incentive awards may be granted to employees non-employee directors and

consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries consultant is one who renders services that

are not in connection with the offer and sale of our securities in capital raising transaction and do

not directly or indirectly promote or maintain market for our securities As of January 2010

approximately 2172 employees and non-employee directors would have been eligible to participate in

the 2010 Incentive Plan had it been approved by our shareholders at such time

Types of Awards The 2010 Incentive Plan will permit us to grant non-statutory
and incentive

stock options stock appreciation rights also known as SARs restricted stock awards restricted stock

units performance awards annual performance cash awards non-employee director awards other

cash-based awards and other stock based awards Awards may be granted either alone or in addition to

or in tandem with any other type of award

Non-Statutory and Incentive Stock Options Stock options entitle the holder to purchase

specified number of shares of our common stock at specified price which is called the exercise price

subject to the terms and conditions of the stock option grant The 2010 Incentive Plan permits the

grant of both non-statutory and incentive stock options Each stock option granted under the 2010

Incentive Plan must be evidenced by an incentive award agreement that specifies the exercise price the

term the number of shares underlying the stock option the vesting and any other conditions The

exercise price of each stock option granted under the 2010 Incentive Plan must be at least 100% of the

fair market value of share of our common stock as of the date the award is granted to participant

Fair market value is the closing price of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ The closing

price of our common stock as reported on NASDAQ on March 10 2010 was $8.49 per share The

committee will fix the terms and conditions of each stock option subject to certain restrictions The

committee will fix the term of each stock option but stock options granted under the 2010 Incentive

50



Plan will not be exercisable more than 10 years after the date the stock option is granted Stock options

may be exercised in whole or in part by payment in full of .the exercise price in cash or its equivalent

In the discretion of the committee payment may also be made by the delivery of common stock

already owned by the participant prior to such delivery or to be issued upon the exercise of the option

being exercised by broker-assisted cashless exercise by net exercise or by combination of such

methods or such other method as may be permitted by the committee In the case of net exercise

of stock option we will not require payment of the exercise price or any required tax withholding

obligations related to the exercise but will reduce the number of shares issued upon the exercise by the

largest number of whole shares that has fair market value that does not exceed the aggregate exercise

price for the shares underlying the stock option and any required tax withholding obligations

Stock Appreciation Rights stock appreciation right or SAR is right granted to receive

payment of cash stock or combination of both equal to the difference between the fair market value

of shares of our common stock and the exercise price of such shares Each SAR granted must be

evidenced by an incentive award agreement that specifies the exercise price the term and such other

provisions as the committee may determine The exercise price of SAR must be at least 100% of the

fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant The committee will fix the term of each

SAR but SARs granted under the 2010 Incentive Plan will not be exercisable more than 10 years
after

the date the SAR is granted

Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units Restricted stock awards and/or restricted

stock units may be granted under the 2010 Incentive Plan restricted stock award is an award of

common stock that is subject to restrictions on transfer and risk of forfeiture upon certain events

typically including termination of service Restricted stock units are similar to restricted stock awards

except that no shares are actually awarded to the participant on the grant date The committee shall

determine and set forth in an incentive award agreement the period of restriction the number of

shares of restricted stock awards or the number of restricted stock units granted and other such

conditions or restrictions Participants holding shares of restricted stock awards may be granted voting

rights with respect to their shares but participants holding restricted stock units will not have voting

rights with respect to their restricted stock units After all conditions and restrictions applicable to

restricted stock awards and/or restricted stock units have been satisfied or have lapsed including the

satisfaction of any applicable tax withholding obligations shares of restricted stock awards will become

freely transferable except as otherwise provided in the 2010 Incentive Plan and restricted stock units

will be paid in cash shares of our common stock or some combination of cash and shares of our

common stock as determined by the committee The committee may provide that restricted stock award

is conditioned upon the participant making or refraining from making an election with respect to the

award under Section 83b of the IRC

Performance Awards Performance awards in the form of cash shares of common stock or

combination of both may be granted under the 2010 Incentive Plan in such amounts and upon such

terms as the committee may determine The committee shall determine and set forth in an incentive

award agreement the amount of cash and/or number of shares the performance goals the

performance periods and other terms and conditions The extent to which the participant achieves his

or her performance goals during the applicable performance period will determine the amount of cash

and/or number of shares earned by the participant

Annual Performance Cash Awards Annual performance cash awards may be granted under the

2010 Incentive Plan in such amounts and upon such terms as the committee may determine based on

the achievement of specified performance goals for annual periods or other time periods as determined

by the committee The committee will determine the target amount that may be paid with respect to an

annual performance award which will be based on percentage of participants actual annual base

compensation at the time of grant up to 150% for any participant The committee may establish

maximum potential payout amount with respect to an annual performance award of up to 300% of the
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target payout in the event performance goals are exceeded by an amount established by the committee

at the time performance goals are established The committee may establish measurements for

prorating the amount of payouts for achievement of performance goals at less than or greater than the

target payout but less than the maximum payout

Non-Employee Director Awards The committee at any time and from time to time may approve
resolutions providing for the automatic

grant to non-employee directors of non-statutory stock options

SARs or full value awards The committee may also at any time and from time to time grant on

discretionary basis to non-employee directors non-statutory stock options SARs or full value awards In

either case any such awards may be granted singly in combination or in tandem and may be granted

pursuant to such terms conditions and limitations as the committee may establish in its sole discretion

consistent with the provisions of the 2010 Incentive Plan

The 2010 Incentive Plan permits non-employee directors to elect to receive shares of our common
stock in lieu of their director fees otherwise payable in cash The election to receive our common stock

in lieu of cash must be made in the calendar quarter preceding the date any such fees are payable The

number of shares to be issued is determined by dividing the dollar amount of reserved fees by the fair

market value of our common stock on the date such fees would otherwise have been payable

Any awards granted to non-employee directors under the 2010 Incentive Plan must be made by

committee consisting solely of directors who are independent directors within the meaning of the

NASDAQ listing rules

Other Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards Cash-based awards that are not

annual performance cash awards may be granted to participants in such amounts and upon such terms

as the committee may determine These other cash-based awards will be paid in cash only Other stock-

based awards including the grant or offer for sale of unrestricted shares of our common stock or the

payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of shares of our common stock may be

granted in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions including performance goals as

determined by the committee These other stock-based awards shall be expressed in terms of shares of

our common stock or units based on shares of our common stock as determined by the committee

Other stock-based awards will be paid in cash or shares of our common stock as determined by the

committee

Performance Measures If the committee intends to qualify an incentive award under the 2010

Incentive Plan as performance-based compensation under Section 162m of the IRC the

performance goals selected by the committee must be based on the achievement of specified levels of

one or any combination of the following performance measure elements

Sales and revenue measure elements including gross revenue or sales sales allowances net

revenue or net sales invoiced revenue or sales collected revenue or sales revenues from new

products and bad debts

Expense measurement elements including direct material costs direct labor costs indirect labor

costs direct manufacturing costs indirect manufacturing costs cost of goods sold sales general

and administrative expenses operating expenses non-cash expenses tax expense non-operating

expenses and total expenses

Profitability and productivity measure elements including gross margin net operating income
EBITDA earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization EBIT earnings before

interest and taxes net operating income after taxes NOPAT net income net cash flow and

net cash flow from operations

Asset utilization and effectiveness measure elements including cash excess cash accounts

receivable inventory WIP and/or finished goods current assets working capital fixed assets
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total assets standard hours plant utilization purchase price variance and manufacturing

overhead variance

Debt and equity measure elements including accounts payable current accrued liabilities total

current liabilities total debt debt principal payments net current borrowings total long-term

debt credit rating retained earnings total preferred equity total common equity and total

equity

Shareholder and return measure elements including earnings per share diluted and fully

diluted stock price dividends shares repurchased total return to shareholders debt coverage
ratios return on assets return on equity return on invested capital and economic profit for

example economic value added

Customer and market measure elements including dealer/channel size/scope dealer/channel

performance/effectiveness order fill rate customer satisfaction customer service/care brand

awareness and perception market share warranty rates product quality and channel inventory
and

Organizational and employee measure elements including headcount employee performance

employee productivity standard hours employee engagement/satisfaction employee turnover
and employee diversity

Any of the above performance measure elements can be used in an algebraic formula

e.g averaged over period combined into ratio compared to budget or standard compared to

previous periods or other formulaic combinations based on the performance measure elements to

create performance measure Any of the performance measures specified in the 2010 Incentive Plan

may be used to measure the performance of the Company or any subsidiary as whole or any division

or business unit product or product group region or territory or any combination thereof as the

committee deems appropriate Performance measures may be compared to the performance of group
of comparator companies or published or special index that the committee deems appropriate or
with

respect to share price various stock market indices The committee also may provide for

accelerated vesting of any incentive award based on the achievement of performance goals

Any incentive award that is intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under

Section 162m of the IRC will be granted and performance goals for such an incentive award will be

established by the committee in writing not later than 90 days after the commencement of the

performance period to which the performance goals relate or such other period required under

Section 162m of the IRC provided that the outcome is substantially uncertain at the time the

committee establishes the performance goal and provided further that in no event will performance

goal be considered to be pre-established if it is established after 25% of the performance period as
scheduled in good faith at the time the performance goal is established has elapsed Before any

payment is made in connection with any award intended to qualify as performance-based compensation
under Section 162m of the IRC the committee must certify in writing that the performance goals

established with respect to such award have been achieved

The committee may provide in any such incentive award that includes performance goals that any
evaluation of performance may include or exclude any of the following events that occur during

performance period items related to change in accounting principles items relating to financing

activities expenses for restructuring or productivity initiatives other non-operating items items related

to acquisitions items attributable to the business operations of any entity acquired by the Company
during the performance period items related to the disposal of business or segment of business
items related to discontinued operations that do not qualify as segment of business under

applicable accounting standards items attributable to any stock dividend stock split combination or

exchange of stock occurring during the performance period any other items of significant income or
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expense which are determined to be appropriate adjustments items relating to unusual or extraordinary

corporate transactions events or developments items related to amortization of acquired intangible

assets items that are outside the scope of the Companys core on-going business activities items

related to acquired in-process
research and development items relating to changes in tax laws items

relating to major licensing or partnership arrangements items relating to asset impairment charges

items relating to gains or losses for litigation arbitration and contractual settlements foreign exchange

gains and losses or items relating to any other unusual or nonrecurring events or changes in applicable

laws accounting principles or business conditions

The committee may amend or modify the vesting criteria including any performance goals

performance measures or performance periods of any outstanding awards based in whole or in part on

the financial performance of the Company or any subsidiary or division business unit or other sub-unit

thereof in recognition
of unusual or nonrecurring events affecting the Company or the financial

statements of the Company or of changes in applicable laws regulations or accounting principles

whenever the committee determines that such adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent

unintended dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available

under the 2010 Incentive Plan

The committee may adjust the amount payable pursuant to an incentive award under the 2010

Incentive Plan that is intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162m
of the IRC downwards but not upwards In the event that applicable tax or securities laws change to

permit committee discretion to alter the governing performance measures without obtaining

shareholder approval of such changes the committee will have sole discretion to make such changes

without obtaining shareholder approval

Dividend Equivalents With the exception of stock options SARs and unvested performance

awards awards under the 2010 Incentive Plan may in the committees discretion earn dividend

equivalents with respect to the cash or stock dividends or other distributions that would have been paid

on the shares of our common stock covered by such award had such shares been issued and

outstanding on the dividend payment date Such dividend equivalents will be converted to cash or

additional shares of our common stock by such formula and at such time and subject to such

limitations as determined by the committee

Termination of Service Except as otherwise provided in the 2010 Incentive Plan or an incentive

award agreement in the event participants employment or other service with the Company or any of

our subsidiaries is terminated by reason of death or disability then

All outstanding stock options including non-employee director options and SARs held by the

participant will become immediately exercisable and will remain exercisable for period of one

year after such termination but not later than the date the stock options or SARs expires

All outstanding shares of restricted stock held by the participant will become fully vested

All outstanding but unpaid restricted stock units performance awards other cash-based awards

and other stock-based awards held by the participant will terminate and be forfeited However

with respect to any incentive awards that vest based on the achievement of performance goals if

participants employment or other service with our Company or any subsidiary is terminated by

death or disability prior to the end of the performance period of such award but after the

conclusion of portion of the performance period but in no event less than one year the

committee may in its sole discretion cause shares to be delivered or payment made with respect

to the participants award but only if otherwise earned for the entire performance period and

only with respect to the portion
of the applicable performance period completed at the date of

such event with proration based on full fiscal years only and no shares to be delivered for

partial fiscal years and
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If the effective date of such termination is before the end of the time period to which an annual

performance cash award relates then any such annual performance cash award held by

participant will terminate and be forfeited but if the effective date of such termination is on or

after the end of the time period to which an annual performance cash award relates then any

such annual performance cash award held by participant
will be paid to the participant in

accordance with the payment terms of such award

Except as otherwise provided in the 2010 Incentive Plan or an incentive award agreement in the

event participants employment or other service with the Company or any of our subsidiaries is

terminated by reason of retirement except with respect to non-employee directors then

All outstanding stock options other than non-employee director options and SARs held by the

participant that then are exercisable will remain exercisable for one year
after the date of such

retirement but will not be exercisable later than the date the stock options or SARs expires

All stock options SARs and all outstanding shares of restricted stock held by the participant

that then have not vested will terminate and be forfeited

All outstanding but unpaid restricted stock units performance awards other cash-based awards

and other stock-based awards held by the participant will terminate and be forfeited However

with respect to any incentive awards the vesting of which is based on the achievement of

performance goals if participants employment or other service with our Company or any

subsidiary as the case may be is terminated by reason of retirement prior to the end of the

performance period of such incentive award but after the conclusion of portion of the

performance period but in no event less than one year the committee may in its sole

discretion cause shares to be delivered or payment made with respect to the participants award

but only if otherwise earned for the entire performance period and only with respect to the

portion of the applicable performance period completed at the date of such event with

proration based on full fiscal years only and no shares to be delivered for partial fiscal years

and

If the effective date of such retirement is before the end of the performance period to which an

annual performance cash award relates then any such annual performance cash award held by

participant will terminate and be forfeited but if the effective date of such retirement is on or

after the end of the performance period to which an annual performance cash award relates

then any such annual performance cash award held by participant
will be paid to the

participant in accordance with the payment terms of such award

Except as otherwise provided in the 2010 Incentive Plan or an incentive award agreement if plan

participants employment or other service with the Company or any subsidiary of the Company is

terminated for any reason other than death disability or retirement then

All outstanding stock options including non-employee director options and SARs held by the

participant that then are exercisable will remain exercisable for three months after the date of

termination but those that are not exercisable will terminate and be forfeited

All stock options SARs and outstanding shares of restricted stock held by the participant that

then have not vested will terminate and be forfeited
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All outstanding but unpaid restricted stock units performance awards other cash-based awards

and other stock-based awards held by the participant will terminate and be forfeited and

All outstanding annual performance cash awards held by participant will terminate and be

forfeited

It is important to note that the foregoing terms are the standards that will be applicable to awards

to the extent that the award agreement does not provide for different terms The committee may in its

sole discretion and consistent with other terms of the 2010 Incentive Plan provide for different

termination forfeiture vesting and exercisability provisions whether more or less restrictive than the

foregoing standard terms in any agreement evidencing an incentive award granted under the 2010

Incentive Plan

Modification of Rights upon Termination Upon participants termination of employment or

other service with the Company or any subsidiary the committee may in its sole discretion which may
be exercised at any time on or after the grant date including following such termination cause stock

options or SARs or any part thereof held by such
participant as of the effective date of such

termination to terminate become or continue to become exercisable or remain exercisable following
such termination of employment or service and restricted stock restricted stock units performance

awards annual performance cash awards non-employee director awards other cash-based awards and

other stock-based awards held by such participant as of the effective date of such termination to

terminate vest or become free of restrictions and conditions to payment as the case may be following
such termination of employment or service in each case in the manner determined by the committee

provided however that no stock option or SAR may remain exercisable beyond its expiration date
the committee may not adjust the amount payable pursuant to an incentive award under the 2010

Incentive Plan that is intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162m
of the IRC upwards but may adjust the amount payable under such an awards downwards unless the

applicable tax or securities laws change to permit committee discretion to alter the governing

performance measures without obtaining shareholder approval in which case the committee will have

sole discretion to make such changes without obtaining shareholder approval the committee taking

any such action relating to non-employee director awards will consist solely of independent directors

as defined by NASDAQ or other applicable exchange or market on which the common stock may be
traded or quoted and any such action by the committee adversely affecting any outstanding
incentive award will not be effective without the consent of the affected participant except to the

extent the committee is authorized by the 2010 Incentive Plan to take such action

Determination of Termination The change in
participants status from an employee to

consultant will be deemed termination unless the committee determines otherwise in its sole

discretion The change in
participants status from consultant to an employee will not be deemed

termination of the participants service as consultant Unless the committee determines otherwise

participants termination date will be deemed to be the date recorded on personnel or other records of

the Company or any subsidiary If the payment of an incentive award that is subject to Section 409A of

the IRC is triggered by termination of participants employment or other service the termination

must also constitute separation from service within the meaning of Section 409A of the IRC and

any change in employment status that constitutes separation from service under Section 409A of

the IRC will be treated as termination of employment or service as the case may be

Forfeiture and Recoupment If participant is determined by the committee to have taken any
action while providing services to the Company or after termination of such services that would

constitute cause or an adverse action as such terms are defined in the 2010 Incentive Plan all

rights of the participant under the 2010 Incentive Plan and any agreements evidencing an incentive

award then held by the participant will terminate and be forfeited The committee has the authority to

rescind the exercise vesting issuance or payment in
respect of any incentive awards of the participant
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that were exercised vested issued or paid and require the participant to pay to the Company within

ten days of receipt of notice any amount received or the amount gained as result of any such

rescinded exercise vesting issuance or payment The Company may defer the exercise of any stock

option or SAR for up to six months after receipt of notice of exercise in order for the committee to

determine whether cause or adverse action exists The Company is entitled to withhold and deduct

future wages to collect any amount due In addition if the Company is required to prepare an

accounting restatement due to material noncompliance as result of misconduct with any financial

reporting requirement under the securities laws then any participant who is one of the individuals

subject to automatic forfeiture under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 will reimburse the

Company for the amount of any award received by such individual under the 2010 Incentive Plan

during the 12-month period following the first public issuance or filing with the Securities and

Exchange Commission as the case may be of the financial document embodying such financial

reporting requirement

Change in Control and Acceleration of Vesting Generally change in control will mean

The sale lease exchange or other transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the

Company in one transaction or in series of related transactions to corporation that is not

controlled by the Company

The approval by our shareholders of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of

the Company or

change in control of nature that would currently be required to be reported in response to

Item 5.01 of SEC Form 8-K whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting

requirement

Such change in control will be deemed to have occurred at such time as any person becomes

the beneficial owner as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act directly or indirectly of

50% or more of the combined voting power of the Companys outstanding securities ordinarily having

the right to vote at elections of directors or individuals who constitute the Board of Directors of the

Company on the effective date of the 2010 Incentive Plan cease for any reason to constitute at least

majority thereof provided that any person becoming director subsequent to the effective date of the

2010 Incentive Plan whose election or nomination for election by our shareholders was approved by

vote of at least majority of the directors comprising the Board of Directors on the Effective Date of

the 2010 Incentive Plan either by specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement of the

Company in which such person is named as nominee for director without objection to such

nomination will be considered as though such person were member of the Board of Directors on the

effective date of the 2010 Incentive Plan

Without limiting the authority of the committee to adjust incentive awards as discussed under the

headings Plan Administration and Adjustments if change in control of the Company occurs

then unless otherwise provided in the Incentive Award Agreement if the Company is not the surviving

corporation or the acquiring corporation does not assume the outstanding incentive awards or

substitute equivalent awards then

All outstanding stock options and SARs will become immediately exercisable in full and will

remain exercisable for the remainder of their terms regardless of whether the participant to

whom such stock options or SARs have been granted remains in employment or service with the

Company or any subsidiary

All restrictions and vesting requirements applicable to any incentive award based solely on the

continued service of the participant will terminate and
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All incentive awards the vesting or payment of which are based on performance goals will vest

as though such performance goals were fully achieved at target and will become immediately

payable

However no incentive award that provides for deferral of compensation within the meaning of

Section 409A of the IRC will be cashed out upon the occurrence of change in control unless the

event or circumstances constituting the change in control also constitute change in the ownership
of the Company change in the effective control of the Company or change in the ownership of

substantial portion of the assets of the Company in each case as determined under Section 409A of

the IRC The treatment of any other incentive awards in the event of change in control will be as
determined by the committee in connection with the grant thereof as reflected in the applicable
incentive award agreement The committee is given the power under the 2010 Incentive Plan to

alternatively provide that upon change in control any or all outstanding stock-based awards will be
canceled and terminated and the holders will receive payment of cash or stock equal to the

difference if any between the consideration received by shareholders in respect of share of common
stock in connection with the change in control and the purchase price per share if any under the

award multiplied by the number of shares subject to such award provided that if such product is zero
or less or the award is not exercisable the award may be canceled and terminated without payment for

such award

If participants employment or other service with the Company is terminated without cause or
adverse action or by the participant for good reason as such terms are defined in the 2010
Incentive Plan in either case within two years following change in control and the Company is the

surviving corporation following such change in control or the acquiror assumes the outstanding
incentive awards or substitutes equivalent equity awards relating to the securities of such acquiror or its

affiliates for such incentive awards then

All outstanding options and SARs will become immediately exercisable in full and will remain
exercisable for the remainder of their terms regardless of whether the participant to whom such

options or SARs have been granted remains in employment or service with the Company

All restrictions and vesting requirements applicable to any incentive award based solely on the

continued service of the participant will terminate and

All incentive awards the vesting or payment of which are based on performance goals will vest

as though such performance goals were fully achieved at target and will become immediately
payable

However no incentive award that provides for deferral of compensation within the meaning of

Section 409A of the IRC will be cashed out upon the occurrence of change in control unless the

event or circumstances constituting the change in control also constitute change in the ownership
of the Company change in the effective control of the Company or change in the ownership of

substantial portion of the assets of the Company in each case as determined under Section 409A of

the IRC The treatment of any other incentive awards in the event of change in control will be as
determined by the committee in connection with the grant thereof as reflected in the applicable award

agreement

Term Termination and Amendment Unless sooner terminated by the Board the 2010 Incentive

Plan will terminate at midnight on May 19 2020 No incentive award will be granted after termination

of the 2010 Incentive Plan but incentive awards outstanding upon termination of the 2010 Incentive

Plan will remain
outstanding in accordance with their applicable terms and conditions and the terms

and conditions of the 2010 Incentive Plan

Subject to certain exceptions the Board has the authority to terminate and the committee has the

authority to amend the 2010 Incentive Plan or any outstanding award agreement at any time and from
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time to time provided that any amendment to the 2010 Incentive Plan will not become effective without

shareholder approval to increase the maximum number of shares of our common stock which may

be issued pursuant to the 2010 Incentive Plan ii to increase any limitation set forth in the 2010

Incentive Plan on the number of shares of our common stock which may be issued or the aggregate

value of award which may be made in respect of any type
of award to any single participant during any

specified period iii to change the class of individuals eligible to participate in the 2010 Incentive Plan

iv to reduce the minimum exercise price of any option or grant price of any SAR or if such

approval is otherwise required to comply with applicable laws rules or regulations No termination or

amendment of the 2010 Incentive Plan or an incentive award agreement shall adversely affect in any

material way any award previously granted under the 2010 Incentive Plan without the written consent

of the participant holding such award

No amendments to the 2010 Incentive Plan will be effective without approval of the Companys

shareholders if shareholder approval of the amendment is then required pursuant to Section 422 of

the IRC the rules of the primary stock exchange on which the common stock is then traded applicable

U.S state and federal laws or regulations and the applicable
laws of any foreign country or jurisdiction

where incentive awards are or will be granted under the 2010 Incentive Plan or such amendment

would modify the restrictions on re-pricing ii materially increase benefits accruing to participants

iii increase the aggregate number of shares of common stock issued or issuable under the 2010

Incentive Plan iv increase any limitation set forth in the 2010 Incentive Plan on the number of shares

of common stock which may be issued or the aggregate
value of incentive awards which may be made

in respect
of any type of incentive award to any single participant during any specified period

modify the eligibility requirements for participants in the 2010 Incentive Plan or vi reduce the

minimum exercise price as set forth in the 2010 Incentive Plan

Plan Benefits It is not presently possible to determine the benefits or amounts that will be

received by or allocated to participants under the 2010 Incentive Plan or would have been received by

or allocated to participants for the last completed fiscal year
if the 2010 Incentive Plan had then been

in effect because awards under the 2010 Incentive Plan will be made at the discretion of the

committee

Federal Income Tax Information

The following is general summary as of the date of this proxy statement of the federal income

tax consequences to participants and the Company of transactions under the 2010 Incentive Plan This

summary is intended for the information of shareholders considering how to vote at the annual meeting

and not as tax guidance to participants in the 2010 Incentive Plan as the consequences may vary with

the types
of grants made the identity of the participant and the method of payment or settlement The

summary does not address the effects of other federal taxes or taxes imposed under state local or

foreign tax laws Participants are encouraged to seek the advice of qualified tax advisor regarding the

tax consequences of participation in the 2010 Incentive Plan

Incentive Stock Options With respect to incentive stock options generally the stock option

holder is not taxed and we are not entitled to deduction on either the grant or the exercise of an

incentive stock option so long as the requirements of Section 422 of the IRC continue to be met If the

stock option holder meets the employment requirements and does not dispose of the shares of our

common stock acquired upon exercise of an incentive stock option until at least one year after date of

the exercise of the stock option and at least two years
after the date the stock option was granted gain

or loss realized on sale of the shares will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss If the shares of

our common stock are disposed of before those periods expire which is called disqualifying

disposition the stock option holder will be required to recognize ordinary income in an amount equal

to the lesser of the excess if any of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of

exercise over the exercise price or ii if the disposition is taxable sale or exchange the amount of
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gain realized Upon disqualifying disposition we will
generally be entitled in the same tax year to

deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income recognized by the stock option holder

Non-Statutory Stock Options The grant of stock option that does not
qualify for treatment asan incentive stock option which is

generally referred to as
non-statutory stock option is

generally not
taxable event for the stock option holder Upon exercise of the stock option the stock option holder

will generally be required to recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the excess of the fair
market value of our common stock

acquired upon exercise determined as of the date of exercise over
the exercise price of the stock option and we will be entitled to deduction in an equal amount in thesame tax year At the time of subsequent sale or disposition of shares obtained upon exercise of
non-statutory stock option any gain or loss will be capital gain or loss which will be either
long-term or short-term

capital gain or loss depending on how long the shares have been held

SARs The grant of an SAR will not cause the participant to recognize ordinary income or entitle
us to deduction for federal income tax purposes Upon the exercise of an SAR the participant will
recognize ordinary income in the amount of the cash or the value of shares payable to the

participantbefore reduction for any withholding taxes and we will receive corresponding deduction in anamount equal to the
ordinary income recognized by the

participant assuming that deduction is
allowed under Section 162m of the IRC

Restricted Stock Restricted Stock Units and Other Stock-Based Awards The federal income tax
consequences with

respect to restricted stock restricted stock units performance shares and
performance stock units and other stock unit and stock-based awards depend on the facts and
circumstances of each award including in particular the nature of any restrictions imposed with
respect to the awards In general if the award granted to the participant is subject to substantial risk
of forfeiture e.g the award is conditioned upon the future performance of substantial services by the
participant and is nontransferable taxable event occurs when the risk of forfeiture ceases or the
awards become transferable whichever first occurs At such time the participant will

recognize
ordinary income to the extent of the excess of the fair market value of the award on such date over the
participants cost for such award if any and the same amount is deductible by us assuming thatdeduction is allowed under Section 162m of the IRC Under certain circumstances the participant bymaking an election under Section 83b of the IRC can accelerate federal income tax recognition with
respect to an award that is

subject to substantial risk of forfeiture and
transferability restrictions inwhich event the

ordinary income amount and our deduction will be measured and timed as of the grantdate of the award If the award granted to the
participant is not subject to substantial risk of

forfeiture or transferability restrictions the participant will
recognize ordinary income with

respect tothe award to the extent of the excess of the fair market value of the award at the time of
grant overthe

participants cost if any and the same amount is deductible by us assuming that deduction is
allowed under Section 162m of the IRC If stock or stock unit award is granted but no stock is

actually issued to the
participant at the time the award is granted the participant will recognize

ordinary income at the time the
participant receives stock free of any substantial risk of forfeiture and

the amount of such income will be equal to the fair market value of the stock at such time over the
participants cost if any and the same amount is then deductible by us

Annual Performance Cash Awards and Other Cash-Based Awards Annual performance cash
awards and other cash-based awards will be taxable as ordinary income to the

participant in theamount of the cash received by the participant before reduction for any withholding taxes and we
will receive

corresponding deduction in an amount equal to the
ordinary income recognized by the

participant assuming that deduction is allowed under Section 162m of the IRC

Withholding Obligations We are entitled to withhold and deduct from future wages of the
participant to make other arrangements for the collection of or to require the

recipient to pay to usan amount
necessary for us to satisfy the recipients federal state or local tax withholding obligations
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with respect to incentive awards granted under the 2010 Incentive Plan Withholding for taxes will be

limited to the minimum required tax withholding rates or such other rate that will not trigger

negative accounting impact on the company The committee may permit participant to satisfy tax

obligation by withholding shares of common stock underlying an award tendering previously acquired

shares delivery of broker exercise notice or combination of these methods

Code Section 409A grant may be subject to 20% penalty tax in addition to ordinary income

tax at the time the grant becomes vested plus interest if the grant constitutes deferred compensation

under Section 409A of the IRC and the requirements of Section 409A of the IRC are not satisfied

Code Section 162m Pursuant to Section 162m of the IRC the annual compensation paid to

an individual who on the last day of the taxable year was the Chief Executive Officer or otherwise

covered by this provision because his or her compensation was reported in the Summary Compensation

Table may not be deductible to the extent that it exceeds $1 million unless the compensation qualifies

as performance-based under Section 162m of the IRC The 2010 Incentive Plan has been designed

to permit the committee to grant awards that qualify as performance-based for purposes of satisfying

the conditions of Section 162m of the IRC

Excise Tax on Parachute Payments Unless otherwise provided in separate agreement between

participant and the Company if with respect to participant
the acceleration of the vesting of an

incentive award or the payment of cash in exchange for all or part of an incentive award together
with

any other payments that such participant
has the right to receive from the Company would constitute

parachute payment then the payments to such participant
will be reduced to the largest amount as

will result in no portion of such payments being subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of

the IRC Such reduction however will only be made if the aggregate amount of the payments after

such reduction exceeds the difference between the amount of such payments absent such reduction

minus the aggregate amount of the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the IRC attributable to

any such excess parachute payments If such provisions are applicable and if an employee will be

subject to 20% excise tax on any excess parachute payment pursuant to Section 4999 of the IRC

we will be denied deduction with respect to such excess parachute payment pursuant to Section 2800

of the IRC

Board Recommendation

The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote FOR approval of the Select

Comfort Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Vote Required

The affirmative vote of the holders of majority of the shares of common stock present and

entitled to vote in person or by proxy on this matter at the Annual Meeting and at least majority
of

the minimum number of votes necessary for quorum is necessary
for approval of the Select Comfort

Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan Unless contrary
choice is specified proxies solicited by the

Board of Directors will be voted FOR approval of the Select Comfort Corporation 2010 Omnibus

Incentive Plan
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APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT TO OUR THIRD RESTATED
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION TO ADOPT PLURALITY VOTE STANDARD

IN CONTESTED ELECTIONS OF DIRECTORS

Proposal

Summary of the Proposed Amendment

The Board of Directors is recommending that Article VI of our Third Restated Articles of

Incorporation be amended to provide for plurality voting standard in the case of contested elections

of directors In recent years as best practices in corporate governance have evolved there has been
shift from the historically dominant plurality voting standard in director elections to majority voting
standard Select Comfort has always had majority voting standard in place for director elections With
the emergence more generally of the majority voting standard and the increasing prevalence of

contested director elections where the number of nominees exceeds the number of directors to be

elected concern has arisen that the majority voting standard increases the risk that no nominee
succeeds in achieving the requisite majority vote for election or failed election Under Minnesota

law in the event of such failed election the incumbent director would continue to serve as
director as no successor to the incumbent would have been validly elected To reduce the risk of

failed election under the majority voting standard common approach is to create an exception

whereby plurality voting standard is used solely in the case of contested elections Under the plurality

voting standard the nominee receiving the highest number of votes even if that number is less than

majority of the votes cast in the election would be validly elected as director We believe it is in the

best interests of our shareholders to mitigate the risk of failed election in the context of contested

elections through the adoption of the plurality vote standard solely in the case of contested elections

Article VI of our Third Restated Articles of Incorporation currently reads in its entirety as follows

ARTICLE VI

The affirmative vote of the holders of majority of the voting power of the shares of capital
stock represented and entitled to vote at duly held meeting is required for an action of the

shareholders including any amendment to these Articles of Incorporation except where

Chapter 302A of the Minnesota Statutes as amended or these Articles of Incorporation as

amended requires an affirmative vote of larger majority

In accordance with the proposal discussed above Article VI of our Third Restated Articles of

Incorporation is proposed to be amended to read in its entirety as follows

ARTICLE VI

Except with respect to the election of directors the shareholders shall take action at

meeting of shareholders by the affirmative vote of majority of the voting power of the shares of

capital stock represented and entitled to vote at duly held meeting or such larger proportion or

number as is required by law or these Articles of Incorporation

Each director shall be elected at meeting of shareholders by the affirmative vote of

majority of the voting power of the shares of capital stock represented and entitled to vote on the

election of directors at the meeting provided that directors shall be elected by the affirmative vote

of plurality of the voting power of the shares of capital stock represented and entitled to vote at

duly held meeting for which the number of nominees for election to the Board of Directors

other than nominees withdrawn on or prior to the day preceding the date the Corporation first

mails its notice for such meeting to the shareholders exceeds the number of directors to be

elected
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For purposes of this Article VI meeting of shareholders shall mean meeting of

shareholders which satisfies the notice and quorum requirements imposed by the Bylaws of the

Corporation except as otherwise provided by law

The risk of failed election also arises in the case of uncontested elections where an incumbent

nominee fails to achieve the requisite majority vote In such circumstances under application of

Minnesota law the incumbent would continue to serve as director as no successor would have been

validly elected To address this risk our Board has adopted the following Corporate Governance

Principle

Requirement of Incumbent Directors who do not Receive Majority Vote in an Uncontested

Election to Tender Resignation If nominee for Director who is an incumbent Director is not

elected at meeting of shareholders and no successor to the incumbent Director is elected at the

meeting of shareholders the incumbent Director shall promptly offer to tender his or her

resignation to the Board The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall make

recommendation to the Board on whether to accept or reject the offer or whether other action

should be taken The Board shall act on whether to accept the Directors offer taking into account

the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committees recommendation and publicly disclose

by press release filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission or other broadly

disseminated means of communication its decision and the rationale behind it within 90 days after

the date of the certification of the election results The Corporate Governance and Nominating

Committee in making its recommendation and the Board in making its decision may each

consider any factors or other recommendations that it considers relevant and appropriate The

incumbent Director who offers to tender his or her resignation shall not participate in the Boards

decision If such incumbent Directors offer to tender his or her resignation is not accepted by the

Board such Director shall continue to serve until the next meeting of shareholders at which

Directors are elected and until his or her successor is duly elected or his or her earlier death

resignation retirement disqualification or removal

The foregoing Corporate Governance Principle is not subject to shareholder approval and is not

subject to shareholder approval of the amendment of our Third Restated Articles of Incorporation

proposed above

Board Recommendation

The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote FOR approval of the proposed

amendment of the Third Restated Articles of Incorporation to adopt plurality vote standard in the

case of contested elections of directors

Vote Required

The affirmative vote of the holders of majority of the shares of common stock present and

entitled to vote in person or by proxy on this matter at the Annual Meeting and at least majority of

the minimum number of votes necessary
for quorum is necessary for approval of the proposed

amendment of the Third Restated Articles of Incorporation to adopt plurality vote standard in the

case of contested elections of directors Unless
contrary choice is specified proxies solicited by the

Board of Directors will be voted FOR approval of the proposed amendment of the Third Restated

Articles of Incorporation to adopt plurality vote standard in the case of contested elections of

directors
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is
responsible for providing independent objective

oversight with respect to our companys accounting and financial reporting functions internal and

external audit functions and systems of internal controls regarding financial matters and legal ethical

and regulatory compliance The Audit Committee operates under written charter approved by the

Board of Directors copy of the charter is available at the investor relations section of the companys
Web site at http//www.selectcomfort.com/eng/aboutus/corporategovernance cfm

The Audit Committee is currently composed of four directors each of whom is independent as

defined by the National Association of Securities Dealers listing standards Throughout 2009 the Audit
Committee included Stephen Gulis Jr Chair Christopher Kirchen and Jean-Michel Valette

Christine Day also served on the Audit Committee from the beginning of the year until the end of

her term as director in December 2009 Thomas Albani was appointed to the Audit Committee in

February 2010. Mr Albanis current term on our Board will expire at this years Annual Meeting and
he will not stand for re-election

Management is responsible for our companys financial
reporting processes and internal control

over financial reporting KPMG LLP our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm is

responsible for auditing our companys consolidated financial statements This audit is to be conducted
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States
The Audit Committees

responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes

In connection with these responsibilities the Audit Committee met in person or by telephone
conference nine times during 2009 These meetings involved representatives of management internal

audit and the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Management represented to the Audit

Committee that our companys consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America The Audit Committee has

reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements together with the results of managements
assessment of the companys internal control over financial reporting with management and the

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm The Audit Committee discussed with the Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm the matters required to be discussed with the auditors under

Statement on Auditing Standards No 61 Communication with Audit Committees Codification of

Statements on Auditing Standards AU 380 The Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

provided the Audit Committee with written disclosures required by applicable requirements of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and discussed with the Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm that firms independence

Based upon the Audit Committees discussions with management internal audit and the

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and the Audit Committees review of the

representations of management and the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm the Audit

Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited consolidated financial statements

be included in our companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 2010 for

filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission

This Audit Committee Report shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general

statement incorporating by reference this Proxy Statement into any filing under the Securities Act of

1933 as amended or the Exchange Act except to the extent that the company specifically incorporates
this information by reference and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such Acts

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Stephen Gulis Jr Chair

Thomas Albani

Christopher Kirchen

Jean-Michel Valette
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APPROVAL OF SELECTION

OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Proposal

Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Effective as of March 2010 the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors selected Deloitte

Touche LLP Deloitte as the Companys independent registered public accounting firm

Independent Auditors for the 2010 fiscal year ending January 2011 subject to the completion of

Deloittes customary client acceptance procedures and approved the dismissal of KMPG LLP

KPMG as the Companys Independent Auditors KPMG had served as our Independent Auditors

from 1993 through the 2009 fiscal
year

ended January 2010

KPMGs report on our consolidated financial statements as of and for the 2009 fiscal year ended

January 2010 did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion nor was it qualified or

modified as to uncertainty audit scope or accounting principles except that such report contained

separate paragraph that stated

As described in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company adopted the

provisions of SFAS 157 Fair Value Measurements included in FASB ASC Topic 820 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures and SFAS 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Liabilities included in FASB ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments on December 30 2007 and

FASB Interpretation
No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes included in FASB ASC

Topic 740 Income Taxes on December 31 2006

KPMGs report on our consolidated financial statements as of and for the 2008 fiscal year ended

January 2009 did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion nor was it qualified or

modified as to uncertainty audit scope or accounting principles except that such report contained the

following qualification

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the

Company will continue as going concern As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial

statements the Companys losses from operations and inability to generate sufficient cash flow to

meet obligations and sustain operations raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as

going concern Managements plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note The

consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the

outcome of this uncertainty

During our two most recent fiscal years ended January 2010 and January 2009 and the

subsequent interim period through the date of KPMGs dismissal there were no disagreements with

KPMG on any matter of accounting principles or practices
financial statement disclosure or auditing

scope or procedure which if not resolved to KPMGs satisfaction would have caused KPMG to make

reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with its report on our financial

statements for such years Further there were no reportable events as defined in Item 304a1v of

Regulation S-K occurring within our two most recent fiscal years
and the subsequent interim period

through the date of KPMGs dismissal

During our two most recent fiscal years and the subsequent interim period through the date of

engagement of Deloitte neither we nor anyone on our behalf consulted Deloitte regarding the

application of accounting principles to specified transaction either completed or proposed or the

type of audit opinion that might be rendered on our financial statements or any other matters or

reportable events listed in Items 304a1iv and of Regulation S-K
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Although the Board is not required to submit the selection of Independent Auditors to

shareholders for approval and the Board would not be bound by shareholder approval or failure to

approve the selection the Board wishes to submit the selection of Deloitte to serve as our Independent

Auditors to our shareholders for approval consistent with best practices in corporate governance

If shareholders do not approve the selection of Deloitte as our Independent Auditors the Audit

Committee will reconsider whether to retain Deloitte and may determine to retain that firm or another

firm without resubmitting the matter to shareholders Even if the selection of Deloitte is approved by

shareholders the Audit Committee may in its discretion direct the appointment of different firm of

Independent Auditors at any time during the year if it determines that such change would be in the

best interests of the company and our shareholders

Representatives of Deloitte will be present at the Annual Meeting will have an opportunity to

make statement if they so desire and will be available to respond to questions from shareholders We
do not anticipate that representatives of KPMG will be present at the Annual Meeting and as result

representatives of KMPG will not be making statement or responding to questions from shareholders

at the Annual Meeting

Audit and Other Fees

The aggregate fees billed for professional services by KPMG LLP in 2009 and 2008 were

2009 2008

Audit fees $455140 $480000
Audit-related fees1 18000 18000

Audit and audit-related fees $473140 $498000

Tax fees

All other fees

Total $473140 $498000

For each year these fees related to the audit of the companys 401k plan

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission

regarding auditor independence the engagement of the companys independent auditors to provide

audit or non-audit services for the company must either be approved by the Audit Committee before

the engagement or entered into pursuant to pre-approval policies and procedures established by the

Audit Committee Our Audit Committee has not established any pre-approval policies or procedures

and therefore all audit or non-audit services performed for the company by the independent auditors

must be approved in advance of the engagement by the Audit Committee Under limited circumstances

certain de minimus non-audit services may be approved by the Audit Committee retroactively All

services provided to the company by the independent auditors in 2009 were approved in advance of the

engagement by the Audit Committee and no non-audit services were approved retroactively by the

Audit Committee pursuant to the exception for certain de minimus services described above

Board Recommendation

The Board recommends vote FOR approval of the selection of Deloitte as our Independent

Auditors for the 2010 fiscal
year ending January 2011 Unless contrary choice is specified proxies

solicited by the Board will be voted FOR the approval of the selection of Deloitte as Independent

Auditors
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OTHER MATTERS

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors and executive officers

and all persons who beneficially own more than 10% of the outstanding shares of our common stock to

file with the Securities and Exchange Commission initial
reports of ownership and reports of changes in

ownership of our common stock Executive officers directors and
greater than 10% beneficial owners

are also required to furnish us with copies of all Section 16a forms they file To our knowledge based

upon review of the copies of such reports furnished to us during the 2009 fiscal year ended

January 2010 and written representations by such persons all
reports were filed on timely basis

Shareholder Proposals for 2011 Annual Meeting

Any shareholder proposal requested to be included in the proxy materials for the 2011 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders must be received by our Senior Vice President General Counsel and

Secretary on or before December 2010 and ii satisfy all of the requirements of and not otherwise

be permitted to be excluded under Rule 14a-8 promulgated by the SEC and our Bylaws

Our Bylaws require advance written notice to our company of shareholder-proposed business or of

shareholders intention to make nomination for director at an annual meeting of shareholders They
also limit the business which may be conducted at any special meeting of shareholders to business

brought by the Board

Specifically the Bylaws provide that business may be brought before an annual meeting by

shareholder only if the shareholder provides written notice to the Secretary of our company not less

than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date that we first released or mailed our proxy

materials to shareholders in connection with the preceding years annual meeting Under these

provisions notice of shareholder proposal to be presented at the 2011 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders but that is not requested to be included in the proxy materials must be provided to the

Secretary of our company on or before December 2010 In the event however that the date of the

annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days or delayed by more than 60 days from the

anniversary of the preceding years annual meeting date notice by the shareholder to be timely must be

so delivered not later than the close of business on the later of the 120th day prior to such annual

meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting

is first made

shareholders notice must set forth

description of the proposed business and the reasons for it

The name and address of the shareholder making the proposal

The class and number of shares of common stock owned by the shareholder and

description of any material interest of the shareholder in the proposed business

Our Bylaws also provide that shareholder may nominate director at an annual meeting only

after providing advance written notice to the Secretary of our company within the time limits described

above The shareholders notice must set forth all information about each nominee that would be

required under SEC rules in proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of such nominee as

well as the nominees business and residence address The notice must also set forth the name and

record address of the shareholder making the nomination and the class and number of shares of

common stock owned by that shareholder
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Other Business

Management of our company does not intend to present other items of business and knows of no
items of business that are likely to be brought before the Annual Meeting except those described in

this Proxy Statement However if any other matters should properly come before the Annual Meeting
the persons named in the enclosed proxy will have discretionary authority to vote such proxy in

accordance with the best judgment on such matters

Copies of 2009 Annual Report

We will furnish to our shareholders without charge copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K

without exhibits for the 2009 fiscal year ended January 2010 as amended upon receipt from any
such person of written request for such an Annual Report Such

request should be sent to

Select Comfort Corporation

Investor Relations Department

9800 59th Avenue North

Plymouth Minnesota 55442

Householding Information

Some banks brokers and other record holders may be participating in the practice of

householding proxy statements and annual reports This tneans that you and other holders of our

companys common stock in your household may not receive separate copies of our Proxy Statement or

Annual Report We will promptly deliver an additional copy of either document to you if you call us at

763 551-7498 or write us at the following address

Select Comfort Corporation

Investor Relations Department

9800 59t Avenue North

Plymouth Minnesota 55442

Your vote is important Whether Or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting please vote your
shares of common stock promptly by mail telephone or internet as instructed on your proxy card

By Order Of th Board of Directors

Mark Kimball

Senior Vice President

General Counsel and Secretaty

April 2010

Plymouth Minnesota
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION

2010 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

Purpose of Plan

The purpose of this Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and its shareholders by

enabling the Company and its Subsidiaries to attract and retain qualified individuals to perform services

for the Company and its Subsidiaries providing incentive compensation for such individuals that is

linked to the growth and profitability of the Company and increases in shareholder value and aligning

the interests of such individuals with the interests of its shareholders through opportunities for equity

participation in the Company

Definitions

The following terms will have the meanings set forth below unless the context clearly otherwise

requires Terms defined elsewhere in this Plan will have the same meaning throughout this Plan

2.1 Adverse Action means any action or conduct by Participant that the Committee in its sole

discretion determines to be injurious detrimental prejudicial or adverse to the interests of the

Company or any Subsidiary including disclosing confidential information of the Company or any

Subsidiary to any person not authorized by the Company or Subsidiary to receive it engaging

directly or indirectly in any commercial activity that in the judgment of the Committee competes with

the business of the Company or any Subsidiary or interfering with the relationships of the Company

or any Subsidiary and their respective employees independent contractors customers prospective

customers and vendors

2.2 Annual Award Limit or Annual Awards Limits have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4

2.3 Annual Performance Cash Awards has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1 of this Plan

2.4 Board means the Board of Directors of the Company

2.5 Broker Exercise Notice means written notice pursuant to which Participant upon

exercise of an Option irrevocably instructs broker or dealer to sell sufficient number of shares of

Common Stock or loan sufficient amount of money to pay all or portion of the exercise price of the

Option or any related withholding tax obligations and remit such sums to the Company and directs the

Company to deliver shares of Common Stock to be issued upon such exercise directly to such broker or

dealer or their nominee

2.6 Cause means dishonesty fraud misrepresentation embezzlement or deliberate injury or

attempted injury in each case related to the Company or any Subsidiary any unlawful or criminal

activity of serious nature any intentional and deliberate breach of duty or duties that

individually or in the aggregate are material in relation to the Participants overall duties or any

material breach by Participant of any employment service confidentiality non-compete or

non-solicitation agreement entered into with the Company or any Subsidiary

2.7 Cash-Based Award means an Incentive Award made pursuant to this Plan that is

denominated and paid in cash

2.8 Change in Control means an event described in Section 17.1 of this Plan

2.9 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended Any reference to section of

the Code herein will be deemed to include reference to any applicable regulations thereunder and

any successor or amended section of the Code

2.10 Committee means the Management Development and Compensation Committee of the

Board or subcommittee thereof or any other committee comprised solely of directors designated by

the Board to administer this Plan who are non-employee directors within the meaning of

Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act independent directors as defined in the Listing Rules of the

Nasdaq Stock Market or other applicable exchange or market on which the Common Stock may be

traded or quoted and outside directors within the meaning of Section 162m of the Code The



members of the Committee will be appointed from time to time by and will serve at the discretion of

the Board If the Committee does not exist or cannot function for any reason the Board may take any
action under this Plan that would otherwise be the responsibility of the Committee except as otherwise

provided in this Plan

2.11 Common Stock means the common stock of the Company par value $0.01 per share or the

number and kind of shares of stock or other securities into which such Common Stock may be changed

in accordance with Section 4.5 of this Plan

2.12 Company means Select Comfort Corporation Minnesota corporation and any successor

thereto as provided in Section 23.6 of this Plan

2.13 Consultant means person engaged to provide consulting or advisory services other than

as an Employee or Director to the Company or any Subsidiary that are not in connection with

the offer and sale of the Companys securities in capital raising transaction and do not directly or

indirectly promote or maintain market for the Companys securities

2.14 Covered Employee means any Employee who is or may become Covered Employee as

defined in Section 162m of the Code and who is designated either as an individual Employee or

class of Employees by the Committee within the shorter of ninety 90 days after the beginning of

any Performance Period or twenty-five percent 25% of any Performance Period has elapsed as

Covered Employee under this Plan for such applicable Performance Period

2.15 Director means member of the Board

2.16 Director Fees means any compensation payable by the Company in the form of cash to

Non-Employee Director for service as Non-Employee Director on the Board or any committee of the

Board as may be approved from time to time by the Board excluding expense allowances

reimbursements and insurance premiums paid to or on behalf of such Non-Employee Directors

2.17 Disability means the disability of the Participant such as would entitle the Participant to

receive disability income benefits pursuant to the long-term disability plan of the Company or

Subsidiary then covering the Participant or if no such plan exists or is applicable to the Participant the

permanent and total disability of the Participant within the meaning of Section 22e3 of the Code

2.18 Effective Date means May 19 2010 or such later date as this Plan is initially approved by

the Companys shareholders

2.19 Eligible Recipients means all Employees all Non-Employee Directors and all Consultants

2.20 Employee means any individual performing services for the Company or Subsidiary and

designated as an employee of the Company or Subsidiary on the payroll records thereof An

Employee will not include any individual during any period he or she is classified or treated by the

Company or Subsidiary as an independent contractor consultant or any employee of an employment
consulting or temporary agency or any other entity other than the Company or Subsidiary without

regard to whether such individual is subsequently determined to have been or is
subsequently

retroactively reclassified as common-law employee of the Company or Subsidiary during such period
An individual will not cease to be an Employee in the case of any leave of absence approved by
the Company or transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company or any
Subsidiaries For purposes of Incentive Stock Options no such leave may exceed ninety 90 days
unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract If

reemployment upon expiration of leave of absence approved by the Company or Subsidiary as

applicable is not so guaranteed then three months following the ninety-first 91st day of such

leave any Incentive Stock Option held by Participant will cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock

Option and will be treated for tax purposes as Nonqualified Stock Option Neither service as



Director nor payment of Directors fee by the Company will be sufficient to constitute employment

by the Company

2.21 Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Any reference to

section of the Exchange Act herein will be deemed to include reference to any applicable rules and

regulations thereunder and any successor or amended section of the Exchange Act

2.22 Fair Market Value means with respect to the Common Stock as of any date the closing

sale price of the Common Stock as of such date at the end of the regular trading session as reported

by the Nasdaq Stock Market the New York Stock Exchange the American Stock Exchange or any

national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed or if no shares were traded on

such date as of the next preceding date on which there was such trade if the Common Stock is

not so listed admitted to unlisted trading privileges or reported on any national exchange the closing

sale price as of such date at the end of the regular trading session as reported by the OTC Bulletin

Board or the Pink Sheets LLC or other comparable service or if no shares were traded or quoted on

such date as of the next preceding date on which there was such trade or quote or if the

Common Stock is not so listed or reported such price as the Committee determines in good faith in

the exercise of its reasonable discretion and consistent with the definition of fair market value under

Section 409A of the Code If determined by the Committee such determination will be final conclusive

and binding for all purposes and on all persons including the Company the shareholders of the

Company the Participants and their respective successors-in-interest No member of the Committee

will be liable for any determination regarding the fair market value of the Common Stock that is made

in good faith

2.23 Full Value Award means an Incentive Award other than in the form of an Option or Stock

Appreciation Right and which is settled by the issuance of shares of Common Stock

2.24 Good Reason has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2 of this Plan

2.25 Grant Date means the date an Incentive Award is granted to Participant pursuant to this

Plan and as determined pursuant to Section of this Plan

2.26 Incentive Award means individually or collectively an Option Stock Appreciation Right

Restricted Stock Award Restricted Stock Unit Performance Award Annual Performance Cash Award

Non-Employee Director Award Other Cash-Based Award or Other Stock-Based Award in each case

granted to an Eligible Recipient pursuant to this Plan

2.27 Incentive Award Agreement means either written or electronic as provided in

Section 23.8 agreement entered into by the Company and Participant setting forth the terms and

provisions applicable to an Incentive Award granted under this Plan including any amendment or

modification thereof or written or electronic as provided in Section 23.8 statement issued by

the Company to Participant describing the terms and provisions of such an Incentive Award

including any amendment or modification thereof

2.28 Incentive Stock Option means right to purchase Common Stock granted to an Employee

pursuant to Section of this Plan that is designated as and intended to meet the requirements of an

incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code

2.29 Individual Performance Goals has the meaning set forth in Section 10.4 of this Plan

2.30 Individual Performance Participants has the meaning set forth in Section 10.4 of this Plan

2.31 Maximum Payout has the meaning set forth in Section 10.3 of this Plan

2.32 Non-Statutory Stock Option means right to purchase Common Stock granted to an

Eligible Recipient pursuant to Section of this Plan that is not intended to meet the requirements of

or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option



2.33 Non-Employee Director means Director who is not an Employee

2.34 Non-Employee Director Award means any Non-Statutory Stock Option Stock Appreciation

Right or Full Value Award granted whether singly in combination or in tandem to an Eligible

Recipient who is Non-Employee Director pursuant to such applicable terms conditions and

limitations as the Board or Committee may establish in accordance with this Plan including any

Non-Employee Director Option

2.35 Non-Employee Director Option means Non-Statutory Stock Option granted to

Non-Employee Director pursuant to Section 11.1 of this Plan

2.36 Option means an Incentive Stock Option or Non-Statutory Stock Option including

Non-Employee Director Option

2.37 Other Cash-Based Award means an Incentive Award denominated and paid in cash not

otherwise described by the terms of this Plan granted pursuant to Section 12 of this Plan

2.38 Other Stock-Based Award means an equity-based or equity-related Incentive Award not

otherwise described by the terms of this Plan granted pursuant to Section 12 of this Plan

2.39 Participant means an Eligible Recipient who receives one or more Incentive Awards under

this Plan

2.40 Participation Factor has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2 of this Plan

2.41 Performance Award means right granted to an Eligible Recipient pursuant to Section of

this Plan to receive an amount of cash number of shares of Common Stock or combination of both

contingent upon and the value of which at the time it is payable is determined as function of the

extent of the achievement of one or more Performance Goals during specified Performance Period or

the achievement of other objectives during specified period

2.42 Performance-Based Compensation means compensation under an Incentive Award that is

intended to satisfy the requirements of Section 162m of the Code for certain performance-based

compensation paid to Covered Employees Notwithstanding the foregoing nothing in this Plan will be

construed to mean that an Incentive Award which does not satisfy the requirements for performance-

based compensation under Section 162m of the Code does not constitute performance-based

compensation for other purposes including Section 409A of the Code

2.43 Performance Goals mean with respect to any applicable Incentive Award one or more

targets goals or levels of attainment required to be achieved in terms of the specified Performance

Measures during the specified Performance Period as set forth in the related Incentive Award

Agreement

2.44 Performance Measure Element has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1 of this Plan

2.45 Performance Measures mean with respect to any Incentive Award intended to qualify as

Performance-Based Compensation any one or more of the measures described in Section 13.1 of this

Plan on which the Performance Goals are based and which measures are approved by the Companys

shareholders pursuant to this Plan in order to qualify Incentive Awards as Performance-Based

Compensation and with respect to any other Incentive Award any performance measures as

determined by the Committee in its sole discretion and set forth in the applicable Incentive Award

Agreement for purposes of determining the applicable Performance Goal

2.46 Performance Period means the period of time as determined by the Committee during

which the Performance Goals must be met in order to determine the degree of payout or vesting with

respect to an Incentive Award



2.47 Plan means the Select Comfort Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan as may be

amended from time to time

2.48 Plan Year means the Companys fiscal year

2.49 Previously Acquired Shares means shares of Common Stock that are already owned by the

Participant or with respect to any Incentive Award that are to be issued to the Participant upon the

grant exercise vesting or settlement of such Incentive Award

2.50 Prior Plans mean the Select Comfort Corporation 1990 Omnibus Stock Option Plan As
Amended and Restated the Select Comfort Corporation 1997 Stock Incentive Plan As Amended and

Restated the Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan As Amended and Restated as of

January 2007 and the Select Comfort Corporation Executive and Key Employee Incentive Plan

2.51 Restricted Stock Award means an award of Common Stock granted to an Eligible Recipient

pursuant to Section of this Plan that is subject to the restrictions on transferability and the risk of

forfeiture imposed by the provisions of such Section

2.52 Restricted Stock Unit means an award denominated in shares of Common Stock granted to

an Eligible Recipient pursuant to Section of this Plan

2.53 Retirement unless otherwise defined in the Incentive Award Agreement or in written

employment services or other agreement between the Participant and the Company or Subsidiary

means Retirement as defined from time to time for purposes of this Plan by the Committee or by

the Companys chief human resources officer or other person performing that function or if not so

defined means voluntary termination of employment or service by the Participant on or after the date

the Participant reaches age fifty-five 55 with the present intention to leave the Companys industry or

to leave the general workforce

2.54 Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933 as amended Any reference to section of

the Securities Act herein will be deemed to include reference to any applicable rules and regulations

thereunder and any successor or amended section of the Securities Act

2.55 Stock Appreciation Right means right granted to an Eligible Recipient pursuant to

Section of this Plan to receive payment from the Company in the form of shares of Common
Stock cash or combination of both equal to the difference between the Fair Market Value of one or

more shares of Common Stock and the exercise price of such shares under the terms of such Stock

Appreciation Right

2.56 Stock-Based Award means any equity-based or equity-related Incentive Award made

pursuant to this Plan including Options Stock Appreciation Rights Restricted Stock Restricted Stock

Units Performance Awards denominated or payable in shares of Common Stock and Other Stock-

Based Awards

2.57 Subsidiary means any corporation or other entity whether domestic or foreign in which the

Company has or obtains directly or indirectly an interest of more than fifty percent 50% by reason

of stock ownership or otherwise

2.58 Target Payout has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2 of this Plan

2.59 Tax Date means the date any withholding tax obligation arises under the Code for

Participant with respect to an Incentive Award

Plan Administration

3.1 The Committee The Plan will be administered by the Committee The Committee will act

by majority approval of the members at meeting or by unanimous written consent and majority of

the members of the Committee will constitute quorum The Committee may exercise its duties power



and authority under this Plan in its sole discretion without the consent of any Participant or other

party unless this Plan specifically provides otherwise The Committee will not be obligated to treat

Participants or Eligible Recipients uniformly and determinations made under this Plan may be made by

the Committee selectively among Participants or Eligible Recipients whether or not such Participants

and Eligible Recipients are similarly situated Each determination interpretation or other action made

or taken by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of this Plan will be final conclusive and binding

for all purposes and on all persons and no member of the Committee will be liable for any action or

determination made in good faith with respect to this Plan or any Incentive Award granted under this

Plan

3.2 Authority of the Committee In accordance with and subject to the provisions of this Plan

the Committee will have full and exclusive discretionary power and authority to take such actions as it

deems necessary
and advisable with respect to the administration of this Plan including the following

To designate the Eligible Recipients to be selected as Participants

To determine the nature and extent of the Incentive Awards to be made to each

Participant including the amount of cash or number of shares of Common Stock to be subject to

each Incentive Award any exercise price the manner in which Incentive Awards will vest or

become exercisable and whether Incentive Awards will be granted in tandem with other Incentive

Awards and the form of Incentive Award Agreement if any evidencing such Incentive Award

To determine the time or times when Incentive Awards will be granted

To determine the duration of each Incentive Award

To determine the restrictions and other conditions to which the payment or vesting of

Incentive Awards may be subject

To construe and interpret this Plan and Incentive Awards granted under it and to

establish amend and revoke rules and regulations for its administration and in so doing to correct

any defect omission or inconsistency in this Plan or in an Incentive Award Agreement in

manner and to the extent it shall deem
necessary or expedient to make this Plan fully effective

To determine Fair Market Value in accordance with Section 2.22 of this Plan

To amend this Plan or any Incentive Award Agreement as provided in this Plan

To adopt subplans or special provisions applicable to Incentive Awards regulated by the

laws of jurisdiction other than and outside of the United States which subplans or special

provisions may take precedence over other provisions of this Plan

To authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company any Incentive Award

Agreement or any other instrument required to effect the grant
of an Incentive Award previously

granted by the Committee

To determine whether Incentive Awards will be settled in shares of Common Stock cash

or in any combination thereof

Subject to Section 14 to determine whether Incentive Awards will be adjusted for

dividend equivalents meaning credit made at the discretion of the Committee to the account

of Participant in an amount equal to the cash dividends paid on one share of Common Stock for

each share of Common Stock represented by an Incentive Award held by such Participant and

To impose such restrictions conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to

the timing and manner of any resales by Participant or other subsequent transfers by the

Participant of any shares of Common Stock including restrictions under an insider trading policy

restrictions as to the use of specified brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers and other



restrictions designed to increase equity ownership by Participants or otherwise align
the interests of

Participants
with the Companys shareholders

3.3 Delegation The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members or to one or more

officers of the Company or any Subsidiary or to one or more agents or advisors such administrative

duties or powers as it may deem advisable and the Committee or any individuals to whom it has

delegated duties or powers as aforesaid may employ one or more individuals to render advice with

respect to any responsibility the Committee or such individuals may have under this Plan The

Committee may by resolution authorize one or more directors of the Company or one or more

officers of the Company to do one or both of the following on the same basis as can the Committee

designate Eligible Recipients to be recipients of Incentive Awards pursuant to this Plan and

determine the size of any such Incentive Awards provided however that the Committee will

not delegate such responsibilities to any such directors or officers for any Incentive Awards granted

to an Eligible Recipient who is considered Covered Employee or who is subject to the reporting and

liability provisions
of Section 16 under the Exchange Act the resolution providing such

authorization will set forth the type of Incentive Awards and total number of each type
of Incentive

Awards such directors or officers may grant and such directors or officers will report

periodically to the Committee regarding the nature and scope of the Incentive Awards granted

pursuant to the authority delegated

3.4 No Re-pricing Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan other than Section 4.5 the

Committee may not without prior approval of the Companys shareholders seek to effect any

re-pricing of any previously granted underwater Option or Stock Appreciation Right by

amending or modifying the terms of the Option or Stock Appreciation Right to lower the exercise

price ii canceling the underwater Option or Stock Appreciation Right in exchange for cash

replacement Options or Stock Appreciation Rights having lower exercise price or other

Incentive Awards or iii repurchasing the underwater Options or Stock Appreciation Rights
and

granting new Incentive Awards under this Plan For purposes of this Section 3.4 an Option or Stock

Appreciation Right will be deemed to be underwater at any time when the Fair Market Value of the

Common Stock is less than the exercise price of the Option or Stock Appreciation Right

3.5 Participants Based Outside of the United States In addition to the authority of the

Committee under Section 3.2i and notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan the Committee

may in its sole discretion amend the terms of this Plan or Incentive Awards with respect to

Participants resident outside of the United States or employed by non-U.S Subsidiary in order to

comply with local legal requirements to otherwise protect the Companys or Subsidiarys interests or to

meet objectives of this Plan and may where appropriate establish one or more sub-plans including

the adoption of any required rules and regulations for the purposes of qualifying for preferred tax

treatment under foreign tax laws The Committee will have no authority however to take action

pursuant to this Section 3.5 to reserve shares of Common Stock or grant Incentive Awards in excess

of the limitations provided in Section 4.1 ii to effect any re-pricing in violation of Section 3.4 iii to

grant Options or Stock Appreciation Rights having an exercise price less than one hundred percent

100% of the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock on the Grant Date in violation of

Section 6.3 or Section 7.3 or iv for which shareholder approval would then be required pursuant to

Section 422 of the Code or the rules of any stock exchange on which shares of Common Stock may be

listed for trading

3.6 Incentive Award Grants to Non-Employee Directors Notwithstanding any other provision of

this Plan all grants of Non-Employee Director Awards will only be granted and administered by

Committee comprised solely of members of the Board who are independent directors within the

meaning of the Listing Rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market or other applicable exchange or market on

which the Common Stock may be traded or quoted



Shares Available for Issuance

4.1 Maximum Number of Shares Available Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.5 of

this Plan the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that will be available for issuance under

this Plan will be the sum of

3000000 shares and

the number of shares of Common Stock subject to Incentive Awards outstanding under

the Prior Plans as of the Effective Date but only to the extent that such outstanding Incentive

Awards are forfeited expire or otherwise terminate without the issuance of such shares of

Common Stock

4.2 Restrictions on Incentive Stock Options Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Plan

to the
contrary and subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.5 of this Plan the maximum number

of shares of Common Stock that will be available for issuance pursuant to Incentive Stock Options
under this Plan will be 3000000 shares

4.3 Accounting for Incentive Awards Shares of Common Stock that are issued under this Plan

or that are subject to outstanding Incentive Awards will be applied to reduce the maximum number of

shares of Common Stock remaining available for issuance under this Plan only to the extent they are

used provided however that the total number of shares of Common Stock remaining available for

issuance under this Plan will be reduced by 1.15 shares for each share issued pursuant to Full Value
Award or potentially issuable pursuant to Full Value Award and the full number of shares of

Common Stock subject to Stock Appreciation Right granted that are settled by the issuance of shares

of Common Stock will be counted against the shares authorized for issuance under this Plan regardless
of the number of shares actually issued upon settlement of such Stock Appreciation Right
Furthermore any shares of Common Stock withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations on Incentive

Awards issued under this Plan any shares of Common Stock withheld to pay the exercise price of

Incentive Awards under this Plan and any shares of Common Stock not issued or delivered as result

of the net exercise of an outstanding Option pursuant to Section 6.5 or settlement of Stock

Appreciation Right in shares of Common Stock pursuant to Section 7.7 will be counted against the

shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance under this Plan and will not be available again for

grant under this Plan Any shares of Common Stock repurchased by the Company on the open market

using the proceeds from the exercise of an Incentive Award will not increase the number of shares

available for future grant of Incentive Awards Any shares of Common Stock related to Incentive

Awards granted under this Plan or under any Prior Plans that terminate by expiration forfeiture

cancellation or otherwise without the issuance of the shares of Common Stock or are settled in cash in

lieu of shares of Common Stock or are exchanged with the Committees permission prior to the

issuance of shares of Common Stock for Incentive Awards not involving shares of Common Stock will

be available again for grant under this Plan and correspondingly increase the total number of shares of

Common Stock available for issuance under this Plan under Section 4.1 with such increase in

connection with Full Value Awards based on the same ratio specified in clause of the proviso to the

first sentence of this Section 4.3

4.4 Annual Awards Limits The following limits each an Annual Award Limit and
collectively Annual Award Limits as adjusted pursuant to Section 4.5 will

apply to grants of

Incentive Awards unless the Committee specifically determines at the time of
grant that an Incentive

Award is not intended to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation under this Plan

The maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock
subject to Options and

Stock Appreciation Rights granted to any one Participant in any one Plan Year will be 1000000
shares



The maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock subject to Restricted Stock

Awards and Restricted Stock Units granted to any one Participant in any one Plan Year will be

1000000 shares

The maximum aggregate dollar amount or number of shares of Common Stock granted

with respect to Performance Awards to any one Participant in any one Plan Year may not exceed

$5000000 or 1000000 shares determined as of the date of payout

The maximum aggregate dollar amount granted with respect to Annual Performance Cash

Awards to any one Participant in any one Plan Year may not exceed $5000000 determined as of

the date of payout

The maximum aggregate dollar amount granted with respect to Other Cash-Based

Awards to any one Participant in any one Plan Year may not exceed $5000000 determined as of

the date of payout

The maximum aggregate amount of shares of Common Stock granted with respect to

Other Stock-Based Awards to any one Participant in any one Plan Year may not exceed 1000000

shares determined as of the date of payout

4.5 Adjustments to Shares and Incentive Awards

In the event of any reorganization merger consolidation recapitalization liquidation

reclassification stock dividend stock split combination of shares rights offering divestiture or

extraordinary dividend including spin oft or any other similar change in the corporate structure

or shares of the Company the Committee or if the Company is not the surviving corporation in

any such transaction the board of directors of the surviving corporation will make appropriate

adjustment which determination will be conclusive as to the number and kind of securities or

other property including cash available for issuance or payment under this Plan including the

sub-limits set forth in Section 4.2a and and the Annual Award Limits set forth in Section 4.4

and ii in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of Participants the number and

kind of securities or other property including cash subject to outstanding Incentive Awards and

the exercise price of outstanding Incentive Awards The determination of the Committee as to the

foregoing adjustments if any will be final conclusive and binding on Participants under this Plan

Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary without affecting the number of

shares of Common Stock reserved or available hereunder the limits in Section 4.2a and and

the Annual Award Limits in Section 4.4 the Committee may authorize the issuance or assumption

of benefits under this Plan in connection with any merger consolidation acquisition of property or

stock or reorganization upon such terms and conditions as it may deem appropriate subject to

compliance with the rules under Sections 422 and 424 of the Code as and where applicable

Participation

Participants in this Plan will be those Eligible Recipients who in the judgment of the Committee
have contributed are contributing or are expected to contribute to the achievement of the objectives of

the Company or its Subsidiaries Eligible Recipients may be granted from time to time one or more

Incentive Awards singly or in combination or in tandem with other Incentive Awards as may be

determined by the Committee in its sole discretion Incentive Awards will be deemed to be granted as

of the date specified in the grant resolution of the Committee which date will be the Grant Date of

any related Incentive Award Agreement with the Participant

Options

6.1 Grant An Eligible Recipient may be granted one or more Options under this Plan and

such Options will be subject to such terms and conditions consistent with the other provisions of this



Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion The Committee may designate

whether an Option is to be considered an Incentive Stock Option or Non-Statutory Stock Option To

the extent that any Incentive Stock Option or portion thereof granted under this Plan ceases for any

reason to qualify as an incentive stock option for purposes of Section 422 of the Code such

Incentive Stock Option or portion thereof will continue to be outstanding for purposes of this Plan

but will thereafter be deemed to be Non-Statutory Stock Option Options may be granted to an

Eligible Recipient for services provided to Subsidiary only if with respect to such Eligible Recipient

the underlying shares of Common Stock constitute service recipient stock within the meaning of

Treas Reg Section 1.409A-1b5iii

6.2 Incentive Award Agreement Each Option grant will be evidenced by an Incentive Award

Agreement that will specify the exercise price of the Option the maximum duration of the Option the

number of shares of Common Stock to which the Option pertains the conditions upon which an

Option will become vested and exercisable and such other provisions as the Committee will determine

which are not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan The Incentive Award Agreement also will specify

whether the Option is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option or Non-Statutory Stock Option

6.3 Exercise Price The per share price to be paid by Participant upon exercise of an Option

granted pursuant to this Section will be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion at the

time of the Option grant provided however that such price will not be less than one hundred percent

100% of the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock on the Grant Date one hundred and

ten percent 110% of the Fair Market Value if at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted the

Participant owns directly or indirectly more than ten percent 10% of the total combined voting

power of all classes of stock of the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company

6.4 Exercisability and Duration An Option will become exercisable at such times and in such

installments and upon such terms and conditions as may be determined by the Committee in its sole

discretion at the time of grant including the achievement of one or more of the Performance Goals

or that ii the Participant remain in the continuous employment or service with the Company or

Subsidiary for certain period provided however that no Option may be exercisable after ten

10 years from the Grant Date five years from the Grant Date in the case of an Incentive Stock

Option that is granted to Participant who owns directly or indirectly more than ten percent 10% of

the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any parent or subsidiary

corporation of the Company Notwithstanding the foregoing if the exercise of an Option that is

exercisable in accordance with its terms is prevented by the provisions of Section 19 the Option will

remain exercisable until thirty 30 days after the date such exercise first would no longer be prevented

by such provisions but in any event no later than the expiration date of such Option

6.5 Payment of Exercise Price

The total purchase price of the shares to be purchased upon exercise of an Option will be

paid entirely in cash including check bank draft or money order provided however that the

Committee in its sole discretion and upon terms and conditions established by the Committee

may allow such payments to be made in whole or in part by tender of Broker Exercise

Notice ii by tender either by actual delivery or attestation as to ownership of Previously

Acquired Shares iii net exercise of the Option as further described in paragraph

below iv by combination of such methods or any other method approved or accepted by

the Committee in its sole discretion

In the case of net exercise of an Option the Company will not require payment of

the exercise price of the Option from the Participant but will reduce the number of shares of

Common Stock issued upon the exercise by the largest number of whole shares that has Fair

Market Value on the exercise date that does not exceed the aggregate exercise price for the shares

exercised under this method Shares of Common Stock will no longer be outstanding under an
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Option and will therefore not thereafter be exercisable following the exercise of such Option to

the extent of shares used to pay the exercise price of an Option under the net exercise

ii shares actually delivered to the Participant as result of such exercise and iii any shares

withheld for purposes of tax withholding pursuant to Section 16 of this Plan

For purposes of such payment Previously Acquired Shares tendered or covered by an

attestation will be valued at their Fair Market Value on the exercise date of the Option

6.6 Manner of Exercise An Option may be exercised by Participant in whole or in part from

time to time subject to the conditions contained in this Plan and in the Incentive Award Agreement

evidencing such Option by delivery in person by facsimile or electronic transmission or through the

mail of written notice of exercise to the Company at its principal executive office in Plymouth

Minnesota or to the Companys designee as may be established from time to time by the Company

and communicated to Participants and by paying in full the total exercise price for the shares of

Common Stock to be purchased in accordance with Section 6.5 of this Plan

Stock Appreciation Rights

7.1 Grant An Eligible Recipient may be granted one or more Stock Appreciation Rights under

this Plan and such Stock Appreciation Rights will be subject to such terms and conditions consistent

with the other provisions of this Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion

Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted to an Eligible Recipient for services provided to Subsidiary

only if with respect to such Eligible Recipient the underlying shares of Common Stock constitute

service recipient stock within the meaning of Treas Reg Section 1.409A-1b5iii

7.2 Incentive Award Agreement Each Stock Appreciation Right will be evidenced by an

Incentive Award Agreement that will specify the exercise price of the Stock Appreciation Right the

term of the Stock Appreciation Right and such other provisions as the Committee will determine

which are not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan

7.3 Exercise Price The exercise price of Stock Appreciation Right will be determined by the

Committee in its discretion at the Grant Date provided however that such price may not be less

than one hundred percent 100% of the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock on the

Grant Date

7.4 Exercisability and Duration Stock Appreciation Right will become exercisable at such

times and in such installments as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion at the

time of grant provided however that no Stock Appreciation Right may be exercisable after ten

10 years from its Grant Date Notwithstanding the foregoing if the exercise of an SAR that is

exercisable in accordance with its terms is prevented by the provisions of Section 19 the SAR will

remain exercisable until thirty 30 days after the date such exercise first would no longer be prevented

by such provisions but in any event no later than the expiration date of such SAR

7.5 Manner of Exercise Stock Appreciation Right will be exercised by giving notice in the

same manner as for Options as set forth in Section 6.6 subject to any other terms and conditions

consistent with the other provisions of this Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole

discretion

7.6 Settlement Upon the exercise of Stock Appreciation Right Participant will be entitled

to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying

The excess of the Fair Market Value of share of Common Stock on the date of exercise

over the per share exercise price by

The number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Stock Appreciation

Right is exercised
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7.7 Form of Payment Payment if any with respect to Stock Appreciation Right settled in

accordance with Section 7.6 will be made in accordance with the terms of the applicable Incentive

Award Agreement in cash shares of Common Stock or combination thereof as the Committee

determines

Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units

8.1 Grant An Eligible Recipient may be granted one or more Restricted Stock Awrds or

Restricted Stock Units under this Plan and such awards will be subject to such terms and conditions

consistent with the other provisions of this Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole

discretion Restricted Stock Units will be similar to Restricted Stock Awards except that no shares of

Common Stock are actually awarded to the Participant on the Grant Date of the Restricted Stock

Units Restricted Stock Units will be denominated in shares of Common Stock but paid in cash shares

of Common Stock or combination of cash and shares of Common Stock as the Committee in its sole

discretion will determine and as provided in the Incentive Award Agreement

8.2 Incentive Award Agreement Each Restricted Stock Award or Restricted Stock Unit grant

will be evidenced by an Incentive Award Agreement that will specify the type of Incentive Award the

periods of restriction the number of shares of restricted Common Stock or the number of Restricted

Stock Units granted and such other provisions as the Committee will determine which are not

inconsistent with the terms of this Plan

8.3 Conditions and Restrictions The Committee will impose such restrictions or conditions not

inconsistent with the provisions of this Plan to the vesting of such Restricted Stock Awards or

Restricted Stock Units as it deems appropriate including the achievement of one or more of the

Performance Goals or that the Participant remain in the continuous employment or service with

the Company or Subsidiary for certain period

8.4 Rights as Shareholder Except as provided in Sections 8.1 8.5 8.6 and 18.3 of this Plan

upon Participant becoming the holder of record of shares of Common Stock issued under

Restricted Stock Award pursuant to this Section the Participant will have all voting dividend

liquidation and other rights with respect to such shares other than the right to sell or transfer such

shares as if such Participant were holder of record of shares of unrestricted Common Stock

Participant will have no voting dividend liquidation and other rights with respect to any Restricted

Stock Units granted hereunder

8.5 Dividends and Distributions Unless the Committee determines otherwise in its sole

discretion either in the Incentive Award Agreement evidencing the Restricted Stock Award at the time

of grant or at any time after the grant of the Restricted Stock Award any dividends or distributions

other than regular quarterly cash dividends paid with respect to shares of Common Stock subject to

the unvested portion of Restricted Stock Award will be subject to the same restrictions as the shares

to which such dividends or distributions relate The Committee will determine in its sole discretion

whether any interest will be paid on such dividends or distributions

8.6 Enforcement of Restrictions To enforce the restrictions referred to in this Section the

Committee may place legend on the stock certificates representing Restricted Stock Awards referring

to such restrictions and may require the Participant until the restrictions have lapsed to keep the stock

certificates together with duly endorsed stock powers in the custody of the Company or its transfer

agent or to maintain evidence of stock ownership together with duly endorsed stock powers in

certificateless book entry stock account with the Companys transfer agent Alternatively Restricted

Stock Awards may be held in non-certificated form pursuant to such terms and conditions as the

Company may establish with its registrar and transfer agent or any third-party administrator designated

by the Company to hold Restricted Stock Awards on behalf of Participants

12



8.7 Lapse of Restrictions Settlement Except as otherwise provided in this Section shares of

Common Stock underlying Restricted Stock Award will become freely transferable by the Participant

after all conditions and restrictions applicable to such shares have been satisfied or lapse including

satisfaction of any applicable tax withholding obligations Upon the vesting of Restricted Stock Unit
the Restricted Stock Unit will be settled subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable Incentive

Award Agreement in cash based upon the Fair Market Value of the vested underlying shares of

Common Stock in shares of Common Stock or combination thereof as provided in the

Incentive Award Agreement except to the extent that Participant has properly elected to defer

income that may be attributable to Restricted Stock Unit under Company deferred compensation

plan or arrangement

8.8 Section 83b Election for Restricted Stock Award If Participant makes an election

pursuant to Section 83b of the Code with
respect to Restricted Stock Award the Participant must

file within thirty 30 days following the Grant Date of the Restricted Stock Award copy of such

election with the Company and with the Internal Revenue Service in accordance with the regulations

under Section 83 of the Code The Committee may provide in the Incentive Award Agreement that the

Restricted Stock Award is conditioned upon the Participants making or refraining from making an

election with respect to the award under Section 83b of the Code

Performance Awards

9.1 Grant An Eligible Recipient may be granted one or more Performance Awards under this

Plan and such awards will be subject to such terms and conditions consistent with the other provisions

of this Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion including the achievement

of one or more Performance Goals

9.2 Incentive Award Agreement Each Performance Award will be evidenced by an Incentive

Award Agreement that will specify the amount of cash shares of Common Stock or combination of

both to be received by the Participant upon payout of the Performance Award any Performance Goals

upon which the Performance Award is subject any Performance Period during which any Performance

Goals must be achieved and such other provisions as the Committee will determine which are not

inconsistent with the terms of this Plan

9.3 Vesting The Committee may impose such restrictions or conditions not inconsistent with

the provisions of this Plan to the vesting of such Performance Awards as it deems appropriate

including the achievement of one or more of the Performance Goals

9.4 Form and Timing of Performance Award Payment Subject to the terms of this Plan after

the applicable Performance Period has ended the holder of Performance Awards will be entitled to

receive payment on the value and number of Performance Awards earned by the Participant over the

Performance Period to be determined as function of the extent to which the corresponding

Performance Goals have been achieved Payment of earned Performance Awards will be as determined

by the Committee and as evidenced in the Incentive Award Agreement Subject to the terms of this

Plan the Committee in its sole discretion may pay earned Performance Awards in the form of cash or

in shares of Common Stock or in combination thereof equal to the value of the earned

Performance Awards at the close of the applicable Performance Period or as soon as practicable after

the end of the Performance Period except to the extent that Participant has properly elected to defer

payment that may be attributable to Performance Award under Company deferred compensation

plan or arrangement The determination of the Committee with
respect to the form of payment of

Performance Awards will be set forth in the Incentive Award Agreement pertaining to the grant of the

award Any shares of Common Stock issued in payment of earned Performance Awards may be granted

subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the Committee including that the Participant remain

in the continuous employment or service with the Company or Subsidiary for certain period
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10 Annual Performance Cash Awards

10.1 Grant Subject to such terms and conditions consistent with the other provisions
of this

Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion the Committee at any time and

from time to time may grant to Participants Incentive Awards denominated in cash in such amounts

and upon such terms as the Committee may determine based on the achievement of specified

Performance Goals for annual periods or other time periods as determined by the Committee the

Annual Performance Cash Awards

10.2 Target Payout The target amount that may be paid with respect to an Annual Performance

Cash Award the Target Payout will be determined by the Committee pursuant to Section 13.2 and

will be based on percentage of Participants actual annual base compensation at the time of grant

Participation Factor within the range established by the Committee for each Participant and subject

to adjustment as provided in the second to last sentence of this paragraph The Participation Factors

which are intended to reflect Participants level of responsibility may be up to 150% for any

Participant The Chief Executive Officer may approve modifications to the Participation Factor for any

Participant who is not Covered Employee if such modification is based on level of responsibility The

Committee may establish curves matrices or other measurements for prorating the amount of

payments for achievement of Performance Goals at less or greater than the Target Payout

10.3 Maximum Payout The Committee also may establish maximum potential payout amount

the Maximum Payout with respect to an Annual Performance Cash Award of up to 300% of the

Target Payout in the event Performance Goals are exceeded by an amount established by the

Committee at the time Performance Goals are established The Committee may establish curves

matrices or other measurements for prorating the amount of payments for achievement of Performance

Goals at greater than the Target Payout but less than the Maximum Payout

10.4 Individual Performance Goals At the time an Annual Performance Cash Award is made

the Committee may provide for an increase in the Target Payout and the Maximum Payout as either

may be prorated in accordance with Sections 10.2 and 10.3 for selected Participants Individual

Performance Participants to reflect the achievement of individual performance goals Individual

Performance Goals established at that time by the Committee The Committee will have the

discretion to reduce by an amount up to 100% the amount that would otherwise be paid under the

payout formula to an Individual Performance Participant based on the Committees evaluation of the

individuals achievement of the Individual Performance Goals

10.5 Payment Payment of any earned Annual Performance Cash Awards will be made as soon

as possible after the Committee has determined the extent to which the applicable Performance Goals

and Individual Performance Goals have been achieved and not later than the last day of the short term

deferral period determined in accordance with Treas Reg Sec 1.409A-1b4 except to the extent

that Participant has properly elected to defer payment that may be attributable to an Annual

Performance Cash Award under Company deferred compensation plan or arrangement

11 Non-Employee Director Awards

11.1 Automatic and Non-Discretionary Awards to Non-Employee Directors The Committee at

any time and from time to time may approve resolutions providing for the automatic grant to

Non-Employee Directors of Non-Employee Director Awards granted under this Plan and may grant to

Non-Employee Directors such discretionary Non-Employee Director Awards on such terms and

conditions consistent with the other provisions of this Plan as may be determined by the Committee in

its sole discretion and set forth in an applicable Award Agreement

11.2 Shares in Lieu of Director Fees Non-Employee Director may elect to receive shares of

Common Stock in lieu of Director Fees by giving written notice of such election to the Company in

form approved by the Committee Such an election shall be effective with respect to any such Director
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Fees payable commencing with the next calendar quarter following the date of the election An election

to receive payment of Director Fees in the form of shares of Common Stock may be revoked only by

subsequent election to receive payment of Director Fees in cash or to defer such Director Fees

pursuant to Section 11.3 Such an election shall be effective with respect to Director Fees payable

commencing with the next calendar quarter following the date of the election The number of shares of

Common Stock to be paid to Non-Employee Director pursuant to this Section 11.2 shall be

determined by dividing the amount of Director Fees payable by the Fair Market Value of the Common

Stock on the date such Director Fees would have been paid in cash but for the Participants election to

receive payment of such Director Fees in the form of Common Stock The amount of any fractional

share shall be paid in cash

11.3 Deferral of Incentive Award Payment The Committee may permit Non-Employee
Director the opportunity to defer the grant or payment of an Incentive Award pursuant to such terms

and conditions as the Committee may prescribe from time to time

11.4 Composition of Committee For purposes of this Section 11 all references to Committee

in this Section 11 will mean Committee that consists solely of directors who are independent
directors as defined in the Listing Rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market or other applicable exchange or

market on which the Common Stock may be traded or quoted

12 Other Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards

12.1 Other Cash-Based Awards Subject to such terms and conditions consistent with the other

provisions of this Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion the Committee

at any time and from time to time may grant Other Cash-Based Awards to Participants in such

amounts and upon such terms as the Committee may determine

12.2 Other Stock-Based Awards Subject to such terms and conditions consistent with the other

provisions of this Plan as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion the Committee

may grant Other Stock-Based Awards not otherwise described by the tenns of this Plan including the

grant or offer for sale of unrestricted shares of Common Stock in such amounts and subject to such

terms and conditions as the Committee will determine Such Incentive Awards may involve the transfer

of actual shares of Common Stock to Participants or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based

on the value of shares and may include Incentive Awards designed to comply with or take advantage

of the applicable local laws of jurisdictions other than the United States

12.3 Value of Other Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards Each Other

Cash-Based Award will specify payment amount or payment range as determined by the Committee

Each Other Stock-Based Award will be expressed in terms of shares of Common Stock or units based

on shares of Common Stock as determined by the Committee The Committee may establish

Performance Goals in its discretion for any Other Cash-Based Award or any Other Stock-Based Award

If the Committee exercises its discretion to establish Performance Goals for any such Incentive Awards

the number or value of Other Cash-Based Awards or Other Stock-Based Awards that will be paid out

to the Participant will depend on the extent to which the Performance Goals are met

12.4 Payment of Other Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards Payment if any
with respect to an Other Cash-Based Award or an Other Stock-Based Award will be made in

accordance with the terms of the Incentive Award in cash for any Other Cash-Based Award and in

cash or shares of Common Stock for any Other Stock-Based Award as the Committee determines

except to the extent that Participant has properly elected to defer payment that may be attributable

to an Other Cash-Based Award or Other Stock-Based Award under Company deferred compensation

plan or arrangement
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13 Performance Measures

13.1 Performance Measures The Performance Goals upon which the payment or vesting of an

Incentive Award to Covered Employee that is intended to qualify as Performance-Based

Compensation will be limited to one or more specified objective Performance Measures that are based

on the following Performance Measure elements each Performance Measure Element

Sales and Revenue Measure Elements

Gross Revenue or Sales

ii Sales Allowances

iii Net Revenue or Net Sales

iv Invoiced Revenue or Sales

Collected Revenue or Sales

vi Revenues from New Products

vii Bad Debts

Expense Measure Elements

Direct Material Costs

ii Direct Labor Costs

iii Indirect Labor Costs

iv Direct Manufacturing Costs

Indirect Manufacturing Costs

vi Cost of Goods Sold

vii Sales General and Administrative Expenses

viii Operating Expenses

ix Non-cash Expenses

Tax Expense

xi Non-operating Expenses

xii Total Expenses

Profitability and Productivity Measure Elements

Gross Margin

ii Net Operating Income

iii EBITDA earnings before interest taxes depreciation and

amortization

iv EBIT earnings before interest and taxes

Net Operating Income After Taxes NOPAT
vi Net Income

vii Net Cash Flow

viii Net Cash Flow from Operations

Asset Utilization and Effectiveness Measure Elements

Cash

ii Excess Cash

iii Accounts Receivable

iv Inventory WIP or Finished Goods
Current Assets

vi Working Capital

vii Total Capital

viii Fixed Assets

ix Total Assets
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Standard Hours

xi Plant Utilization

xii Purchase Price Variance

xiii Manufacturing Overhead Variance

Debt and Equity Measure Elements

Accounts Payable

ii Current Accrued Liabilities

iii Total Current Liabilities

iv Total Debt

Debt Principal Payments

vi Net Current Borrowings

vii Total Long-term Debt

viii Credit Rating

ix Retained Earnings

Total Preferred Equity

xi Total Common Equity

xii Total Equity

Shareholder and Return Measure Elements

Earnings per Share diluted and fully diluted

ii Stock Price

iii Dividends

iv Shares Repurchased

Total Return to Shareholders

vi Debt Coverage Ratios

vii Return on Assets

viii Return on Equity

ix Return on Invested Capital

Economic Profit for example economic value added

Customer and Market Measure Elements

Dealer/Channel Size/Scope

ii Dealer/Channel Performance/Effectiveness

iii Order Fill Rate

iv Customer Satisfaction

Customer Service/Care

vi Brand Awareness and Perception

vii Market Share

viii Warranty Rates

ix Product Quality

Channel Inventory

Organizational and Employee Measure Elements

Headcount

ii Employee Performance

iii Employee Productivity

iv Standard Hours

Employee Engagement/Satisfaction

vi Employee Turnover

vii Employee Diversity
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Any Performance Measure Element can be Performance Measure In addition any of the

Performance Measure Elements can be used in an algebraic formula e.g averaged over period

combined into ratio compared to budget or standard compared to previous periods or other

formulaic combinations based on the Performance Measure Elements to create Performance

Measure Any Performance Measures may be used to measure the performance of the Company or

Subsidiary as whole or any division or business unit of the Company product or product group

region or territory or Subsidiary or any combination thereof as the Committee may deem appropriate

Any Performance Measures can be compared to the performance of group of comparator

companies or published or special index that the Committee in its sole discretion deems appropriate

or the Company may select any Performance Measures above as compared to various stock market

indices The Committee also has the authority to provide for accelerated vesting of any Incentive

Award based on the achievement of Performance Goals pursuant to any Performance Measures
specified in this Section 13.1

13.2 Establishment of Performance Goals Any Incentive Award to Covered Employee that is

intended to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation will be granted and Performance Goals for

such an Incentive Award will be established by the Committee in
writing not later than ninety

90 days after the commencement of the Performance Period to which the Performance Goals relate

or such other period required under Section 162m of the Code provided that the outcome is

substantially uncertain at the time the Committee establishes the Performance Goal and provided

further that in no event will Performance Goal be considered to be pre-established if it is established

after twenty-five percent 25% of the Performance Period as scheduled in good faith at the time the

Performance Goal is established has elapsed

13.3 Certification of Payment Before any payment is made in connection with any Incentive

Award to Covered Employee that is intended to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation the

Committee must certify in writing as reflected in the minutes that the Performance Goals established

with respect to such Incentive Award have been achieved

13.4 Evaluation of Performance The Committee may provide in any such Incentive Award

Agreement including Performance Goals that any evaluation of performance may include or exclude

any of the following events that occurs during Performance Period items related to change in

accounting principles items relating to financing activities expenses for restructuring or

productivity initiatives other non-operating items items related to acquisitions items

attributable to the business operations of any entity acquired by the Company during the Performance

Period items related to the disposal of business or segment of business items related to

discontinued operations that do not qualify as segment of business under applicable accounting

standards items attributable to any stock dividend stock split combination or exchange of stock

occurring during the Performance Period any other items of significant income or expense which

are determined to be appropriate adjustments items relating to unusual or extraordinary corporate

transactions events or developments items related to amortization of acquired intangible assets

items that are outside the scope of the Companys core on-going business activities items

related to acquired in-process research and development items relating to changes in tax laws

items relating to major licensing or partnership arrangements items relating to asset

impairment charges items relating to gains or losses for litigation arbitration and contractual

settlements foreign exchange gains and losses or items relating to any other unusual or

nonrecurring events or changes in applicable laws accounting principles or business conditions To the

extent such inclusions or exclusions affect Incentive Awards to Covered Employees they will be

prescribed in form that meets the requirements of Section 162m of the Code for deductibility

13.5 Adjustment of Performance Goals Performance Periods or other Vesting Criteria Subject

to Section 13.6 the Committee may amend or modify the vesting criteria including any Performance

Goals Performance Measures or Performance Periods of any outstanding Awards based in whole or in
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part on the financial performance of the Company or any Subsidiary or division business unit or other

sub-unit thereof in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events including the events described in

Sections 3.6 or 4.5a hereof affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company or of

changes in applicable laws regulations or accounting principles whenever the Committee determines

that such adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent unintended dilution or enlargement of the

benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under this Plan The determination of the

Committee as to the foregoing adjustments if any shall be final conclusive and binding on Participants

under this Plan

13.6 Adjustment of Performance-Based Compensation Incentive Awards that are intended to

qualify as Performance-Based Compensation may not be adjusted upward The Committee will retain

the discretion to adjust such Incentive Awards downward either on formula or discretionary basis or

any combination as the Committee determines

13.7 Committee Discretion In the event that applicable tax or securities laws change to permit

Committee discretion to alter the governing Performance Measures without obtaining shareholder

approval of such changes the Committee will have sole discretion to make such changes without

obtaining shareholder approval In addition in the event that the Committee determines that it is

advisable to grant Incentive Awards that will not qualify as Performance-Based Compensation the

Committee may make such grants without satisfying the requirements of Section 162m of the Code

and base vesting on Performance Measures other than those set forth in Section 13.1

14 Dividend Equivalents

Any Participant selected by the Committee may be granted dividend equivalents based on the

dividends declared on shares of Common Stock that are subject to any Incentive Award to be credited

as of dividend payment dates during the period between the date the Incentive Award is granted and

the date the Incentive Award is exercised vests or expires as determined by the Committee Such

dividend equivalents will be converted to cash or additional shares of Common Stock by such formula

and at such time and subject to such limitations as may be determined by the Committee

Notwithstanding the foregoing the Committee may not grant dividend equivalents based on the

dividends declared on shares of Common Stock that are subject to an Option or Stock Appreciation

Right and further no dividend or dividend equivalents will be paid out with respect to any unvested

Incentive Awards the vesting of which is based on the achievement of Performance Goals

15 Effect of Termination of Employment or Other Service

15.1 Termination Due to Death or Disability Unless otherwise expressly provided by the

Committee in its sole discretion in an Incentive Award Agreement and subject to Sections 15.4 and

15.5 of this Plan in the event Participants employment or other service with the Company and all

Subsidiaries is terminated by reason of death or Disability

All outstanding Options including Non-Employee Director Options and Stock

Appreciation Rights held by the Participant as of the effective date of such termination will

become immediately exercisable and will remain exercisable for period of one year after such

termination but in no event after the expiration date of any such Option or Stock Appreciation

Right

All outstanding Restricted Stock Awards held by the Participant as of the effective date of

such termination will become fully vested
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All outstanding but unpaid Restricted Stock Units Performance Awards Other

Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards held by the Participant as of the effective date

of such termination will be terminated and forfeited provided however that with respect to any

such Incentive Awards the vesting of which is based on the achievement of Performance Goals if

Participants employment or other service with the Company or any Subsidiary as the case may be
is terminated by reason of death or Disability prior to the end of the Performance Period of such

Incentive Award but after the conclusion of portion of the Performance Period but in no event

less than one year the Committee may in its sole discretion cause shares of Common Stock to

be delivered or payment made with respect to the Participants Incentive Award but only if

otherwise earned for the entire Performance Period and only with respect to the portion of the

applicable Performance Period completed at the date of such event with proration based on full

fiscal years only and no shares to be delivered for partial fiscal years The Committee will consider

the provisions of Section 15.6 of this Plan and will have the discretion to consider any other fact or

circumstance in making its decision as to whether to deliver such shares of Common Stock or

other payment including whether the Participant again becomes employed and

If the effective date of such termination is before the end of the Performance Period to

which an Annual Performance Cash Award relates then any such Annual Performance Cash

Award held by Participant will be terminated and forfeited if the effective date of such

termination is on or after the end of the Performance Period to which an Annual Performance

Cash Award relates then any such Annual Performance Cash Award held by Participant will be

paid to the Participant in accordance with the payment terms of such Award

15.2 Termination Due to Retirement Unless otherwise expressly provided by the Committee in

its sole discretion in an Incentive Award Agreement and subject to Sections 15.4 and 15.5 of this Plan

in the event Participants employment or other service with the Company and all Subsidiaries is

terminated by reason of Retirement other than with respect to Non-Employee Director

All outstanding Options excluding Non-Employee Director Options and Stock

Appreciation Rights held by the Participant as of the effective date of such Retirement will to the

extent exercisable as of the date of such Retirement remain exercisable for period of one year

after the date of such Retirement but in no event after the expiration date of any such Option or

Stock Appreciation Right and Options and Stock Appreciation Rights not exercisable as of the

date of such Retirement will be terminated and forfeited

All outstanding Restricted Stock Awards held by the Participant as of the effective date of

such Retirement that have not vested as of the date of such Retirement will be terminated and

forfeited

All outstanding but unpaid Restricted Stock Units Performance Awards Other

Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards held by the Participant as of the effective date

of such Retirement will be terminated and forfeited provided however that with respect to any

such Incentive Awards the vesting of which is based on the achievement of Performance Goals if

Participants employment or other service with the Company or any Subsidiary as the case may be
is terminated by reason of Retirement prior to the end of the Performance Period of such

Incentive Award but after the conclusion of portion of the Performance Period but in no event

less than one year the Committee may in its sole discretion cause shares of Common Stock to

be delivered or payment made with respect to the Participants Incentive Award but only if

otherwise earned for the entire Performance Period and only with respect to the portion of the

applicable Performance Period completed at the date of such event with proration based on full

fiscal
years only and no shares to be delivered for partial fiscal years The Committee will consider

the provisions of Section 15.6 of this Plan and will have the discretion to consider any other fact or
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circumstance in making its decision as to whether to deliver such shares of Common Stock or

other payment including whether the Participant again becomes employed and

If the effective date of such Retirement is before the end of the Performance Period to

which an Annual Performance Cash Award relates then any such Annual Performance Cash

Award held by Participant will be terminated and forfeited if the effective date of such

Retirement is on or after the end of the Performance Period to which an Annual Performance
Cash Award relates then any such Annual Performance Cash Award held by Participant will be

paid to the Participant in accordance with the payment terms of such Award

15.3 Termination for Reasons Other than Death Disability or Retirement Unless otherwise

expressly provided by the Committee in its sole discretion in an Incentive Award Agreement and

subject to Sections 15.4 and 15.5 of this Plan in the event Participants employment or other service

with the Company and all Subsidiaries is terminated for any reason other than death Disability or

Retirement

All outstanding Options including Non-Employee Director Options and Stock

Appreciation Rights held by the Participant as of the effective date of such termination will to the

extent exercisable as of such termination remain exercisable for period of three months after

such termination but in no event after the expiration date of any such Option or Stock

Appreciation Right and Options and Stock Appreciation Rights not exercisable as of such

termination will be terminated and forfeited

All Restricted Stock Awards held by the Participant as of the effective date of such

termination that have not vested as of such termination will be terminated and forfeited

All outstanding unpaid Restricted Stock Units Performance Awards Other Cash-Based

Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards held by the Participant as of the effective date of such

termination will be terminated and forfeited and

All
outstanding Annual Performance Cash Awards held by Participant as of the

effective date of such termination will be terminated and forfeited

15.4 Modification of Rights upon Termination Notwithstanding the other provisions of this

Section 15 upon Participants termination of employment or other service with the Company or any
Subsidiary as the case may be the Committee may in its sole discretion which may be exercised at

any time on or after the Grant Date including following such termination cause Options or Stock

Appreciation Rights or any part thereof held by such
Participant as of the effective date of such

termination to terminate become or continue to become exercisable or remain exercisable following
such termination of employment or service and Restricted Stock Restricted Stock Units Performance

Awards Annual Performance Cash Awards Non-Employee Director Awards Other Cash-Based

Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards held by such Participant as of the effective date of such

termination to terminate vest or become free of restrictions and conditions to payment as the case

may be following such termination of employment or service in each case in the manner determined

by the Committee provided however that no Option or Stock Appreciation Right may remain

exercisable beyond its expiration date the Committee may not take any action not permitted

pursuant to Section 13.6 the Committee taking any such action relating to Non-Employee Director

Awards will consist solely of independent directors as defined in the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ
Stock Market or other applicable exchange or market on which the Common Stock may be traded or

quoted and any such action by the Committee adversely affecting any outstanding Incentive

Award will not be effective without the consent of the affected Participant subject to the right of the

Committee to take whatever action it deems appropriate under Section 4.5 15.6 17 or 21
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15.5 Determination of Termination of Employment or Other Service

The change in Participants status from that of an Employee to that of Consultant

will for purposes of this Plan be deemed to result in termination of such Participants

employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries unless the Committee otherwise determines in

its sole discretion

The change in Participants status from that of Consultant to that of an Employee will

not for purposes of this Plan be deemed to result in termination of such Participants service as

Consultant and such Participant will thereafter be deemed to be an Employee until such

Participants employment is terminated in which event such Participant will be governed by the

provisions of this Plan relating to termination of employment or service subject to paragraph

above

Unless the Committee otherwise determines in its sole discretion Participants

employment or other service will for purposes of this Plan be deemed to have terminated on the

date recorded on the personnel or other records of the Company or the Subsidiary for which the

Participant provides employment or other service as determined by th Committee in its sole

discretion based upon such records

Notwithstanding the foregoing if payment of an Incentive Award that is subject to

Section 409A of the Code is triggered by termination of Participants employment or other

service such termination must also constitute separation from service within the meaning of

Section 409A of the Code and any change in employment status that constitutes separation

from service under Section 409A of the Code will be treated as termination of employment or

service as the case may be

15.6 Additional Forfeiture Events

Effect of Actions Constituting Cause or Aderse Action Notwithstanding anything in

this Plan to the contrary and in addition to the other rights of the Committee under this

Section 15.6 if Participant is determined by the Committee acting in its sole discretion to have

taken any action that would constitute Cause or an Adverse Action during or after the termination

of employment or other service with the Company or Subsidiary irrespective of whether such

action or the Committees determination occurs before or after termination of such Participants

employment or other service with the Company or any Subsidiary and irrespective of whether or

not the Participant was terminated as result of such Cause or Adverse Action all rights of the

Participant under this Plan and any Incentive Award Agreements evidencing an Incentive Award

then held by the Participant will terminate and be forfeited without notice of any kind and ii the

Committee in its sole discretion will have the authority to rescind the exercise vesting or issuance

of or payment in respect of any Incentive Awards of the Participant that were exercised vested or

issued or as to which such payment was made and to require the Participant to pay to the

Company within ten 10 days of receipt from the Company of notice of such rescission any

amount received or the amount of any gain realized as result of such rescinded exercise vesting

issuance or payment including any dividends paid or other distributions made with respect to any

shares subject to any Incentive Award The Company may defer the exercise of any Option or

Stock Appreciation Right for period of up to six months after receipt of the Participants

written notice of exercise or the issuance of share certificates upon the vesting of any Incentive

Award for period of up to six months after the date of such vesting in order for the

Committee to make any determination as to the existence of Cause or an Adverse Action The

Company will be entitled to withhold and deduct from future wages of the Participant or from

other amounts that may be due and owing to the Participant from the Company or Subsidiary

or make other arrangements for the collection of all amounts necessary to satisfy such payment
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obligations Unless otherwise provided by the Committee in an applicable Incentive Award

Agreement this Section 15.6a will not apply to any Participant following Change in Control

Forfeiture of Incentive Awards under Sarbanes-Oxley Act If the Company is required

to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company as

result of misconduct with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws then any

Participant who is one of the individuals subject to automatic forfeiture under Section 304 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 will reimburse the Company for the amount of any Incentive Award

received by such individual under this Plan during the 12-month period following the first public

issuance or filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission as the case may be of the

financial document embodying such financial reporting requirement

16 Payment of Withholding Taxes

16.1 General Rules The Company is entitled to withhold and deduct from future wages of

the Participant or from other amounts that may be due and owing to the Participant from the

Company or Subsidiary or make other arrangements for the collection of all legally required

amounts
necessary

to satisfy any and all federal foreign state and local withholding and employment

related tax requirements attributable to an Incentive Award including the grant exercise vesting or

settlement of or payment of dividends with respect to an Incentive Award or disqualifying

disposition of stock received upon exercise of an Incentive Stock Option or require the Participant

promptly to remit the amount of such withholding to the Company before taking any action including

issuing any shares of Common Stock with respect to an Incentive Award When withholding for taxes

is effected under this Plan it shall be withheld only up to the minimum required tax withholding rates

or such other rate that will not trigger negative accounting impact on the Company

16.2 Special Rules The Committee may in its sole discretion and upon terms and conditions

established by the Committee permit or require Participant to satisfy in whole or in part any

withholding or employment related tax obligation described in Section 16.1 of this Plan by withholding

shares of Common Stock underlying an Award by electing to tender or by attestation as to ownership

of Previously Acquired Shares by delivery of Broker Exercise Notice or combination of such

methods For purposes of satisfying Participants withholding or employment-related tax obligation

shares of Common Stock withheld by the Company or Previously Acquired Shares tendered or covered

by an attestation will be valued at their Fair Market Value

17 Change in Control

17.1 Change in Control For purposes of this Section 17 Change in Control of the

Company will mean the sale lease exchange or other transfer of all or substantially all of the assets

of the Company in one transaction or in series of related transactions to corporation that is not

controlled by the Company the approval by the shareholders of the Company of any plan or

proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Company or change in control of nature that

would be required to be reported assuming such event has not been previously reported in

response to Item 5.01 of the Current Report on Form 8-K as in effect on the Effective Date of this

Plan pursuant to Section 13 or 15d of the Exchange Act whether or not the Company is then subject

to such reporting requirement provided that without limitation such Change in Control will be

deemed to have occurred at such time as any Person becomes the beneficial owner as defined in

Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act directly or indirectly of 50% or more of the combined voting

power of the Companys outstanding securities ordinarily having the right to vote at elections of

directors or individuals who constitute the Board on the Effective Date of this Plan cease for any

reason to constitute at least majority thereof provided that any person becoming director

subsequent to the Effective Date of this Plan whose election or nomination for election by the

Companys shareholders was approved by vote of at least majority of the directors comprising the

Board on the Effective Date of this Plan either by specific vote or by approval of the proxy
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statement of the Company in which such person is named as nominee for director without objection

to such nomination will be for purposes of this clause considered as though such person were

member of the Board on the Effective Date of this Plan

17.2 Good Reason For purposes of this Section 17 with
respect to any Participant Good

Reason will be defined as set forth in any individual agreement applicable to such Participant or in

the case of Participant who does not have an individual agreement that defines Good Reason then

Good Reason will mean any refusal to accept

material diminution in the Participants base compensation which for purposes of this

Plan will mean reduction of 10% or more in the Participants salary plus target bonus

discontinuation of eligibility to participate in material long-term cash or equity award or

equity-based grant program or in comparable substitute program in which other Participants at

comparable level are generally eligible to participate

any material diminution of authority duties or responsibilities including any change in

the authority duties or responsibilities of the Participant that is inconsistent in any material and

adverse respect with the Participants then-current positions authority duties and responsibilities

with the Company or any Subsidiary provided however that Good Reason will not be deemed

to exist pursuant to this clause solely on account of the Company no longer being publicly

traded entity or solely on account of change in the reporting relationship of the Participant or

material change in the geographic location at which the Company requires the

Participant to be based as compared to the location where the Participant was based immediately

prior to the change which for purposes of this Plan will mean

relocation that results in an increase in the commuting distance from the Participants

principal residence to his or her new job location of more than 50 miles or

ii relocation that requires the Participant to relocate his or her principal residence

Notwithstanding the foregoing however Good Reason will not be deemed to exist as result of any

of the actions stated in clauses or above to the extent that such actions are in connection with

an across-the-board change or termination that equally affects at least ninety-five percent 95% of all

Participants An act or omission will not constitute Good Reason unless the Participant gives

written notice to the Company of the existence of such act or omission within ninety 90 days of its

initial existence the Company fails to cure the act or omission within thirty 30 days after the

notification and actual termination of employment or services occurs within two years
of the initial

existence of the act or omission

17.3 Acceleration of Vesting Without limiting the authority of the Committee under

Sections 3.2 and 4.5 of this Plan if Change in Control of the Company occurs then unless otherwise

provided by the Committee in its sole discretion either in the Incentive Award Agreement evidencing

an Incentive Award at the time of grant or at any time after the grant of an Incentive Award the

following provisions will apply

If the Company is not the surviving corporation following Change in Control and the

surviving corporation following such Change in Control or the acquiring corporation such

acquiring corporation or acquiring corporation is hereinafter referred to as the Acquiror does

not assume the outstanding Incentive Awards or does not substitute equivalent equity awards

relating to the securities of such Acquiror or its affiliates for such Incentive Awards then all

outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights will become immediately exercisable in full

and will remain exercisable for the remainder of their terms regardless of whether the Participant

to whom such Options or Stock Appreciation Rights have been granted remains in employment or

service with the Company or any Subsidiary all restrictions and vesting requirements applicable
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to any Incentive Award based solely on the continued service of the Participant will terminate and

all Incentive Awards the vesting or payment of which are based on Performance Goals will vest

as though such Performance Goals were fully achieved at target and will become immediately

payable provided however that no Incentive Award that provides for deferral of compensation
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code will be cashed out upon the occurrence of

Change in Control unless the event or circumstances constituting the Change in Control also

constitute change in the ownership of the Company change in the effective control of the

Company or change in the ownership of substantial portion of the assets of the Company in

each case as determined under Section 409A of the Code The treatment of any other Incentive

Awards in the event of Change in Control will be as determined by the Committee in connection

with the grant thereof as reflected in the applicable Award Agreement

If the Company is the surviving corporation following Change in Control or the

Acquiror assumes the outstanding Incentive Awards or substitutes equivalent equity awards
relating

to the securities of such Acquiror or its affiliates for such Incentive Awards then all such Incentive

Awards or such substitutes therefore shall remain outstanding and be governed by their
respective

terms and the provisions of the Plan

If Participants employment or other service with the Company and all Subsidiaries

is terminated without Cause or Adverse Action or by the Participant for Good Reason in

either case within two years following Change in Control and ii the Company is the

surviving corporation following such Change in Control or the Acquiror assumes the outstanding
Incentive Awards or substitutes equivalent equity awards relating to the securities of such Acquiror
or its affiliates for such Incentive Awards then all outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation

Rights will become immediately exercisable in full and will remain exercisable for the remainder of

their terms regardless of whether the Participant to whom such Options or Stock Appreciation

Rights have been granted remains in employment or service with the Company or any Subsidiary
all restrictions and vesting requirements applicable to any Incentive Award based solely on the

continued service of the Participant will terminate and all Incentive Awards the vesting or

payment of which are based on Performance Goals will vest as though such Performance Goals

were fully achieved at target and will become immediately payable provided however that no

Incentive Award that provides for deferral of compensation within the meaning of Section 409A
of the Code will be cashed out upon the occurrence of Change in Control unless the event or

circumstances constituting the Change in Control also constitute change in the ownership of

the Company change in the effective control of the Company or change in the ownership
of substantial portion of the assets of the Company in each case as determined under

Section 409A of the Code The treatment of any other Incentive Awards in the event of Change
in Control will be as determined by the Committee in connection with the grant thereof as

reflected in the applicable Award Agreement

If Participants employment or other service with the Company and all Subsidiaries

is terminated for Cause or Adverse Action within two years following Change in Control and

ii the Company is the surviving corporation following such Change in Control or the Acquiror
assumes the outstanding Incentive Awards or substitutes equivalent equity awards relating to the

securities of such Acquiror or its affiliates for such Incentive Awards then all rights of the

Participant under this Plan and any Incentive Award Agreements evidencing an Incentive Award
then held by the Participant will terminate and be forfeited without notice of any kind
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17.4 Alternative Treatment of Stock-Based Awards In connection with Change in Control the

Committee in its sole discretion either in an Incentive Award Agreement at the time of grant of

Stock-Based Award or at any time after the grant of such an Incentive Award may determine that any

or all outstanding Stock-Based Awards granted under this Plan whether or not exercisable or vested as

the case may be will be canceled and terminated and that in connection with such cancellation and

termination the holder of such Stock-Based Award will receive for each share of Common Stock

subject to such Incentive Award cash payment or the delivery of shares of stock other securities or

combination of cash stock and securities with fair market value as determined by the Committee in

good faith equivalent to such cash payment equal to the difference if any between the consideration

received by shareholders of the Company in respect of share of Common Stock in connection with

such Change in Control and the purchase price per share if any under the Incentive Award multiplied

by the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such Incentive Award or in which such Incentive

Award is denominated provided that if such product is zero $0 or less or to the extent that the

Incentive Award is not then exercisable the Incentive Award may be canceled and terminated without

payment therefor If any portion of the consideration pursuant to Change in Control may be received

by holders of shares of Common Stock on contingent or delayed basis the Committee may in its sole

discretion determine the fair market value per share of such consideration as of the time of the

Change in Control on the basis of the Committees good faith estimate of the present value of the

probable future payment of such consideration Notwithstanding the foregoing any shares of Common

Stock issued pursuant to Stock-Based Award that immediately prior to the effectiveness of the

Change in Control are subject to no further restrictions pursuant to this Plan or an Incentive Award

Agreement other than pursuant to the securities laws will be deemed to be outstanding shares of

Common Stock and receive the same consideration as other outstanding shares of Common Stock in

connection with the Change in Control

17.5 Limitation on Change in Control Payments Notwithstanding anything in Section 17.3 or

17.4 to the contrary if with respect to Participant the acceleration of the vesting of an Incentive

Award as provided in Section 17.3 or the payment of cash in exchange for all or part of Stock-Based

Award as provided in Section 17.4 which acceleration or payment could be deemed payment
within the meaning of Section 280Gb2 of the Code together with any other payments that such

Participant has the right to receive from the Company or any corporation that is member of an

affiliated group as defined in Section 1504a of the Code without regard to Section 1504b of the

Code of which the Company is member would constitute parachute payment as defined in

Section 280Gb2 of the Code then the payments to such Participant pursuant to Section 17.3 or

17.4 will be reduced or acceleration of vesting eliminated to the largest amount as will result in no

portion of such payments being subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code

provided that such reduction will be made only if the aggregate amount of the payments after such

reduction exceeds the difference between the amount of such payments absent such reduction

minus the aggregate amount of the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code attributable

to any such excess parachute payments and provided further that such payments will be reduced or
acceleration of vesting eliminated in the following order options with an exercise price above fair

market value that have positive value for purposes of Section 280G of the Code ii pro rata among
Incentive Awards that constitute deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code and

iii finally among the Incentive Awards that are not subject to Section 409A of the Code

Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence if Participant is subject to separate agreement with the

Company or an Affiliate or Subsidiary that expressly addresses the potential application of

Section 280G or 4999 of the Code then this Section 17.5 will not apply and any payments to

Participant pursuant to Section 17.3 or 17.4 will be treated as payments arising under such separate

agreement
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18 Rights of Eligible Recipients and Participants Transferability

18.1 Employment Nothing in this Plan or an Incentive Award Agreement will interfere with or

limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the employment or service of

any Eligible Recipient or Participant at any time nor confer upon any Eligible Recipient or Participant

any right to continue employment or other service with the Company or any Subsidiary

18.2 No Rights to Awards No Participant or Eligible Individual will have any claim to be

granted any Incentive Award under this Plan

18.3 Rights as Shareholder Except as otherwise provided herein Participant will have no

rights as shareholder with respect to shares of Common Stock covered by any Stock-Based Award
unless and until the Participant becomes the holder of record of such shares

18.4 Restrictions on Transfer

Except pursuant to testamentary will or the laws of descent and distribution or as

otherwise expressly permitted by subsections and below no right or interest of any

Participant in an Incentive Award prior to the exercise in the case of Options or Stock

Appreciation Rights or vesting issuance or settlement of such Incentive Award will be assignable
or transferable or subjected to any lien during the lifetime of the Participant either voluntarily or

involuntarily directly or indirectly by operation of law or otherwise

Participant will be entitled to designate beneficiary to receive an Incentive Award

upon such Participants death and in the event of such
Participants death payment of any

amounts due under this Plan will be made to and exercise of any Options or Stock Appreciation
Rights to the extent permitted pursuant to Section 15 of this Plan may be made by such

beneficiary If deceased Participant has failed to designate beneficiary or if
beneficiary

designated by the Participant fails to survive the Participant payment of any amounts due under

this Plan will be made to and exercise of any Options or Stock Appreciation Rights to the extent

permitted pursuant to Section 15 of this Plan may be made by the Participants legal

representatives heirs and legatees If deceased Participant has designated beneficiary and such

beneficiary survives the Participant but dies before complete payment of all amounts due under

this Plan or exercise of all exercisable Options or Stock Appreciation Rights then such payments
will be made to and the exercise of such Options or Stock Appreciation Rights may be made by
the legal representatives heirs and legatees of the beneficiary

Upon Participants request the Committee may in its sole discretion permit transfer

of all or portion of Non-Statutory Stock Option other than for value to such Participants

child stepchild grandchild parent stepparent grandparent spouse former spouse sibling niece

nephew mother-in-law father-in-law son-in-law daughter-in-law brother-in-law or sister-in-law

any person sharing such Participants household other than tenant or employee trust in

which any of the foregoing have more than fifty percent 50% of the beneficial interests

foundation in which any of the foregoing or the Participant control the management of assets
and any other entity in which these persons or the Participant own more than fifty percent 50%
of the voting interests Any permitted transferee will remain

subject to all the terms and conditions

applicable to the Participant prior to the transfer permitted transfer may be conditioned upon
such requirements as the Committee may in its sole discretion determine including execution or

delivery of appropriate acknowledgements opinion of counsel or other documents by the

transferee

18.5 Non-Exclusivity of this Plan Nothing contained in this Plan is intended to modify or

rescind any previously approved compensation plans or programs of the Company or create any
limitations on the power or authority of the Board to adopt such additional or other compensation

arrangements as the Board may deem necessary or desirable
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19 Securities Law and Other Restrictions

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan or any Incentive Award Agreements entered into

pursuant to this Plan the Company will not be required to issue any shares of Common Stock under

this Plan and Participant may not sell assign transfer or otherwise dispose of shares of Common

Stock issued pursuant to Incentive Awards granted under this Plan unless there is in effect with

respect to such shares registration statement under the Securities Act and any applicable securities

laws of state or foreign jurisdiction or an exemption from such registration under the Securities Act

and applicable state or foreign securities laws and there has been obtained any other consent

approval or permit from any other U.S or foreign regulatory body which the Committee in its sole

discretion deems necessary or advisable The Company may condition such issuance sale or transfer

upon the receipt of any representations or agreements from the parties involved and the placement of

any legends on certificates representing shares of Common Stock as may be deemed necessary or

advisable by the Company in order to comply with such securities law or other restrictions

20 Deferred Compensation Compliance with Section 409A

It is intended that all Incentive Awards issued under the Plan be in form and administered in

manner that will comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code or the requirements of an

exception to Section 409A of the Code and the Incentive Award Agreements and this Plan will be

construed and administered in manner that is consistent with and gives effect to such intent The

Committee is authorized to adopt rules or regulations deemed necessary or appropriate to qualify for

an exception from or to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code Notwithstanding

anything in this Section 20 to the contrary with respect to any Incentive Award subject to Section 409A

of the Code no amendment to or payment under such Incentive Award will be made except and only

to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code

21 Amendment Modification and Termination

21.1 Generally Subject to other subsections of this Section 21 and Sections 3.4 and 21.3 the

Board at any time may suspend or terminate this Plan or any portion thereof or terminate any

outstanding Incentive Award Agreement and the Committee at any time and from time to time may

amend this Plan or amend or modify the terms of an outstanding Incentive Award The Committees

power and authority to amend or modify the terms of an outstanding Incentive Award includes the

authority to modify the number of shares or other terms and conditions of an Incentive Award extend

the term of an Incentive Award accelerate the exercisability or vesting or otherwise terminate any

restrictions relating to an Incentive Award accept the surrender of any outstanding Incentive Award or

to the extent not previously exercised or vested authorize the grant of new Incentive Awards in

substitution for surrendered Incentive Awards provided however that the amended or modified terms

are permitted by this Plan as then in effect and that any Participant adversely affected by such

amended or modified terms has consented to such amendment or modification

21.2 Shareholder Approval No amendments to this Plan will be effective without approval of

the Companys shareholders if shareholder approval of the amendment is then required pursuant

to Section 422 of the Code the rules of the primary stock exchange or stock market on which the

Common Stock is then traded applicable U.S state corporate laws or regulations applicable U.S

federal laws or regulations and the applicable laws of any foreign country or jurisdiction where

Incentive Awards are or will be granted under this Plan or such amendment would modify

Section 3.4 ii materially increase benefits accruing to Participants iii increase the aggregate number

of shares of Common Stock issued or issuable under this Plan iv increase any limitation set forth in

this Plan on the number of shares of Common Stock which may be issued or the aggregate value of

Incentive Awards which may be made in
respect

of any type of Incentive Award to any single

Participant during any specified period modify the eligibility requirements for Participants in this

Plan or vi reduce the minimum exercise price as set forth in Sections 6.3 and 7.3
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21.3 Incentive Awards Previously Granted Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to

the contrary no termination suspension or amendment of this Plan may adversely affect any
outstanding Incentive Award without the consent of the affected Participant provided however that
this sentence will not impair the right of the Committee to take whatever action it deems appropriate
under Sections 3.4 4.5 13.5 15 17 20 or 21.4 of this Plan

21.4 Amendments to Conform to Law Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the

contrary the Committee may amend this Plan or an Incentive Award Agreement to take effect

retroactively or otherwise as deemed necessary or advisable for the purpose of conforming this Plan or

an Incentive Award Agreement to any present or future law relating to plans of this or similar nature
and to the administrative regulations and rulings promulgated thereunder By accepting an Incentive

Award under this Plan Participant agrees to any amendment made pursuant to this Section 21.4 to

any Incentive Award granted under this Plan without further consideration or action

21.5 Non-Employee Director Awards Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the

contrary no action may be taken with respect to any outstanding Non-Employee Director Award other
than by the Committee which for such actions will consist solely of independent directors as defined
in the Listing Rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market or other applicable exchange or market on which the

Common Stock may be traded or quoted

22 Effective Date and Duration of this Plan

The Plan is effective as of the Effective Date The Plan will terminate at midnight on May 19
2020 and may be terminated prior to such time by Board action No Incentive Award will be granted
after termination of this Plan but Incentive Awards outstanding upon termination of this Plan will

remain outstanding in accordance with their applicable terms and conditions and the terms and
conditions of this Plan

23 Miscellaneous

23.1 In this Plan except where otherwise indicated by clear
contrary intention any

masculine term used herein also will include the feminine the plural will include the singular and
the singular will include the plural including and with correlative meaning include means
including without limiting the

generality of any description preceding such term and or is used in

the inclusive sense of and/or

23.2 Unfunded Plan Participants will have no right title or interest whatsoever in or to any
investments that the Company or its Subsidiaries may make to aid it in meeting its obligations under
this Plan Nothing contained in this Plan and no action taken pursuant to its provisions will create or
be construed to create trust of any kind or fiduciary relationship between the Company and any
Participant beneficiary legal representative or any other individual To the extent that any individual

acquires right to receive payments from the Company or any Subsidiary under this Plan such right
will be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the Company or the Subsidiary as
the case may be All payments to be made hereunder will be paid from the general funds of the

Company or the Subsidiary as the case may be and no special or separate fund will be established and
no segregation of assets will be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly set forth
in this Plan

23.3 Relationship to Other Benefits No payment under this Plan will be taken into account in

determining any benefits under any pension retirement savings profit sharing group insurance
welfare or benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary unless provided otherwise in such plan

23.4 Fractional Shares No fractional shares of Common Stock will be issued or delivered under
this Plan or any Incentive Award The Committee will determine whether cash other Incentive Awards
or other property will be issued or paid in lieu of fractional shares of Common Stock or whether such
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fractional shares of Common Stock or any rights thereto will be forfeited or otherwise eliminated by

rounding up or down

23.5 Governing Law Except to the extent expressly provided herein or in connection with other

matters of corporate governance and authority all of which will be governed by the laws of the

Companys jurisdiction of incorporation the validity construction interpretation administration and

effect of this Plan and any rules regulations and actions relating to this Plan will be governed by and

construed exclusively in accordance with the laws of the State of Minnesota notwithstanding the

conflicts of laws principles of any jurisdictions Unless otherwise provided in an Incentive Award

Agreement recipients of an Incentive Award under this Plan are deemed to submit to the exclusive

jurisdiction and venue of the federal or state courts of the State of Minnesota to resolve any and all

issues that may arise out of or relate to this Plan or any related Incentive Award Agreement

23.6 Successors All obligations of the Company under this Plan with respect to Incentive

Awards granted hereunder will be binding on any successor to the Company whether the existence of

such successor is the result of direct or indirect purchase merger consolidation or otherwise of all

or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company

23.7 Construction Wherever possible each provision of this Plan and any Incentive Award

Agreement will be interpreted so that it is valid under the applicable law If any provision of this Plan

or any Incentive Award Agreement is to any extent invalid under the applicable law that provision will

still be effective to the extent it remains valid The remainder of this Plan and the Incentive Award

Agreement also will continue to be valid and the entire Plan and Incentive Award Agreement will

continue to be valid in other jurisdictions

23.8 Delivery and Execution of Electronic Documents To the extent permitted by applicable

law the Company may deliver by email or other electronic means including posting on Web site

maintained by the Company or by third party under contract with the Company all documents

relating to this Plan or any Incentive Award hereunder including prospectuses required by the

Securities and Exchange Commission and all other documents that the Company is required to deliver

to its security holders including annual reports and proxy statements and permit Participants to

use electronic internet or other non-paper means to execute applicable Plan documents including

Incentive Award Agreements and take other actions under this Plan in manner prescribed by the

Committee
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PART

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incorporates by reference certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 For this purpose any statements contained in or incorporated by reference into this

Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements including but

not limited to projections of revenues results of operations financial condition or other financial items any statements ofplans

strategies
and objectives of management for future operations any statements regarding proposed new products services or

developments any statements regarding future economic conditions prospects or performance statements of belief and any statement

or assumptions underlying any of the foregoing In addition we or others on our behalf may make forward-looking statements from

time to time in oral presentations including telephone conferences and/or Web casts open to the public in press releases or reports

on our Internet Web site or otherwise We try to identify forward-looking statements in this report and elsewhere by using words such

as may will should could expect anticipate believe estimate plan project predict intend

potential continue or the negative of these or similar terms

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made and by their nature involve substantial risks and uncertainties Our

actual results may dffer materially depending on variety offactors including the items discussed in greater
detail below under the

caption Risk Factors These risks and uncertainties are not exclusive and further information concerning the company and our

business including factors that potentially could materially affect our financial results or condition may emerge from time to time

including factors that we may consider immaterial or do not anticipate at this time

We wish to caution readers not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement and to recognize that forward-looking

statements are predictions offuture results which may not occur as anticipated We assume no obligation to update forward-looking

statements to reflect actual results or changes in factors or assumptions affecting such forward-looking statements We advise you

however to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on

Form 8-K that we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission

ITEM BUSINESS

Our Business

Overview

Select Comfort Corporation was founded as Minnesota-based corporation in 1987 by an entrepreneur who developed and

manufactured adjustable firmness mattresses after considering other alternatives such as innerspring and water mattresses Select

Comfort has evolved from specialty niche direct marketer to nationwide multi-channel business with fiscal 2009 net sales of $544

million

Our principal business is to develop manufacture market and distribute premium quality adjustable-firmness beds and other sleep-

related accessory products The air-chamber teclmology of our proprietary Sleep Number bed allows adjustable firmness on each side

of the mattress and provides sleep surface that is clinically proven to provide better sleep quality and greater
relief of back pain

compared to traditional mattress products In addition we market and sell accessories and other sleep related products which focus on

providing personalized comfort to complement the Sleep Number bed and provide better nights sleep to the consumer We have

mission-driven culture focused on serving the needs of our customers Our mission is to improve lives by individualizing sleep

experiences Our goal is to educate our consumers on the importance of better nights sleep and the unique benefits of our products

In 1998 Select Comfort became publicly traded company and is listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC NASDAQ Global

Select Market under the symbol SCSS When used herein the terms Select Comfort Company we us and our refer to

Select Comfort Corporation including consolidated subsidiaries

Competitive Strengths

Differentiated Superior Product

The unique benefits of our proprietary Sleep Number bed have been validated through clinical sleep research Clinical sleep research

has shown that people who sleep on Sleep Number bed generally fall asleep faster experience deeper sleep with fewer disturbances

and experience greater relief from back pain than those sleeping on traditional innerspring mattress The proprietary air-chamber



technology of our Sleep Number bed allows adjustable firmness of the mattress at the touch of button Our dual chamber technology

two independent air chambers allows consumers to adjust the firmness on either side of the bed to meet each persons individual

preference

Distinctive Brand

in 2001 we created the Sleep Number brand This branding strategy allows our marketing communications to focus on our beds

distinguishing and proprietary features adjustable firmness and support for personalized comfort This is represented by the digital

Sleep Number display on the beds hand-held remote control with brand message hierarchy as follows

Sleep Number setting represents an ideal level of mattress comfort firmness and support and

You can only find your Sleep Number setting on Sleep Number Bed by Select ComfortTM

Controlled Selling Environment

Over 90% of our sales are generated through our company-controlled distribution channels Retail Direct Marketing and

Commerce Our nationwide chain of retail stores provides unique mattress shopping experience and offers relaxed environment

designed to provide education on the importance of sleep and the products that best fit consumers needs Controlling the selling

process
enables us to ensure that the unique benefits of our products are effectively communicated to consumers Our multiple touch-

points of service including sales delivery and post-sale service provide several opportunities to communicate with our customers

reinforcing the sale and enabling us to understand and respond quickly to consumer trends and preferences

Integrated Business Process

We are vertically integrated business from production through sales and delivery of our products which allows us to control quality

cost price and presentation The modular design of our Sleep Number bed allows just-in-time build-to-order production process

which requires minimal inventory in our stores and manufacturing plants resulting in reduced working capital levels This just-in-time

production process also allows our stores to serve primarily as showrooms without requiring significant product storage capacity

Vision and Strategy

For 2008 we ranked as the fifth largest mattress manufacturer according to the December 2009 edition of Furniture/Today with

4.9% market share of industry revenue and 1.5% market share of industry units We ranked as the second largest U.S bedding retailer

according to the Top-25 Bedding Retailers report in the November 29 2009 edition of Furniture/Today Our vision is to become the

new standard in sleep by providing individualized sleep experiences and elevating peoples expectations above the one size fits all

solutions offered by other mattress brands

We are executing against defined strategy which focuses on the following key components

Accelerate profitable growth and improve consistency of performance

Deliver new standard for individualized customer experience in our industry and

Further strengthen our financial position increasing our cash balance and remaining debt free

Accelerate Profitable Growth

Our most significant growth driver has been building brand awareness The Sleep Number brand has been integrated into all of our

sales channels and throughout our internal and external communication programs We utilize media mix that includes television

radio and print advertising in support of our Sleep Number marketing campaign with increasing use of Internet advertising and paid

search in our media mix

As of January 2010 we operated 403 company-owned stores in the U.S In the current economic environment we are closely

evaluating our store base and expect to end 2010 with approximately 380 to 390 stores We believe that through marketing and sales

execution we can increase average
sales

per
store to better leverage the profitability of our fixed cost store base Longer term we plan

to expand our retail store base to further our market share gains and improve sales and profit growth



In 2005 we expanded our distribution network outside the U.S with retail partner relationship in Canada In 2009 the Canadian
retail partner relationship grew to 136 doors During 2007 we formed strategic alliance with two Australian-based companies to

manufacture and distribute Sleep Number beds and accessories in Australia and New Zealand Our international distribution network
was not significant part of our total distribution network and we do not plan to expand our international distribution during 2010

We also sell to commercial partners which increases awareness of our brand through media exposure product sales and word-of-
mouth These conmiercial partners include the QVC television shopping channel the luxury motor home market leading home
furnishing retailers in Alaska and Hawaii and Radisson Hotels and Resorts in the U.S Canada and the Caribbean

Deliver New Standard for Individualized Customer Experience

We strive to lead the industry in customer satisfaction by providing individualized sleep experiences and elevating peoples
expectations above the one size fits all solution offered by other mattress brands We believe

everyone should love their bed and that

quality sleep is as important to healthy life as diet and exercise As the only mattress brand that is both manufacturer and multi-

channel retailer we have the capabilities to enhance the entire customer experience from researching products to the sale delivery

set-up and post-sales follow-up Our sales associates and customer service specialists are knowledgeable sleep experts whose mission
is

assisting each customer to individualize their sleep experiences through fast friendly and accessible service

We have historically introduced new features and benefits to our Sleep Number beds every two to three
years through pipeline of

research and development RD activities We continually focus on improving the reliability and quality of all the products that we
sell Our latest models emphasize enhanced comfort-layer materials and several feature advancements in temperature balancing
technology We believe our current line represents the most technologically advanced beds we have ever produced and provides ideal

comfort and quality sleep for each individual

Further Strengthen Our Financial Position

We generated positive net income for six consecutive years from 2002 through 2007 Our 2008 operating results were significantly

affected by the industry-wide decrease in consumer spending and we realized net loss of $70.2 million including $34.6 million of

pre-tax asset impairment charges and $26.8 million charge for deferred tax valuation allowance In 2009 we returned to

profitability and generated net income of $35.6 million including the reversal of the previously established deferred tax valuation

allowance and eliminated $79 million of debt ending 2009 debt-free with positive cash balance

We have taken significant actions to improve our operating results and maintain our liquidity in the current challenging macro
economic environment including corporate workforce reductions reduced capital spending executing plans to close stores supply
chain cost reduction initiatives reduced media spending and reductions in fixed and discretionary operating expenses We also

introduced lower product price points and initiated an enhanced promotional strategy which stabilized sales Additionally we
improved our liquidity by raising $26.3 million in additional equity and amended our credit agreement which was extended through
June2011

During 2010 we plan to maintain disciplined expense controls and conservatively manage our capital expenditures We expect to

generate cash further strengthen our financial position and remain debt free We have no plans to raise additional equity

Our Products

Mattresses

We offer Sleep Number beds in three series to help consumers choose the bed that is best for them

The Sleep Number bed Classic Series is the classic design with personal adjustability at an affordable price The series includes
the Sleep Number c2 c3 and c4 beds

The Sleep Number bed Performance Series includes our most popular beds featuring enhanced performance comfort and

great value The series includes the Sleep Number p5 P6 and p7 beds

The Sleep Number bed Innovation Series is the premier experience in personalized comfort combined with leading-edge
innovations in sleep technology The series includes the Sleep Number i8 i9 and ilO beds



The Sleep Number bed series are available through our U.S company-owned distribution channels Each bed series comes in standard

mattress sizes ranging from twin to king as well as some specialty mattress sizes Our bed series vary in features functionality and

price As you move up the line the Sleep Number bed series offer enhanced features and benefits including higher quality fabrics

additional cushion and padding higher overall mattress profiles quieter Firmness Control Systems with additional functions

temperature balancing fabrics and wireless remote controls as standard feature

The contouring support of our Sleep Number beds is optimized when used with our specially designed proprietary foundation This

durable foundation used in place of box spring is modular design that can be disassembled and easily moved through staircases

hallways and other tight spaces

Our U.S mattress price points range
from approximately $699 for the entry-level c2 queen-size mattress to $3999 for the luxurious

Sleep Number ilO queen-size mattress Our most popular model is the p5 queen-size mattress which sells for approximately $1699

Actual prices are at times lower than those quoted due to promotional offerings

Our unique product design allows us to ship our beds in modular format to customers throughout the U.S by United Parcel Service

UPS For an additional fee customers can take advantage of our home delivery service which includes bed assembly and optional

mattress removal services

Each of our Sleep Number beds not including our Precision Comfort adjustable foundation comes with 30 night in-home trial and

better nights sleep guarantee which allows customers 30 nights at home to make sure they are completely satisfied with the bed The

customer is responsible for the return shipping costs Independent durability testing has shown our Sleep Number beds can withstand

more than 20 years of simulated use and each of our Sleep Number beds is backed by our 20-year limited warranty

Sleep Number Bedding Collection and Other Products

In addition to our mattresses and foundations we offer line of products that provide innovative solutions for our customers sleep

preferences including specialty pillows mattress pads comforters sheets and leg options We also have two accessories programs

that offer personalization Create your Perfect Pillow and Create your Perfect Comforter Create your Perfect Pillow is

available in variety of sizes materials and firmness levels and is designed to provide personalized comfort and better quality sleep

for stomach back or side sleepers Create your Perfect Comforter can be adjusted for couples by varying the warmth levels to

accommodate personal preferences

In 2003 we completed the roll-out of our Precision Comfort adjustable foundation to all of our company-owned retail stores The

adjustable foundation enables consumers to raise the head or foot of the bed and to experience the comfort of massage using

handheld remote control

Sales Distribution

Unlike traditional bedding manufacturers which primarily sell through third-party retailers over 90% of our net sales are through one

of three company-controlled distribution channels Retail Direct Marketing and E-Commerce These channels enable us to control

the selling process to ensure that the unique benefits of our products are effectively presented to consumers Our direct-to-consumer

business model enables us to understand and respond quickly to consumer trends and preferences

Our retail stores accounted for 81% of our net sales in 2009 Average net sales per company-owned store were $1046000 in 2009

versus $984000 in 2008 $1318000 in 2007 and $1493000 in 2006 with
average

sales per square foot of $710 in 2009 versus $703

in 2008 $1024 in 2007 and $1244 in 2006 In 200948% of our stores generated net sales of over $1000000

Our direct marketing call center and E-Conimerce Web site provide national sales coverage including markets not yet served by one

of our retail stores and accounted for 12% of our net sales in 2009 In addition these channels provide cost-effective way to market

our products are source of information on our products and refer customers to our stores if there is one near the customer

Beginning in 2002 we supplemented our sales through semi-exclusive relationships with selected home furnishing retailers and

specialty bedding retailers In August 2009 we discontinued distribution through non-company-owned mattress retailers in the

contiguous United States This change is part of the companys efforts to reignite the Sleep Number brand and did not have

significant impact on sales or profit in 2009 At the end of 2009 our retail program included three retail partners in Hawaii Alaska

and Canada with total of 146 doors



In late 2007 we began distribution in Australia and New Zealand through relationships with an Australian-based manufacturer and an

Australian-based retailer Our total net sales attributable to foreign countries were $3.7 million in 2009 $5.4 million in 2008 and $5.0

million in 2007

Marketing and Advertising

Awareness among the broad consumer audience of our brand product benefits and store locations has been our most significant

opportunity for growth The Sleep Number advertising campaign was introduced early in 2001 to support our retail stores in selected

markets through our first comprehensive multi-media advertising campaign using prime-time TV national cable television

infomercials drive-time radio and newspaper advertisements

Since 2001 the Sleep Number brand positioning has been integrated into our marketing messages across all of our distribution

channels advertising vehicles and media types We look to our direct
response advertising on national cable TV as an economical

means to generate leads for our stores Through our dedicated call center we are able to provide the inquiring consumer more

information including the nearest store location and/or send video and brochure Our total media spending was approximately $61

million in 2009 $92 million in 2008 and $110 million in 2007

Owners of Sleep Number beds purchased through company-controlled channels are members of our Comfort Club our customer

loyalty program designed primarily to increase referrals and repeat purchases Each time referred customer purchases bed the

referring Comfort Club member receives $50 coupon for purchase of our products with increasing benefits for multiple referrals In

2009 approximately 26000 new customers bought beds after receiving referrals from our Comfort Club members and existing

owners bought approximately 30000 additional beds

Qualified customers are offered revolving credit to finance purchases through private-label consumer credit facility provided by GE
Money Bank Approximately 24% of our net sales during 2009 were financed by GE Money Bank In 2005 we entered into an

amended and restated agreement with GE Money Bank that extends this consumer credit arrangement through February 15 2012
subject to earlier termination upon certain events and subject to automatic extensions Under the terms of our agreement GE Money
Bank sets the minimum acceptable credit ratings the interest rates fees and all other terms and conditions of the customer accounts

including collection policies and procedures As the receivables are owned by GE Money Bank at no time are the receivables

purchased or acquired from us We are not liable to GE Money Bank for our customers credit defaults In connection with all

purchases financed under these arrangements GE Money Bank pays us an amount equal to the total amount of such purchases net of

promotional related discounts upon delivery to the customer Consumers that do not qualify for credit under our agreement with GE
Money Bank may apply for credit under secondary program that we offer through another provider

Operations

Manufacturing and Distribution

We have two manufacturing plants one located in Irmo South Carolina and the other in Salt Lake City Utah which distribute

products in the U.S and Canada The manufacturing operations in South Carolina and Utah consist of quilting and sewing of the

fabric covers for our beds and final assembly and packaging of mattresses and foundations In addition our electrical Firmness

Control Systems are assembled in our Utah plant

We manufacture beds on just-in-time basis to fulfill orders rather than stocking inventory which enables us to maintain lower levels

of finished goods inventory and operate with limited regional warehousing Orders are shipped typically within 48 hours following
order receipt from our manufacturing facilities via UPS or through our company-controlled home delivery assembly and mattress

removal service Orders are usually received by the customer within five to 14 days from the date of order

We obtain all of the raw materials and components used to produce our beds from outside sources number of components

including our proprietary air chambers our proprietary blow-molded foundations and various components for our Firnmess Control

Systems as well as fabrics and zippers are sourced from suppliers who currently serve as our sole source of supply for these

components We will continue to utilize dual sourcing on targeted components when effective We believe we can obtain these raw
materials and components from other sources of supply although an unexpected loss of supply over short period of time may not

allow us to replace these sources in the ordinary course of business In 2005 we began identifying secondary sources in order to

provide continuity of supply for various components



Our proprietary air chambers are produced to our specifications by an Eastern European supplier which has been our sole source of

supply of air chambers since 1994 Our agreement with this supplier runs through September 2011 and is thereafter subject to

automatic annual renewal unless either party gives 365 days notice of its intention not to renew the agreement We expect to continue

this supplier relationship for the foreseeable future

Our proprietary blow-molded foundations are produced to our specifications by single domestic supplier under an agreement that

expires in December 2012 We expect to continue this supplier relationship for the foreseeable future All of the suppliers that produce

unique or proprietary products for us have in place either contingency or disaster recovery plans or redundant production capabilities

in other locations in order to safeguard against any unforeseen disasters We review these plans and sites on regular basis to ensure

the suppliers ability to maintain an uninterrupted supply of materials and components

Home Delivery Service

Select Comforts home delivery assembly and mattress removal service has contributed to improving the overall customer experience

Our home delivery technicians can effectively communicate the benefits of the bed reinforcing the sales process and helping to ensure

satisfied customers In some markets on the East Coast we provide home delivery assembly and mattress removal services through

third-party provider Approximately 52% of beds sold through our company-owned channels in 2009 were delivered by our full-

service home delivery team or by our third-party provider

In 2003 we expanded the availability of our company-controlled delivery assembly and removal services to all of our retail markets

In 2007 we continued improving our home delivery efficiency and service by consolidating over 100 individually managed cross-

dock distribution locations into Hub and Spoke network organized around 13 regional hubs In 2009 we reduced our hub network

from 13 regional hubs to 10

Customer Service

We maintain an in-house customer service department staffed by customer service representatives who receive extensive training in

sleep technology and all aspects of our products and operations Our customer service representatives field customer calls and also

interact with each of our retail stores to address customer questions and concerns Our customer service team is part of our total

quality process facilitating early identification of emerging trends or issues They coordinate with engineering sourcing

manufacturing and our Six Sigma team to segment these issues implement immediate solutions and provide inputs for long-term

improvements to product and service design

Research and Development

Our research and development team continuously seeks to improve product performance and benefits based on sleep science Through

customer surveys
and consumer focus groups we seek feedback on regular basis to help enhance our products Since the

introduction of our first bed we have continued to improve and expand our product line including new bed models quieter

Firmness Control System wireless remote controls more luxurious fabrics and covers and new generations of foams and foundation

systems Our research and development expenses were $2.0 million in 2009 $3.4 million in 2008 and $5.7 million in 2007 when
National Fire Retardancy Standards were launched

Information Systems

We use information technology systems to operate analyze and manage our business to reduce operating costs and to enhance our

customers experience Our major systems include an in-store point of sale system retail portal system in-bound and out-bound

telecommunications systems for direct marketing and customer service E-Commerce systems data warehouse system and an

enterprise resource planning system These systems are comprised of both packaged applications licensed from various software

vendors and internally developed programs Our production data center is located in our corporate headquarters with redundant

environmental systems

Intellectual Property

We hold various U.S and foreign patents and patent applications regarding certain elements of the design and function of our

products including air control systems remote control systems air chamber features border wall and corner piece systems

foundation systems and features related to sofa sleepers with air mattresses as well as other technology We have 22 issued U.S

patents expiring at various dates between January 2010 and June 2022 and three U.S patent applications pending We also hold 42



foreign patents and have eight foreign patent applications pending Notwithstanding these patents and patent applications we cannot
ensure that these patent rights will provide substantial protection or that others will not be able to develop products that are similar to

or competitive with our products To our knowledge no third party has asserted claim against us alleging that any element of our
product infringes or otherwise violates any intellectual property rights of any third party

Select Comfort and Sleep Number are trademarks registered with the U.S Patent and Trademark Office We have number of
other registered trademarks including the double arrow logo Select Comfort with the double arrow logo Select Comfort Creator of
the Sleep Number Bed with the double arrow logo The Sleep Number Bed by Select Comfort with the double arrow logo and
Whats Your Sleep Number Several of these trademarks have been registered or are the subject of pending applications in various

foreign countries Each registered mark is renewable
indefinitely as long as the mark remains in use We are not aware of any material

claims of infringement or other challenges asserted against our right to use these marks

Industry and Competition

The U.S bedding manufacturing industry is mature and generally stable industry According to the International Sleep Products
Association ISPA since 1984 the industry has consistently demonstrated growth on dollar basis with 0.3% decline in 2001
9.1% decline in 2008 and 9.0% decline in 2009 being the only exceptions According to ISPA industry wholesale shipments of
mattresses and foundations were estimated to be $5.7 billion in 2009 9.0% decline compared to $6.2 billion in 2008 We estimate
that traditional innerspring mattresses represent approximately 78% of total U.S bedding sales based on 2008 sales
Furniture/Today furniture industry trade publication has ranked Select Comfort as the fifth largest mattress manufacturer and
second largest U.S bedding retailer for 2008

Over the 5-year 10-year and 20-year periods ended 2009 the value of U.S wholesale bedding shipments decreased increased at

compound annual growth rates of 2.6% 2.1% and 4.6% respectively We believe that industry unit growth has been primarily
driven by population growth and an increase in the number of homes including secondary residences and the increased size of
homes We believe growth in average wholesale prices resulted from shift to both larger and higher quality beds which are typically
more expensive

The bedding industry is very competitive Participants in the bedding industry compete primarily on price quality brand name
recognition product availability and product performance including the perceived levels of comfort and support provided by
mattress There is high degree of concentration among the three largest manufacturers of innerspring bedding with nationally
recognized brand names including Sealy which also owns the Steams Foster brand name Serta and Simmons Numerous other

manufacturers primarily operating on regional or niche basis serve the balance of the bedding market Simmons and Sealy as well
as number of smaller manufacturers have offered air-bed products in recent years Tempur-Pedic International Inc and number
of other mattress manufacturers offer foam mattress products The bedding retailer business is also highly competitive Our
distribution channels including our retail stores compete against regional and local specialty bedding retailers home

furnishing
stores mass merchants and national discount stores We compete principally on the differentiation and quality of our products
customer service and value pricing

Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to federal and state consumer protection and other regulations relating to the bedding industry These
regulations vary among the jurisdictions in which we do business but generally impose requirements as to the proper labeling of
bedding merchandise

The bedding industry is subject to federal fire retardancy standards developed by the U.S Consumer Product Safety Commission
which became effective nationwide in July 2007 Compliance with these requirements has increased the cost and complexity of
manufacturing our products These regulations also result in higher product development costs as new products must undergo rigorous
flammability testing

The Consumer Product Safety Commission has also adopted effective as of February 2009 new safety standards applicable to

childrens products generally including some mattress products Compliance with these standards may increase the cost of

manufacturing some of our products

Our direct marketing and E-Commerce operations are or may become subject to various adopted or proposed federal and state do not
call and do not mail list requirements limiting our ability to market our products directly to consumers over the telephone by
mail or by regular mail



We are subject to emerging federal state and foreign data privacy regulations related to the safeguarding of sensitive customer and

employee data which may drive increased costs in our information systems infrastructure

We are subject to federal state and foreign labor laws including but not limited to laws relating to occupational health and safety

employee privacy wages and hours overtime pay harassment and discrimination equal opportunity and employee leaves and

benefits

We are subject to federal and state laws and regulations relating to pollution and environmental protection We will also be subject to

similar laws in foreign jurisdictions as we further expand distribution of our products internationally

Our retail pricing policies and practices are subject to antitrust regulations in the U.S Canada Australia New Zealand and other

jurisdictions where we may sell our products in the future

Although we believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with these regulations and have implemented variety of

measures to promote continuing compliance regulations may change over time and we may be required to incur expenses andlor to

modify our operations in order to ensure compliance with these regulations which could harm our profitability and financial

condition If we are found to be in violation of any of the foregoing laws or regulations we could become subject to fines penalties

damages or other sanctions as well as potential adverse public relations which could adversely impact our business reputation sales

profitability and financial condition

We are not aware of any national or local provisions which have been enacted regulating the discharge of materials into the

environment or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment that have materially affected or will materially affect our net

income or competitive position or will result in material capital expenditures During fiscal 2009 there were no material capital

expenditures for environmental control facilities and no such material expenditures are anticipated

Customers

No single customer accounts for 10% or more of our net sales The loss of distribution through QVC however could adversely impact

our sales and profitability

Seasonality

Our business is modestly impacted by seasonal influences inherent in the U.S bedding industry and general retail shopping patterns

The U.S bedding industry generally experiences lower sales in the second quarter and increased sales during selected holiday or

promotional periods

Working Capital

The component nature of our products allows our stores to serve as product showrooms for our Sleep Number beds This aspect of our

business model allows us to maintain low inventory levels which enables us to operate with minimal working capital We have

historically generated sufficient cash flows to self-fund operations through an accelerated cash-conversion cycle As of January

2010 we had no outstanding borrowings We did have $4.5 million under letters of credit with an additional $35.5 million available

under our $40.0 million credit facility

Employees

At January 2010 we employed 2172 persons including 1272 retail sales and support employees 151 direct marketing and

customer service employees 553 manufacturing and logistics employees and 196 management and administrative employees

Approximately 135 of our employees were employed on part-time basis at January 2010 Except for managerial employees and

professional support staff all of our employees are paid on an hourly basis plus commissions for sales associates None of our

employees are represented by labor union or covered by collective bargaining agreement We believe that our relations with our

employees are good



Executive Officers of the Registrant

William McLaughlin 53 joined our company in March 2000 as President and Chief Executive Officer Mr McLaughlin also
served as Chairman of our Board of Directors from May 2004 to February 2008 From December 1988 to March 2000 Mr
McLaughlin served as an executive of PepsiCo Foods International Inc snack food company and subsidiary of PepsiCo Inc in

various capacities including from September 1996 to March 2000 as President of Frito-Lay Europe Middle East and Africa and from
June 1993 to June 1996 as President of Grupo Gamesa S.A de C.V cookie and flour company based in Mexico

Shelly Ibach 50 has served as Executive Vice President U.S Sales since October 2008 Ms Ibach joined Select Comfort as Senior
Vice President U.S Sales Company Owned Channels in April 2007 From 1982 to 2007 she held various leadership positions
within Macys North formerly Marshall Fields Department Stores Target Corporation From 2004 to 2007 Ms Ibach served as
Senior Vice President and General Merchandise Manager for the Home division within Macys North Other key positions included
Vice President Divisional Merchandise Manager Director of Planning and Regional Director of Stores

Mark Kimball 51 has served as Senior Vice President Legal General Counsel and Secretary since August 2003 From July 2000
to August 2003 Mr Kimball served as Senior Vice President Human Resources and Legal General Counsel and Secretary From
May 1999 to July 2000 Mr Kimball served as our Senior Vice President ChiefAdministrative Officer General Counsel and
Secretary For more than five years prior to joining us Mr Kimball was partner in the law firm of Oppenheimer Wolff DonnellyLLP practicing in the area of corporate finance

James Raabe 49 has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since April 1999 From September 1997 to April
1999 Mr Raabe served as our Controller From May 1992 to September 1997 he served as Vice President Finance of ValueRx
Inc pharmacy benefit management provider Mr Raabe held various positions with KPMG LLP from August 1982 to May 1992

Karen Richard 39 has served as Senior Vice President ChiefHuman Resource Strategy Officer for Select Comfort Corporation
since March 2009 From January 2006 through February 2009 Ms Richard served as Vice President Human Resources and prior to

that she served as Vice President Finance
supporting Select Comforts Consumer Channels and Marketing Ms Richard also held

variety of positions in the companys finance department after joining Select Comfort in May of 1996 From 1993 to 1996 Ms
Richard held various accounting positions with TCF Mortgage Corporation an affiliate of TCF Financial Corporation

Kathryn Roedel 49 has served as Executive Vice President Product Development and Operations since October 2008 Ms Roedel
joined our Company as Senior Vice President Global Supply Chain in April 2005 From 1983 to 2005 she held leadership positions
within two divisions of General Electric Company in Sourcing Manufacturing Quality and Service From 2003 to March 2005 Ms
Roedel served as the General Manager Global Supply Chain Strategy for GE Medical Systems Other key positions included General
Manager Global Quality and Six Sigma Vice President Technical Operations and Director/Vice President Quality Programs for

GE Clinical Services division of GE Medical Systems

Wendy Schoppert 43 has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer since March 2008 She joined our

Company in April 2005 and previously served as Senior Vice President and General Manager New Channel Development and
Senior Vice President International From 2002 to March 2005 Ms Schoppert led various departments within U.S Bancorp Asset
Management most recently serving as Head of Private Asset Management and Marketing From 1996 to 2000 she held several
positions with America West Holdings Corporation including Vice President of America West Vacations and head of the airlines
Reservations division Prior to 1996 Ms Schoppert held various finance-related positions at both Northwest Airlines and American
Airlines

Tim Werner 46 has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer since March 2009 From October 2008 through
February 2009 he served as Vice President Marketing Mr Werner served as Vice President Direct and E-Comrnerce from October
2007 to September 2008 and as Vice President Retail Partners developing our Wholesale business from October 2002 to July 2006Mr Werner also held variety of positions in our Direct Marketing business channel after joining us in May 1996 From 1986 to

1996 Mr Werner held marketing positions with L.L Bean Inc and Fingerhut Corporation
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Available Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and its rules and regulations The Exchange Act requires us to file

reports proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC Copies of our reports proxy

statements and other information can be read and copied at

SEC Public Reference Room

100 Street NE

Washington D.C 20549

Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 The SEC

maintains Web site that contains reports proxy statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the

SEC These materials may be obtained electronically by accessing the SECs home page at http//www.sec.gov

Our corporate Internet Web site is http//www.selectcomfort.com Through link to third-party content provider our corporate Web

site provides free access to our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and all

amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as

reasonably practicable after electronic filing with the SEC These documents are posted on our Web site at www.selectcornfort.com

select the About Us link and then the Investor Relations link The information contained on our Web site or connected to our Web

site is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this report

We also make available free of charge on our Web site the charters of the Audit Committee Management Development and

Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee as well as our Code of Business Conduct

including any amendment to or waiver from provision of our Code of Business Conduct adopted by our Board These documents

are posted on our Web site select the Investor Relations link and then the Corporate Governance link

Copies of any of the above referenced information will also be made available free of charge upon written request to

Select Comfort Corporation

Investor Relations Department

9800 59th Avenue North

Minneapolis MN 55442
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves high degree of risk You should carefully consider the spec/Ic risks set forth below and
other matters described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before making an investment decision The risks and uncertainties

described below are not the only ones facing us Additional risks and uncertainties including risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently see as immaterial may also harm our business If any of these risks occur our business results of

operations cash flows and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected

Current and future economic conditions could materially adversely affect our sales profitability cash flows andfinancial
condition

The success of our business model depends to significant extent upon discretionary consumer spending which is influenced by
number of general economic factors including without limitation consumer confidence the housing market employment levels
interest rates inflation and taxation and the level of customer traffic in malls and shopping centers Adverse trends in any of these

economic indicators may adversely affect our sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

reduction in the availability of credit to consumers generally or under our existing consumer credit programs could harm our
sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

high percentage of our sales are made under consumer credit programs through third parties The recent economic downturn has

resulted in reduction of credit available to consumers as macroeconomic factors impact the financial position of consumers and as

suppliers of credit adjust their lending criteria In addition changes in federal regulations that go into effect in 2010 place additional

restrictions on all consumer credit programs including limiting the types of promotional credit offerings that may be offered to

consumers

GE Money Bank provides credit to our customers through private label credit card program that expires on February 15 2012
subject to earlier termination upon certain events and subject to automatic extensions GE Money Bank has discretion to set minimum
credit standards under which credit is extended to customers In recent periods we have not been in compliance with certain financial

covenants under our agreement with GE Money Bank which has resulted in requirement that we provide letter of credit to

collateralize potential exposure that GE Money Bank may have if we were unable to meet our obligations to our customers

Reduction of credit availability due to changing economic conditions changes in credit standards under our private label credit card

program or changes in regulatory requirements or the termination of our agreement with GE Money Bank could harm our sales

profitability cash flows and financial condition

Our future growth and profitability depends upon the effectiveness and efficiency of our marketing program

We are highly dependent on the effectiveness of our marketing messages and the efficiency of our advertising expenditures in

generating consumer awareness and sales of our products In recent periods including in particular 2007 and 2008 our marketing

messages were not as effective as in prior periods We continue to evolve our marketing strategies adjusting our messages the

amount we spend on advertising and where we spend it and no assurance can be given that we will be successful in developing
effective messages and in achieving efficiency in our advertising expenditures

We also believe that consumers are increasingly using the Internet as part of their shopping experience As result our future

growth and profitability will depend in part on the effectiveness and efficiency of our on-line advertising and search optimization

programs in generating consumer awareness and sales of our products ii our ability to prevent confusion among consumers that can
result from search engines that allow competitors to use or bid on our trademarks to direct consumers to competitors websites and

iiiour ability to prevent internet publication of false or misleading information regarding our products or our competitors products

If our marketing messages are ineffective or our advertising expenditures and other marketing programs including internet-based

programs are inefficient in creating awareness of our products and brand name driving consumer traffic to our points of distribution

and motivating consumers to purchase our products our sales profitability cash flows and financial condition may be adversely

impacted
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Our future growth and profitability depends on our ability to execute our retail store distribution strategy

Our company-controlled retail store distribution channel is our largest distribution channel and represents our largest opportunity for

growth in sales and improvement in profitability Our stores carry significant fixed costs We are highly dependent on our ability to

maintain and increase sales per store to improve our operating margins

Our stores are largely mall based We depend on the continued popularity of malls as shopping destinations and the ability of mall

anchor tenants and other attractions to generate customer traffic for our retail stores Any decrease in mall traffic could adversely

affect our sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

In 2009 we evolved our retail strategy closing 72 stores to increase trade area per
store and discontinued selling through traditional

mattress retailers to drive more customers to our company-controlled channels This strategy is designed to improve our customer

experience by utilizing our company-controlled
sales process and to improve profitability by driving greater number of sales through

smaller base of stores If we are unable to capture sales from these larger trade areas or to improve the overall customer experience

our sales and profitability may be negatively impacted We may also be required to incur significant costs to close stores as we realign

our store base

Our longer term retail store distribution strategy is also dependent on our ability to renew existing store leases and to secure suitable

locations for new store openings in each case on cost-effective basis We may encounter higher than anticipated rents and other

costs in connection with managing our retail store base or may be unable to find or obtain suitable new locations

Our future growth andprofitability depends on continuous improvement in our products and services

Our unique product advantages and the customer experience provided by our vertically integrated business model have been key

drivers of our growth in the past One of our current growth strategies is to develop product innovation and sleep expertise by

enhancing existing products and by developing and marketing new products that deliver personalized
comfort and better sleep In

addition providing superior customer service levels through home delivery of our products and post sales service are designed to

develop superior brand image Any failure to continue to develop and market enhanced or new products and improved service in

cost-effective manner could harm our ability to grow sales and improve our profitability

failure to achieve and maintain high level ofproduct quality could negatively impact our sales profitability cash flows and

financial condition

Our products represent significant departure from traditional innerspring mattresses which have no moving parts and do not rely on

electronics and air control systems As result our beds may be susceptible to failures that do not exist with traditional mattresses

failure to achieve and maintain acceptable quality standards could impact consumer acceptance of our products or could result in

negative media and internet reports or owner dissatisfaction that could negatively impact our brand image and sales levels

In addition decline in product quality could result in an increase in return rates and corresponding decrease in sales or an increase

in product warranty claims in excess of our warranty reserves An unexpected increase in return rates or warranty
claims could harm

our sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

As consumer products company we face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims in the event that the use of any of

our products is alleged to have resulted in personal injury or property damage In the event that any of our products proves to be

defective we may be required to recall or redesign such products In 2004 and in 2008 we experienced increased returns and adverse

impacts on sales as well as product liability litigation as result of media reports related to the alleged propensity of our products to

develop mold We may experience additional adverse impacts on sales and additional litigation in the event any similarmedia reports

were to occur in the future We maintain insurance against some forms of product liability claims but such coverage may not be

adequate for liabilities actually incurred successful claim brought against us in excess of available insurance coverage or any

claim or product recall that results in significant adverse publicity against us may have material adverse effect on our sales

profitability cash flows and financial condition

Significant competition in our industry could adversely affect our business

Because of the vertical integration of our business model we face significant competition with both number of different types of

mattress alternatives and variety of retailers
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The mattress industry is characterized by high degree of concentration among the three largest manufacturers of innerspring

mattresses and the largest manufacturer of viscoelastic foam mattresses We believe that many of our competitors have greater

financial marketing and manufacturing resources and better brand name recognition than we do and sell products through broader and

more established distribution channels number of mattress manufacturers including several of these larger competitors have

offered air beds that compete with our products

Our stores and other company-controlled distribution channels compete with other retailers who often provide wider selection of

mattress alternatives than we offer Many of these retailers also have more points of distribution and greater brand name recognition

than we do

These manufacturing and retailing competitors or new entrants into the market may compete aggressively and gain market share with

existing and new mattress products and may pursue or expand their presence in the air bed segment of the market We have limited

ability to anticipate the timing and scale of new product introductions advertising campaigns or new pricing strategies by our

competitors which could inhibit our ability to retain or increase market share or to maintain our product margins

If we are unable to effectively compete with other bedding manufacturers and other retailers our sales profitability cash flows and

financial condition may be adversely impacted

We may be unable to prevent other companies from using our technology or intellectual
property in connection with the sale of

competitive products

We own various U.S and foreign patents and patent applications related to certain elements of the design and function of our beds and

related products We also own several registered and unregistered trademarks and trademark applications including in particular our

Select Comfort and Sleep Number trademarks which we believe have significant value and are important to the marketing of our

products to customers Our intellectual property rights may not provide substantial protection against infringement or piracy and may
not prevent our competitors from developing and marketing products that are similar to or competitive with our beds or other

products In addition the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights and confidential information

to the same extent as the laws of the United States If we are unable to protect our intellectual property we may be unable to prevent
other companies from using our technology or trademarks in connection with competitive products which could adversely affect our

sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

We are not aware of any material intellectual property infringement or invalidity claims that may be asserted against us however it is

possible that third parties including competitors may successfully assert such claims The cost of defending such claims or any
resulting liability or any failure to obtain necessary licenses on reasonable terms may adversely impact our sales profitability cash

flows and financial condition

We utilize just-in-time manufacturing processes with minimal levels of inventory which could leave us vulnerable to shortages
in supply that may harm our ability to satisfy consumer demand and may adversely impact our sales and profitability

We generally assemble our products after we receive orders from customers utilizing just-in-time manufacturing processes with

minimal levels of raw materials work in
process and finished goods inventories Lead times for ordered components may vary

significantly In addition some components used to manufacture our products are provided on sole source basis Any unexpected

shortage of materials caused by any disruption of supply or an unexpected increase in the demand for our products could lead to

delays in shipping our beds to customers Any such delays could adversely affect our sales customer satisfaction profitability cash

flows and financial condition
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We rely upon several key suppliers that are in some instances the only source of supply currently used by us for particular

materials components or services disruption in the supply or substantial increase in cost of any of these products or services

could harm our sales profitability cash flows andfinancial condition

We currently obtain all of the materials and components used to produce our beds from outside sources In several cases including

our proprietary air chambers our proprietary blow-molded foundations our adjustable foundations various components for our

Firnmess Control Systems as well as fabrics and zippers we have chosen to obtain these materials and components from suppliers

who serve as the only source of supply used by us at this time While we believe that these materials and components or suitable

replacements could be obtained from other sources in the event of disruption or loss of supply of relevant materials or components

for any reason we may not be able to find alternative sources of supply or if found may not be found on comparable terms If our

relationship with either the supplier of our air chambers or the supplier of our blow-molded foundations is terminated we could have

difficulty in replacing these sources since there are relatively few other suppliers presently capable of manufacturing these

components

Similarly we rely on UPS and other carriers to deliver some of our products to customers on timely and cost-effective basis Any

significant delay in deliveries to our customers could lead to increased returns and cause us to lose sales Any increase in freight

charges could increase our costs of doing business and harm our sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

Fluctuations in commodity prices could result in an increase in component costs and/or delivery costs

Our business is subject to significant increases or volatility in the prices of certain commodities including but not limited to fuel oil

natural gas rubber cotton plastic resin steel and chemical ingredients used to produce foam Increases in prices of these

commodities or other inflationary pressures may result in significant cost increases for our raw materials and product components as

well as increases in the cost of delivering our products to our customers To the extent we are unable to offset any such increased

costs through value engineering and similar initiatives or through price increases our profitability cash flows and financial condition

may be adversely impacted If we choose to increase prices to offset the increased costs our unit sales volumes could be adversely

impacted

Our business is subject to risks inherent in global sourcing activities

Our air chambers and some of our other components are manufactured outside the United States and therefore are subject to risks

associated with foreign sourcing of materials including but not limited to

Political instability resulting in disruption of trade

Existing or potential duties tariffs or quotas on certain types of goods that may be imported into the United States

Disruptions in transportation due to acts of terrorism shipping delays foreign or domestic dock strikes customs inspections

or other factors

Foreign currency fluctuations and

Economic uncertainties including inflation

These factors could increase our costs of doing business with foreign suppliers lead to inadequate inventory levels or delays in

shipping beds to our customers which could harm our sales customer satisfaction profitability cash flows and financial condition

Disruption of operations in either of our two manufacturing facilities could increase our costs of doing business or lead to delays

in shipping our beds

We have two manufacturing plants which are located in Irmo South Carolina and in Salt Lake City Utah We generally manufacture

beds to fulfill orders rather than stocking finished goods inventory in our plants or stores Therefore the disruption of operations of

either of our manufacturing facilities for significant period of time may increase our costs of doing business and lead to delays in

shipping our beds to customers Such delays could adversely affect our sales customer satisfaction profitability cash flows and

financial condition
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Our manufacturing and retail operations are subject to wide variety of government regulations which could increase costs or

cause disruptions to our operations

We are subject to wide variety of government regulations relating to the bedding industry or to various aspects of our business and

operations including without limitation regulations relating to the proper labeling of bedding merchandise flammability standards

applicable to mattresses environmental and product safety regulations consumer protection and data privacy regulations various do
not call or do not mail list requirements labor laws including but not limited to laws relating to occupational health and safety

employee privacy wages and hours overtime pay harassment and discrimination equal opportunity and employee leaves and

benefits and import and export regulations

Although we believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with these regulations and have implemented variety of

measures to promote continuing compliance regulations may change over time and we may be required to incur
expenses

and/or to

modify our operations in order to ensure compliance with these regulations or we may be found to be in violation of the foregoing

laws or regulations which could harm our sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

Regulatory requirements related to flammability standards for mattresses may increase our product costs and increase the risk of

disruption to our business

The federal Consumer Product Safety Commission adopted new flammability standards and related regulations which became

effective nationwide in July 2007 for mattresses and mattress and foundation sets Compliance with these requirements has resulted in

higher materials and manufacturing costs for our products and has required modifications to our information systems and business

operations further increasing our costs and negatively impacting our capacity

These regulations require manufacturers to implement quality assurance programs and encourage manufacturers to conduct random

testing of products These regulations also require maintenance and retention of compliance documentation These quality assurance

and documentation requirements are costly to implement and maintain If any product testing other evidence or regulatory

inspections yield results indicating that any of our products may not meet the flammability standard we may be required to

temporarily cease production and distribution and/or to recall products from the field and we may be subject to fines or penalties any
of which outcomes could harm our business reputation sales profitability cash flows and financial condition

We may be unable to sustain sufficient financial resources to finance our operations and growth

Historically we have relied on cash from operations to fund our operations and growth Beginning in the second half of 2008 as

result of the significant downturn in the economy we experienced significant constraints in our operating cash flow and liquidity and

were substantially dependent upon our ability to access credit under our credit agreement During 2009 we executed variety of

initiatives that enabled us to return to positive earnings and cash flow repay our outstanding debt and establish positive cash

position In addition we renegotiated the terms of our credit facility and extended its term to June 30 2011

Despite this turnaround our financial resources are limited The macroeconomic environment remains uncertain and the credit

markets remain constrained Should economic conditions deteriorate significantly or if we were otherwise unable to maintain our

profitability and cash flow we may not be able to fund our operations and growth In addition such deterioration may impact our

ability to remain in compliance with our credit agreement limiting or eliminating our ability to utilize this source of funds

Our management information systems may not be adequate to meet the evolving needs of our business as well as existing and

emerging regulatory requirements

We depend on our management information systems for many aspects of our business Our current information systems architecture

includes some off-the-shelf programs as well as some key software that has been developed by our own programmers using old

programming languages that are no longer vendor-supported Our business may be adversely affected if our management information

systems are disrupted or if we are unable to improve upgrade integrate or expand our systems to meet the evolving needs of our

business and existing and emerging regulatory requirements Any failure of our systems and processes to adequately protect

employee and customer information from theft or loss could adversely impact our business reputation sales profitability cash flows

and financial condition
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The loss of the services of any members of our executive management team could adversely impact our ability to execute our

business strategy

We are currently dependent upon the continued services ability and experience of our executive management team The loss of the

services of any member of our executive management team could have an adverse effect on our ability to execute our business

strategy and growth initiatives and on our sales profitability cash flows and financial condition Our future growth and success will

also depend upon our ability to attract retain and motivate other qualified personnel

Our charter and corporate documents and Minnesota law make takeover of our company more difficult and expensive which

may prevent certain changes in control and limit the market price of our common stock

Our charter bylaws certain corporate documents and sections 671 and 673 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act contain

provisions that might enable our management to resist takeover of our company or which may increase the cost of an acquisition of

our company Provisions in our amended and restated articles of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage

delay or prevent merger or acquisition involving us that our shareholders may consider favorable For example our amended and

restated articles of incorporation authorize five million undesignated shares Without shareholder approval our board of directors has

the authority to create class or series of shares from the undesignated shares and to set the terms of the class or series including

voting and dividend rights With these rights it could be more difficult for third party to acquire us In addition our amended and

restated articles of incorporation provide for staggered board of directors with directors serving for three-year terms and

approximately one-third of the directors coming up for re-election each year Having staggered board will make it more difficult for

third party to obtain control of our board of directors through proxy contest which may be necessary step in any acquisition of us

that is not favored by our board of directors In addition we have severance plan that may provide certain employees and executive

officers with severance compensation if they are terminated in connection with change in control of our company and stock award

plans that provide for the acceleration of vesting of incentive stock awards upon change in control of our company The existence of

these provisions could discourage or prevent change in control of our company could make change in control of our company

more difficult and expensive and could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common

stock

Risks of certain global events such as terrorist attacks or pandemic outbreak could adversely impact our sales profitability

financial condition or stock price

Additional terrorist attacks in the United States or against U.S targets or acts of war or threats of war or the escalation of current

hostilities involving the United States or its allies or military or trade disruptions impacting our domestic or foreign suppliers of

components of our products may adversely impact our operations causing delays or losses in the delivery of merchandise to us and

decreased sales These events could also cause an increase in oil or other commodity prices which could adversely affect our

materials or transportation costs including the costs of delivery of our products to customers

significant pandemic outbreak or perceived threat of such an outbreak could cause significant disruptions to our supply chain

manufacturing capability and distribution system that could adversely impact our ability to produce and deliver products which could

result in loss of sales and adversely impact our profitability cash flows and financial condition

Any of these events could adversely impact consumer confidence and spending or result in increased volatility in the U.S and

worldwide financial markets These events also could cause or deepen and prolong an economic recession in the United States or

abroad Any of these occurrences could have an adverse impact on our sales profitability financial condition or stock price

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
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ITEM PROPERTIES

Distribution Locations

We currently lease all of our existing retail store locations and expect that our policy of leasing rather than owning stores will
continue Our store leases generally provide for an initial lease term of five to seven years with mutual termination option if we do
not achieve certain minimum annual sales thresholds Generally the store leases require us to pay minimum rent plus percentage rent
based on net sales in excess of certain thresholds as well as certain operating expenses

The following table summarizes the geographic location of our 403 company-owned stores and 146 retail partner doors as of January22010

Company- Retail Company Retail
Owned Partner Owned Partner
Stores Doors

Stores Doors
Alabama

Missouri 12
Alaska Montana

Arizona 11 Nebraska
Arkansas Nevada

California 40 New Hampshire
Colorado 13 New Jersey 12
Connecticut New Mexico
Delaware New York 11

Florida 26 North Carolina 13

Georgia 13 North Dakota
Hawaii Ohio 18
Idaho

Oklahoma
Illinois 20 Oregon
Indiana 12

Pennsylvania 19
Iowa

South Carolina
Kansas

South Dakota

Kentucky Tennessee

Louisiana Texas 30
Maine

Utah

Maryland 12 Vermont
Massachusetts

Virginia 11

Michigan 11 Washington 11

Minnesota
13 Wisconsin

Mississippi Canada 136

Total 403 146

Manufacturing and Headquarters

We lease our 59000-square-foot corporate headquarters in the Minneapolis Minnesota area The lease commenced in November
2007 and runs through 2017 with two five-year renewal options

We also lease approximately 122000 square feet in the Minneapolis Minnesota area that includes our research and development
department and distribution center that accepts returns fulfills accessory orders and

processes warranty claims This lease expires in
2017 and contains one five-year renewal option

We lease two manufacturing and distribution centers in Irmo South Carolina and Salt Lake City Utah of approximately 105000
square feet and approximately 101000 square feet respectively We lease the Irmo facility through February 2013 and the Salt Lake
City facility through April 2010 with five-year renewal option thereafter
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ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On April 25 2008 lawsuit was filed against one of our subsidiaries in Superior Court in Santa Clara County California by one of

our customers The complaint asserted various claims related to products liability breach of warranty concealment intentional

misrepresentation and negligent misrepresentation
and sought class certification The complaint alleged that products

sold by us prior

to 2006 had unique propensity to develop mold alleged that the plaintiff
suffered adverse health effects and sought various forms of

legal and equitable relief including without limitation unspecified damages punitive and exemplary damages attorneys fees and

costs and injunctive
relief We removed the case to the U.S District Court for the Northern District of California On September 30

2008 the Court granted our motion to dismiss and strike the purported class action claims and allowed plaintiff leave to amend the

complaint On October 30 2008 plaintiff and additional named plaintiffs filed first amended complaint alleging facts similar to

those asserted in the initial complaint and asserting additional claims including antitrust and RICO claims On June 2009 the Court

granted our motion to dismiss and strike the purported class action claims of the first amended complaint and allowed plaintiffs leave

to amend the complaint with respect to certain of the alleged claims On July 2009 plaintiffs
filed second amended complaint

alleging facts similar to those asserted in the prior complaints limiting the purported class to California and Florida residents and

asserting claims related to negligence product liability breach of warranty under federal and state statutes and unfair competition

under state statutes On December the Court granted our motion to strike plaintiffs newly alleged claims and granted our motion to

dismiss plaintiffs remaining claims and allowed plaintiffs leave to amend only with respect to certain of the alleged claims On

January 2010 plaintiffs filed third amended complaint alleging facts similar to those asserted in the prior complaints limiting the

purported class to California and Florida residents and asserting claims related to negligence product liability breach of warranty

under federal and state statutes and unfair competition under state statutes We have filed motion to dismiss that is scheduled to be

heard on April 30 2010 As of January 2010 no accrual had been established with respect to this matter as we believe that the

complaint is without merit and we intend to continue to vigorously defend the claims

On April 30 2009 lawsuit was filed against the Company and one of its subsidiaries in United States District Court for the Northern

District of Illinois by former employee alleging that the Company misclassified all non-California store managers as exempt from

the overtime requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act The plaintiff further alleges that all Illinois store managers were similarly

misclassified under the Illinois Minimum Wage Law After an initial round of discovery on July 27 2009 plaintiff filed motion

seeking permission to send notices to all similarly situated store managers informing them that they have the right to join this potential

collective action lawsuit On December 2009 the Court ruled that plaintiff is permitted to send notice only to certain existing and

former store managers within the State of Illinois inviting them to join the case The opt-in period for potential class members to join

the case expires on March 15 2010 We believe that all store managers have been properly classified under both federal and state

standards and we intend to vigorously defend the case As of January 2010 no accrual had been established with respect to this

matter as we believe that the complaint is without merit and we intend to continue to vigorously defend the claims

We are subject from time to time to various other potential claims and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our

business including primarily commercial employment and intellectual property claims In accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States we record liability in our consolidated financial statements with respect to any of these

other matters when it is both probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated In

the fiscal quarter ended January 2010 we recorded liability in our consolidated financial statements of $1.6 million with respect to

contingent liabilities that we determined to be both probable and reasonably estimable We believe that we have valid defenses to the

various claims that have or may be asserted against us as described above and we do not expect the outcome of these matters to have

material effect on our consolidated results of operations
financial position or cash flows beyond the liabilities that have been accrued

Litigation however is inherently unpredictable
and it is possible

that the ultimate outcome of one or more claims asserted against us

or claims as to which we are presently unaware could adversely impact our results of operations financial position or cash flows We

expense legal costs as incurred

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

The information required by Item may be found in the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15 2009
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol SCSS As of

January 30 2010 there were approximately 735 holders of record of our common stock The following table sets forth the quarterly
high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ for the two most recent fiscal years These
quotations reflect inter-dealer prices without retail mark-up mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions

Fiscal 2009

High

Low

Fiscal 2008

High 1.96 2.83

Low
0.19 1.16

Select Comfort has not historically paid cash dividends on its common stock and is restricted from paying dividends under its credit

agreement

Information concerning stock repurchases completed during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2009 is set forth below

Fiscal Period

October 2009 through October 31 2009

November 2009 through November 28 2009

November 29 2009 through January 2010

Total

Approximate Dollar

Value of Shares that

May Yet Be

Purchased Under

the Plans or Programs

On April 20 2007 our Board of Directors authorized the company to repurchase up to an additional $250.0 million of its

common stock bringing the total availability under our share repurchase program to $290.0 million The Finance Committee of
the Board of Directors reviews repurchases under this program on quarterly basis There is no expiration date governing the

period over which we can repurchase shares As of January 30 2010 the total outstanding authorization was $206.8 million
We may terminate or limit the stock repurchase program at any time We currently have no plans to repurchase shares under
this authorization

Fourth

Quarter

Third Second First

Quarter Quarter Quarter

6.79 5.00 1.25 0.98

4.76 0.79 0.55 0.20

3.97

1.47

8.32

3.10

Total Number of

Shares

Purchased

Average

Price

Paid per

Share

Total Number of

Shares

Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced

Plans

or Programs

$206762000
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Comparative Stock Performance

The graph below compares the total cumulative shareholder return on our common stock over the last five years to the total

cumulative return on the Standard and Poors SP 400 Specialty Stores Index and The NASDAQ Stock Market U.S Index

assuming $100 investment made on January 2005 Each of the three measures of cumulative total return assumes reinvestment of

dividends The stock performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance The

information contained in this Comparative Stock Performance section shall not be deemed to be soliciting material or filed or

incorporated by reference in future filings with the SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended except to the extent that we specifically request that it be treated as soliciting material or incorporate it by reference

into document filed under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

AMONG SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION SP 400 SPECIALTY STORES INDEX
AND THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET U.S INDEX
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Securities Authorizedfor Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of January 2010

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

Number of securities

remaining available

for future issuance

Number of securities under equity
to be issued upon Weighted average compensation plans

exercise of exercise price of excluding securities

outstanding options outstanding options reflected in the
Plan Category warrants and rights1 warrants and rights first column

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders 4811000 $9.57 852000

Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders None Not applicable None

Total
4811000 $9.57 852000

Includes the Select Comfort Corporation 1990 Omnibus Stock Option Plan the Select Comfort Corporation 1997 Stock
Incentive Plan and the Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

in thousands except per share and selected operating data unless otherwise indicated

The Consolidated Statements of Operations Data and Consolidated Balance Sheet Data presented below have been derived from our

Consolidated Financial Statements and should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations and our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K

In the first quarter of fiscal 2006 we adopted the fair value recognition method for our stock-based compensation awards We elected the modified prospective

transition method and accordingly financial results for fiscal years prior to 2006 have not been restated Stock-based compensation expense for fiscal 2009

2008 2007 and 2006 was $3236 $3702 $6252 and $8325 respectively Prior to the adoption of the fair value recognition method we followed the intrinsic

value method to account for our employee stock options and employee stock purchase plan Accordingly no compensation expense was recognized for share

purchase rights granted in connection with the issuance of stock options under our employee stock option plan or employee stock purchase plan however

compensation expense was recognized in connection with the issuance of restricted and performance shares granted See Note of the Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding stock-based compensation Stock-based compensation expense pre-tax recognized in

our financial results for years prior to fiscal 2006 was $793 and $405 in 2005 and 2004 respectively

Fiscal year 2008 had 53 weeks All other fiscal years presented had 52 weeks

Includes stores operated in leased departments within other retail stores none in 2009 2008 2007 2006 and 2005 and 13 in 2004

In August 2009 we announced our decision to discontinue distribution through non-company owned mattress retailers in the contiguous United States This

change is part of the Companys effort to reignite
the Sleep Number brand and continue to advance its distribution strategy

For stores open during the entire period indicated

Stores are included in the comparable-store calculation in the 13th full month of operation Stores that have been remodeled or relocated within the same

shopping center remain in the comparable-store base The number of comparable-stores used to calculate such data was 399 452 432 391 354 and 339 for

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 and 2004 respectively Our 2009 2008 and 2004 comparable-store sales changes reflect adjustments for an additional week of

sales Without adjusting for the additional week the 2009 and 2008 comparable-stores sales changes were not significantly impacted Without adjusting for the

additional week the 2004 comparable-store sales change would have been 14%

Year

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

Net sales

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Research and development

Terminated equity financing costs

Asset impairment charges

Operating income loss

Net income loss

Net income loss per share

Basic

Diluted

Shares used in calculation of net income per share

Basic

Diluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash cash equivalents and marketable debt securities

Working capital

Total assets

Borrowings under revolving credit facility

Capital lease obligations non-current

Total shareholders equity deficit

Selected Operating Data

Stores open at period-end3

Stores opened during penod

Stores closed during period

Retail partner doors4

Average net sales per store 000s5

Percentage of stores with more than $1.0 million in net salest5

Comparable-store sales decrease increase6

Average square footage per store open during penod

Net sales per square
foot5

Average store age in months at period end

2009 20082 2007 2005 2004

544202 608524 799242 806038 689548 557639

335460 358572 486415 490508 406476 339838

259.244 332068 372.467 341630 286206 250628

49560 57994 64351 65401 49300 37826

1973 3374 5682 4687 2219 1853

3324

686 34594 409 5980 162

20673 69458 43506 72810 68589 49531

35552 70177 27620 47183 43767 31555

0.78 1.59 0.59 0.89 0.82 0.58

0.77 1.59 0.57 0.85 0.76 0.53

45682 44186 46536 52837 53357 54015

46198 44186 48292 55587 57674 59525

17717 13057 7279 90175 123091 101963

25435 90534 70000 5637 10158 23479

118240 135413 190489 228961 239838 202033

79150 37890

262 621

22458 41630 24126 115694 121347 114344

403 471 478 442 396 370

19 45 51 40 31

72 26
14

146 801 891 822 353 89

1046 984 1318 1493 1417 1247

48% 45% 73% 81% 77% 64%

0% 25% 11% 7% 15% 16%

1474 1410 1315 1200 1121 1032

710 703 1024 1244 1264 1208

88 91 84 81 79 75
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements

The discussion in this Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements that relate to future plans events financial
results or performance You can identify forward-looking statements by those that are not historical in nature particularly those
that use terminology such as maywill should could expect anticipate believe estimate plan project
predict intend potential continue or the negative of these or similar terms These statements are subject to certain risks

and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from our historical experience and our present expectations or
projections These risks and uncertainties include among others

Current general and industry economic trends and consumer confidence

Availability of attractive and cost-effective consumer credit options

The effectiveness of our marketing messages

The efficiency of our advertising and promotional efforts

Our ability to execute our retail distribution strategy including our ability to cost-effectively close
under-performing store

locations and to find suitable new store locations

Our ability to continue to improve our product line and service levels and consumer acceptance of our products product quality
innovation and brand image

Our ability to achieve and maintain acceptable levels ofproduct quality and acceptable product return and warranty claims rates

Pending and
potentially unforeseen litigation

Industry competition and the adequacy of our intellectual property rights to protect our products and brandfrom competitive or

infringing activities

Our just-in-time manufacturing processes with minimal levels of inventory which may leave us vulnerable to shortages in

supply

Our dependence on sign Ulcant suppliers and our ability to maintain relationships with key suppliers including several sole
source suppliers

Rising commodity costs and other inflationary pressures

Risks inherent in global sourcing activities

Risks of disruption in the operations of either of our two manufacturing facilities

Increasing government regulations including new flammability standards for the bedding industry

The adequacy of our financial resources and our ability to finance our operations and growth through cash flow from operations
or other sources

The adequacy of our management information systems to meet the evolving needs of our business and existing and evolving
regulatory standards applicable to data privacy and security

Our ability to attract and retain senior leadership and other key employees including qual/ied sales professionals and

Global events such as terrorist attacks or pandemic outbreak or the threat of such events

Additional information concerning these and other risks and uncertainties is contained under the caption Risk Factors in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations MDA is intended to provide reader of
our financial statements with narrative from the perspective of management on our financial condition results of operations
liquidity and certain other factors that may affect our future results Our MDA is presented in six sections

Overview

Results of Operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
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Overview

Business Overview

Select Comfort is the leading developer manufacturer and marketer of premium-qualityadjustable-firmness beds The air-chamber

technology of our proprietary Sleep Number bed allows adjustable firmness on each side of the mattress and provides sleep surface

that is clinically proven to provide better sleep quality and greater
relief of back pain compared to traditional mattress products In

addition we market and sell accessories and other sleep related products which focus on providing personalized comfort to

complement the Sleep Number bed and provide better nights sleep for consumers

We generate revenue by selling our products through four complementary distribution channels Three of these channels Retail

Direct Marketing and E-Commerce are company-controlled and sell directly to consumers Our wholesale channel sells to and

through the QVC shopping channel wholesale customers in Alaska Hawaii Canada and Australia and to selected hospitality groups

and institutional facilities

Vision and Strategy

Our vision is to become the new standard in sleep by providing individualized sleep experiences and elevating peoples expectations

above the one size fits all solution offered by other mattress brands

We are executing against defined strategy which focuses on the following key components

Accelerate profitable growth and improve consistency of performance

Deliver new standard for individualized customer experience in our industry and

Further strengthen our financial position increase our cash balance and remain debt free

Results of Operations

Fiscal 2009 Summary and Outlook

Financial highlights for the fiscal year ended January 2010 were as follows

Net income totaled $35.6 million or $0.77 per diluted share compared with net loss of $70.2 million or $1.59 per

diluted share in 2008 The 2009 net income included $3.3 million of terminated equity financing costs asset impairment

charges totaling $0.7 million and the reversal of $26.8 million valuation allowance for deferred taxes The 2008 net

loss included asset impairment charges totaling $34.6 million and establishment of $26.8 million valuation allowance

for deferred taxes

Net sales decreased 11% to $544.2 million compared with $608.5 million for the prior year primarily due to 14%

reduction in our store base as we closed 72 stores during 2009 Comparable-store sales trends improved sequentially

each quarter during 2009 but were flat for the year

Operating income improved to $20.7 million for 2009 compared with an operating loss of $69.5 million for the prior

year due to the significant actions taken to return the Company to profitability and the year-over-year decrease in asset

impairment charges

Cash provided by operating activities in 2009 totaled $66.6 million compared with $3.0 million for the prior year

Operating cash flows for 2009 included $26.1 million of income tax refunds associated with our 2008 pre-tax loss

At January 2010 we had no borrowings under our revolving credit facility compared with $79.2 million in borrowings

at January 2009

We project that our operating income rate will improve in 2010 as compared to 2009 driven by our cost structure

improvements and productivity gains We retain cautious outlook regarding 2010 economic trends We expect to

generate positive comparable store sales growth throughout 2010 The comparison of 2010 and 2009 net sales however

will be impacted by store closures and 2009 retail partner terminations which together generated $35.0 million in net

sales during 2009 We expect to be operating between 380 and 390 stores by the end of 2010
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The following table sets forth for the periods indicated our results of operations expressed as dollars and
percentages of net salesFigures are in millions

except percentages and earnings per share amounts Amounts may not add due to rounding differences

2009 2008 2007
%of %of %of

Net Sales Net Sales Net SalesNet sales
544.2 100.0% 608.5 100.0% 799.2 100.0%Costofsales
208.7 38.4 250.0 41.1 312.8 39.1

Grossprofit
335.5 61.6 358.6 58.9 486.4 60.9Operating expenses

Salesandmarketing 2592 47.6 332.1 54.6 372.5 46.6General and administrative 49.6 9.1 58.0 9.5 64.4 8.1Research and development 2.0 0.4 3.4 0.6 5.7 0.7Terminated
equity financing costs 3.3 0.6

Asset
impairment charges 0.7 0.1 34.6 5.7 0.4 0.1Total

operating expenses 314.8 57.8 428.0 70.3 442.9 55.4Operatingincomeloss
20.7 3.8 69.5 11.4 43.5 5.4Other expense net
6.0 1.1 3.3 0.5Income loss before income taxes 14.7 2.7 72.7 12.0 43.5 5.4Income tax benefit expense 20.9 3.8 2.6 0.4 15.8 2.0Net income loss 35.6 6.5% 70.2 11.5% 27.6 3.5%

2009 2008 2007Net income loss per share

Basic
0.78 1.59 0.59Diluted
0.77 1.59 0.57

Weighted-average number of common shares

Basic
45.7

44.2 46.5Diluted
46.2

44.2
48.3

The
percentage of our total net sales by dollar volume from each of our channels during the last three

years was as follows

2009 2008 2007
Retail

1.2% 78.2% 75.4%Direct
6.2% 7.7% 8.0%E-Commerce
5.3% 6.1% 6.8%Wholesale
7.3% 8.0% 9.8%

Total
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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The components of total net sales change including comparable-store net sales changes were as follows

2009 2008 2007

Channel Channel Channel

increase/ increase increase

decrease decrease decrease

Comparable storesW 0% 25% 11%
Net new stores 7% 4% 9%

Retail total 7% 1% 2%
Direct 29% 26% 16%
E-Commerce 22% 32% 20%

Total company-controlled channels 10% 22% 2%
Wholesale 19% 38% 11%

Total net sales change 11% 24% 1%

Stores are included in the comparable-store calculation in the 13th full month of operation Stores that have been remodeled or

relocated within the same shopping center remain in the comparable-store base Fiscal 2008 included 53 weeks as compared to

52 weeks in fiscal 2009 and 2007 Comparable-store sales have been adjusted and reported as if all years had the same number

of weeks

The number of company-owned retail stores during the last three years and independently owned and operated retail partner stores

was as follows

2009 2008 2007

Company-owned retail stores

Beginning of year
471 478 442

Opened 19 45

Closed 72 26
End of year

403 471 478

Retail partner stores1 146 801 891

In August 2009 we announced our decision to discontinue distribution through non-company owned mattress retailers in the

contiguous United States This change is part of the Companys effort to reignite the Sleep Number brand and continue to

advance its distribution strategy The decision was mutually agreed upon with the Companys retail partners and did not have

significant impact on net sales or profit in 2009

Comparison of 2009 and 2008

Net Sales

Net sales in 2009 decreased 11% to $544.2 million compared with $608.5 million in 2008 The net sales decrease was due to 14%

year-over-year
decline in the number of retail stores we operated and decrease in direct wholesale and E-Commerce channel net

sales Total sales of mattress units decreased 11% compared to the same period one year ago and sales of other products and services

decreased by 7% The average selling price per bed mattress sales only divided by mattress units in our company-controlled channels

decreased 1% to $1743

The $64.3 million net sales decrease compared with the same period one year ago was comprised of the following $30.1 million

decrease resulting from the net decline in the number of stores we operated partially offset by $2.1 million net increase in net sales

from our company-owned comparable retail stores ii $13.0 million decrease in direct sales iii $8.9 million decrease in

wholesale sales and iv $7.8 million decrease in E-Commerce sales In addition 2008 included an additional 53rd week of sales

totaling approximately $6.6 million

Gross Profit

The
gross profit rate increased to 61.6% in 2009 compared with 58.9% in 2008 majority of the gross profit rate increase was due to

improved manufacturing efficiencies lower fuel prices and actions taken to reduce supply chain and logistics costs which in total

added approximately 3.5 ppt to our gross profit rate for 2009 compared to last year During the fourth quarter of 2008 and in fiscal

2009 we resized our manufacturing and logistics operations to better align with current customer demand In addition sales mix

shift to higher-margin company-owned channels higher-margin products and lower warranty expenses improved the gross profit rate

by 0.6 ppt 0.5 ppt and 0.5 ppt respectively compared with the same period one year ago These improvements were partially offset

by an increase in promotional costs to generate customer traffic and drive sales
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Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and
marketing expenses in 2009 decreased to $259.2 million or 47.6% of net sales compared with $332.1 million or 54.6% of

net sales in 2008 The $72.8 million decrease was primarily due to $30.6 million or 33% reduction in media spending and $20.5
million decrease in other marketing expenses including financing promotion and media production expenses compared with the same
period one-year ago The reduction in media and other marketing expenses was mainly due to efforts to enhance the effectiveness and
efficiency of our marketing expenditures The remainder of the expense decrease was due to reduced fixed and variable selling

expenses resulting from 14% year-over-year reduction in our store base reduced depreciation expense including the impact of
prior-year store asset impairments and other cost reduction initiatives The sales and marketing expense rate declined 7.0 ppt
compared to the same period one year ago with the benefits from the cost reduction initiatives more than offsetting the deleveraging
impact of the 11% net sales decline

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative GA expenses decreased $8.4 million to $49.6 million or 9.1% of net sales in 2009 compared with
$58.0 million or 9.5% of net sales in 2008 The $8.4 million decrease in GA expenses was primarily due to reduced compensation
and benefit costs resulting from workforce reductions decreased depreciation expense and discretionary spending cuts partially offset

by increased performance-based compensation

Research and Development

Research and development RD expenses decreased to $2.0 million in 2009 compared with $3.4 million in 2008 and decreased
as percentage of net sales to 0.4% from 0.6%

Terminated Equity Financing Costs

In May 2009 we entered into securities purchase agreement with Sterling Partners private equity firm During special meeting of
shareholders held August 27 2009 our shareholders did not approve the May 2009 securities purchase agreement During the third

quarter of 2009 we expensed $3.3 million of direct incremental costs incurred in connection with the terminated equity financing

Asset Impairment Charges

Asset impairment charges decreased to $0.7 million in 2009 compared with $34.6 million in 2008 During 2009 we recognized
impairment charges of $0.7 million related to assets at stores expected to close prior to their normal lease termination dates and
certain equipment and software

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we elected to abandon our plan to implement an integrated suite of SAP-based applications
and recognized asset impairment charges totaling $27.6 million Also during 2008 we determined that certain assets at

underperforming stores were impaired and recognized impairment charges of $7.0 million

Other Expense Net

Other expense net increased to $6.0 million compared with $3.3 million in 2008 The $2.7 million increase in other expense net was
primarily driven by the current year reduction in capitalized interest expense ii the increased write-off of unamortized debt costs
in the current year due to reductions in our revolving credit facilitys borrowing capacity iii an increase in our credit facility fees and
expenses and iv increased interest rates compared to the same period one year ago partially offset by lower average debt
balance for the current year

Income Tax Benefit Expense

Income tax benefit in 2009 was $20.9 million compared with $2.6 million benefit in 2008 The effective tax rate for 2009 was
142.0% compared with 3.5% for the same period one year ago Both 2008 and 2009 were impacted by changes in our deferred tax
valuation allowance
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In 2008 based on all available evidence in particular the inability to rely on future projections of income because of the credit issues

we were facing we established $26.8 million valuation allowance against deferred tax assets In 2009 based on positive evidence of

sufficient quality and quantity we determined that valuation allowance was no longer needed and reversed substantially all of the

previously established deferred tax valuation allowance Positive evidence included the significant improvement in our liquidity

position the successful renegotiation of our credit agreement the additional equity infusion and actions taken to reduce our cost

structure all providing support for our ability to rely on our estimates of future profitability

Comparison of 2008 and 2007

Net Sales

Net sales in 2008 decreased 24% to $608.5 million compared with $799.2 million in 2007 The net sales decrease was due to 25%

comparable-store sales decline in our company-owned retail stores and decreases in wholesale E-Commerce and direct channel sales

partially offset by sales from new company-owned retail stores opened in the past 12 months net of stores closed Total sales of

mattress units decreased 30% compared to 2007 while the average selling price per
bed mattress sales only divided by mattress units

in our company-controlled channels increased 4% to $1764 while sales of other product and services decreased by 17%

The $190.7 million net sales decrease compared with 2007 was comprised of the following $127.1 million net decrease in sales

from our company-owned retail stores comprised of $149.2 million decrease from comparable-stores and $22.1 million increase

from new stores net of stores closed ii $29.5 million decrease in wholesale sales iii $17.6 million decrease in E-Commerce

sales and iv $16.5 million decrease in direct marketing sales

Gross Profit

The gross profit rate decreased to 8.9% in 2008 compared with 60.9% in 2007 The majority of the gross profit rate decline was

driven by higher commodity and logistics costs including the impact of higher fuel prices increased production costs for our new line

of beds and fire-retardant products launched last year and the deleveraging impact of the 24% net sales decrease In addition sales

mix shift to lower margin products reduced the gross profit rate by approximately 0.4 percentage points ppt compared to the same

period one year ago These items were partially offset by an increase in the percentage of net sales from our retail distribution channel

which increased the gross profit rate by approximately
0.5 ppt Pricing initiatives implemented in our company-owned sales channels

also favorably impacted our gross profit rate as compared to the prior year

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses
in 2008 decreased to $332.1 million or 54.6% of net sales compared with $372.5 million or 46.6% of

net sales in 2007 The $40.4 million decrease was primarily due to the following $17.9 million or 16% reduction in media

spending compared with the prior year and ii reduced variable selling expenses due to the net sales decline including lower financing

costs percentage rents and variable store compensation The 8.0 ppt sales and marketing expense rate increase was principally due to

the deleveraging impact of the 24% net sales decline partially offset by the $40.4 million expense
decrease compared with the same

period in the previous year

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative GA expenses
decreased $6.4 million to $58.0 million in 2008 compared with $64.4 million in 2007

but increased to 9.5% of net sales compared with 8.1% in the prior year The $6.4 million decrease in GA expenses was primarily

due to workforce reductions reduced stock-based compensation expense lower depreciation expense and other discretionary spending

reductions The year-over-year decline in stock-based compensation expense was primarily due to an increase in our estimated

forfeiture rates resulting from the workforce reductions

Research and Development

Research and development RD expenses decreased to $3.4 million in 2008 compared with $5.7 million in 2007 and decreased

as percentage of net sales to 0.6% from 0.7% Fiscal 2007 included additional RD expenses related to the development of new fire

retardant products and an upgrade of our entire line of bed models
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Asset Impairment Charges

Asset impairment charges increased to $34.6 million in 2008 compared with $0.4 million in 2007 During the fourth quarter of fiscal

2008 we elected to abandon our plan to implement an integrated suite of SAP-based applications and recognized asset impairment
charges totaling $27.6 million During 2008 on quarterly basis we reviewed all of our stores for impairment and determined that

certain store assets at underperforming stores were impaired We recognized impairment charges totaling $7.0 million for the
difference between the fair value and the carrying amounts of the related long-lived assets The increase in store asset impairment
charges compared to the prior year was due

primarily to the deterioration of consumer spending We estimate fair values based on the
cash-flows expected to be generated by the assets

During 2007 we determined that certain store assets at underperforming stores were impaired and recognized impairment charges of
$0.4 million for the difference between fair value and the carrying amounts of the related long-lived assets

Other Expense Net

Other expense net increased to $3.3 million compared with $40000 in 2007 The $3.2 million increase in other expense net was
driven by increased interest expense from borrowings under our revolving line of credit due to higher average debt balances and
increased interest rates and lower average cash and investment balances compared to the prior year

Income Tax Benefit Expense

Income tax benefit in 2008 was $2.6 million compared with income tax expense of $15.8 million in 2007 The effective tax rate was
3.5% and 36.5% in 2008 and 2007 respectively The change in the effective income tax rate is primarily due to the establishment of

$26.8 million valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets that we recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 The remainder
of the change in the effective tax rate resulted from the absence of

manufacturing deduction that we realized in 2007 and higher
state income tax rate in 2008 partially offset by $0.6 million discrete tax benefit adjustment recognized in 2008 related to research
and development tax credits for prior years

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of January 2010 we had cash and cash equivalents of $17.7 million compared with $13.1 million as of January 2009 The
$4.7 million increase in cash and cash equivalents was primarily due to $66.6 million of cash provided by operating activities and
$26.5 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock partially offset by an $84.8 million net decrease in short-term
borrowings

The
following table summarizes our cash flows for the fiscal year ended January 2010 and January 2009 in millions

Fiscal Year Ended

January January

2010 2009
Total cash provided by used in

Operating activities
66.6 3.0

Investing activities

2.4 32.2
Financing activities

59.5 35.0
Increase in cash and cash equivalents

4.7 5.8

Cash provided by operating activities for the fiscal year ended January 2010 and January 2009 were $66.6 million and $3.0
million respectively The $63.7 million

year-over-year increase in cash from operating activities was driven by $105.7 million
increase in net income loss and $38.7 million increase in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities including $26.1
million of income tax refunds associated with the carryback of our 2008 pre-tax loss These increases were partially offset by an $80.8
million decrease in adjustments to reconcile net income loss to cash provided by operating activities including $33.9 million
decrease in disposals and impairments of assets and $43.3 million change in deferred income taxes which reflected the establishment
of $26.8 million valuation allowance in 2008 and the reversal of that valuation allowance in 2009 Other changes in operating assets
and liabilities included the 2008 decrease in accounts receivable lower sales volume and timing of wholesale payments lower
current-year decrease in inventories current-year includes impact resulting from the reduction in our store base both years reflect
efforts to align inventories with lower sales volume and current-year increase in prepaid expenses and other assets timing of rent
and advertising expenses partially offset by current-year increase in accounts payable timing of payments
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Net cash used in investing activities was $2.4 million for 2009 compared with $32.2 million for the same period one year ago The

$29.8 million decrease in net cash used in investing activities was principally due to lower capital expenditures During 2009 we

invested $2.5 million in property and equipment compared to $32.2 million for the same period one year ago We limited our

purchases of property
and equipment to business-critical expenditures during 2009 In both periods our capital expenditures related

primarily to new and remodeled retail stores and investments in information technology During 2009 we opened four new retail

stores compared with 19 new retail stores opened during the same period one year ago Capital expenditures are projected to be

approximately $10.0 million in 2010

Net cash used in financing activities was $59.5 million for 2009 compared with net cash provided by financing activities of $35.0

million for the same period one year ago The $94.5 million decrease in cash used in provided by financing activities resulted from

an $84.8 million net decrease in short-term borrowings during 2009 compared with $35.8 million net increase in short-term

borrowings in the prior year partially offset by $25.9 million increase in proceeds from the issuance of common stock During fiscal

2009 we completed two separate equity offerings that generated net proceeds
of $26.3 million Book overdrafts are included in the net

change in short-term borrowings

As of January 2010 the remaining authorization under our stock repurchase program was $206.8 million There is no expiration

date governing the period over which we can repurchase shares During 2008 and 2009 we did not purchase any shares of our

common stock We currently have no plans to repurchase our common stock

In June 2006 we entered into Credit Agreement the Credit Agreement with syndicate of banks the Lenders The Credit

Agreement was amended on February 2008 May 30 2008 and November 13 2009 to allow greater flexibility under the existing

financial covenants provide
additional financial covenants modify the credit limit and maturity date increase the cost of borrowing

provide the Lenders with collateral security interest in substantially all of our assets and those of our subsidiaries and impose

additional restrictions and covenants with respect to our operations

The Credit Agreement as amended to date provides revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes
with net aggregate

availability of $40.0 million which amount decreases to $35.0 million as of March 31 2010 and $20.0 million as of December 31

2010 The Credit Agreement terminates in June 2011

We had no outstanding borrowings under the credit facility as of January 2010 Borrowings under the credit facility totaled $79.2

million as of January 2009 We also had outstanding letters of credit of $4.5 million and $5.9 million as of January 2010 and

January 2009 respectively Outstanding letters of credit reduce the amounts available under the credit facility At January 2010

and January 2009 $35.5 million and $5.0 million respectively were available under the credit facility

At January 2010 borrowings under the credit facility bore interest at floating rate and could be maintained as base rate loans tied

to the prime rate plus margin of 4.5% or as Eurocurrency rate loans tied to LIBOR plus margin of 5.5% We also pay certain

facility and agent fees We are subject to certain financial covenants under the agreement including maximum leverage ratio

minimum interest coverage ratio minimum EBITDA requirement and maximum capital expenditure
limits At January 2010 we

were in compliance with all financial covenants

During the fourth quarter
of 2009 we obtained $26.3 million in net proceeds from the issuance of 8.6 million shares of our common

stock through private equity placement and public equity offering These equity financing transactions significantly improved our

liquidity and enhanced our financial flexibility

Cash generated
from operations and our existing credit facility are expected to be sufficient sources of liquidity for the short- and

long-term and should provide adequate funding for capital expenditures In addition our business model which can operate
with

minimal working capital does not require significant
additional capital to fund operations and organic growth During 2010 we expect

to limit borrowings under our credit facility to periods with seasonally low net sales

We have an agreement with GE Money Bank to offer qualified customers revolving credit arrangements to finance purchases from us

the GE Agreement The GE Agreement contains certain financial covenants including maximum leverage ratio and minimum

interest coverage
ratio We were required under the terms of the GE Agreement to provide GE Money Bank with $1.7 million letter

of credit The letter of credit is supported by our Credit Agreement and reduces the amount available under the Credit Agreement The

letter of credit covers the risk to GE Money Bank for sales returns and warranty claims should we be unable to satisfy these claims

Under the terms of our agreement with GE GE Money Bank sets the minimum acceptable credit ratings the interest rates fees and all

other terms and conditions of the customer accounts including collection policies and procedures and is the owner of the accounts

GE Money Bank may draw on this letter of credit by certifying that we have failed to fund any amounts due under the GE Agreement
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

Other than our operating leases and $4.5 million of outstanding letters of credit we do not have any off-balance-sheet financing
summary of our operating lease obligations by fiscal year is included in the Contractual Obligations section below Additional
information

regarding our operating leases is available in Item Properties and Note Leases of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Contractual Obligations

The following table presents information regarding our contractual obligations by fiscal year in thousands

Payments Due by PeriodW

Total Year 13 Years 35 Years SYears

Operating leases 133873 32538 53620 31626 16089
Capital leases 865 574 291
Purchase commitments 2596 2596

Total
137334 35708 53911 31626 16089

Our unrecognized tax benefits of $1.5 million have not been included in the Contractual Obligations table as we are not able to
determine reasonable estimate of timing of the cash settlement with the respective taxing authorities

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP In
connection with the preparation of our financial statements we are required to make estimates and assumptions about future eventsand apply judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities sales expenses and the related disclosure Predicting future
events is inherently an imprecise activity and as such requires the use ofjudgment We base our assumptions estimates and judgments
on historical experience current trends and other factors that management believes to be relevant at the time our consolidated financial
statements are prepared On regular basis management reviews the

accounting policies assumptions estimates and judgments to
ensure that our financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with GAAP However because future events and their
effects cannot be determined with certainty actual results could differ from our assumptions and estimates and such differences could
be material

Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note Business and Summary of Sign fIcant Accounting Policies of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form10-K Management believes the accounting policies discussed below are the most critical because they require managements most
difficult subjective or complex judgments resulting from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain Management has reviewed these critical accounting policies and estimates and related disclosures with the Audit
Committee of our Board
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Our critical accounting policies and estimates relate to asset impairment charges stock-based compensation deferred income taxes

self-insured liabilities warranty liabilities and revenue recognition

Description

Asset Impairment Charges

Long-lived assets other than goodwill and

other intangible assets which are separately

tested for impairment are evaluated for

impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying

value may not be recoverable We generally

estimate fair value of long-lived assets

including our retail stores using the income

approach The inputs used to determine fair

value relate primarily to future assumptions

regarding sales volumes gross profit rates

store operating expenses and applicable

probability weightings regarding future

alternative uses These inputs are

categorized as Level inputs under the fair

value measurements guidance The inputs

used represent managements assumptions

about what information market participants

would use in pricing the assets and are based

upon the best information available at the

balance sheet date

Recoverability of assets to be held and used

is measured by comparison of the carrying

amount of an asset to the estimated fair

value plus net proceeds expected from

disposition of the asset if any When we

recognize an impairment loss the carrying

amount of the asset is reduced to estimated

fair value based on discounted cash flows

quoted market prices or other valuation

techniques

Assets to be disposed of are reported at the

lower of the carrying amount of the asset or

fair value less costs to sell We review store

assets for potential impairment based on

historical cash flows lease termination

provisions and expected future store

operating results

Judgments and Uncertainties

Our impairment loss calculations contain

uncertainties because they require

management to make assumptions and to

apply judgment to identif events or changes

in circumstances indicating the carrying

value of assets may not be recoverable

estimate future cash flows estimate asset

fair values and select discount rate that

reflects the risk inherent in future cash

flows

Expected cash flows may not be realized

which could cause long-lived assets to

become impaired in future periods and could

have material adverse effect on future

results of operations

Effect if Actual Results

Differ From Assumptions

We have not made any material changes in

our impairment
loss assessment

methodology during the past three fiscal

years

As of January 2010 we evaluated 19

under-performing retail stores and one store

expected to close before its lease termination

date that had sufficient projected future cash

flows to support the carrying value of their

long-lived assets and therefore did not

result in additional impairment charges At

January 2010 the carrying amount of the

long-lived assets for these stores totaled $2.1

million

We believe that our estimates and

assumptions used to calculate long-lived

asset impairment charges were reasonable

and reflect the current economic

environment Our fair value calculations

reflect current consumer spending trends

Our fair value calculations assume the

ongoing availability of consumer credit and

our ability to provide
cost-effective

consumer credit options However it is

reasonably possible that an unexpected

decline in consumer spending may expose

us to future impairment charges that could

be material

Alternatively if consumer spending

increases at higher rate than we

anticipated impaired stores which continue

to operate could generate higher than

expected future cash flows and operating

profits

If we recognize an impairment loss the

adjusted carrying amount of the asset

becomes its new cost basis For

depreciable long-lived asset the new cost

basis will be depreciated amortized over

the remaining useful life of that asset

Asset impairment charges totaled $0.7

million $34.6 million and $0.4 million for

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively During

2009 total impairment charges included

$0.7 million charge for long-lived assets

related to 12 under- performing retail store

locations As of January 2010 the

remaining carrying amount of the long-lived

assets at these stores totaled $35000
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Description

Stock-Based Compensation

We have stock-based compensation plan

which includes non-qualified stock options

and nonvested share awards and an

employee stock purchase plan See Note

Business and Summary of Sign Ulcant

Accounting Policies and Note

Shareholders Equity to the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements included

in Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data of this Annual Report

on Form 10-K for complete discussion of

our stock-based compensation programs

We determine the fair value of our non-

qualified stock option awards and the

resulting compensation expense at the date

of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton

option-pricing model The most significant

inputs into the Black-Scholes-Merton model

are exercise price our estimate of expected

stock price volatility and the expected term

of the options

We determine the fair value of our

performance-based nonvested share awards

at the date of grant using generally accepted

valuation techniques and the closing market

price of our stock

Judgments and Uncertainties

Option-pricing models and generally

accepted valuation techniques require

management to make assumptions and to

apply judgment to determine the fair value

of our awards These assumptions and

judgments include estimating the future

volatility of our stock price future employee

forfeiture rates and future employee stock

option exercise behaviors Changes in these

assumptions can materially affect the fair

value estimate or future earnings

adjustments

Performance-based nonvested share awards

require management to make assumptions

regarding the likelihood of achieving

performance goals

Effect if Actual Results

Differ From Assumptions

We do not believe there is reasonable

likelihood that there will be material

change in the future estimates or

assumptions we use to determine stock-

based compensation expense However if

actual results are not consistent with our

estimates or assumptions we may be

exposed to changes in stock-based

compensation expense that could be

material

If actual results are not consistent with the

assumptions used the stock-based

compensation expense reported in our

financial statements may not be

representative of the actual economic cost of

the stock-based compensation Also if the

actual forfeiture rates are not consistent with

the assumptions used it could result in

future earnings adjustments

10% change in our stock-based

compensation expense for the year ended

January 2010 would have affected net

income by approximately $197000 in 2009
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Description

Deferred Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and

liabilities for the future tax consequences

attributable to temporary differences

between the financial statement carrying

amounts of existing assets and liabilities and

their respective tax bases Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are measured using

enacted tax rates expected to apply to

taxable income in the years in which those

temporary differences are expected to be

recovered or settled

Realization of deferred tax assets is

dependent on generating sufficient taxable

income within the carryback or carryforward

periods provided for in the tax law of each

applicable tax jurisdiction

We establish valuation allowance for any

portion of deferred tax assets that are not

considered more likely than not to be

realized Our evaluation includes review of

the future reversal of existing taxable

temporary differences future taxable

income taxable income available in

carryback periods and tax planning

strategies

Our net deferred tax assets prior to the

valuation allowance totaled $24.3 million

and $34.2 million respectively for 2009

and 2008

Judgments and Uncertainties

Our deferred tax valuation allowance

contains uncertainties because it requires

management to consider all available

evidence both positive and negative

including past operating results and apply

judgment on our ability to generate future

taxable income sufficient to realize our

deferred tax assets

From 2002 through 2007 we generated

income before income taxes on average of

$50.6 million Our 2008 operating results

were significantly affected by the industry-

wide decrease in consumer spending and we

realized loss before income taxes of $72.7

million including $34.6 million of asset

impairment charges In 2009 we returned to

profitability and generated income before

income taxes of $14.7 million

During 2008 due to our net loss our

expectations that consumer spending would

remain weak and uncertainty regarding

future taxable income we determined that it

was more likely than not that portion of

our deferred tax assets would not be realized

and we established $26.8 million deferred

tax valuation allowance

In the fourth quarter of 2009 after reviewing

all evidence we concluded that it was more

likely than not that substantially all of our

deferred tax assets would be realizable Our

conclusion was based on the quality and

quantity of positive evidence including our

return to profitability in 2009 our

expectations of profitability going forward

successful renegotiation of our credit

facility additional equity infusions the

significant improvement in our liquidity

position actions taken to reduce our cost

structure all providing support for our

ability to rely on our estimates of future

profitability Based on that evidence much

of it occurring in the fourth quarter we

reversed substantially all of the deferred tax

valuation allowance at the end of 2009 In

order to fully realize our federal deferred tax

assets we would need to generate

approximately $54 million of future taxable

income There is no expiration period for us

to utilize our federal deferred tax assets

Effect if Actual Results

Differ From Assumptions

We have not made any material changes in

our deferred tax assessment methodology

during the past three fiscal years

We do not believe there is reasonable

likelihood that there will be material

change in the estimates or assumptions used

in determining the need for deferred tax

valuation allowance However if deeper

economic slowdown occurs or consumer

spending unexpectedly declines our

conclusion regarding the need for deferred

tax valuation allowance could change in

future periods

35



Description

Self-Insured Liabifities

We are self-insured for certain losses related

to health and workers compensation claims

However we obtain third-party insurance

coverage to limit our exposure to these

claims

When estimating our self-insured liabilities

we consider number of factors including

historical claims experience demographic

factors severity factors and valuations

provided by third-party administrators

Periodically management reviews its

assumptions and the valuations provided by

third-party administrators to determine the

adequacy of our self-insured liabilities

Warranty Liabilities

The estimated cost to service warranty

claims of customers is included in cost of

sales This estimate is based on historical

trends of warranty claims

We regularly assess and adjust the estimate

of accrued warranty claims by updating

claims rates for actual trends and projected

claim costs

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the sales price

is fixed or determinable collectability is

reasonably assured and title passes

Amounts billed to customers for delivery

and set up are included in net sales Revenue

is reported net of estimated sales returns and

excludes sales taxes

We accrue for sales returns at the time

revenue is recognized and charge actual

returns against the liability when they are

received Our general return policy is to

allow returns after 30-day trial period We
estimate future projected returns based on

historical return rates

Judgments and Uncertainties

Our self-insured liabilities contain

uncertainties because management is

required to make assumptions and to apply

judgment to estimate the ultimate cost to

settle reported claims and claims incurred

but not reported as of the balance sheet date

Our warranty liability contains uncertainties

because our warranty obligations cover an

extended period of time revision of

estimated claim rates or the projected cost of

materials and freight associated with

sending replacement parts to customers

could have material adverse effect on

future results of operations

Our estimates of sales returns contain

uncertainties as actual returns may vary
from expected rates resulting in adjustments

to net sales in future periods These

adjustments could have material adverse

effect on future results of operations

Effect if Actual Results

Differ From Assumptions

We have not made any material changes in

the accounting methodology used to

establish our self-insured liabilities during
the past three fiscal years

We do not believe there is reasonable

likelihood that there will be material

change in the estimates or assumptions we
use to calculate our self-insured liabilities

However if actual results are not consistent

with our estimates or assumptions we may
be exposed to losses or gains that could be

material

10% change in our self-insured liabilities

at January 2010 would have affected net

income by approximately $281000 in 2009

We do not believe there is reasonable

likelihood that there will be material

change in the estimates or assumptions we

use to calculate our warranty liability

However if actual results are not consistent

with our estimates or assumptions we may
be exposed to losses or gains that could be

material

10% change in our warranty liability at

January 2010 would have affected net

income by approximately $436000 in 2009

We have not made any material changes in

the accounting methodology used to

establish our sales returns allowance during

the past three fiscal years

We do not believe there is reasonable

likelihood that there will be material

change in the estimates or assumptions we

use to calculate our sales returns allowance

However if actual results are not consistent

with our estimates or assumptions we may
be exposed to losses or gains that could be

material

10% change in our sales returns

allowance at January 2010 would have

affected net income by approximately

$176000 in 2009
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Fair Value Measurements In January 2010 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued guidance clarifying existing

disclosure requirements as well as guidance on new disclosure requirements regarding fair value measurements The new guidance

requires separate disclosure of transfers within the fair value hierarchy between level and level In addition disclosure of the gross

amounts will be required for all purchase sales issuances and settlements within level of the fair value hierarchy This guidance also

clarifies current guidance regarding the disclosure of the level of disaggregation company uses for its fair value measurements Also

further disclosures regarding inputs and valuation techniques used for the fair value measurements will be required This guidance is

effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2009 We will adopt these disclosure provisions beginning in the first quarter

of 2010 We do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

At January 2010 we had no short-term borrowings We do not currently manage interest rate risk on our debt through the use of

derivative instruments

Any borrowings under our revolving credit facility are currently not subject to material interest rate risk The credit facilitys interest

rate may be reset due to fluctuations in market-based index such as the prime rate or LIBOR
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountin2 Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Select Comfort Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Select Comfort Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 2010
and January 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity deficit and cash flows for each of
the fiscal years in the three-year period ended January 2010 In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements
we also have audited financial statement schedule II related to valuation and qualifying accounts These consolidated financial

statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial position of
Select Comfort Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 2010 and January 2009 and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the fiscal

years in the three-year period ended January 2010 in conformity with U.S generally accepted
accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

As described in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 Fair Value
Measurements included in FASB ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures and SFAS 159 The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities included in FASB ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments on December 30 2007 and
FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes included in FASB ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes on
December 31 2006

Wi

Minneapolis Minnesota

February 25 2010
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

January 2010 and January 2009

in thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
17717 13057

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $379 and $713 respectively 5094 4939

Inventories
15646 18675

Income taxes receivable
3893 25900

Prepaid expenses
5879 4109

Deferred income taxes
5153 1323

Other current assets
720 1150

Total current assets
54102 69153

Property and equipment net
37682 53274

Deferred income taxes
19071 5941

Other assets
7385 7045

Total assets
118240 135413

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity Deficit

Current liabilities

Borrowings under revolving credit facility
79150

Accounts payable
37538 40274

Customer prepayments
11237 11480

Accruals

Sales returns
2885 2744

Compensation and benefits
15518 14575

Taxes and withholding
4528 2938

Other current liabilities
7831 8526

Total current liabilities
79537 159687

Warranty liabilities
5286 5956

Capital lease obligations
262 621

Other long-term liabilities
10697 10779

Total non-current liabilities
16245 17356

Total liabilities
95782 177043

Shareholders equity deficit

Undesignated preferred stock 5000 shares authorized no shares issued and outstanding

Common stock $0.01 par value 142500 shares authorized 54310 and 44962 shares issued and

outstanding respectively
543 450

Additional paid-in capital
32860 4417

Accumulated deficit 10945 46497

Total shareholders equity deficit
22458 41630

Total liabilities and shareholders equity deficit
118240 135413

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended January 2010 January 2009 and December 29 2007

in thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Net sales

544202 608524 799242
Cost of sales

208742 249952 312827
Gross profit 335460 358572 486415

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 259244 332068 372467
General and administrative

49560 57994 64351
Research and development 1973 3374 5682
Terminated equity financing Costs 3324
Asset impairment charges 686 34594 409

Total operating expenses 314787 428030 442909
Operating income loss 20673 69458 43506
Other expense net 5983 3285 40
Income loss before income taxes

14690 72743 43466
Income tax benefit expense 20862 2566 15846
Net income loss 35552 70177 27620

Basic net income loss per share

Net income loss per share basic
0.78 1.59 0.59

Weighted-average common shares basic 45682 44186 46536
Diluted net income loss per share

Net income loss per share diluted
0.77 1.59 0.57

Weighted-average common shares diluted 46198 44186 48292

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity Deficit

Years ended January 2010 January 2009 and December 29 2007

in thousands

Balance at December 30 2006

Exercise of common stock options

Tax benefit from stock-based compensation

Stock-based compensation

Repurchases of common stock

Issuances of common stock

Net income

Balance at December 29 2007

Exercise of common stock options

Tax benefit from stock-based compensation

Stock-based compensation

Issuances of common stock

Net loss

Balance at January 2009

Exercise of common stock options

Exercise of warrants

Tax benefit from stock-based compensation

Stock-based compensation

Issuances of common stock

Net income

Balance at January 2010

51544 515 4039

566 3483

1887

6252

7617 76 16756

104 1095

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

Deficit

111140

115080

27620

2368044597 446

61 92

28

3702

304 595

70177

44962 450 4417 46497
130

20

1234
3233

70 26314
35552

10945

115694

3489

1887

6252

131912
1096

27620

24126
93

28

3702

598

70177

41630
130

20

1234
3236

26384

35552

22458

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Common Stock Additional

Paid-In

Shares Amount Capital
Total

57

2000

328

6963

54310 543 32860
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended January 2010 January 2009 and December 29 2007

in thousands

2009 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss
35552 70177 27620

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by operating
activities

Depreciation and amortization
19054 22186 24791

Stock-based compensation 3236 3702 6252
Disposals and impairments of assets 683 34577 596
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 19 1497
Changes in deferred income taxes 18209 25075 7280
Other net

270
Change in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 155 13963 6738
Inventories

3029 13842 8397
Income taxes receivable 22007 25900
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1776 7627 1020
Accounts payable 2545 20047 12201
Customer prepayments 243 3153 1225
Accrued sales returns

141 1007 156
Accrued compensation and benefits

943 250 5179
Accrued taxes and withholding 1604 1846 1646
Warranty liabilities 906 1454 719
Other accruals and liabilities 866 452 2866

Net cash provided by operating activities 66639 2973 44031
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment 2459 32202 43514
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 15
Proceeds from sales and maturity of marketable debt securities 81086

Net cash used in provided by investing activities 2444 32202 37572
Cash flows from financing activities

Net decrease increase in short-term borrowings 84756 35809 45240
Repurchases of common stock

134452
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 26534 651 4572
Debt issuance costs 1313 1472
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 19 1497

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 59535 35007 83143
Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 4660 5778 1540Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

year 13057 7279 8819
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17717 13057 7279

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Income taxes refunded paid 25978 1313 20622
Interest paid 4747 3636 1095
Capital lease obligations incurred

674 1032
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable 388 770 4960

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business

Select Comfort Corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiaries Select Comfort or the Company develop manufacture and

market premium quality adjustable-firmness
beds and related bedding accessories in the United States In addition we also sell to

wholesale customers in Alaska Hawaii Canada and Australia We sell through four distribution channels Retail Direct

Commerce and Wholesale The percentage of our total net sales from each of our channels during the last three years was as follows

2009 2008 2007

Retail 81.2% 78.2% 75.4%

Direct 6.2% 7.7% 8.0%

E-Commerce 5.3% 6.1% 6.8%

Wholesale 7.3% 8.0% 9.8%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Select Comfort Corporation and our subsidiaries All significant

intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to December 31 Fiscal years and their respective fiscal year ends are as follows fiscal

2009 ended January 2010 fiscal 2008 ended January 2009 and fiscal 2007 ended December 29 2007 Fiscal 2008 had 53 weeks

Fiscal years
2009 and 2007 each had 52 weeks

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP
requires us to make estimates and assumptions These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of sales and

expenses during the reporting period Predicting future events is inherently an imprecise activity and as such requires the use of

judgment The uncertain economic environment has combined to increase the uncertainty inherent in such estimates and assumptions

As future events and their effects cannot be determined with precision
actual results could differ significantly from these estimates

Changes in those estimates resulting from continuing changes in the economic environment will be reflected in the financial

statements in future periods Our critical accounting policies consist of asset impairment charges stock-based compensation deferred

income taxes self-insured liabilities warranty liabilities and revenue recognition

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less Outstanding checks in

excess of funds on deposit book overdrafts totaled $7.4 million and $11.7 million at January 2010 and January 2009

respectively Book overdrafts are included in accounts payable in our consolidated balance sheets and in financing activities in our

consolidated statements of cash flows

The majority of payments due from third-parties for credit card and debit card transactions are processed within one to three business

days All credit card and debit card transactions that process
in less than seven days are classified as cash and cash equivalents

Amounts due for these transactions that are classified as cash and cash equivalents
totaled $5.5 million and $2.1 million at January

2010 and January 2009 respectively
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for expected losses and consist primarily of wholesale receivables and
receivables from third-party financiers for customer credit card purchases The allowance is recognized in an amount equal to

anticipated future write-offs We estimate future write-offs based on delinquencies aging trends industry risk trends and our historical

experience Account balances are charged off against the allowance when we believe it is probable the receivable will not be
recovered

Marketable Debt Securities

Marketable debt securities included highly liquid investment grade debt instruments with original maturities of greater than 90 daysissued by the U.S government and related agencies and municipalities We did not hold any marketable debt securities at January2010 or January 2009

Investments held had an original maturity of up to 36 months Marketable debt securities with
remaining maturity of greater than one

year were classified as non-current

Through December 30 2006 we classified our marketable debt securities as held-to-maturity We historically valued our
marketable debt securities at amortized cost based upon our intent and ability to hold these securities to maturity On March 23 2007
marketable debt securities of $67.8 million with an unrealized net loss of $0.3 million were transferred from held-to-maturity
classification to available-for-sale classification Investments classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair market value The
classification change was made to increase

liquidity and fund our common stock repurchase program

During 2007 marketable debt securities with cost of $64.4 million were sold at realized loss of $0.3 million Realized gains and
losses are included in other expense net in our consolidated statements of operations

Inventories

Inventories include material labor and overhead and are stated at the lower of cost or market Cost is determined by the first-in first-
out method

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment carried at cost is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the contractual term of the lease
with consideration of lease renewal options if renewal appears probable Property under capital lease is comprised of manufacturing
equipment and computer equipment used in our retail operations and corporate support areas Estimated useful lives of our propertyand equipment by major asset category are as follows

Leasehold improvements to 10
years

Office furniture and equipment to years
Production machinery computer equipment and software to years
Property under capital lease

to years

Other Assets

Other assets include deposits patents trademarks and goodwill Patents and trademarks are amortized using the straight-line method
over periods ranging from 10 to 17 years The carrying value of goodwill at both

January 2010 and January 2009 was $2.9
million
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Asset Impairment Charges

We review our long-lived assets and identifiable intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of

the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset plus net proceeds expected

from disposition of the asset if any When we recognize an impairment loss the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to estimated

fair value based on discounted cash flows quoted market prices or other valuation techniques Assets to be disposed of are reported at

the lower of the carrying amount of the asset or fair value less costs to sell We review store assets for potential impairment based on

historical cash flows lease termination provisions and expected future store operating results

The test for goodwill impairment is two-step process and is performed at least annually The first step is comparison of the fair

value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount including goodwill If this step
reflects impairment then the loss would be

measured as the excess of recorded goodwill over its implied fair value Implied fair value is the excess of fair value of the reporting

unit over the fair value of all identified assets and liabilities Fair value is determined utilizing widely accepted valuation techniques

including quoted market prices and our market capitalization During the fourth quarter of 2009 we completed our annual impairment

testing of goodwill using the valuation techniques as described above and determined there was no impairment

Warranty Liabilities

We provide 20-year limited warranty on our adjustable-firmness beds The customer participates over the last 18 years
of the

warranty period by paying portion of the retail value of replacement parts Estimated warranty costs are expensed at the time of sale

based on historical claims rates incurred by us and are adjusted for any current trends as appropriate Actual warranty claim costs

could differ from these estimates We classify as noncurrent those estimated warranty costs expected to be paid out in greater
than one

year The activity in the accrued warranty liabilities account was as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Balance at beginning of year
8049 9503 10223

Additions charged to costs and expenses for current-year sales 5114 6105 10383

Deductions from reserves 5822 9537 11093

Changes in liability for pre-existing
warranties during the current year

including expirations
198 1978 10

Balance at end of period
7143 8049 9503

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most

advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date We use

three-tier fair value hierarchy based upon observable and non-observable inputs that prioritizes
the information used to develop our

assumptions regarding fair value Fair value measurements are separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy We

adopted the guidance for fair value measurements as it related to financial assets and liabilities on December 30 2007 the beginning

of our 2008 fiscal year and for nonfinancial assets and liabilities on January 2009 the beginning of our 2009 fiscal year The

adoption of this guidance had no impact on our consolidated financial statements

We are permitted by current accounting guidance to measure certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value that are not currently

required to be measured at fair value the Fair Value Option Election of the Fair Value Option is made on an instrument-by-

instrument basis and is irrevocable At the adoption date unrealized gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities for which the

Fair Value Option has been elected are reported as cumulative adjustment to beginning retained earnings We have not elected the

Fair Value Option as we had no financial assets or liabilities that qualified for this treatment In the future if we elect the Fair Value

Option for certain financial assets and liabilities we would report unrealized gains and losses due to changes in their fair value in net

income at each subsequent reporting date

45



SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

The canying value of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable borrowings under our revolving credit

facility and other current assets and liabilities approximate fair value because of their short-term maturity

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the sales price is fixed or determinable collectability is reasonably assured and title passes Amounts
billed to customers for delivery and set up are included in net sales Revenue is reported net of estimated sales returns and excludes
sales taxes

We accept sales returns after 30-day trial period The accrued sales returns estimate is based on historical return rates which are
reasonably consistent from period to period and is adjusted for any current trends as appropriate If actual returns vary from expected
rates sales in future periods are adjusted

Cost of Sales Sales and Marketing General andAdministrative GA and Research Development RD Expenses

The following tables summarize the primary costs classified in each major expense category the classification of which may vary
within our industry

Cost of Sales

Costs associated with purchasing manufacturing shipping

handling and

delivering our products to our stores and customers

Physical inventory losses scrap and obsolescence

Related occupancy and depreciation expenses and

Estimated costs to service warranty claims of customers

GA

Payroll and benefit costs for corporate employees including

information

technology legal human resources finance sales and marketing
administration investor relations and risk management

Occupancy costs of corporate facilities

Depreciation related to corporate assets

Information hardware software and maintenance

Insurance

Investor relations costs and

Other overhead costs

Sales Marketing

Advertising and media production

Marketing and selling materials such as brochures videos
customer

mailings and in-store signage

Payroll and benefits for sales and customer service staff

Store occupancy costs

Store depreciation expense and

Promotional financing costs

RDW

Internal labor and benefits related to research and development

activities

Outside consulting services related to research and development

activities

and

Testing equipment related to research and development
activities

Costs incurred in comiection with RD are charged to expense as

incurred
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Operating Leases

We rent office and manufacturing space
under operating leases which in addition to the minimum lease payments require payment of

proportionate share of the real estate taxes and certain building operating expenses We also rent retail space under operating leases

which in addition to the minimum lease payments may require payment of contingent rents based upon sales levels and payment of

proportionate
share of the real estate taxes and certain building operating expenses

Rent expense is recognized on straight-line basis over the lease term after consideration of rent escalations and rent holidays We

record any difference between the straight-line rent amounts and amounts payable under the leases as part of deferred rent in other

current liabilities or other long-term liabilities as appropriate The lease term for purposes of the calculation begins on the earlier of

the lease commencement date or the date we take possession
of the property During lease renewal negotiations that extend beyond the

original lease term we estimate straight-line rent expense
based on current market conditions At January 2010 and January

2009 deferred rent included in other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets was $1.4 million and $1.3 million

respectively
and deferred rent included in other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets was $4.0 million and $4.3

million respectively

Leasehold improvements that are funded by landlord incentives or allowances under an operating lease are recorded as deferred lease

incentives in other current liabilities or other long-term liabilities as appropriate and amortized as reductions to rent expense over the

lease term At January 2010 and January 2009 deferred lease incentives included in other current liabilities in our consolidated

balance sheets were $1.4 million and $1.6 million respectively and deferred lease incentives included in other long-term liabilities in

our consolidated balance sheets were $4.6 million and $6.1 million respectively

Lease payments that depend on factors that are not measurable at the inception of the lease such as future sales levels are contingent

rents and are excluded from minimum lease payments and included in the determination of total rent expense when it is probable the

expense
has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable Future payments for real estate taxes and certain building operating

expenses for which we are obligated are not included in minimum lease payments

We also lease delivery trucks associated with our home delivery service which in addition to the minimum lease payments require

payment of management fee and contain certain residual value guarantee provisions that would become due at the expiration of the

operating agreement
if the fair value of the leased vehicles is less than the guaranteed

residual value As of January 2010 the

maximum guaranteed residual value at lease expiration was $0.1 million Historically payments related to these guarantees have been

insignificant We believe the likelihood of funding the guarantee obligation under any provision of the operating lease is remote and

thus we have not recognized liability

Pre-opening Costs

Costs associated with the start up and promotion of new store openings are expensed as incurred

Advertising Costs

We incur advertising costs associated with print and broadcast advertisements Advertising costs are charged to expense when the ad

first runs Advertising expense was $61.4 million $92.0 million and $109.9 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Advertising

costs deferred and included in prepaid expenses in our consolidated balance sheets were $1.8 million and $0.7 million as of January

2010 and January 2009 respectively

Insurance

We are self-insured for certain losses related to health and workers compensation claims although we do obtain third-party insurance

coverage to limit exposure to these claims We estimate our self-insured liabilities using number of factors including historical

claims experience and analysis of incurred but not reported claims Our self-insurance liability was $4.6 million and $4.8 million at

January 2010 and January 2009 respectively and is included in other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets
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Stock-Based Compensation

We record stock-based compensation expense based on the awards fair value at the date of grant and the awards that are expected tovest We recognize stock-based compensation expense over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in
exchange for the award or to their eligible retirement date if earlier We use the Black-Scholes-Merton

option-pricing model toestimate the fair value of stock options and resulting compensation expense The most significant inputs into the Black-ScholesMerton
option-pricing model are exercise price our estimate of expected stock price volatility and the

weighted-average expected lifeof the
options We reduce compensation expense by estimated forfeitures We include as part of cash flows from financing activitiesthe benefit of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense

See Note Shareholders Equity for additional information on stock-based compensation

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between thefinancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesare measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the

years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is recognized in income inthe period that includes the enactment date valuation allowance is established for any portion of deferred tax assets that are not
considered more likely than not to be realized We evaluate all available positive and negative evidence including the existence ofcumulative

year losses and our forecast of future taxable income to assess the need for valuation allowance on our deferred tax
assets

We account for uncertain tax benefits by recording liability for
unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions taken or

expected to be taken in our tax returns

We classify interest and penalties on tax uncertainties as component of income tax benefit expense in our consolidated statementsof operations

Income Loss Per Share

Basic income loss per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income loss attributable to common shareholders bythe
weighted-average number of common shares

outstanding during the period Diluted income loss per share includes potentiallydilutive common shares consisting of stock options restricted stock and warrants using the
treasury stock method In 2008 weexcluded shares of restricted stock and stock options from our computation of diluted net loss per share as their inclusion would havehad an anti-dilutive effect i.e resulted in lower loss

per share

Sources of Supply

We currently obtain materials and components used to produce our beds from outside sources As result we are dependent uponsuppliers that in some instances are our sole source of supply We are continuing our efforts to dual-source key components Thefailure of one or more of our suppliers to provide us with materials or components on timely basis could
significantly impact ourconsolidated results of

operations and net income loss per share We believe we can obtain these raw materials and components fromother sources of
supply in the ordinary course of business although an unexpected loss of supply over short period of time may notallow us to replace these sources in the ordinary course of business
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New Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Codification In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued standard that

established the FASB Accounting Standards Codification the ASC which effectively amended the hierarchy of U.S generally

accepted accounting principles GAAP and established only two levels of GAAP authoritative and nonauthoritative All previously

existing accounting standard documents were superseded and the ASC became the single source of authoritative nongovernmental

GAAP except for rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC which are sources of

authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants All other non-grandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included in the ASC became

nonauthoritative The ASC was intended to provide access to the authoritative guidance related to particular topic in one place New

guidance issued subsequent to June 30 2009 will be communicated by the FASB through Accounting Standards Updates The ASC

was effective for financial statements for interim or annual reporting periods ending after September 15 2009 We adopted and

applied the provisions of the ASC for our third quarter of 2009 and have eliminated references to pre-ASC accounting standards

throughout our consolidated financial statements As the ASC was not intended to change or alter existing GAAP it did not have any

impact on our consolidated financial statements

Subsequent Events In May 2009 the FASB issued new guidance on the treatment of subsequent events which is intended to

establish general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial

statements are issued or are available to be issued Specifically this guidance sets forth the period after the balance sheet date during

which management of reporting entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or disclosure

in the financial statements the circumstances under which an entity should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance

sheet date in its financial statements and the disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the

balance sheet date This new guidance was effective for fiscal years and interim periods ended after June 15 2009 and must be

applied prospectively We adopted and applied the provisions of the new guidance for our second quarter 2009 and have included the

required disclosures in Note Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Our adoption of the new guidance did not

have an impact on our consolidated financial statements

Fair Value and Other-Than-Temporary Impairments In April 2009 the FASB issued new guidance intended to provide additional

application guidance and enhanced disclosures regarding fair value measurements and impairments of securities New guidance

related to determining fair value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased and

identifying transactions that are not orderly provides additional guidelines for estimating fair value in accordance with pre-existing

guidance on fair value measurements New guidance on recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairments provides

additional guidance related to the disclosure of impairment losses on securities and the accounting for impairment losses on debt

securities but does not amend existing guidance related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities Lastly new

guidance on interim disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments increases the frequency of fair value disclosures The new

guidance was effective for fiscal
years

and interim periods ended after June 15 2009 As such we adopted the new guidance in the

second quarter of 2009 and have included the additional required disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments and

valuation teclmiques within Note Fair Value Measurements Our adoption of the new guidance did not have material impact on

our consolidated financial statements

Subsequent Events

Events that have occurred subsequent to January 2010 have been evaluated through February 25 2010 the date we filed this

Annual Report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission There have been no subsequent events that occurred

during such period that would require disclosure in this Form 10-K or would be required to be recognized in the consolidated financial

statements as of or for the fiscal year ended January 2010
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Fair Value Measurements

On January 2009 we adopted new guidance for fair value measurements related to nonfinancial assets and liabilities Our

nonfinancial assets relate primarily to long-lived assets and goodwill We adopted the guidance for fair value measurements related to

financial assets and liabilities on December 30 2007 the beginning of fiscal 2008

The guidance for fair value measurements establishes the authoritative definition of fair value sets out framework for measuring fair

value and outlines the required disclosures regarding fair value measurements Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an

asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date We use three-tier fair value hierarchy based upon observable and

non-observable inputs as follows

Level observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets

Level inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly and

Level unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data which require the reporting entity to develop its own

assumptions

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on recurring basis

At January 2010 we did not have any nonfinancial assets or liabilities that required fair-value measurement on recurring basis

Our financial assets and liabilities requiring fair-value measurement on recurring basis were not significant as of January 2010

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on non-recurring basis

Goodwill

The test for goodwill impairment is performed at least annually Fair value is determined using market-based approach utilizing

widely accepted valuation techniques including quoted market prices and our market capitalization These inputs are categorized as

Level inputs

Long-Lived Assets

We generally estimate long-lived asset fair values including our retail stores using the income approach The inputs used to

determine fair value relate primarily to future assumptions regarding sales volumes gross profit rates store operating expenses and

applicable probability weightings regarding future alternative uses These inputs are categorized as Level inputs The inputs used

represent managements assumptions about what information market participants would use in pricing the assets and are based upon

the best information available at the balance sheet date

Our projected fair value calculations reflect recent consumer spending trends with no significant change in the macroeconomic

environment for the foreseeable future Our fair value calculations assume the ongoing availability of consumer credit and our ability

to provide cost-effective consumer credit options
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The following table presents the asset impairment charges we recorded during 2009 and the remaining net carrying value of those

impaired long-lived assets as of January
2010 in thousands

Fair Value Measured and

Recorded

At Reporting Date Using

Net Carrying Value Impairment

as of
Charges for

January 2010 Level Level Level 2009

Long-lived assets
35

35 686

Financial Assets and Liabilities not Measured at Fair Value

Certain of our financial assets and liabilities are recorded at their carrying amounts which approximate
fair value based on their short-

term nature or variable interest rate These financial assets and liabilities include cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable

accounts payable and short-term borrowings under our revolving credit facility

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following in thousands

January January

2010 2009

Raw materials
3257 4280

Work in progress
102 99

Finished goods
12287 14296

15646 18675

Our finished goods inventory as of January 2010 was comprised of $4.8 million of finished beds including retail display beds and

deliveries in-transit to those customers who have utilized home delivery services $3.4 million of finished components that were ready

for assembly for the completion of beds and $4.1 million of retail accessories

Our finished goods inventory as of January 2009 was comprised of $5.6 million of finished beds including retail display beds and

deliveries in-transit to those customers who have utilized home delivery services $2.7 million of finished components that were ready

for assembly for the completion of beds and $6.0 million of retail accessories

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following in thousands

January January

2010 2009

Land
1999 1999

Leasehold improvements
76579 89321

Office furniture and equipment
5260 5396

Production machinery computer equipment and software 66966 68130

Property under capital lease
1837 1163

Less Accumulated depreciation and amortization
114959 112735

37682 53274
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During 2009 2008 and 2007 we recorded asset impairment charges of $0.7 million $34.6 million and $0.4 million respectively The
impairment charges for 2009 were primarily related to assets at certain stores expected to close prior to their normal lease termination
dates During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we elected to abandon our plan to implement an integrated suite of SAP-based
applications in 2009 and recognized asset impairment charges totaling $27.6 million In addition during 2008 and 2007 we reviewed
all of our stores for impairment and determined that certain store assets at underperforming stores were impaired We recognized
impairment charges of $7.0 million and $0.4 million respectively for the difference between the fair value and the carrying amountsof the related long-lived assets

Asset impairment charges is one of our critical accounting estimates and requires management to make estimates about future events
including sales growth rates cash flows and asset fair values We estimate fair values based on probability-weighted discounted cash
flows quoted market prices or other valuation

techniques Predicting future events is inherently an imprecise activity If actual results
are not consistent with the estimates and assumptions used in our asset impairment calculations we may incur additional impairment
charges in the near term

Leases

Operating Leases

Rent expense was as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007
Facility Rents

Minimum rents
36040 38157 32663

Contingent rents
1507 1962 7564

Total
37547 40119 40227

Equipment rents

2238 3412 2753

Capital Leases

During 2009 we entered into capital leases totaling $0.7 million for certain computer software During 2008 we entered into capital
leases totaling $1.0 million for certain computer and

manufacturing equipment At January 2010 and January 2009 $0.5 million
and $0.3 million respectively were included in other current liabilities and $0.3 million and $0.5 million respectively were included
in other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets

The
aggregate minimum rental commitments under operating leases and future maturities of capital leases for subsequent years are as

follows in thousands

Operating Capital
2010

32538 574
2011

29115 285
2012

24505
2013

19372
2014

12254
Thereafter

16089
Total future minimum lease payments 133873 865

Less amount representing interest 52
Present value of future minimum lease payments 813
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Debt

Credit Agreement

In June 2006 we entered into Credit Agreement the Credit Agreement with syndicate
of banks the Lenders The Credit

Agreement was amended on February 2008 May 30 2008 and November 13 2009 to allow greater flexibility under the existing

financial covenants provide additional financial covenants modif the credit limit and maturity date increase the cost of borrowing

provide the Lenders with collateral security interest in substantially all of our assets and those of our subsidiaries and impose

additional restrictions and covenants with respect to our operations

The Credit Agreement as amended to date provides revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes
with net aggregate

availability of $40.0 million which amount decreases to $35.0 million as of March 31 2010 and $20.0 million as of December 31

2010 The Credit Agreement terminates in June 2011

We had no outstanding borrowings as of January 2010 We had outstanding borrowings of $79.2 million under the credit facility as

of January 2009 We also had outstanding letters of credit of $4.5 million and $5.9 million as of January 2010 and January

2009 respectively Outstanding letters of credit reduce the amounts available under the credit facility At January 2010 and January

2009 $35.5 million and $5.0 million respectively were available under this credit facility

Borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at floating rate and may be maintained as base rate loans tied to the prime rate

plus margin of 4.5% or as Eurocurrency rate loans tied to LIBOR plus margin of 5.5% At January 2009 the interest rate on

borrowings outstanding under the credit agreements was 6.0% We also pay certain facility and agent fees We are subject to certain

financial covenants under the agreement including maximum leverage ratio minimum interest coverage ratio minimum EBITDA

requirement
and maximum capital expenditure

limits At January 2010 we were in compliance with all financial covenants

Shareholders Equity

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

We compensate officers directors and key employees with stock-based compensation under three stock plans approved by our

shareholders in 1990 1997 and 2004 and administered under the supervision of our Board of Directors Board At January 2010

total of 852000 shares were available for future grant under the 2004 stock plan Stock option awards are granted at exercise prices

equal to the closing price of our stock on the date of grant Generally options vest proportionally over periods of three to four years

from the dates of the grant and expire after ten years Compensation expense
is recognized ratably over the vesting period
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Stock Options

summary of our stock option activity for the year ended January 2010 is as follows in thousands except per share amounts

Weighted-

Weighted- Average

Average Remaining

Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Stock Price Term Intrinsic

Options _per Share years Value

Outstanding at January 2009 5074 10.67 4.9
Granted

575 1.72
Exercised 57 2.29

Canceled/Forfeited 781 11.44

Outstanding at January 2010 4811 9.57 4.8 9935

Exercisable at January 2010
3281 8.60 3.4 6286

Aggregate intrinsic value includes only those options where the current share price is equal to or greater than the share price on the
date of grant At January 2009 the intrinsic value of all outstanding options was zero

Other information
pertaining to options for the years ended January 2010 January 2009 and December 29 2007 is as follows

in thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted 1.17 1.65 8.94
Total intrinsic value at exercise of stock options exercised 140 115 6637
Cash received from the exercise of stock options 130 92 3489
Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements

of operations 2184 2916 4528
Excess income tax benefits from exercise of stock options 19 1497

At January 2010 there was $4.7 million of total stock option compensation expense related to non-vested awards not yet
recognized which is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of 4.6 years

Determining Fair Value

We estimated the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model and single option award
approach Forfeitures are estimated using historical experience and projected employee turnover description of significant

assumptions used to estimate the expected volatility risk-free interest rate and expected terms is follows

Expected Volatility Expected volatility was determined based on implied volatility of our traded options and historical

volatility of our stock price

Risk-Free Interest Rate The risk-free interest rate was based on the implied yield available on U.S Treasury zero-coupon
issues at the date of grant with term equal to the expected term

Expected Term Expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding and was
determined based on historical experience and anticipated future exercise patterns giving consideration to the contractual terms
of unexercised stock-based awards
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The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of awards granted during 2009 2008 and 2007 using the Black-Scholes-Merton

option-pricing model were as follows

Valuation Assumptions
2009 2008 2007

Expected dividend yield
0% 0% 0%

Expected volatility
89% 52% 50%

Risk-free interest rate
2.4% 2.5% 4.7%

Expected term in years
4.8 5.3 5.2

Restricted and Performance Stock

We issue restricted and performance stock awards to certain employees in conjunction with our stock-based compensation plan The

awards generally cliff-vest from three to five years based on continued employment time based Compensation expense
related to

time-based stock awards is determined on the grant-date based on the publicly quoted fair market value of our common stock and is

charged to earnings on straight-line basis over the vesting period Performance stock may be earned and become vested in specific

percentage depending upon the extent to which the target performance
is met as of the last day of the performance cycle

performance based

Total compensation expense
related to time-based restricted and performance-based stock awards was $1.1 million $0.8 million and

$1.7 million for the years ended January 2010 January 2009 and December 29 2007 respectively There were 190000 and

38000 restricted and performance stock awards vested at January 2010 and January 2009 respectively
All outstanding

restricted and performance stock awards were unvested at December 29 2007 Restricted and performance
stock activity was as

follows for the year ended January 2010 in thousands except per share amounts

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average

Restricted Grant Date Performance Grant Date

Stock Fair Value Stock Fair Value

Outstanding at January 2009 360 13.20 251 12.36

Granted
105 2.98 298 0.92

Canceled/Forfeited 151 14.76 76 7.14

Outstanding at January 2010 314 9.03 473 5.81

At January 2010 there was $1.5 million of unrecognized compensation expense
related to non-vested restricted and performance

share awards which is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of 2.0 years

Repurchases of Common Stock

On April 20 2007 our Board authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $250.0 million of our common stock bringing the total

availability under our share repurchase program to $290.0 million During 2009 and 2008 we did not repurchase any shares of

common stock During 2007 we repurchased and retired 7617000 shares through open market purchases at cost of $131.9 million

based on trade dates As of January 2010 the remaining authorization under our share repurchase program was $206.8 million

There is no expiration date governing the period over which we can repurchase shares We currently have no plans to repurchase our

stock under this authorization

The cost of stock repurchases is first charged to additional paid-in capital Once additional paid-in capital is reduced to zero any

additional amounts are charged to retained earnings accumulated deficit
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Equity Financing

In May 2009 we entered into securities purchase agreement with
Sterling Partners private equity firm During special meeting of

shareholders held August 27 2009 our shareholders did not approve the May 2009 securities purchase agreement During the third
quarter of 2009 we expensed $3.3 million of direct incremental costs incurred in connection with the terminated equity financing

During the fourth
quarter of 2009 we obtained $26.3 million in net proceeds from the issuance of 8.6 million shares of our commonstock through private equity placement and public equity offering

Dividends

We have not historically paid cash dividends on our con-rn-ion stock and we are restricted from
paying dividends under our credit

agreement

Net Income Loss per Common Share

The
following computations reconcile net income loss per share basic with net income loss per share diluted in thousands

except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Net income loss
35552 70177 27620

Reconciliation of weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic

weighted-average shares outstanding 45682 44186 46536Effect of dilutive securities

Options
219 1455Warrants

28
Restricted shares

269 301
Diluted

weighted-average shares
outstanding 46198 44186 48292

Net income loss per share basic
0.78 1.59 0.59Net income loss per share diluted
0.77 1.59 0.57Additional

potentially dilutive stock options totaling 4405000 5124000 and 2441000 for the years 2009 2008 and 2007
respectively have been excluded from diluted EPS because these securities exercise prices were greater than the average market priceof our common shares

In addition we excluded certain shares of restricted stock and stock options from our diluted net income loss per share calculationsas their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect on our net income loss per diluted share i.e resulted in lower loss
pershare For 2008 we excluded 444000 shares of restricted stock and 212000 stock options from our computation of diluted net loss

per share

Other Expense Net

Other expense net consisted of the following in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Interest income
16 90 1079Interest

expense
5708 4120 1163Write-off unamortized debt cost

291 131Capitalized interest expense
876 314Realized loss on sales of marketable debt securities

270Other expense net

5983 3285 40
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Income Taxes

The benefit expense for income taxes consisted of the following in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Current

Federal
2763 26910 19454

State
103 732 3672

2660 27642 23126

Deferred

Federal
16231 26853 6348

State
1971 1777 932

18202 25076 7280

Income tax benefit expense
20862 2566 15846

The following table provides
reconciliation of our income tax benefit expense at the statutory federal tax rate to our actual income

tax benefit expense

2009 2008 2007

Statutory federal income tax
5141 25460 15213

Change in valuation allowance
26840 26840

Changes in unrecognized tax benefits
730

State income taxes net of federal benefit
688 3258 1781

Other
581 688 1148

20862 2566 15846

We file income tax returns with the U.S federal government and various state jurisdictions
In the normal course of business we are

subject to examination by federal and state taxing authorities We are no longer subject to federal or state income tax examinations for

years prior to 2005

Deferred Income Taxes

The tax effects of temporary
differences that give

rise to deferred income taxes were as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Deferred tax assets

Current

Compensation and benefits
1193 2689

Warranty and returns liabilities
1775 1935

Deferred rent and lease incentives
953 984

Other
1231 609

Long-term

Property and equipment
3188 12161

Stock-based compensation
6957 6835

Deferred rent and lease incentives
2701 3324

Warranty liability

2096 2008

Net operating loss capital loss and tax credit carryforwards
3418 2933

Other

806 719

Total gross
deferred tax assets

24318 34197

Valuation allowance
94 26933

Total net deferred tax assets
24224 7264

57



SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

At January 2010 we had net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of $67.3 million which will expire between

2011 and 2029

We evaluate our deferred income taxes quarterly to determine if valuation allowances are required As part of this evaluation we
assess whether valuation allowances should be established for any deferred tax assets that are not considered more likely than not to

be realized using all available evidence both positive and negative This assessment considers among other matters the nature

frequency and severity of recent losses forecasts of future profitability taxable income in available carryback periods and tax

planning strategies In making such judgments significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified

We had $0.1 million and $26.9 million tax valuation allowance at January 2010 and January 2009 respectively

In 2008 based on all available evidence we established $26.8 million valuation allowance against deferred tax assets In 2009 after

reviewing all evidence we concluded that it was more likely than not that substantially all of our deferred tax assets would be

realizable Our conclusion was based on the quality and quantity of positive evidence including our return to profitability in 2009 our

expectations of profitability going forward successful renegotiation of our credit facility additional equity infusions the significant

improvement in our liquidity position actions taken to reduce our cost structure all providing support for our ability to rely on our

estimates of future profitability Based on that evidence much of it occurring in the fourth quarter we reversed substantially all of the

deferred tax valuation allowance at the end of 2009 In order to fully realize our federal deferred tax assets we would need to generate

approximately $54 million of future taxable income There is no expiration period for us to utilize our federal deferred tax assets

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for 2008 and 2009 was as follows in thousands

Federal Accrued Gross

And Interest Unrecognized

State And Income Tax

Tax Penalties Benefits

Balance December 29 2007 97 97

Decreases related to prior-year tax positions 50 50
Increases related to prior-year tax positions 105 108

Balance January 2009 152 155

Increases related to prior-year tax positions 243 78 321

Increases related to current-year tax positions 980 980

Balance January2 2010 1375 81 1456

In 2009 2008 and 2007 we included $78000 $3000 and $8000 respectively of penalties and interest in income tax benefit

expense

At January 2010 and January 2009 the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions were $884000 and

$155000 respectively that if recognized would impact the effective tax rate The amount of unrecognized tax benefits are not

expected to change materially within the next 12 months
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10 Employee Benefit Plans

Profit Sharing and 40 1k Plan

Under our profit sharing and 401k plan eligible employees may defer up to 50% of their compensation on pre-tax basis subject to

Internal Revenue Service limitations Each year we may make discretionary contribution equal to percentage
of the employees

contribution Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 due to the challenging business environment we temporarily discontinued

our discretionary 401k contribution There was no contribution during 2009 During 2008 and 2007 our contributions net of

forfeitures were $1.9 million and $2.8 million respectively

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We had an employee stock purchase plan ESPP which permitted employees to purchase our common stock at 5% discount based

on the average price of the stock on the last business day of the offering period calendar quarter basis Purchases were funded by

employee payroll deductions during the offering period We discontinued our ESPP plan at the beginning of 2009 At January 2009

ESPP participants had accumulated $132000 to purchase our common stock Employees purchased 342561 shares in 2009 236847

shares in 2008 and 68670 shares in 2007 under this plan

11 Commitments and Contingencies

On April 25 2008 lawsuit was filed against one of our subsidiaries in Superior Court in Santa Clara County California by one of

our customers The complaint asserted various claims related to products liability breach of warranty concealment intentional

misrepresentation and negligent misrepresentation and sought class certification The complaint alleged that products sold by us prior

to 2006 had unique propensity to develop mold alleged that the plaintiff suffered adverse health effects and sought various forms of

legal and equitable relief including without limitation unspecified damages punitive and exemplary damages attorneys fees and

costs and injunctive relief We removed the case to the U.S District Court for the Northern District of California On September 30

2008 the Court granted our motion to dismiss and strike the purported class action claims and allowed plaintiff leave to amend the

complaint On October 30 2008 plaintiff and additional named plaintiffs filed first amended complaint alleging facts similar to

those asserted in the initial complaint and asserting additional claims including antitrust and RICO claims On June 2009 the Court

granted our motion to dismiss and strike the purported class action claims of the first amended complaint and allowed plaintiffs leave

to amend the complaint with respect to certain of the alleged claims On July 2009 plaintiffs filed second amended complaint

alleging facts similar to those asserted in the prior complaints limiting the purported class to California and Florida residents and

asserting claims related to negligence product liability breach of warranty under federal and state statutes and unfair competition

under state statutes On December the Court granted our motion to strike plaintiffs newly alleged claims and granted our motion to

dismiss plaintiffs remaining claims and allowed plaintiffs leave to amend only with respect to certain of the alleged claims On

January 2010 plaintiffs filed third amended complaint alleging facts similar to those asserted in the prior complaints limiting the

purported class to California and Florida residents and asserting claims related to negligence product liability breach of warranty

under federal and state statutes and unfair competition under state statutes We have filed motion to dismiss that is scheduled to be

heard on April 30 2010 As of January 2010 no accrual had been established with respect to this matter as we believe that the

complaint is without merit and we intend to continue to vigorously defend the claims

On April 30 2009 lawsuit was filed against the Company and one of its subsidiaries in United States District Court for the Northern

District of Illinois by former employee alleging that the Company misclassified all non-California store managers as exempt from

the overtime requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act The plaintiff further alleges that all Illinois store managers were similarly

misclassified under the Illinois Minimum Wage Law After an initial round of discovery on July 27 2009 plaintiff filed motion

seeking permission to send notices to all similarly situated store managers informing them that they have the right to join this potential

collective action lawsuit On December 2009 the Court ruled that plaintiff is permitted to send notice only to certain existing and

former store managers within the State of Illinois inviting them to join the case The opt-in period for potential class members to join

the case expires on March 15 2010 We believe that all store managers have been properly classified under both federal and state

standards and we intend to vigorously defend the case As of January 2010 no accrual had been established with respect to this

matter as we believe that the complaint is without merit and we intend to continue to vigorously defend the claims
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

We are subject from time to time to various other potential claims and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our
business including primarily commercial employment and intellectual

property claims In accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States we record liability in our consolidated financial statements with respect to any of these
other matters when it is both probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated In
the fiscal

quarter ended January 2010 we recorded liability in our consolidated financial statements of $1.6 million with
respect to

contingent liabilities that we determined to be both probable and reasonably estimable We believe that we have valid defenses to the
various claims that have or may be asserted against us as described above and we do not expect the outcome of these matters to have
material effect on our consolidated results of operations financial position or cash flows beyond the liabilities that have been accrued
Litigation however is inherently unpredictable and it is possible that the ultimate outcome of one or more claims asserted against us
or claims as to which we are presently unaware could adversely impact our results of operations financial position or cash flows We
expense legal costs as incurred

Consumer Credit Arrangements

We refer customers seeking extended financing to certain third party financiers Card Servicers The Card Servicers if credit is

granted establish the interest rates fees and all other terms and conditions of the customers account based on their evaluation of the
creditworthiness of the customers As the receivables are owned by the Card Servicers at no time are the receivables purchased or

acquired from us We are not liable to the Card Servicers for our customers credit defaults In connection with customer purchases
financed under these arrangements the Card Servicers pay us an amount equal to the total amount of such purchases net of
promotional related discounts The amounts due from Card Servicers under the program were included in accounts receivable and
totaled $1.2 million and $1.0 million as of January 2010 and January 2009 respectively

Our agreement under which GE Money Bank offers to our qualified customers revolving credit arrangements to finance purchases
from us the GE Agreement contains certain financial covenants including maximum leverage ratio and minimum interest

coverage We were required under the terms of the GE Agreement to provide GE Money Bank with $1.7 million letter of credit as
collateral security

Commitments

As of January 2010 we had $2.6 million of inventory purchase commitments with our suppliers as part of the normal course of
business There are limited number of supply contracts that contain penalty provisions for failure to purchase contracted quantitiesWe do not currently expect any payments under these provisions

At January 2010 we had entered into one lease commitment for future retail store location This lease commitment provides for

minimum rentals over five years which if consummated based on current cost estimates would approximate $0.3 million annually
over the initial lease term These minimum rentals have been included in the future minimum lease payments in Note Leases

12 Summary of Quarterly Financial Data unaudited

The following is condensed summary of actual quarterly results for 2009 and 2008 in thousands except per share amounts

2009
Fourth Third Second First

Net sales
136471 147470 120647 139614

Gross profit 85781 93555 74340 81784
Operating income

7479 11980 952 262
Net income loss 35309 6899 3961 2695
Net income loss per share diluted 0.69 0.15 0.09 0.06

2008
Fourth Third Second First

Net sales
131073 157231 152055 168165

Gross profit 73246 97756 90644 96926
Operating loss income 50217 2052 10251 11042Net loss income

57436 983 6591 7133
Net loss income per share diluted 1.30 0.02 0.15 0.16
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15e that are designed to ensure that

information required to be disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

as amended is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the Securities and Exchange

Commissions rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the companys management including

its principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons performing similar functions as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure Our management with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial

officer evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period

covered by this annual report Based on this evaluation our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that

our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Select Comforts management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as

such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13 a- 15f Our internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in

accordance withgenerally accepted accounting principles Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company

and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Select Comforts management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as

such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 5f Management with the participation of our principal executive officer and

principal financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in

Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based

on this evaluation under these criteria management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of

January 2010

Fourth Quarter Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting during the quarter
ended January 2010 that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information under the captions Election of Directors Corporate Governance and Section 16a Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance in our Proxy Statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference
Information concerning our executive officers is included in Part of this report under the caption Executive Officers of the

Registrant

We have adopted Code of Business Conduct applicable to our directors officers and employees including our principal executive
officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer and controller The Code of Business Conduct is available on the

Investor Relations section of our Web site at http//www.selectcornfort.com In the event that we amend or waive any of the provisions
of the Code of Business Conduct applicable to our principal executive officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer

and controller we intend to disclose the same on our Web site at http.//www.selectcornfort.corn

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information under the caption Executive Compensation in our Proxy Statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is

incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under the caption Equity Compensation Plan Information in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the
information under the caption Stock Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners in our Proxy Statement for our 2010
Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information under the caption Corporate Governance in our Proxy Statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is

incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information under the caption Approval of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm in our Proxy Statement
for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity Deficit

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial

Statement Schedule

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule

The following Report and financial statement schedule are included in this Part IV

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the

consolidated financial statements or notes thereto

Exhibits

The exhibits to this Report are listed in the Exhibit Index below

We will furnish copy of any of the exhibits referred to above at reasonable cost to any shareholder upon receipt of

written request Requests should be sent to Select Comfort Corporation Investor Relations Department 9800 59th Avenue

North Minneapolis Minnesota 55442

The following is list of each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an

exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Item 15c

Select Comfort Corporation 1990 Omnibus Stock Option Plan as amended and restated

Select Comfort Corporation 1997 Stock Incentive Plan as amended and restated

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1990 and 1997 Stock Plans

Form of Performance Based Stock Option Agreement under the 1990 and 1997 Stock Plans

Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Amended and Restated as of January 2007

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan

Form of Performance Stock Award Agreement under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreement Subject to Performance Adjustment under the 2004

Stock Incentive Plan

10 Select Comfort Profit Sharing and 40 1K Plan 2007 Restatement

11 Select Comfort Executive Investment Plan as Amended and Restated October 29 2008

12 Select Comfort Executive and Key Employee Incentive Plan

13 Employment Letter from the Company to William McLaughlin dated March 2000

14 Employment Letter from the Company to William McLaughlin dated March 2006
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15 Letter Agreement between William McLaughlin and Select Comfort Corporation dated as of February 21 2008

16 Amended and Restated Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement between Select Comfort Corporation and William

McLaughlin dated as of April 22 2008

17 Employment Letter from the Company to Kathryn Roedel dated March 2005

18 Employment Letter from the Company to Wendy Schoppert dated March 15 2005

19 Employment Letter from the Company to Mark Kimball dated April 22 1999

20 Summary of Executive Health Program

21 Summary of Executive Tax and Financial Planning Program

22 Amended and Restated Select Comfort Corporation Executive Severance Pay Plan

23 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Select Comfort Corporation Executive Severance Pay Plan

24 Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused this report

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
Registrant

Dated February 25 2010 By Is William McLaughlin

William McLaughlin

Chief Executive Officer

principal executive officer

By Is James Raabe

James Raabe

Chief Financial Officer

principal
financial and accounting officer

65



POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all persons by these presents that each
person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints William McLaughlinJames Raabe and Mark Kimball and each of them as such persons true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full powerof substitution and resubstitution for such person and in such persons name place and stead in any and all capacities to sign any andall amendments to this Report and to file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with theSecurities and Exchange Conunjssion granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them full power and

authority todo and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and

necessary to be done in connection
therewith as fully to all intents and

purposes as such person might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming that all said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or anyof them or their or such persons substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Report has been signed below by the following persons onbehalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date or dates indicated

NAME
TITLE DATE

/s/ Ervin Shames
Chairman of the Board

February 19 2010
Ervin Shames

Is William McLaughlin Director
February 25 2010William McLaughlin

/s/ Thomas Albani
Director

February 17 2010Thomas Albani

/s/ Stephen Gulis Jr
Director

February 22 2010
Stephen Gulis Jr

/s
Christopher Kirchen Director

February 21 2010
Christopher Kirchen

Is/David Kollat
Director

February 18 2010
David Kollat

Is/Brenda Lauderback Director
February 25 2010Brenda Lauderback

Is/Michael Peel
Director

February 22 2010
Michael Peel

/s Jean-Michel Valette
Director

February 21 2010
Jean-Michel Valette
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION
EXHIBIT INDEX TO ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 2010

Exhibit

No Descrintion

3.1 Third Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company

as amended

3.2 Articles of Amendment to Third Restated Articles of

Incorporation of the Company

3.3 Restated Bylaws of the Company

10.1 Net Lease Agreement dated December 1993 between

the Company and Opus Corporation

10.2 Amendment of Lease dated August 10 1994 between the

Company and Opus Corporation

10.3 Second Amendment to Lease dated May 10 1995

between the Company and Rushmore Plaza Partners

Limited Partnership successor to Opus Corporation

10.4 Letter Agreement dated as of October 1995 between

the Company and Rushmore Plaza Partners Limited

Partnership

10.5 Third Amendment of Lease Assignment and Assumption

of Lease and Consent dated as of January 1996 among

the Company Rushmore Plaza Partners Limited

Partnership and Select Comfort Direct Corporation

10.6 Fourth Amendment to Lease dated June 30 2003

between Cabot Industrial Properties L.P successor to

Rushmore Plaza Partners Limited Partnership and Select

Comfort Direct Corporation

10.7 Fifth Amendment to Lease dated August 28 2006

between Cabot Industrial Properties L.P successor to

Rushmore Plaza Partners Limited Partnership and Select

Comfort Direct Corporation

Method Of Fifing

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 contained in

Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended January 2000

File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

May 16 2006 File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

May 21 2007 File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Select Comforts Registration Statement on Form S-i

as amended

Reg No 333-62793

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 contained in

the Select Comforts Registration Statement on Form

S-i as amended

Reg No 333-62793

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 contained in

Select Comforts Registration Statement on Form S-i

as amended

Reg No 333-62793

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 contained in

Select Comforts Registration Statement on Form S-i

as amended

Reg No 333-62793

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 contained in

Select Comforts Registration Statement on Form 5-1

as amended

Reg No 33-62793

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 contained in

Select Comforts Annual report on Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended January 2004 File No 0-25 121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Select Comforts Quarterly report on Form i0-Q for

the quarter ended September 30 2006 File No 0-

25 121
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Exhibit

No
Description

Method Of Filing

10.8 Lease Agreement dated as of September 19 2002
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 contained in

between the Company and Blind John LLC as successor Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
to Frastacky US Properties Limited Partnership fiscal year ended December 28 2002 File No 0-

25 121

10.9 Lease Agreement dated September 30 1998 between the Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 contained
Company and ProLogis Development Services in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

Incorporated
the fiscal year ended December 28 2002 File No 0-

25 121

10.10 Net Lease Agreement Build-to-Suit by and between
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Opus Northwest LLC as Landlord and Select Comfort Select Comforts
Quarterly report on Form 10-Q for

Corporation as Tenant dated July 26 2006 the quarter ended July 2006 File No 0-25121

10.11 Select Comfort Corporation 1990 Omnibus Stock Option Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in
Plan as amended and restated

Select Comforts Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for

the quarter ended October 1999 File No 0-25 121
10.12 Select Comfort Corporation 1997 Stock Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 contained in

as amended and restated
Select Comforts Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for

the
quarter ended June 30 2001 File No 0-25 121

10.13 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 contained

1990 and 1997 Stock Plans
in the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-l
as amended

Reg No 333-62793

10.14 Form of Performance Based Stock Option Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 contained
under the 1990 and 1997 Stock Plans in Select Comforts Registration Statement on Form

as amended

Reg No 333-62793

10.15 Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 contained
Amended and Restated as of January 2007 in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 30 2006 File No 0-

25 12

10.16 Form of
Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 contained

under the Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for
Incentive Plan

the fiscal year ended December 31 2005 File No 0-

25121

68



Exhibit

No Description
Method Of Filing

10.17 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 contained

Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year
ended December 31 2005 File No 0-

25 121

10.18 Form of Performance Stock Award Agreement under the Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 contained

Select Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31 2005 File No 0-

25 121

10.19 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 contained

Subject to Performance Adjustment under the Select in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

Comfort Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan the fiscal year
ended December 30 2006 File No 0-

25 121

10.20 Select Comfort Profit Sharing and 401K Plan 2007 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 contained

Restatement
in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 30 2006 File No 0-

25 121

10.21 Select Comfort Executive Investment Plan as Amended Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 contained

and Restated October 29 2008 in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended January 2009 File No 0-

25 121

10.22 Select Comfort Executive and Key Employee Incentive Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 contained

Plan
in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 30 2000 File No 0-

25 121

10.23 Employment Letter from the Company to William Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

McLaughlin dated March 2000 Select Comforts Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for

the quarter ended April 2000 FileNo 0-25121

10.24 Employment Letter from the Company to William Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

McLaughlin dated March 2006 Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

March 2006 File No 0-25 121

10.25 Letter Agreement between William McLaughlin and Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Select Comfort Corporation dated as of February 21 Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

2008 February27 2008

File No 0-25121

10.26 Amended and Restated Non-Statutory Stock Option Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Agreement between Select Comfort Corporation and Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

William McLaughlin dated as of April 22 2008 April 24 2008 File No 0-25 121
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Exhibit

No Description Method Of Filing

10.27 Employment Letter from the Company to Kathryn Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 contained

Roedel dated March 2005 in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31 2005 File No 0-

25 121

10.28 Employment Letter from the Company to Wendy Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 contained

Schoppert dated March 15 2005 in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31 2005 File No 0-

25 121

10.29 Employment Letter from the Company to Mark Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 contained

Kimball dated April 22 1999 in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal
year

ended January 2000 File No 0-

25121

10.30 Summary of Executive Health Program Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 contained

in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31 2005 File No 0-

25 12

10.31 Summary of Executive Tax and Financial Planning Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Program Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

January 2005

File No 0-25121

10.32 Amended and Restated Select Comfort Corporation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Executive Severance Pay Plan dated as of August 21 Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

2008 August 21 2008

File No 0-25121

10.33 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Select Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 contained

Comfort Corporation Executive Severance Pay Plan in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended January 2009 File No 0-

25 121

10.34 Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation Filed herewith

10.35 Supply Agreement dated October 2006 between the Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 contained

Company and Supplier in Select Comforts Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 30 2006 File No 0-

25 121

70



Exhibit

No Descrwtion

10.36 Amended and Restated Private Label Consumer Credit

Card Program Agreement dated as of December 14 2005

between GE Money Bank and Select Comfort

Corporation and Select Comfort Retail Corporation

10.37 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Private Label

Consumer Credit Card Program Agreement dated as of

April 23 2007 between GE Money Bank and Select

Comfort Corporation and Select Comfort Retail

Corporation

10.38 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Private

Label Consumer Credit Card Program Agreement dated

as of February 2008 between GE Money Bank and

Select Comfort Corporation and Select Comfort Retail

Corporation

10.39 GE Waiver and Consent dated May 21 2009

10.40 Securities Purchase Agreement by and between Select

Comfort Corporation and Sterling SC Investor LLC

10.41 Guarantee by Sterling Capital Partners III LP in favor of

Select Comfort

10.42 Settlement Mutual Termination and General Release

Agreement by and between Select Comfort Corporation

and Sterling SC Investor LLC

10.43 Registration Rights Agreement by and between Select

Comfort Corporation and Sterling SC Investor LLC

10.44 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated

November 13 2009 by and among Select Comfort

Corporation and the Lenders party thereto JPMorgan

Chase Bank National Association as Administrative

Agent Bank of America N.A as Syndication Agent

Method Of Filing

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

December 20 2005

File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

April 27 2007 File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

February 2008

File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

May 26 2009 File No 0-25 121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

October 2009 File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

October 2009 File No 0-25 121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

October 2009 File No 0-25121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

October 2009 File No 0-25 121

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 contained in

Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

November 16 2009 File No 0-25 121

71



Exhibit

No Description Method Of Filing

10.45 Purchase Agreement dated as of December 2009 by Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 contained in

and among Select Comfort Corporation and Piper Jaffray Select Comforts Current Report on Form 8-K filed

Co December 2009 File No 0-25 121

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company Filed herewith

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Filed herewith

Firm

24.1 Power of Attorney Included on signature page

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Filed herewith

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Filed herewith

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Filed herewith

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Filed herewith

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Confidential treatment has been granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to designated portions

contained within document Such portions have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 as amended
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SELECT COMFORT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

in thousands

Additions

Balance at Charged to

Beginning Costs and Deductions Balance at End

Description
of Period Expenses From Reserves of Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts

2009 713 138 472 379

2008
876 814 977 713

2007
529 1035 688 876

Accrued sales returns

2009 2744 25920 25779 2885

2008 3751 34410 35417 2744

2007 3907 43716 43872 3751
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